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UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION
Annual Report on Form 10-K for Year Ended Decembe31, 2008

Whenever reference is made in this Form 10-K teifipesections of UTC’s 2008 Annual Report to Shlaveers (2008 Annual Report),
those sections are incorporated herein by referdsitibeed Technologies Corporation and its subsiégmnames, abbreviations thereof, logos,
and product and service designators are all eitteeregistered or unregistered trademarks or tades of United Technologies Corporation
and its subsidiaries. As used herein, the terms™ms,” “our” or “UTC,” unless the context requiseotherwise, mean United Technologies
Corporation and its subsidiaries.

PART |
Item 1. Business

General

United Technologies Corporation was incorporateBeétaware in 1934. UTC provides high technologyduieis and services to the
building systems and aerospace industries worldviidewth is attributable to acquisitions and thieinal development of our existing
businesses. The following description of our businghould be read in conjunction with “Managemebt&ussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” in our 2008Aal Report, especially the information contairteet¢in under the heading “Business
Overview.”

Our operating units include businesses with opamatthroughout the world. Otis, Carrier and UTCGRir Security (collectively referre
to as the commercial businesses) serve custom#ére tommercial and residential property industwesldwide. Carrier also serves
commercial, industrial, transport refrigeration dodd service equipment customers. Pratt & Whitridgmilton Sundstrand and Sikorsky
(collectively referred to as the aerospace buses)gzimarily serve commercial and government gusts in both the original equipment &
aftermarket parts and services markets of the pacesindustry. Hamilton Sundstrand and Pratt & Wéyitalso serve customers in certain
industrial markets. For 2008, our commercial artuigirial revenues (generated principally by our m@rtial businesses) were approxima
62 percent of our consolidated revenues, and copiat@erospace and military aerospace revenuesapgmXximately 21 percent and 17
percent, respectively, of our consolidated revenResenues for 2008 from outside the United Statesyding U.S. export sales, were 64
percent of our total segment revenues.

This Form 10-K and our quarterly reports on ForrrQ,&urrent reports on Form 8-K and all amendmtmntkose reports are available
free of charge through the Investor Relations eaatif our Internet website (http://www.utc.com) enthe heading “SEC Filings” as soon as
reasonably practicable after these reports aréretecally filed with, or furnished to, the Secigi and Exchange Commission (SEC). Our
SEC filings are also available for reading and @ogt the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 &eStNE, Washington, D.C. 20549.
Information on the operation of the Public RefeeeRoom may be obtained by calling the SEC at 1-88C-0330. In addition, the SEC
maintains an Internet site (http://www.sec.gov)taaring reports, proxy and information statemeats] other information regarding issuers
that file electronically with the SEC.
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Description of Business by Segment

We conduct our business through six principal segmétis, Carrier, UTC Fire & Security, Pratt & Vftey, Hamilton Sundstrand and
Sikorsky. Each segment groups similar operatingpanmes and the management organization of eachesg#dras general operating
autonomy over a range of products and servicespiiheipal products and services of each segmenasifollows:

Otis —elevators, escalators, moving walkways and ser

Carrier —residential, commercial and industrial heating,tiating, air conditioning (HVAC) and refrigerati®ystems and
equipment, food service equipment, building autéomséind controls, HVAC and refrigeration componearig
installation, retrofit and aftermarket servic

UTC Fire & Security —fire and special hazard detection and suppresggterss and fire fighting equipment, electronic sitgu
monitoring and rapid response systems and semide@curity personnel servici

Pratt & Whitney —commercial, military, business jet and generaltaiaaircraft engines, parts and services, indaisgyas turbines
and space propulsio

Hamilton Sundstran —aerospace products and aftermarket services, ingymbwer generation, management and distributystesns,
flight systems, engine control systems, environiaerdntrol systems, fire protection and detectigstems, auxiliary
power units, propeller systems and industrial potgltincluding air compressors, metering pumpsflnd handling
equipment

Sikorsky —military and commercial helicopters, aftermarkdtdupter and aircraft parts and servic

UTC is in the process of incorporating UTC Powedsbined cooling, heating and power systems busiwéhkin Carrier’s businesses,
its geothermal power systems business within Rr&tthitney’s power systems business, and its spadedafense fuel cell power plant
business within Hamilton Sundstrand’s energy, spacedefense business. These transitions are exjecbe completed during the first half
of 2009.

Segment financial data for the years 2006 throW@f¥82including financial information about foreignd domestic operations and
export sales, appears in Note 16 to the Consotidaiteancial Statements in our 2008 Annual Report.

Otis

Otis is the world’s largest elevator and escalatanufacturing, installation and service companys @¢signs, manufactures, sells and
installs a wide range of passenger and freightadtes for low-, medium- and high-speed applicati@sswell as a broad line of escalators and
moving walkways. In addition to new equipment, @uievides modernization products to upgrade elegaind escalators as well as
maintenance services for both its products ancetbdsther manufacturers. Otis serves customelsitommercial and residential property
industries around the world. Otis sells directltite end customer and, to a limited extent, thraaajbs representatives and distributors.

Revenues generated by Otis’ international operatieere 80 percent and 81 percent of total Otis segnevenues in 2008 and 2007,
respectively. At December 31, 2008, Otis’ backlagsw15,025 million as compared to $14,146 millibBecember 31, 2007. Of the total
Otis backlog at December 31, 2008, approximate|¢ B8 million is expected to be realized as sale0bo.

Carrier

Carrier is the world’s largest manufacturer andritistor of HVAC and refrigeration systems. It alsduces food service equipment
and HVAC and refrigeration-related controls foridestial, commercial, industrial and transportatamplications. Carrier also provides
installation, retrofit and aftermarket services andhponents for the products it sells and thosaloér manufacturers in the HVAC and
refrigeration industries. Carrier’s products ano/ges are sold under Carrier and other brand namkesilding contractors and owners,
homeowners, transportation companies, retail stamdsood service companies. Carrier sells dirdotihe end customer and through
manufacturers’ representatives, distributors, wéalkers, dealers and retail outlets. Certain ofi€asrHVAC businesses are seasonal and can
be impacted by weather. Carrier customarily offergustomers incentives to purchase productsgareran adequate supply of its produc
the distribution channels.
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Revenues generated by Carrier’s international ¢jp@s including U.S. export sales, were 60 pereet 59 percent of total Carrier
segment revenues in 2008 and 2007, respectivelpesember 31, 2008, Carrier’s business backlog$4e896 million as compared to
$2,097 million at December 31, 2007. Substantiallyhe business backlog at December 31, 2008psa@®d to be realized as sales in 2009.

UTC Fire & Security

UTC Fire & Security is a global provider of secyrind fire safety products and services. We creidued) TC Fire & Security segment
in the second quarter of 2005 upon acquiring Kidde adding the Kidde industrial, retail and comnafiire safety businesses to the former
Chubb segment. In the electronic security industi/C Fire & Security provides system integratiorstallation and service of intruder
alarms, access control systems and video survedlaystems under several brand names includingtChulthe fire safety industry, UTC
Fire & Security designs, manufactures, integratesalls, sells and services a wide range of sfigdiazard detection and fixed suppression
products and systems and manufactures, sells avideseportable fire extinguishers and other fighfing equipment under several brand
names, including Kidde. UTC Fire & Security alsoyides monitoring, response and security persosemices, including cash-in-transit
security, to complement its electronic security firelsafety businesses. Its products and sendmesised by governments, financial
institutions, architects, building owners and depels, security and fire consultants and otherwes®is requiring a high level of security and
fire protection for their businesses and residences

UTC Fire & Security provides its products and seegiunder Chubb, Kidde and other brand names disdisectly to the customer as
well as through manufacturer representatives,idigors, dealers and U.S. retail distribution. Rewes generated by UTC Fire & Security’s
international operations were 83 percent and 82gmerof total UTC Fire & Security segment revenne®008 and 2007, respectively. At
December 31, 2008, UTC Fire & Security’s businessking was $1,064 million as compared to $1,084ignilat December 31, 2007.
Substantially all the business backlog at DecerBtheP008 is expected to be realized as sales i8.200

Pratt & Whitney

Pratt & Whitney is among the world’s leading supmiof aircraft engines for the commercial, mijitdvusiness jet and general aviation
markets. Pratt & Whitney’s Global Services providesintenance, repair and overhaul services, inetuthie sale of spare parts, as well as
fleet management services for large commercialrasgyiPratt & Whitney produces families of engir@sadide and narrow body aircraft in
the commercial and military markets. Pratt & Whitradso sells engines for industrial applicationd apace propulsion systems. Pratt &
Whitney Canada (P&WC) Is a world leader in the picitbn of engines powering business, regionaltljgh utility and military aircraft and
helicopters. Pratt & Whitney Rocketdyne (PWR) Is&der in the design, development and manufacfusephisticated aerospace propulsion
systems for military and commercial applicatiomgluding the U.S. space shuttle. Pratt & Whitngylsbal Material Solutions (GMS) is in
the process of engineering, certifying, manufaogiand selling new parts, including life limitedriza for CFM56° -3 engines.

In view of the risks and costs associated with thgirg new engines, Pratt & Whitney has entered auilaboration arrangements in
which revenues, costs and risks are shared. Atbleee31, 2008, the interests of participants in aed existing Pratt & Whitney-directed
commercial jet engine production programs rangenhft4 percent to 29 percent. In addition, Pratt &itey has interests in other engine
programs, including a 33 percent interest in thiertrational Aero Engines (IAE) collaboration thells and supports V2500engines for the
Airbus A320 family of aircraft. At December 31, B)@& portion of Pratt & Whitney’s interests in I1A&quivalent to 4 percent of the overall
IAE collaboration) were held by Pratt & Whitney spértners. Pratt & Whitney also has a 50 perceetést in the Engine Alliance (EA), a
joint venture with GE Aviation, undertaken to deyglmarket and manufacture the GP7® engine for the Airbus A380 aircraft. This engine
entered into service with its first revenue senflight in August 2008. At December 31, 2008, 40ceat of Pratt & Whitney’s 50 percent
interest in the EA was held by other participaRtstt & Whitney is also pursuing additional colladtion partners.

In terms of engine development programs, Pratt &tiély is under contract with the U.S. Air Forcedevelop the F135 engine, a
derivative of Pratt & Whitney’s F119 engine, to pawthe single-engine F-35 Lightning Il aircraft bgideveloped by Lockheed Matrtin. In
addition, Pratt & Whitney is currently developirezhnology intended to enable it to power proposetifature aircraft, including testing of
the PurePower PW1000G geared turbofan engine.eédimology demonstrator of the PurePower PW1000@ergmpleted flight testing
2008. Pratt & Whitney has also received Federabfien Authority (FAA) certification for the Advanga 70 upgrade to its PW4000 engine
for Airbus A330 aircraft. The Advantage 70 upgrélatended to reduce maintenance and fuel costsra@nease thrust. Certifications for the
Advantage 70 from the European Aviation Safety AiyefEASA) are anticipated in 2009. PWR is develgpaniquid fuel J-2X engine to
support NASA's vision for space exploration. PWRiliso upgrading the performance of the RS68 engisepport U.S. Air Force launch
requirements and NASA requirements. P&WC is devialpthe PW600 engine series for the

5



Table of Contents

very light jet market. In 2008, P&WC received FAABEASA certification for the PW600. PW600 enginedels have been selected by
engine manufacturers such as Cessna Aircraft artittdem P&WC is also developing the PW210 enginesflaorsky’s S-76D helicopter and
the PurePower PWB800 for the new generation of lamge business jets. In 2008, IAE received EASARAA aircraft certification for its
SelectOnéM upgrade to the V2500 engine for the Airbus A320ifpiof aircraft. The first of these upgraded engimatered into revenue
service in October 2008. The SelectOne upgradartsop IAE’s V2500Select™ program of product and service enhancements ladniche
November 2005. In 2008, GMS received supplemenga tertifications from the FAA and EASA for all tife CFM5(-3 engine life limited
garts being developed by GMS. Pratt & Whitney auungis to enhance its programs through performanpeirement measures and product
ase expansion.

Pratt & Whitney’s products are sold principallyaiocraft manufacturers, airlines and other aircogirators, aircraft leasing companies,
space launch vehicle providers and the U.S. areignrgovernments. Pratt & Whitney’s products andises must adhere to strict regulatory
and markedriven safety and performance standards. The freatyuehanging nature of these standards, along tii#tHong duration of aircre
engine programs, create uncertainty regarding engiogram profitability. The vast majority of sablr® made directly to the end customer
and, to a limited extent, through independent ihigtors and foreign sales representatives. Saldglais and Boeing were 11.7 and 6.5
percent, respectively, of total Pratt & Whitneyeaues in 2008, before taking into account discoanfgancial incentives offered to
customers. Sales to the U.S. government were Zfcept of total Pratt & Whitney segment revenue2(8.

Revenues from Pratt & Whitney’s international opierss, including U.S. exports, were 60 percent aighercent of total Pratt &
Whitney segment revenues in 2008 and 2007, respéctiAt December 31, 2008, Pratt & Whitney’s besia backlog was $23,570 million,
including $5,871 million of U.S. government-fundeshtracts and subcontracts, as compared to $2&@066n and $5,334 million,
respectively, at December 31, 2007. Of the totaitR Whitney backlog at December 31, 2008, apprately $8,975 million is expected to
be realized as sales in 2009. Pratt & Whitney'klmarincludes certain contracts for which actuatsanay ultimately exceed total revenues
from these contracts. See Note 1 to the Consolid@iteancial Statements in our 2008 Annual Reparafdescription of our accounting for
long-term contracts.

Hamilton Sundstrand

Hamilton Sundstrand is among the world’s leadingpdiers of technologically advanced aerospace addstrial products and
aftermarket services for diversified industries Mhaide. Hamilton Sundstrand’s aerospace produatsh s power generation, management
and distribution systems, flight systems, enging@d systems, environmental control systems,dh@ection and detection systems, auxil
power units and propeller systems, serve commeruiéitary, regional, business and general avigtaswell as space and undersea
applications. Aftermarket services include spamtspaverhaul and repair, engineering and techisigpport and fleet maintenance programs.
Hamilton Sundstrand sells aerospace products fimeie manufacturers, the U.S. and foreign governsyaircraft operators and independent
distributors. Hamilton Sundstrand sales of aerosmaoducts to Boeing, Airbus and Pratt & Whitneglectively, including sales where the
U.S. government was the ultimate customer, werg fi&€rcent of Hamilton Sundstrand segment sale808.2

Hamilton Sundstrand is engaged in development progifor the Boeing 787 aircraft, the Lockheed MaRi35 Lightning Il military
aircraft and the Airbus A400M military aircraft, dihas developed and delivered systems for the AiA880 aircraft. Hamilton Sundstrand is
also the prime contractor for NASA'’s space su@/blupport system and produces environmental mamgtand control, life support,
mechanical systems and thermal control systemthéol).S. space shuttle program, the internatiopete station and the Orion crew
exploration vehicle.

Hamilton Sundstrand’s principal industrial prodyatsch as air compressors, metering pumps andiandling equipment, serve
industries involved with raw material processinglkimaterial handling, construction, hydrocarbod ahemical processing, and water and
wastewater treatment. Hamilton Sundstrand sellsetipeoducts under the Sullair, Sundyne, Milton Bogt other brand names directly to end-
users, and through manufacturer representativesliatributors.

Revenues generated by Hamilton Sundstrand’s irtienad operations, including U.S. export sales,ergt percent and 50 percent of
total Hamilton Sundstrand segment revenues in 20082007, respectively. At December 31, 2008, HamiSundstrand’s business backlog
was $5,226 million, including $913 million under3J.governmenfunded contracts and subcontracts, as comparesl 163 million and $82
million, respectively, at December 31, 2007. Oftiliml Hamilton Sundstrand backlog at Decembe2808, approximately $2,543 million is
expected to be realized as sales in 2009.

Sikorsky

Sikorsky is one of the world’s largest manufactarefr military and commercial helicopters and alsoves aftermarket helicopter and
aircraft parts and services.
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Current major production programs at Sikorsky idelthe UH-60M Black Hawk medium-transport helicoptend HH-60M Medevac
helicopters for the U.S. and foreign governmethis,2-70 Black Hawk for foreign governments, the @65 and MH-60R helicopters for the
U.S. Navy, the International Naval Hawk for mulépiaval missions, and the S-76 and S-92 helicofiemmmercial operations. The UH-
60M helicopter is the latest and most modern iarées of Black Hawk variants that Sikorsky has baelivering to the U.S. Army since 1978
and requires significant additional assembly hoelative to the previous variants. In December 200& U.S. government and Sikorsky
signed a five-year multi-service contract for 5368 helicopters to be delivered to the U.S. Armg 8hS. Navy, which include the UBOM,
HH-60M, MH-60S and MH-60R. The contract includesiaps for an additional 263 aircraft, spares, aitsl potentially making it the largest
contract in UTC and Sikorsky history. Actual protiac quantities will be determined year-by-year ot life of the program based on
funding allocations set by Congress and Pentagguisition priorities. The deliveries of the airdrafe scheduled to be made through 2012.
Sikorsky is also developing the CH-53K next gerieraheavy lift helicopter for the U.S. Marine Corgusd the CH-148, a derivative of the H-
92, a military variant of the S-92, for the Canadippvernment. The latter is being developed undixea-price contract that provides for the
development, production, and 20-year logisticalpsupof 28 helicopters. This is the largest and neapansive fixed-price development
contract in Sikorskys history. In December 2008, Sikorsky and the Cemaglovernment executed amendments to the corvaictevised th
delivery schedule and contract specifications. flisétest flight was successfully conducted in Mmber 2008 and delivery of the first
helicopter is scheduled for the fourth quarter @@

Sikorsky’s aftermarket business includes sparesgsates, overhaul and repair services, maintenzomdeacts and logistics support
programs for helicopters and other aircraft. Satesmade directly by Sikorsky and by its subsidm&nd joint ventures. Sikorsky is
increasingly engaging in logistics support programd partnering with its government and commenigtomers to manage and provide
maintenance and repair services.

Revenues generated by Sikorsky’s internationalatfmrs, including U.S. export sales, were 36 pdraad 34 percent of total Sikorsky
revenues in 2008 and in 2007, respectively. At Ddasr 31, 2008, Sikorsky’business backlog was $13,167 million, includi6gZ85 million
under U.S. government-funded contracts and subacisiras compared to $11,445 million and $5,180amjlrespectively, at December 31,
2007. Of the total Sikorsky backlog at December28I08, approximately $6,055 million is expectedbéorealized as sales in 2009.

Other

UTC Power has developed products and servicesofantercial buildings using 200kW phosphoric acid fuedl and microturbine-
driven absorption chilling systems. These systemahly efficient combined cooling, heating arayer systems. In addition, UTC Power
has developed a geothermal power system capabl®dficing power from the lowest temperature geatlaéivater used to date to produce
electricity. UTC Power is the world leader in thephcation of fuel cell technology to transportatiapplications, including automobiles,
transit buses and the U.S. space shuttle progrdi@. Rbwer is also a provider of energy advisory emukulting services aimed at making
commercial buildings more energy efficient.

UTC Power is the world leader in stationary fudl pewer with more than 260 200kW phosphoric acidlfcell power plants sold since
1992. UTC Power has also developed a 400kW fukineth is scheduled to be placed into servicedA2 This new fuel cell is expected to
have greater durability than any other large statip fuel cell currently available in the markeT © Power’s automotive and bus
transportation fuel cell power plants are basegroton exchange membrane (PEM) technology, inctudsmPureMotion 120 power plant,
which is currently used in revenue service in titamss applications in Connecticut, California daarope. UTC Power is currently
developing PEM fuel cells for submarine applicasioim addition, UTC Power is a maker of alkalinedxfuel cells used to provide
electricity and drinking water to the U.S. spacetté.

Although fuel cells are believed to be superiocdaventional power generation technologies in tesfrtetal system efficiency and
environmental characteristics, the technologyilkisteither early commercialization or developnie@ontinued technology advancement
cost reduction are required to achieve wide-scalkeat acceptance. Government support is neededlyacbmmercialize fuel cell
technology. There is still significant uncertaiaty to whether and when commercially viable fudsoglll be produced.

UTC Power merged with UTC Fuel Cells, effectivelulay 1, 2007, with UTC Power continuing as the sting entity. UTC is in the
process of incorporating UTC Power’s combined aaplheating and power systems business within &€& businesses, its geothermal
power systems business within Pratt & Whitney’'s pogystems business, and its space and defenseefupbwer plant business within
Hamilton Sundstrand’s energy, space and defensedsss These transitions are expected to be coeaptkiring the first half of 2009. The
results of UTC Power and UTC Fuel Cells are inctlislethe “Eliminations and Othecategory in the segment financial data in Notealthé¢
Consolidated Financial Statements in our 2008 AhRe@ort.



Table of Contents

Other Matters Relating to Our Business as a Whole

Competition and Other Factors Affecting Our Busineses

As worldwide businesses, our operations can beteffieby a variety of economic and other factorsluiding those described in this
section, in “Management’s Discussion and Analy$iBinancial Condition and Results of Operation€luded in our 2008 Annual Report, in
Item 1, “Cautionary Note Concerning Factors ThayMdfect Future Results,” and in ltem 1A, “Risk Faxs” in this Form 10-K. Each
business unit is subject to significant competitimm a large number of companies in the UnitedeStand other countries, and each
competes on the basis of price, delivery schegméajuct performance and service.

Our aerospace businesses are subject to substamtigktition from domestic manufacturers, foreiggnofacturers (whose governme
sometimes provide research and development assistanarketing subsidies and other assistance éarrhtional commercial products) and
companies that obtain regulatory agency approvalaoufacture spare parts. In particular, Pratt &itiddly experiences intense competition
for new commercial airframe/engine combinationsgiBe suppliers may offer substantial discountsathér financial incentives,
performance and operating cost guarantees, patioipin financing arrangements and maintenanceesgents. Customer selections of
engines and components can also have a signifitguatct on later sales of parts and services. litiaddthe U.S. government’s and other
governments’ policies of purchasing parts from diepp other than the original equipment manufactaféect military spare parts sales.
Significant elements of our aerospace businesael,a&s spare parts sales for engines and airoraéirvice, have short lead times. Therefore,
backlog information may not be indicative of fututemand. Pratt & Whitney’s major competitors in sade of engines are GE Aviation,
Rolls-Royce, Honeywell and Turbomeca. For inforimatiegarding customer financing commitments, pigdiion in guarantees of customer
financing arrangements and performance and opgratist guarantees, see Notes 4 and 13 to the Gaatsal Financial Statements in our
2008 Annual Report.

Research and Development

Since changes in technology can have a significapact on our operations and competitive positiea spend substantial amounts of
our own funds on research and development. Thgseneitures, which are charged to expense as irtsusere $1,771 million or 3.1 percent
of total sales in 2008, as compared with $1,678anilor 3.1 percent of total sales in 2007 and 33 ,illion or 3.2 percent of total sales in
2006. We also perform research and development wadller contracts funded by the U.S. governmentodéimel customers. This contract
research and development, which is performed grallgi in the Pratt & Whitney segment and to a legsgent in the Hamilton Sundstrand
and Sikorsky segments, amounted to $2,101 milo2008, as compared to $2,123 million in 2007 ah@%32 million in 2006. These contr.
research and development costs include amountathaxpensed as incurred, through cost of prodwttls and amounts that are capitalized
into inventory to be subsequently recovered thrguglduction aircraft shipments. Of the totals, $8,tnillion, $1,872 million and $1,621
million were expensed in 2008, 2007 and 2006, retspdy. The remaining costs have been capitalized.

U.S. Government Contracts

U.S. government contracts are subject to termindiiothe government, either for the conveniencefgovernment or for default as a
result of our failure to perform under the applieatontract. In the case of a termination for canerce, we would normally be entitled to
reimbursement for our allowable costs incurreds pérmination costs and a reasonable profit. ihbeated by the government as a result of
our default, we could be liable for additional softe government incurs in acquiring undelivereddgoor services from another source and
any other damages it suffers. Most of our U.S. gavent sales are made under fix@ite type contracts, while approximately $2,721liam
or 4.6 percent of our total sales for 2008 were enautler cost-reimbursement type contracts.

Our contracts with the U.S. government are alsgestito audits. Like many defense contractors, asehreceived audit reports from
U.S. government which recommend that we reduceaicecbntract prices because cost or pricing datawbenitted in negotiation of the
contract prices or cost accounting practices mayaee conformed to government regulations. Sonthesfe audit reports have involved
substantial reductions. We have made voluntaryndsun those cases we believe appropriate, hattedssbme allegations and continue to
litigate certain cases. For further discussioriss related to government contracting, see theudison in Item 1A, “Risk Factors” and
Item 3, “Legal Proceedings,” in this Form 10-K axidte 15 to the Consolidated Financial Statementaiir2008 Annual Report for further
discussion.

Compliance with Environmental and Other GovernmentRegulations

Our operations are subject to and affected by enmental regulation by federal, state and locat@rities in the United States and
regulatory authorities with jurisdiction over oaréign operations. We have incurred and will likebntinue to incur liabilities under various
government statutes for the cleanup of pollutargsipusly released into the
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environment. We do not anticipate that complianié aurrent provisions relating to the protectidrttte environment or that any payments
we may be required to make for cleanup liabilitié have a material adverse effect upon our céshd, competitive position, financial
condition or results of operations. Environmentatters are further addressed in “Management’s B&on and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations” and Notesd Hnto the Consolidated Financial Statements 2608 Annual Report.

Most of the U.S. laws governing environmental nratteclude criminal provisions. If we were convittef a violation of the federal
Clean Air Act or Clean Water Act, the facility adilities involved in the violation would be inelide to be used in performing any U.S.
government contract we are awarded until the Enwirental Protection Agency certified that the capdigiving rise to the violation had
been corrected.

We conduct our businesses through subsidiariesffifidtes worldwide. Changes in legislation or gavment policies can affect our
worldwide operations. For example, governmentalilaipn of refrigerants and energy efficiency stamid, elevator safety codes and fire
safety regulations are important to the businest&arrier, Otis and UTC Fire & Security respechjyavhile government safety and
performance regulations, restrictions on aircrafjiee noise and emissions and government procurgmnactices can impact our aerospace
businesses.

Intellectual Property and Raw Materials

We maintain a portfolio of patents, trademarkgniges and franchises related to our businessete Wisi portfolio is cumulatively
important to our business, we do not believe thatldss of any one or group of related patentdetrarks, licenses or franchises would have
a material adverse effect on our overall business@any of our operating segments.

We believe we have adequate sources for our pusteianaterials, components, services and suppied in our manufacturing. We
work continuously with our supply base to ensuradequate source of supply and to reduce costpufgeie cost reductions through a
number of mechanisms, including consolidating awcpases, reducing the number of suppliers, stagggbal sourcing and using online
bidding competitions among potential suppliersséme instances, we depend upon a single souregplysor participate in commodity
markets that may be subject to allocations of Behisupplies by suppliers. Like other users in thédd States, we are largely dependent t
foreign sources for certain raw materials requinei®isuch as cobalt (Finland, Norway, Russia and@a), tantalum (Australia and Canada),
chromium (South Africa, Kazakhstan, Zimbabwe andd$ta) and rhenium (Chile, Kazakhstan and Germafg)have a number of ongoing
programs to manage this dependence and the accgimgaisk, including long-term agreements and tbeservation of materials through
scrap reclamation and new manufacturing proce¥geselieve that our supply management practicebased on an appropriate balancing
of the foreseeable risks and the costs of altaratiactices. Although recent high prices for ssave materials important to some of our
businesses (steel, copper, aluminum, titanium &idh) have caused margin and cost pressures, weioresee any near term
unavailability of materials, components or suppttest would have an adverse effect on our overainess or on any of our business
segments. For further discussion of the possilfeetsf of the cost and availability of raw materiafsour business, see Item 1A, “Risk
Factors” in this Form 10-K.

Employees and Employee Relations

At December 31, 2008, our total employment was @iprately 223,100, approximately 65 percent of wahigpresents employees
based outside the United States. During 2008, wegatiated thirteen multi-year collective bargainagreements, the largest of which
covered certain workers at Carrier, Hamilton Suraat&t, and Sikorsky. In 2009, numerous collectivey@ming agreements are subject to
renegotiation, the largest of which cover certaorkers at Sikorsky and Carrier. We do not anti@aty problems in renegotiating these
contracts that would either individually or in thggregate have a material adverse effect on ocaindial condition or results of operations.
discussion of the effects of our restructuring@tdion employment, see “Management’s DiscussiorAaiadlysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations” and Note 11 to the Const#dl&inancial Statements in our 2008 Annual Report.

For a discussion of other matters which may aféectfinancial condition, results of operations asle flows, including the risks of our
international operations, see the further discusgiwler the headings “General” and “DescriptioBosiness by Segment” in this section,
Item 1A, “Risk Factors” in this Form 10-K, and umdManagement’s Discussion and Analysis of FinahCiandition and Results of
Operations” in our 2008 Annual Report.

Cautionary Note Concerning Factors That May AffectFuture Results

This Form 10-K contains statements which, to therxthey are not statements of historical or prefeet, constitute “forward-looking
statements” under the securities laws. From tintéie, oral or written forward-looking statementayralso be included in other materials
released to the public. These forward-looking shetets are intended to provide management’s cuesgrectations or plans for our future
operating and financial performance, based on gssons
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currently believed to be valid. Forward-lookingtstaents can be identified by the use of words sisclbelieve,” “expect,” “plans,”
“strategy,” “prospects,” “estimate,” “project,” ‘tget,” “anticipate,” “guidance” and other wordssifilar meaning in connection with a
discussion of future operating or financial perfarmoe. These include, among others, statementmetat

« future revenues, earnings, cash flow, uses of aadlother measures of financial performai

» the effect of economic conditions in the Unitedt&aand globally, including the financial conditiohour customers and
suppliers;

* new business opportunitie

* restructuring costs and savin

» the scope, nature or impact of acquisition actigiti integration into our business

» the development, production and support of advategithologies and new products and servi

« the anticipated benefits of diversification andaeale of operations across product lines, regiodsratustries
» the impact of the negotiation of collective bargagnagreements

» the outcome of contingencie

» future repurchases of common sto

» future levels of indebtedness and capital spendingd

* pension plan assumptions and future contributi

All forward-looking statements involve risks andcertainties that may cause actual results to diffaterially from those expressed or
implied in the forward-looking statements. This AmhReport on Form 10-K for 2008 includes importafdrmation as to these factors that
may cause actual results to vary materially frooséhstated in the forward-looking statements if‘Business” section under the headings
“General,” “Description of Business by Segment” d@dher Matters Relating to Our Business as a Whaled in the “Risk Factors” and
“Legal Proceedings” sections. Additional importaformation as to these factors is included in 2008 Annual Report in the section titled
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations” under the hegd“Business Overview, Critical
Accounting Estimates,” “Environmental Matters” dtiRestructuring and Other Costs.” For additionabmmhation identifying factors that may
cause actual results to vary materially from th&is¢ed in the forward-looking statements, see eponts on Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K filed
with the SEC from time to time.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Our business, financial condition, operating ressafid cash flows can be impacted by a number tdriadncluding, but not limited to,
those set forth below, any one of which could causeactual results to vary materially from recesstults or from our anticipated future
results. For a discussion identifying additionakrfactors and important factors that could caeseadresults to differ materially from those
anticipated, see the discussion in the “Businesstien under the headings “Other Matters Relatin@tr Business as a Whole” and
“Cautionary Note Concerning Factors That May AffEature Results” in this Form 10-K and in “Manage®Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” &@ddtes to Consolidated Financial Statements” in 2008 Annual Report.

Our Global Growth is Subject to a Number of Economic Risks

As widely reported, financial markets in the Uni@ihtes, Europe and Asia have been experiencimgnegtdisruption in recent months,
including, among other things, extreme volatilitysecurity prices, severely diminished liquiditydasredit availability, rating downgrades of
certain investments and declining valuations oehGovernments have taken unprecedented actitersled to address extreme market
conditions that include severely restricted cradil declines in real estate values. While currehthge conditions have not impaired our
ability to access credit markets and finance ow@rafons, there can be no assurance that theraatibe a further deterioration in financial
markets and confidence in major economies. Theseozoic developments affect businesses such asroarsumber of ways. The current
tightening of credit in financial markets adversaffects the ability of our customers to obtairaficing for significant purchases and
operations and could result in a decrease in aretkation of orders for our products and servicesvall as impact the ability of our custom
to make payments. Similarly, this tightening ofditenay adversely affect our supplier base anceiase the potential for one or more of our
suppliers to experience financial distress or bapiay. Our global business is also adversely afibbly decreases in the general level of
economic activity, such as decreases in business@msumer spending, air travel, construction #gfifinancial strength of airline custome
and government procurement. Strengthening of tteeafaexchange for the U.S. Dollar against centaajor currencies such as the Euro, the
Canadian Dollar and other currencies also adveedédgts our results. We are unable to predictikedy duration and severity of the current
disruption in financial markets and adverse ecoraronditions in the U.S. and other countries.
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Our Financial Performance | s Dependent on the Conditions of the Construction and Aerospace | ndustries

The results of our commercial and industrial busses, which generated approximately 62 percentirofavenues in 2008, are
influenced by a number of external factors inclgdituctuations in residential and commercial candtion activity, regulatory changes,
interest rates, labor costs, foreign currency emgbaates, customer attrition, raw material andggneosts, the tightening of the U.S. credit
markets and other global and political factorsadidition to these factors, Carrigfinancial performance can also be influencedrogpction
and utilization of transport equipment and, inrésidential business, weather conditions.

The results of our commercial and military aerogplagsinesses, which generated approximately 3&peof our consolidated revent
in 2008, are directly tied to the economic condisian the commercial aviation and defense indusstrdnich are cyclical in nature. The
challenging operating environment currently facgdbmmercial airlines is expected to continue. Asslt, capital spending by commercial
airlines and aircraft manufacturers may be infleshby a wide variety of factors, including currant predicted traffic levels, load factors,
aircraft fuel pricing, labor issues, worldwide &id profits, airline consolidation, airline insohvd@es, competition, the retirement of older
aircraft, regulatory changes, terrorism and relateféty concerns, general economic conditions,azatp profitability, and backlog levels, all
of which could reduce both the demand for air thawel the aftermarket sales and margins of ourspae businesses. Future terrorist act
or pandemic health issues could dramatically redhatk the demand for air travel and our aerospasimbsses aftermarket sales and mar
Also, since a substantial portion of the backlogdmmmercial aerospace customers is schedulecefimedy beyond 2009, changes in
economic conditions may cause customers to redjugistirm orders be rescheduled or canceled. Aé¢inour aerospace businesses also ente
into firm fixed-price development contracts, whitlay require us to bear cost overruns related toraaéen technical and design challenges
that arise during the development stage of therprogln addition, our aerospace businesses faeedatcompetition from domestic and
foreign manufacturers of new equipment and spants.pehe defense industry is also affected by agimg global political environment,
continued pressure on U.S. and global defense sppadd U.S. foreign policy and the level of adtinin military flight operations. Spare
parts sales and aftermarket service trends areteffdy similar factors, including usage, priciteghnological improvements, regulatory
changes and the retirement of older aircraft. Furttore, because of the lengthy research and dewelucycle involved in bringing produc
in these business segments to market, we cannditptiee economic conditions that will exist wheryaew product is complete. A reduct
in capital spending in the commercial aviation efethse industries could have a significant effecth® demand for our products, which cc
have an adverse effect on our financial performameesults of operations.

Our Business May Be Affected by Government Contracting Risks

U.S. government contracts are subject to termindiiothe government, either for the conveniencefgovernment or for default as a
result of our failure to perform under the applieatontract. If terminated by the government assalt of our default, we could be liable for
additional costs the government incurs in acquitindelivered goods or services from another soaimckany other damages it suffers. We
now, and believe that in light of the current UgBvernment contracting environment we will contitode, the subject of one or more U.S.
government investigations. If we or one of our hass units were charged with wrongdoing as a re$alty U.S. government investigation
(including violation of certain environmental orport laws), the U.S. government could suspendara tridding on or receiving awards of
new U.S. government contracts pending the completfdegal proceedings. If convicted or found Imthe U.S. government could subjec
to fines, penalties, repayments and treble and oilimages. The U.S. government could void any aotg#rfound to be tainted by fraud. The
U.S. government also reserves the right to delsant&ractor from receiving new government contréetdraudulent, criminal or other
seriously improper conduct. Debarment generallysdus exceed three years. Independently, failuomtoply with U.S. laws and regulations
related to the export of goods and technology datfie United States could result in civil or cniadipenalties and suspension or termination
of our export privileges. In addition, we are atemsitive to U.S. military budgets, which may fluete to reflect the policies of a new
administration or Congress.

Our International Operations Subject Usto Economic Risk As Our Results of Operations May Be Adversely Affected by Changesin
Economic Conditions, Foreign Currency Fluctuations and Changesin Local Government Regulation

We conduct our business on a global basis, witheqimately 64 percent of our total 2008 segmenéenexes derived from operations
outside of the United States and from U.S. expaless Changes in local and regional economic cimmgit including fluctuations in exchange
rates, may affect product demand and reportedtpriofiour non-U.S. operations (primarily the comamdrbusinesses) where transactions are
generally denominated in local currencies. In adudjtcurrency
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fluctuations may affect the prices we pay suppliersnaterials used in our products. As a resuit,aperating margins may also be negati
impacted by worldwide currency fluctuations thatuk in higher costs for cross border transacti@ns. financial statements are denominated
in U.S. dollars. Accordingly, fluctuations in excige rates may also give rise to translation gainesses when financial statements of non-
U.S. operating units are translated into U.S. dsll&iven that the majority of our revenues are-bloB. based, a strengthening of the U.S.
dollar against other major foreign currencies cadgersely affect our results of operations.

The majority of sales in the aerospace businesdearisacted in U.S. dollars, consistent with distadd industry practice, while the
majority of costs at locations outside the Unitealt&s is incurred in the applicable local currefamyncipally the Euro and the Canadian
dollar). For operating units with U.S. dollar saée®l local currency costs, there is a foreign cuoyeexposure that could impact our results of
operations depending on market changes in the agehate of the U.S. dollar against the applicédnieign currencies. To manage certain
exposures, we employ long-term hedging strategissa@ated with U.S. dollar revenues. See NotethheddConsolidated Financial Statements
in our 2008 Annual Report for a discussion of oeiding strategies.

Our international sales and operations are sutjatisks associated with changes in local goverrnaevs, regulations and policies,
including those related to tariffs and trade basti;mvestments, taxation, exchange controls, eynpémt regulations, and repatriation of
earnings. Our international sales and operatioasiao sensitive to changes in foreign nationairitiés, including government budgets, as
well as to political and economic instability. Imational transactions may involve increased fingrand legal risks due to differing legal
systems and customs in foreign countries. For el@mp a condition of sale or award of a contrsmte international customers require u
agree to offset arrangements, which may includeoimtry purchases, manufacturing and financial sttprangements. The contract may
provide for penalties in the event we fail to penfidn accordance with the offset requirements.dditéon, as part of our globalization
strategy, we have invested in certain countrieduding Argentina, Brazil, China, India, Russia &wlith Africa that carry high levels of
currency, political and economic risk.

While these factors or the impact of these facaoesdifficult to predict, any one or more of theould adversely affect our business,
financial condition or operating results.

We Use a Variety of Raw Materials, Supplier-Provided Parts, Components, Sub-Systems and Third Party Contract Manufacturing Services
in Our Businesses, and Significant Shortages, Supplier Capacity Constraints, Supplier Production Disruptions or Price I ncreases Could
Increase Our Operating Costs and Adversely | mpact the Competitive Positions of Our Products

Our reliance on suppliers, third party contract ofaoturing and commodity markets to secure raw rigs$e parts, components and sub-
systems used in our products exposes us to vblatilthe prices and availability of these matexidh some instances, we depend upon a
single source of supply, manufacturing or asseroblyarticipate in commodity markets that may beexttito allocations of limited supplies
by suppliers. A disruption in deliveries from owippliers or third party contract manufacturers,pdigp capacity constraints, supplier and
third party contract manufacturer production disias, price increases, or decreased availabifitaw materials or commodities, could have
an adverse effect on our ability to meet our comraiits to customers or increase our operating cd&delieve that our supply management
and production practices are based on an apprefréancing of the foreseeable risks and the odstiernative practices. Nonetheless, p
increases, supplier capacity constraints, supptieduction disruptions or the unavailability of semaw materials may have an adverse effect
on our results of operations or financial condition

We Engage in Acquisitions, and May Encounter Difficulties | ntegrating Acquired Businesses with Our Current Operations; Therefore, We
May Not Realize the Anticipated Benefits of the Acquisitions

We seek to grow through strategic acquisitionshénpast several years, we have made various @tmussand entered into joint
venture arrangements intended to complement anahelxpur businesses, and may continue to do s@ifutbre. The success of these
transactions will depend on our ability to integrassets and personnel acquired in these transsciipply our internal controls processes to
these acquired businesses, and cooperate witlirategic partners. We may encounter difficultiemitegrating acquisitions with our
operations, applying our internal controls procegeehese acquisitions, or in managing strategiestments. Furthermore, we may not
realize the degree or timing of benefits we antitépvhen we first enter into a transaction. Anyhefforegoing could adversely affect our
business and results of operations. In additianyéicent effectiveness of Statement of Financialbfating Standards No. 141 (revised 20
“Business Combinations,” which, among other thinmgguires companies to expense certain acquisitsts as incurred, may cause us to
incur greater earnings volatility and generally évearnings during periods in which we acquire besinesses.
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We Design, Manufacture and Service Products that I ncorporate Advanced Technologies; The I ntroduction of New Products and
Technologies I nvolves Risks and We May Not Realize the Degree or Timing of Benefits I nitially Anticipated

We seek to achieve growth through the design, deweént, production, sale and support of innovatinegucts that incorporate
advanced technologies. We regularly invest subisfaarhounts in research and development effortspghissue advancements in a wide range
of technologies, products and services. Our aldilitsealize the anticipated benefits of these adearents depends on a variety of factors,
including meeting development, production, ceréifion and regulatory approval schedules; execufanternal and external performance
plans; availability of internal and supplier-proédgarts and materials; performance of supplietlssabcontractors; achieving cost and
production efficiencies, validation of innovativerhnologies and the level of customer intereskin technologies and products. These fa
involve significant risks and uncertainties. We nesigounter difficulties in developing and producthgse new products and services, and
may not realize the degree or timing of benefitsally anticipated. In particular, we cannot pretdivith certainty whether, when and in what
guantities Pratt & Whitney or its affiliates wilkgduce aircraft engines currently in developmemnending required certifications. Any of the
foregoing could adversely affect our business asdlts of operations.

We Are Subject to Litigation and Legal Compliance Risks That Could Adversely Affect Our Operating Results

We are subject to a variety of litigation and legainpliance risks. These risks include, among dtfiags, litigation concerning produ
liability matters, personal injuries, intellectymbperty rights, government contracts, taxes, emvirental matters and compliance with U.S.
and foreign export laws, competition laws and sate$trading practices. We or one of our busine#s gould be charged with wrongdoing
as a result of such litigation. If convicted or folliable, we could be subject to fines, penaltiepayments, other damages (in certain cases,
treble damages), or suspension or debarment framargment contracts. Independently, failure of usre of our business units to comply
with applicable export and trade practice laws daakult in civil or criminal penalties and suspgensor termination of export privileges.
While we believe we have adopted appropriate riakagement and compliance programs to address dnckeréhese risks, the global and
diverse nature of our operations means that thelse will continue to exist and additional legabpeedings and contingencies will arise from
time to time. Our results may be affected by thee@me of legal proceedings and other contingertbigiscannot be predicted with certainty.
For non-income tax risks, we estimate material tmggingencies and establish reserves as requyrgeéierally accepted accounting
principles based on our assessment of contingemtiese liability is deemed probable and reasonaebtymable in light of the facts and
circumstances known to us at a particular poitinme. Subsequent developments in legal proceedireysaffect our assessment and estin
of the loss contingency recorded as a liabilita®ia reserve against assets in our financial statsnand could result in an adverse effect on
our results of operations in the period in whidrahility would be recognized or cash flows for theriod in which damages would be paid.
For a description of current legal proceedings,Pa |, Iltem 3, “Legal Proceedings,” in this Foi®+K. For income tax risks, we recognize
tax benefits based on our assessment that a tafitess a greater than 50% likelihood of beingangd upon ultimate settlement with the
applicable taxing authority that has full knowledygell relevant facts. For those income tax posiiwhere we assess that there is not a
greater than 50% likelihood that such tax beneffittve sustained, we do not recognize a tax benefiur financial statements. Subsequent
events may cause us to change our assessmentligetti@od of sustaining a previously-recognizeshbfit which could result in an adverse
effect on our results of operations in the perioavhich such event occurs or on our cash flowséngeriod in which the ultimate settlement
with the applicable taxing authority occurs.

13



Table of Contents

ltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
Item 2. Properties
Number of Facilities - Owned
uTC
Fire & Pratt & Hamilton
Location Otis  Carrier  Security Whitney  Sundstrand Sikorsky Other  Total
Manufacturing:
North America — 13 7 36 22 8 — 86
Europe & Middle Eas 7 7 12 2 18 — — 46
Asia 4 3 — 6 2 — — 15
Emerging Markets 10 19 7 12 5 2 — 55
21 42 26 56 47 10 — 20z
Non-Manufacturing:
North America 4 5 1 28 4 — 13 55
Europe & Middle Eas 16 12 2 — 1 — — 31
Asia 2 2 5 1 — — — 10
Emerging Markets 7 7 5 3 — — — 22
28 26 13 32 5 — 13 11¢
Number of Facilities - Leased
uTC
Fire & Pratt & Hamilton
Location Otis  Carrier ~ Security Whitney Sundstrand Sikorsky  Other  Total
Manufacturing:
North America 1 5 7 24 8 7 2 54
Europe & Middle Eas 3 3 16 1 12 1 — 36
Asia — 2 — 4 3 — — 9
Emerging Market$ _ 2 6 6 — 4 — — 18
_ 6 16 29 29 27 8 2 117
Number of Facilities - Leased
uTC
Fire & Pratt & Hamilton
Location Otis  Carrier  Security Whitney  Sundstrand Sikorsky Other  Total
Non-Manufacturing:
North America 4 93 16 14 3 6 4 14C
Europe & Middle Eas 10 22 13 — — — — 45
Asia 8 3 7 1 1 1 — 21
Emerging Market$ _ 9 11 6 — — — — 26
31 12¢ 42 15 4 7 4 232

* For purposes of this table, emerging markets isdas the countries included in the Morgan Staflapital International Emerging
Markets Global IndexM.

Our fixed assets as of December 31, 2008 includeufaaturing facilities and non-manufacturing fa@ such as warehouses set forth
in the tables above and a substantial quantityaxfiimery and equipment, most of which are genangigse machinery and equipment using
special jigs, tools and fixtures and in many inseanhaving automatic control features and spedmptations. The facilities, warehouses,
machinery and equipment in use as of December(®I are in good operating condition, are well-naimed and substantially all are in
regular use.
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Our management believes that the fixed assetsatiapil and the facilities in operation at Decen®ier2008 for the production of our
products are suitable and adequate for the busawmeghicted therein in the current business envismrand have sufficient production
capacity for their present intended purposes. adtilon of the facilities varies based on demandHterproducts. We continuously review our
anticipated requirements for facilities and, bagedhat review, may from time to time adjust owilfty needs.

For discussion of the effect of our restructuriegans on manufacturing facilities, see “ManagerigeDiscussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” &lode 11 to the Consolidated Financial Statementaim2008 Annual Report.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

As previously disclosed, the Department of Jugiiz®J) sued us in 1999 in the U.S. District Courttfee Southern District of Ohio,
claiming that Pratt & Whitney violated the civil IBa Claims Act and common law. This lawsuit reldtethe “Fighter Engine Competition”
between Pratt & Whitney's F100 engine and Geneledtic's F110 engine. The DOJ alleges that theegowment overpaid for F100 engines
under contracts awarded by the U.S. Air Forcesodi years 1985 through 1990 because Pratt & Whitiflated its estimated costs for some
purchased parts and withheld data that would hewealed the overstatements. At trial of this mattempleted in December 2004, the
government claimed Pratt & Whitney’s liability te 1$624 million. On August 1, 2008, the trial cqudge held that the Air Force had not
suffered any actual damages because Pratt & Whitadymade significant price concessions. Howeterfrial court judge found that Prat!
Whitney violated the False Claims Act due to inaatel statements contained in the 1983 offer. Iratieence of actual damages, the trial
court judge awarded the DOJ the maximum civil pgnafl $7.09 million, or $10,000 for each of the 7f9oices Pratt &

Whitney submitted in 1989 and later under the @mts. Both the DOJ and UTC have appealed the daciShould the government ultimat
prevail, the outcome of this matter could resukhimaterial effect on our results of operationthperiod in which a liability would be
recognized or cash flows for the period in whicindges would be paid.

As previously disclosed, on February 21, 2007 Eheopean Commission’s Competition Directorate (Eunthission) ruled that Otis’
subsidiaries in Belgium, Luxembourg and the Netradk, and a portion of the business of Otis’ Germdsidiary, violated European Union
(EU) competition rules and assessed a €225 mi{approximately $300 million) civil fine against ®tiits relevant local entities, and UTC,
which was paid during 2007. In May 2007, we filedappeal of the decision before the EU’s Europeaurt®f First Instance. Resolution of
the matter is not expected within the next twehanths.

As previously disclosed, during the first quarteR007, the Austrian Federal Competition Autho(iBompetition Authority) filed a
complaint with the Cartel Court in Austria (Car@burt) against Otis’ Austrian subsidiary in conm@ttwith an investigation of unlawful
collusive arrangements in the Austrian elevator @swhlator industry. On December 14, 2007, theeC@&durt, at the request of the
Competition Authority, assessed civil fines agathstparticipants in the collusive arrangementdpiing a fine of €18.2 million
(approximately $26 million) against Otis’ Austrianbsidiary, which fine was fully provided for as@écember 31, 2007. Otis Austria
appealed this ruling in January 2008. In Octob&82@he Cartel Court denied the appeal and in Dbeer?008, this fine was paid in full.

As previously disclosed, in 2005 the Korean Faade Commission (KFTC) conducted an inspectionebffices of Otis Korea and its
Korean competitors with respect to collusive atittgi in the market for new equipment sales, ariday 2007 expanded its investigation to
include pricing of subcontracts for elevator ingiidn. In September 2008, the KFTC assessed afjast Otis Korea of South Korean W
17.3 billion (approximately $15 million) with resgteto the new equipment sales investigation, whietpreviously accrued. In November
2008, this fine was paid in full. In October 2088 KFTC notified us that the installation subcentor pricing investigation had been closed
without action.

In December 2008, the Department of Defense (D@8)dd a contract claim against Sikorsky to recoverpayments the DOD allec
it has incurred since January 2003 in connectidh @ost accounting changes approved by the DOOmapkmented by Sikorsky in 1999
and 2006. These changes relate to the calculatioraterial overhead rates in government contrddts. DOD claimed that Sikorsky’s
liability is approximately $80 million (includingnterest). We believe this claim is without meritlantend to appeal.

Like many other industrial companies in recent geare or our subsidiaries are named as a defeimdawsuits alleging personal inju
as a result of exposure to asbestos integrated@ntain of our products or premises. While we hageer manufactured asbestos and no
longer incorporate it in any currently-manufactupedducts, certain of our historical products, likese of many other manufacturers, have
contained components incorporating asbestos. Atauoitisl majority of these asbestos-related claimgehbeen covered by insurance or other
forms of indemnity or have been dismissed withaytrpent. The remainder of the closed cases haverbselved for amounts that are not
material individually or in the aggregate. Basedlmninformation currently available, we do notiee¢ that resolution of these asbestos-
related matters will have a material adverse efipoin our competitive position, results of openagiocash flows or financial condition.
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Except as otherwise noted above, we do not betleateresolution of any of the legal matters disedssbove will have a material
adverse effect upon our competitive position, rssofl operations, cash flows or financial conditiérfurther discussion of government
contracts and related investigations, as well dis@ussion of our environmental liabilities, canfobend under the heading “Other Matters
Relating to Our Business as a Whole — Compliantke Bmnvironmental and Other Government Regulationstem 1, “Business,” and in
Item 1A, “Risk Factors,” in this Form 10-K.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holder:
No matters were submitted to security holders feote during the quarter ended December 31, 2008.

PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Edty Securities

The Performance Graph and Comparative Stock Dateaaimg in our 2008 Annual Report containing thfeing data relating to our
Common Stock: shareholder return, principal martgearterly high and low sales prices, approximat@iper of shareowners and frequency
and amount of dividends are hereby incorporatecefgrence. The information required by Item 5 wihpect to securities authorized for
issuance under equity compensation plans is incatpd by reference in Part I, Item 12 of this rat0-K.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table provides information about quirchases of equity securities that are registieyags pursuant to Section 12 of the
Exchange Act during the quarter ended Decembe2(®18.

Total Total Number of Maximum Number
Number of Shares Purchased ¢

of Shares that may
Shares Average Part of a Publicly yet be Purchased
Purchasec Price Paid Announced Program Under the Program

200¢ (000's) per Share (000’s) (000’s)
October 1- October 31 2,88: 51.2Z 2,87¢ 39,08:
November - November 3( 5,18¢ 48.8: 5,18¢ 33,89¢
December — December 3: 5,462 48.9¢ 5,46( 28,43t
Total 13,53( 49.4( 13,52 28,43¢

We repurchase shares under a program announcecheril, 2008, which authorized the repurchase ¢b &® million shares of our
common stock. This new authorization replaced &ipus program, approved in December 2006, whichweasing completion. Under the
current program, shares may be purchased on threropeket, in privately negotiated transactions ander plans complying with Rules
10b5-1 and 10b-18 under the Exchange Act, as ardeiithese repurchases are included within the sebpar overall repurchase program
discussed above. We may also reacquire shareslewfsihe program from time to time in connectidthwhe surrender of shares to cover
taxes on vesting of restricted stock. Approxima#&00 shares were reacquired in transactionsdsutie program during the quarter.

ltem 6. Selected Financial Data

The Five Year Summary appearing in our 2008 AnRegdort, containing revenues, net income, basiaddoted earnings per share,
cash dividends per common share, total assetagetérm debt is hereby incorporated by refereSee. “Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements” in our 2008 Annual Report for a desionipof any accounting changes and acquisitiordispositions of businesses materially
affecting the comparability of the information exfted in the Five Year Summary.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations

We hereby incorporate by reference in this FornKliie section titled “Management’s Discussion anmthisis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations” in our 2008 Annual Repor
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ltem 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

For information concerning market risk sensitivstioments, see discussion under the heading “M&is&tand Risk Management” in
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€ahdition and Results of Operations” in our 200&Aal Report and under the heading
“Foreign Exchange and Hedging Activity” in Note AdaNote 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statemiantsir 2008 Annual Report.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Dat

The 2008 and 2007 Consolidated Balance Sheet, thed financial statements for the years 2008, 206¥2006, together with the
report thereon of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP daddduary 11, 2009 in our 2008 Annual Report areriparated by reference in this Form
10-K. The 2008 and 2007 unaudited Selected Qugiftémhancial Data appearing in our 2008 Annual Reoincorporated by reference in
this Form 10-K.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Acunting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

As required by Rule 13a-15 under the SecuritieshBrge Act of 1934, as amended, we carried out aluaon under the supervision
and with the participation of our management, iditlg the President and Chief Executive Officer (§JB®e Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer (CFO) and the Vice President, €olter (Controller), of the effectiveness of thesign and operation of our disclosure
controls and procedures. There are inherent lifoitatto the effectiveness of any system of diselsontrols and procedures, including the
possibility of human error and the circumventiorogerriding of the controls and procedures. Acaagtli, even effective disclosure controls
and procedures can only provide reasonable assutdrachieving their control objectives. Based upanevaluation, our CEO, our CFO ¢
our Controller concluded that our disclosure cdstemd procedures were effective to provide redsleressurance that information required
to be disclosed by us in the reports that we filsubmit under the Securities Exchange Act of 1834amended, is recorded, processed,
summarized and reported within the time periodsi§ipd in the applicable rules and forms, and thet accumulated and communicated to
our management, including our CEO, our CFO andGmntroller, as appropriate, to allow timely decsaegarding required disclosure.

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@gaorting. Internal control over
financial reporting is a process designed to peva&hsonable assurance regarding the reliabilifynafcial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external reporting purpdseaccordance with accounting principles gengiradtepted in the United States of
America. Because of its inherent limitations, intdrcontrol over financial reporting may not prevendetect misstatements. Our
management has assessed the effectiveness ofteunaincontrol over financial reporting as of Ded®m31, 2008. In making its assessment,
management has utilized the criteria set forthheyGommittee of Sponsoring Organizations of thedway Commission iinternal
Control—Integrated FrameworkOur management concluded that based on its assasseinternal control over financial reportingisv
effective as of December 31, 2008. The effectiverd®ur internal control over financial reportiag of December 31, 2008 has been audited
by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an independenttezgispublic accounting firm, as stated in themore which appears in our 2008 Annual
Report.

There has been no change in our internal contret fimancial reporting during the quarter ended émeber 31, 2008 that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materiallyeadft, our internal control over financial reporting.

PART Il
Iltem 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governace

The information required by Item 10 with respectiieectors, the Audit Committee of the Board ofdaitors and audit committee
financial experts is incorporated herein by refeeeto the section of our Proxy Statement for th@92@nnual Meeting of Shareowners titled
“General Information Concerning the Board of Dimgst” under the headings “Nominees,” “The Audit Goittee,” and “The Committee on
Nominations and Governan”
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Executive Officers of the Registrant

The following persons are executive officers of tddiTechnologies Corporation:

Age
Name Title Other Business Experience Since 1/1/2004 2/11/0¢
Alain Bellemare President, Hamilton Sundstrand President, Pratt & Whitney Canada a7
Corporation (since January 20(
Ari Bousbib President, Commercial Companies and President, Otis Elevator a7
Executive Vice President (since May
2008)
J. Thomas Bowler, Jr. Senior Vice President, Human Resour Vice President, Human Resources, 56
and Organization (since 2007) United Technologies Corporation; Vice
President, Human Resources and
Organization, Pratt & Whitne
William M. Brown President, UTC Fire & Security (since  President, Asia Pacific, Carrier 46

Louis R. Chénevert

Geraud Darnis

George David

James E. Geisler

Charles D. Gill

Gregory J. Hayes

David P. Hess

Didier Michaud-Daniel

2006)

Director (since April 2008), President
(since 2006) and Chief Executive Offic
(since April 2008

President, Carrier Corporation
(since 2001

Director (since 1992) and Chairman
(since 1997)

Vice President, Corporate Strategy &
Planning (since September 2008)

Senior Vice President and General
Counsel (since 2007)

Senior Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer (since September 20

President, Pratt & Whitney (since
January 2009)

President, Otis Elevator (since May
2008)

18

Corporatior

President and Chief Operating Officer, 51
United Technologies Corporation;
President, Pratt & Whitne

— 49

Director, Chairman and Chief Executive 66
Officer, United Technologies

Corporation; Director, Chairman,

President and Chief Executive Officer,
United Technologies Corporatic

Vice President, Finance, United 42
Technologies Corporation; Director,
Financial Planning and Analysis, United
Technologies Corporatic

Vice President and General Counsel, and 44
Secretary, Carrier Corporation;

Executive Assistant to Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer, United
Technologies Corporatic

Vice President, Accounting and Finance, 48
United Technologies Corporation; Vice
President, Accounting and Control,

United Technologies Corporation; Vice
President, Controller, United

Technologies Corporatic

President, Hamilton Sundstrand 53
Corporation; President, Hamilton
Sundstrand Aerospace Power Systi

President, Otis United Kingdom and 51
Central Europe Area, Otis Eleval
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Age
Name Title Other Business Experience Since 1/1/2004 2/11/0¢
Jeffrey P. Pino President, Sikorsky Aircraft (since 2006) Senior Vice President, Corporate 54
Strategy, Marketing & Commercial
Programs, Sikorsky Aircra
Thomas I. Roga Vice President, Treasurer (since 20 — 56
Margaret M. Smyth Vice President, Controller (since 2007) Vice President and Chief Accounting 45

Officer, 3M Co.; Managing Partner,
Deloitte & Touche

All of the officers serve at the pleasure of theaBbof Directors of United Technologies Corporatasrthe subsidiary designated.

Information concerning Section 16(a) complianceé®rporated herein by reference to the secticouofProxy Statement for the 2009
Annual Meeting of Shareowners titled “Section 1@&aheficial Ownership Reporting Compliance.” We éadopted a code of ethics that
applies to all our directors, officers, employerd eepresentatives. This code is publicly availavneur website at
http://www.investors.utc.com/utc/Static%20files/@owvance/coe_english.pdf. Amendments to the coé¢hids and any grant of a waiver
from a provision of the code requiring disclosuneler applicable SEC rules will be disclosed onwebsite. Our Corporate Governance
Guidelines and the charters of our Board of DirectAudit Committee, Finance Committee, Committ@eNomminations and Governance,
Public Issues Review Committee and Committee on fiamsation and Executive Development are availableun website at
http://www.investors.utc.com/utc/Governance/Boardmbhittee_Charters.html. These materials may alsetpested in print free of charge
by writing to our Investor Relations DepartmentUaited Technologies Corporation, United Technoled@eilding, Investor Relations,
Hartford, CT 06101.

ltem 11.  Executive Compensatior

The information required by Item 11 is incorporakeein by reference to the sections of our Praaye®hent for the 2009 Annual
Meeting of Shareowners titled “Executive Compermsdtand “Director Compensation.”

ltem 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners andManagement and Related Stockholder Matter:

The information relating to security ownership eftain beneficial owners and management requireltielny 12 is incorporated herein
by reference to the sections of our Proxy Staterferthe 2009 Annual Meeting titled “Security Owakip of Directors, Executive Officers
and Certain Beneficial Owners.” The Equity CompdiosaPlan Information required by Item 12 is satlidn the table below.

EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION

The following table provides information as of Deder 31, 2008 concerning common stock issuablersglgty compensation plans.
(©

Number of securities
remaining available for future

@ (b)
Number of securities Weighted-average issuance under equity
to be issued upon exercise exercise price of compensation plans
outstanding options (excluding securities

reflected in column (a))

outstanding options,
u ing opti W

Plan category warrants and rights warrants and rights
Equity compensation plans approved

security holder: 65,318,00® $ 48.72 43,300,00®
Equity compensation plans not appro

by security holder 9,539,001 $ 39.4( 0
Total 74,857,00 $ 47.58 43,300,00
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(1)

(2)

(3)
(4)

(5)

Consists of shares of UTC Common Stock or unitakiguvalue to a share of UTC Common Stock (eastricted stock, restricted
stock units, performance share units) (Full Shamar) available for future issuance under the tesfithe 2005 Long-Term Incentive
Plan, as amended (2005 LTIP). Full Share Awardbkreslult in a reduction in the number of shareBdC Common Stock available for
delivery under the 2005 LTIP in an amount equd.fiotimes the number of shares to which the awangsponds. Stock options and
stock appreciation rights do not constitute Futii®hAwards and will result in a reduction in thenter of shares of UTC Common
Stock available for delivery under the 2005 LTIPaoone-for-one basis.

Consists of options awarded under the 1989 LongnTacentive Plan (1989 LTIP), the 2005 LTIP and Man-Employee Director
Stock Option Plan (Non-Employee Director Plan).i@md issued under the 1989 LTIP include options$thsulted from the conversion
of awards granted under equity compensation pla8siedstrand Corporation at the time it was meiggglHamilton Sundstrand. This
amount includes 281,000 restricted shares andatestrshare units and 2,991,000 performance shig at the target level. Up to an
additional 2,991,000 could be issued if performayeals are achieved above target.

Represents the maximum number of shares of comiook available to be awarded as of December 318.200

Consists of options awarded under the UTC Empl@&teek Option Plan. This Plan authorized the awémbo-qualified stock options
to employees below the executive level considevdthte the potential to contribute to the long-tetracess of UTC. These options
consisted of rights to purchase a specified nurabshares of UTC Common Stock at a fixed optioegequal to the fair market value
of UTC Common Stock on the date the stock optioa granted. Options vested three years after the dede and have a tgrear term
Effective April 14, 2005, all equity compensatiomaads are now provided under the shareowner-apdr2065 LTIP.

Weighted-average calculation does not includeiotstt shares and performance share units becaegddive no exercise price.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, an®irector Independence

The information required by Item 13 is incorporakeein by reference to the sections of our Praaye®hent for the 2009 Annual

Meeting titled “Transactions with Related Persoaistl “General Information Concerning the Board afebiors.”

Item 14. Principal Accounting Fees and Services

The information required by Item 14 is incorporabgdreference to the section of our Proxy Staterfarthe 2009 Annual Meeting

titted “Appointment of a Firm of Independent Regigtd Public Accountants to Serve as Independenitérsdor 2009,” including
information provided with “Audit Fees,” “Audit Reted Fees,” “Tax Fees” and “All Other Fees.”

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule

(@) Financial Statements, Financial Statement Scheduleé£xhibits
(1) Financial Statements (incorporated by referenam fitee 2008 Annual Repor!

Page Number ir

Annual Report
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounfinm 24
Consolidated Statement of Operations for the thieegs ended December 31, 2( 25
Consolidated Balance Sh—December 31, 2008 and 20 26
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the theses ended December 31, 2( 27
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme 29
Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudit 51

(2) Financial Statement Schedule for the three yeatedBecember 31, 200

Page Number ir
Form 10-K
SCHEDULE |—Report of Independent Registered Puldticounting Firm on Financial
Statement Schedu S-
SCHEDULE Il—Valuation and Qualifying Accoun S
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Exhibit
Number

3()
3(ii)

4.1

10.1

10.2

10.3
10.4

10.5
10.6

10.7
10.8

10.9

All other schedules are omitted because they arapmicable or the required information is showrthie financial
statements or the notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits:

The following list of exhibits includes exhibitskzmitted with this Form 10-K as filed with the SE@dathose incorporated
by reference to other filings.

Restated Certificate of Incorporation, restatedfdday 8, 2006, incorporated by reference to Ext8iji) to UTC’s Annual Report
on Form 1K (Commission file number-812) for fiscal year ended December 31, 2(

Bylaws as amended and restated effective Decenth@0D8, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3GiJJTC’s Current Report o
Form &K (Commission file number-812) filed with the SEC on December 12, 2C

Amended and Restated Indenture, dated as of M29Qtl,, between UTC and The Bank of New York, agéeigincorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4(a) to UTC’s Registrationt8taent on Form S-3 (Commission file number 333-&)2ifed with the SEC on
May 4, 2001). UTC hereby agrees to furnish to toen@ission upon request a copy of each other ingntirefining the rights of
holders of lon-term debt of UTC and its consolidated subsidiasigs any unconsolidated subsidiar

United Technologies Corporation Annual Executiveeintive Compensation Plan, incorporated by referéad&Exhibit 10.1 to
UTC’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission filgmber 1-812) for fiscal year ended December 315E39amended January
1, 2009.*

United Technologies Corporation Executive Estats@wation Program, incorporated by reference toldia0(iv) to UTC'’s
Annual Report on Form -K (Commission file number-812) for fiscal year ended December 31, 1¢

United Technologies Corporation Pension Presemdian, as amended and restated, effective Jaduanos.*

United Technologies Corporation Senior Executiveesance Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhiljti) to UTC’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K (Commission file number 1-8ft)fiscal year ended December 31, 1992, and Amemdithereto, effective
December 10, 2003, incorporated by reference taditxt0.4 of UTC’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Conssion file number 1-
812) for fiscal year ended December 31, 2003 anémidment thereto, effective June 11, 2008, incotpdrhy reference to Exhibit
10.4 of UTCs Report on Form -Q (Commission file numbet-812) for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2

United Technologies Corporation Deferred Compeonaa®ilan, as amended and restated, effective Jathuanos.*

United Technologies Corporation Long Term Incenfan, as amended, incorporated by reference tiEAD.11 to UTC's
Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission file numhe312) for fiscal year ended December 31, 1989, anded by Amendme
No. 1 filed as Exhibit 10.6 to UTs Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission file nuenli-812) for fiscal year ended December
31, 1995 and Amendment No. 2 filed as Exhibit 6.8 TC’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commissiore filumber 1-812) for
fiscal year ended December 31, 20

United Technologies Corporation Executive Leadgr$hiogram, incorporated by reference to Exhibi716.UTC’s Quarterly
Report on Form 1-Q (Commission file number-812) for the quarterly period ended September 8042as amende

United Technologies Corporation Directors’ ReseitStock/Unit Program, incorporated by referendexioibit 10(xiii) to UTC’s
Annual Report on Form -K (Commission file number-812) for fiscal year ended December 31, 1¢

United Technologies Corporation Board of Directdeferred Stock Unit Plan, as amended and restatéasbér 8, 2008,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to UTR&port on Form 10-Q (Commission file number 1-&b2}the quarterly period
ended September 30, 20(
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10.1C

10.11

10.1zZ

10.1¢

10.14

10.1¢

10.1€

10.17

United Technologies Corporation Special Retentioth &tock Appreciation Program, incorporatgdreference to Exhibit 10(xvi) 1
UTC's Report on Form -Q (Commission file number-812) for the quarterly period ended September 8051

United Technologies Corporation Nonemployee Dire&8imck Option Plan, incorporated by referencehilt 10.12 to UTC's
Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission file numbe$12) for fiscal year ended December 31, 1995, Adngent 1 thereto,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(iii)(A)({) UTC’s Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly pdrended June 30, 2000,
Amendment 2 thereto, incorporated by referencextahit 10(iii)(A)(1) to UTC’s Report on Form 10-@f the quarterly period
ended June 30, 2001, Amendment 3 thereto, incagubtey reference to Exhibit 10.17 to UTC’s AnnuajpRrt on Form 10-K for
fiscal year ending December 31, 2001, Amendmehe#eto, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@dlRTC’s Annual Report o
Form 10-K (Commission file number 1-812) for fisgalar ending December 31, 2002 and Amendment Btthancorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.12 to UTC’s Annual Repartkorm 10-K (Commission file number 1-812) for &sgear ended December
31, 2003

United Technologies Corporation Employee Stock @pRlan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@dlBTC’s Annual Report

on Form 10-K (Commission file number81-2) for fiscal year ended December 31, 2002, amgé#dment 1 thereto, incorporated

reference to Exhibit 10.13 to UTC’s Annual Repartkorm 10-K (Commission file number 1-812) for &sgear ended December
31, 2003

United Technologies Corporation Employee ScholagRm, as amended and restated on June 27, 2@08ydmated by reference
to Exhibit 10.14 of UT¢s Annual Report on Form -K (Commission file number-812) for fiscal year ended December 31, 2(

Nonqualified Stock Option and Dividend Equivalenw@d Schedule of Terms relating to the United Tebbgies Corporatiol
Long Term Incentive Plan (previously filed as Exhit).11 to UTC’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Cormssion file number 1-
812) for fiscal year ended December 31, 1989, amnded by Amendment No. 1 filed as Exhibit 10.6 A% Annual Report on
Form 10-K (Commission file number8t2 ) for fiscal year ended December 31, 1995 ameé#dment No. 2 filed as Exhibit 10.€
UTC’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission filember 1-812) for fiscal year ended December 313 00corporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.15 to UTC’s Annual Repartform 10-K (Commission file number 1-812) for fidgear ended December
31, 2004

Restricted Stock Award Schedule of Terms and Fdrdward relating to the United Technologies CorpimmaLong Term
Incentive Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.blthe Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (@oission file number 1-812)
for fiscal year ended December 31, 1989, as amemgléddnendment No. 1 filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the@wation’s Annual Report
on Form 10-K (Commission file number81-2) for fiscal year ended December 31, 1995 anémdment No. 2 filed as Exhibit 1(
to the Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K fi@nission file number 1-812) for fiscal year endeztBmber 31, 2003),
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to UTQisarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commission file nemb-812) for the
quarterly period ended September 30, 2!

Nonqualified Stock Option Award Schedule of Termd &orm of Award relating to the United Technolagy{®orporation Lon-
Term Incentive Plan (previously filed as Exhibit1Dto the Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 1Qa@mmission file number
1-812) for fiscal year ended December 31, 198@nasnded by Amendment No. 1 filed as Exhibit 10.8&oCorporation’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K (Commission file number 1-8fi?)fiscal year ended December 31, 1995 and Amentiide. 2 filed as
Exhibit 10.6 to the Corporation’s Annual Reportlearm 10-K (Commission file number 1-812) for fisgalar ended December 31,
2003), incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2%C’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (Commissida fiumber 1-812) for the
quarterly period ended September 30, 2!

Restricted Stock Unit Award relating to the Unifeechnologies Corporation Directors’ Restricted &tonit Program (previously
filed as Exhibit 10(xiii) to the Corporation’s AnabReport on Form 10-K (Commission file number 2-Bfor fiscal year ended
December 31, 1992), incorporated by reference totix10.3 to UTC’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Qofmmission file number
1-812) for the quarterly period ended September B04:
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10.1¢

10.1¢

10.2C

10.21

10.2z

10.2¢

10.24

10.2¢

10.2¢

Form of Award relating to the United Technologies@ration Nonemployee Director Stock Option Plareyiously filed as Exhibi
10.17 to the Corporation’s Annual Report on ForrrKL@Commission file number 812) for fiscal year ended December 31, 199
amended by Amendment 1 thereto (previously file&asibit 10(iii)(A)(2) to the Corporation’s Repash Form 10-Q for quarterly
period ended June 30, 2000), Amendment 2 thereswifusly filed as Exhibit 10(iii)(A)(1) to the Cporation’s Report on Form 10-
Q (Commission file number 812) for quarterly period ended June 30, 2001), Adneent 3 thereto (previously filed as Exhibit 1C
to the Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K f@nission file number 1-812) for fiscal year endidgcember 31, 2001),
Amendment 4 thereto (previously filed as Exhibit1@0to the Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 1@sKfiscal year ending
December 31, 2002) and Amendment 5 thereto (prelyidiled as Exhibit 10.12 to the Corporation’s Arah Report on Form 10-K
(Commission file number 1-812) for fiscal year emglDecember 31, 2003)), incorporated by refereadexhibit 10.4 to UTC'’s
Quarterly Report on Form -Q (Commission file number-812) for the quarterly period ended September 804z

Recognition Stock Option Program Prospectus ani@tnt of Award relating to the United Technologiesporation Employee
Stock Option Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 1®1b the Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10&0(mission file number 1-
812) for fiscal year ended December 31, 2002, asnded by Amendment 1, filed as Exhibit 10.13 toGloeporation’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K (Commission file numbe812) for fiscal year ended December 31, 2003),rimz@ted by reference to Exhi
10.5 to UTCs Quarterly Report on Form -Q (Commission file number-812) for the quarterly period ended September B04:

Continuous Improvement Incentive Program Non-qigaliStock Option and Dividend Equivalent Award Stile of Terms and
Forms of Award relating to the United Technologirsporation Long Term Incentive Plan (previouslgdias Exhibit 10.11 to the
Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commissiite number 1812) for fiscal year ended December 31, 1989, amnded b
Amendment No. 1 filed as Exhibit 10.6 to the Cogimn’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission fikmber 1-812) for fiscal
year ended December 31, 1995 and Amendment Ned?ds Exhibit 10.6 to the Corporat’'s Annual Report on Form 10-K
(Commission file number 1-812) for fiscal year eshddecember 31, 2003), incorporated by referenéextobit 10.6 to UTC'’s
Quarterly Report on Form -Q (Commission file number-812) for the quarterly period ended September 804z

Retainer Payment Election Form relating to the &thiftechnologies Corporation Board of Directors Brefét Stock Unit Plan
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.14 to the Corpooats Annual Report on Form 10-K (Commission filemher 1-812) for fiscal year
ended 1995, as amended by Amendment No. 1 thénetrfjorated by reference to Exhibit 10(iii)(A)(b) the Corporation’s Report
on Form 10-Q (Commission file number 1-812) formeidy period ended June 30, 2000)), incorporateceference to Exhibit 10.8
to UTC's Quarterly Report on Form -Q (Commission file number-812) for the quarterly period ended September 8042

United Technologies Corporation 2005 Long-Term iz Plan, as amended and restated effective Ap#D08, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to UTC’s Current Repartfmrm 8-K (Commission file number 1-812) filed fvthe SEC on April 11,
2008.

Schedule of Terms for restricted stock awardsirgjab the United Technologies Corporation 2005 d-drerm Incentive Plan
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to UTC’s CurreRéport on Form 8-K (Commission file number 1-81iBdf with the SEC on April
11, 2008), incorporated by reference to Exhibitli0.UTC’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commisside hiumber 1812) filed witt
the SEC on September 20, 20

Form of Award Agreement for restricted stock awardating to the United Technologies Corporatio@20Qong-Term Incentive
Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to UTC’s @amt Report on Form 8-K (Commission file numberl2gfiled with the SEC on
April 11, 2008), incorporated by reference to Exthil®).2 to UTC’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Comsiis file number 1-812)
filed with the SEC on September 20, 20

Schedule of Terms for non-qualified stock optioraeds relating to the United Technologies Corporaio05 Long-Term Incentive
Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to UTC’s @amt Report on Form 8-K (Commission file number12gfiled with the SEC on
April 11, 2008), incorporated by reference to Exthil).3 to UTC’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Comsiis file number 1-812)
filed with the SEC on September 20, 20

Form of Award Agreement for non-qualified stockioptawards relating to the United Technologies ©aafion 2005 Long-Term
Incentive Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1UdC’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission fikmber 1-812) filed with the
SEC on April 11, 2008), incorporated by referer@&xhibit 10.4 to UTC’s Current Report on Form §®mmission file number 1-
812) filed with the SEC on September 20, 2(
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10.27

10.2¢

10.2¢

10.3C

10.31

10.32

10.3¢

10.34

10.3¢
10.3¢

11

12

13

14

21

Form of Award Agreement for performance share and stock appreciation rights awards relating éoUhited Technologies
Corporation 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan (previgdiged as Exhibit 10.1 to UTC’s Current Report Barm 8K (Commission file
number 1-812) filed with the SEC on April 11, 2008)corporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to U3 Current Report on Form#g-
(Commission file number-812) filed with the SEC on December 20, 2C

Schedule of Terms for performance share unit awaldsing to the United Technologies Corporatio@20QongTerm Incentive Pla
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to UTC’s CurrdRéport on Form 8-K (Commission file number 1-81Bd with the SEC on April
11, 2008).*

Schedule of Terms for stock appreciation rightsra@aelating to the United Technologies Corpora005 Long-Term Incentive
Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to UTC’s @amt Report on Form 8-K (Commission file numberl2pgfiled with the SEC on
April 11, 2008).*

United Technologies Corporation Executive Leadgrsbioup Agreement, as amended, incorporated byerafe to Exhibit 10.1 to
UTC's Current Report on Forn-K (Commission file number-812) filed with the SEC on March 24, 20(

Form of Agreement for Executive Leadership GrouptReted Share Unit Retention Awards, incorpordtgdeference to Exhibit
10.2 to UTCs Current Report on Forn-K (Commission file number-812) filed with the SEC on March 24, 20(

Schedule of Terms for Executive Leadership Restli@hare Unit Awards, incorporated by referendexoibit 10.3 to UTC's
Current Report on Form-K (Commission file number-812) filed with the SEC on March 24, 20(

United Technologies Corporation Board of Direct2@96 Retainer Payment Election Form, incorporatecteference to Exhibit 10.1
to UTC's Current Report on Forn-K (Commission file number-812) filed with the SEC on April 18, 200

Form of Award Agreement for Performance Share Usits Stock Appreciation Rights Awards relatingite 2005 Long-Term
Incentive Plan (previously filed as Exhibit 10.1U3C’s Current Report on Form 8-K (Commission fiember 1-812) filed with the
SEC on April 11, 2008), incorporated by referer@&xhibit 10.1 to UTC’s Current Report on Form &Héd with the SEC on
October 16, 200¢

United Technologies Corporation International DefdrCompensation Replacement Plan, effective Jariy&005.*

United Technologies Corporation LTIP Performancar8hUnit Deferral Plan, relating to the 2005 Longy#h Incentive Plan
(previously filed as Exhibit 10.1 to UTC’s CurréRéport on Form 8-K (Commission file number 1-81iBdf with the SEC on April
11, 2008).*

Statement Re: Computations of Per Share Earnii
Statement Re: Computation of Ratio

Annual Report for the year ended December 31, 2808ept for the information therein expressly immoated by reference in this
Form 10-K, the Annual Report is provided solely floe information of the SEC and is not to be deeffilsti” as part of this Form
10-K).*

Code of Ethics. The UTC Code of Ethics may be asm@yia UTC’s website at
http://www.investors.utc.com/utc/Static%20files/@owance/coe_english.pt

Subsidiaries of the Registran
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23 Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LL

24 Powers of Attorney of John V. Faraci, Jean-Pieraeni&r, Jamie S. Gorelick, Edward A. Kangas, ClsaReLee, Richard D.
McCormick, Harold W. McGraw lll, Richard B. MyerHl, Patrick Swygert, André Villeneuve and Christinedd Whitman.*

31 Rule 13i-14(a)/15¢-14(a) Certifications.

32 Section 1350 Certifications

100.INS  XBRL Instance Document.*
(File name: ut-20081231.xml

100.SCF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.*
(File name: ut-20081231.xsd

100.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Document.*
(File name: ut-20081231_pre.xm!

100.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Document.*
(File name: ut-20081231_lab.xml

100.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Document.*
(File name: ut-20081231_cal.xml

100.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document.*
File name: ut-20081231_def.xml

Notes to Exhibits List
* Submitted electronically herewit

Exhibits 10.1 through 10.36 are contracts, arrareggsnior compensatory plans filed as exhibits punsisaltem 15(b) of the requirements for
Form 10-K reports.

Attached as Exhibit 100 to this report are thedielhg formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business RepaytLanguage) for the year ended
December 31, 2008: (i) Consolidated Statement ar@tons, (ii) Consolidated Balance Sheet, (iiin€alidated Statement of Cash Flows,
(iv) Consolidated Statement of Changes in Sharemsvieguity, and (v) Notes to Consolidated Finan8tdtements tagged in Block Text
format. Users of this data are advised pursuaRtde 401 of Regulation S-T that the information tamed in the XBRL documents is
unaudited and these are not the official publidgdffinancial statements of United Technologiesg@oation. The purpose of submitting th
XBRL formatted documents is to test the relatednfatrand technology and, as a result, investorsldlomntinue to rely on the official filed
version of the furnished documents and not relyhiminformation in making investment decisions.

In accordance with Rule 402 of Regulation S-T,XBRL related information in Exhibit 100 to this Anal Report on Form 10-K shall not be
deemed to be “filed” for purposes of Section 18hef Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liighdf that section, and shall not be
incorporated by reference into any registratiotesteent or other document filed under the Securfietsor the Exchange Act, except as shall
be expressly set forth by specific reference irhdiling.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regyigthas duly caused this report to
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, théoedmly authorized.

UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATIOI
(Registrant’

By: /s| GREGORYJ. HAYES
Gregory J. Hayes
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Office

By: /s| M ARGARETM. S MYTH
Margaret M. Smyth
Vice President, Controller

Date: February 11, 2009

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on
behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities@nthe dates indicated.

Signature Title Date

/s/ GEORGED AvID Director, Chairmau February 11, 200
(George David)

/sl L ouisR. CHENEVERT Director, President and Chief Executive Offi February 11, 20C
(Louis R. Chénevert)

/s| GREGORYJ. HAYES Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi February 11, 200
(Gregory J. Hayes)

/s/ M ARGARETM. S MYTH Vice President, Controlle February 11, 200
(Margaret M. Smyth)

/s/ JoHNV. F ARACI * Director
(John V. Faraci)

/s! JEAN -P IERREG ARNIER * Director
(Jear-Pierre Garnier)

/s/ JAMIE S. GORELICK * Director
(Jamie S. Gorelick)

/s/ EDWARD A. K ANGAS * Director
(Edward A. Kangas )

/s/ CHARLESR. L EE* Director
(Charles R. Lee)

/s/ RicHARD D. M ¢ C orMICK * Director
(Richard D. McCormick)
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/s HARoLD W. M ¢ G rAw III*

(Harold W. McGraw lI)

/s/ RICHARD B. M YERS*

(Richard B. Myers)

/s/ H. PATRICK SWYGERT*

(H. Patrick Swygert)

/s/ ANDREV ILLENEUVE *

(André Villeneuve)

/s/ CHRISTINET obD W HITMAN *

(Christine Todd Whitman)

*By: /sl Charles D. Gill

Charles D. Gill
Senior Vice President and
General Counsel, as Attorney-in-Fact

Date: February 11, 2009

Director

Director

Director

Director

Director

27



Table of Contents

SCHEDULE |
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINKRM ON

FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULE

To the Board of Directors
of United Technologies Corporation:

Our audits of the consolidated financial statemants of the effectiveness of internal control dueancial reporting referred to in our report
dated February 11, 2009 appearing in the 2008 AriReport to Shareowners of United Technologies @@on (which report and
consolidated financial statements are incorporhtetference in this Annual Report on Form 10-Kpahcluded an audit of the financial
statement schedule listed in Item 15(a)(2) of Buam 10-K. In our opinion, this financial statemenhedule presents fairly, in all material
respects, the information set forth therein whextri@ conjunction with the related consolidatedficial statements.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers L

Hartford, Connecticu
February 11, 200
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SCHEDULE 1I

UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
Three Years Ended December 31, 2008
(Millions of Dollars)

Allowances for Doubtful Accounts and Other Customer~inancing Activity:

Balance December 31, 20
Provision charged to incon
Doubtful accounts written off (ne
Other adjustment

Balance December 31, 20
Provision charged to incon
Doubtful accounts written off (ne
Other adjustment

Balance December 31, 20
Provision charged to incon
Doubtful accounts written off (ne
Other adjustment

Balance December 31, 20

Future Income Tax Benefit—Valuation allowance:

Balance December 31, 20
Additions charged to income tax expel
Additions charged to goodwill, due to acquisitic
Reductions credited to income tax expe
Other adjustment

Balance December 31, 20
Additions charged to income tax expel
Additions charged to goodwill, due to acquisitic
Reductions credited to income tax expe
Other adjustment

Balance December 31, 20
Additions charged to income tax expel
Reductions charged to goodwill, due to acquisiti
Reductions credited to income tax expe
Other adjustment

Balance December 31, 20

S-li

$ 42€
71
(89
16
424
41
(101)

36¢
15¢
(129)
(12)

$ 38€




Exhibit 10.1

UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION
ANNUAL EXECUTIVE INCENTIVE COMPENSATION PLAN

Amendment 2

The United Technologies Corporation Annual Exeautivcentive Compensation Plan is hereby amendésttise January 1, 2009, by add
Article VII as follows:

VIl. RECOUPMENT OF PAYMENTS

A. MANDATORY RECOUPMENT OF AWARD PAYMENTS . Any Employee or former Employee who received wara under
this Plan shall be obligated to repay to the Cafion all or a portion of the amount received immection with a fiscal year in which:

(i) there was a restatement of earnings for theo@uaition or a business unit; or

(i) there was a recalculation of a financial dnext performance metric related to the determinaticem annual incentive compensation
award; and

(iii) the Employee was involved in the formulatiofithe incorrect statement of earnings or calcafratf a performance metric; and
(iv) the inaccuracies were attributable, in whalénopart, to the Employee’s negligence or inteméilomisconduct; and

(v) the restated earnings or corrected performameasurement would have (or likely would have) resuin a smaller award than the
amount actually received by the Employee.

B. AMOUNT SUBJECT TO RECOUPMENT. The minimum amount subject to repayment by an awegibient under the
circumstances described in Section A will equaldifference between the actual amount of an awaddlae amount that would have been
paid, as determined by the Committee in its saderdtion, had the correct earnings or other pedoca measurement been utilized in the
determination of the amount of the award. The Cate@imay require repayment of an amount greatertti@calculated adjustment, based
on its review of the facts involved.

C. DISCRETIONARY RECOUPMENT OF AWARD PAYMENTS. The Committee reserves the right to require repayoe
awards from Employees who were not involved imarficial restatement or erroneous performance mesasu



computation if the Committee determines that, essalt of the disparity between actual performaame inaccurate performance data used in
determining awards, it would not be appropriatentintain awards at the levels paid prior to theisttipent or re-calculation. Discretionary
adjustments under this paragraph shall not be piedrafter the occurrence of a “Change in Contras, tefined in the Corporation’s Long
Term Incentive Plan.

D. ADMINISTRATION. The Committee shall be responsible for making deftgations under this Article VII. Its decisions #hze
binding and conclusive on all Award recipientsatf Employee refuses to repay all or a portion adaard, as requested by the Committee,
such Employee shall be responsible for attornegés fand other costs incurred by the Corporati@ectare the requested repayment amount.



Exhibit 10.3
UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION
PENSION PRESERVATION PLAN
AS AMENDED AND RESTATED EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 2005

WHEREAS, United Technologies Corporation (the “Gogiion”) established the United Technologies Coafion Pension
Preservation Plan (the “Preservation Plan”) effecfianuary 1, 1978 for the benefit of certain eygéds; and

WHEREAS, the Corporation established the Unitedhfietogies Corporation Pension Replacement Plan‘Replacement Plan”)
effective April 1, 1985 for the benefit of certamployees; and

WHEREAS, the Corporation reserved the right to asnibie Preservation Plan through the action of éissin Administration
Committee (the “PAC”); and

WHEREAS, the Corporation reserved the right to teate and amend the Replacement Plan through ttomaxd the PAC; and

WHEREAS, at its meeting of December 8, 2006, th€Rfsproved the merger of the Replacement Plartliet@reservation Plan,
effective December 31, 2006; and

WHEREAS, the merger is intended to simplify adntigison and communication of the programs operatatkr the respective Plans,
which have effectively been, for all practical posps, operated as a single program;

WHEREAS, Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Cadiires the amendment of both the ReplacementaPidithe Preservation
Plan;
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WHEREAS, From January 1, 2005 through Decembe2@Q08, the Replacement Plan and the Preservationh@lee been operated in
good faith compliance with Section 409A in accomawith guidance provided by the Internal Revenewise;

NOW, THEREFORE, effective December 31, 2006, thpl&=ment Plan is hereby merged into the Preserv&iian, and the
Preservation Plan is amended and restated; and

NOW, THEREFORE, effective January 1, 2005, the meérgreservation Plan is hereby amended and restateflect the requiremen
of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code devid:

1. INTRODUCTION & PURPOSE

The United Technologies Corporation Pension Presierv Plan (the “Preservation Plan”) is maintaiasdan unfunded plan solely for
the purpose of providing retirement benefits inessecof the retirement and survivor benefits that bepaid from tax-qualified retirement
plans due to (i) benefit limitations imposed by tRet415 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986,masraled from time to time (the “Code”)
and (ii) the limitation imposed by Section 401(&)(df the Code on compensation that may be takenaiccount in computing retirement
benefits under tax-qualified retirement plans (nefeé to collectively as the “Limits”). The Presetiea Plan restores the amount of the
retirement benefit or survivor benefit that may betpaid from the United Technologies Corporatiomplbyee Retirement Plan (or any other
tax-qualified defined benefit retirement plan spmes by the Corporation) (the “Qualified RetiremBidn”) as a result of the Limits so that
the total actuarial present value of the Qualifretirement Plan and Pension Preservation Plan iteegfials the actuarial present value of
the retirement benefit or survivor benefit that Webloe paid from the Qualified Retirement Plan i€lsiPlan were administered without regard
to the Limits. Effective with the merger of the Regement Plan into this Plan, the amount of anyctdn of Qualified Plan Retirement
benefits resulting from the deferral of compengatltat would otherwise be recognized under the iediRetirement Plans shall be provi
under this Plan. The Preservation Plan shall beragiared and construed to effectuate the foregwitent.
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2. EFFECTIVE DATE

The Preservation Plan became effective on Janydr97B. Except to the extent otherwise specificaityvided herein, the Preservation
Plan is hereby amended and restated, effectiveadnii 2005, to reflect the requirements of SecfioBA of the Internal Revenue Code. The
Preservation Plan, as amended and restated, apph@sounts that were earned or vested after Deeefih 2004 under the Preservation and
Replacement Plans. Amounts that were earned amneldvesithin the meaning of Section 409A) under @itthe Preservation Plan or the
Replacement Plan before January 1, 2005, and doseguent increases in these amounts that aredr@agrandfathered benefits under
Section 409A, are subject to and shall continugetgoverned by the terms of the Prior Plans afogétin Appendix A and Appendix B as
applicable. The Preservation Plan is further ameérael restated effective December 31, 2006 to teif¢e the merger of the Replacement
Plan into the Preservation Plan effective Decem3fie2006.

From January 1, 2005 through December 31, 200 itheervation Plan has been operated in gooddaitipliance with Section 409A
in accordance with guidance provided by the IntelRevenue Service and provided for the followinging this good faith compliance
period:

(@) Continued commencement of benefits under this Btahthe Qualified Retirement Ple
(b) Allowance of new payment elections by participantsomply with 409A requirements; a

(c) Prohibited acceleration of any payments thatldiotherwise have been made in a later year ashilpted deferral to a later year
of a payment that would otherwise have been madtigeicurrent yea
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3. DEFINITIONS
Any capitalized terms used herein that are noneeffiin this Section 3 shall have the meanings giwehem by the United Technolog
Corporation Employee Retirement Plan unless théesoilearly indicates otherwise.

Beneficiarymeans the person, persons or entity designatedtingvby a Participant to receive the value of tisher Current Plan
Benefit in the event of the Participant’s deati, accordance with the terms of this Plan. If aiPigrant fails to designate a Beneficiary under
this Plan, the Beneficiary or Contingent Annuitahall be determined under the Qualified Retirenf@an. If the Beneficiary (and any
contingent Beneficiary) does not survive the Pgodiot or if no Beneficiary is designated under Ghealified Retirement Plan, the value of the
Participant’s Plan Benefit will be payable to ttatate of the Participant, in accordance with theaseof this Plan.

Compensation Reductioneans a reduction in compensation otherwise rezedninder the Qualified Retirement Plan (withogere
to the Limits) by reason of a Participant’s pagation in the United Technologies Corporation DeférCompensation Plan.

Codemeans the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amdraiadime to time, and any successor thereto. fieafee to any section of
the Internal Revenue Code shall include any fiaglfations or other published guidance interpretivag section.

Corporationmeans United Technologies Corporation.
Current Plan Benefimeans amounts credited on or after January 1, @6@&r either the Preservation or Replacement Plans.
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Disability means permanent and total disability as determimelér the Corporation’s long-term disability plaphcable to the
Participant, or if there is no such plan applicabléhe Participant, “Disability” means a deterntioa of total disability by the Social Security
Administration; provided that, in either case, Baticipant’s condition also qualifies as a “disi&i for purposes of Section 409A(a)(2)(C)
of the Code.

Election Formmeans the form provided to Participants electrdlyica in paper form for the purpose of electing fiorm of payment fc
a Current Plan Benefit.

Prior Plansmeans the United Technologies Corporation Pensiesdpvation Plan, as in effect on December 31, 2884et forth in
Appendix A and the United Technologies Corporaff@msion Replacement Plan, as in effect on DeceBilhe¥004, as set forth in Appendix
B.

Prior Preservation Plaimeans the United Technologies Corporation Pensiesevation Plan, as in effect on December 31, 2804
set forth in Appendix A. All amounts earned andtgdsunder the Prior Preservation Plan as of DeceB8he2004, and any subsequent
increases in these amounts that are permitted tebted as grandfathered benefits under Secti®A 4hall continue to be subject to the
terms and conditions of the Prior Preservation Rlahshall not be affected by this amendment astdtement.

Prior Replacement Plameans the United Technologies Corporation Pensapidgement Plan, as in effect on December 31, 2604,
set forth in Appendix B. All amounts earned andt@esinder the Prior Replacement Plan as of DeceBthe2004, and any subsequent
increases in these amounts that are permitted tebted as grandfathered benefits under Secti®A 4hall continue to be subject to the
terms and conditions of the Prior Replacement Bfahshall not be affected by this amendment artdtezsent.

Prior Plan Benefitmeans the aggregate value of the Prior PreservBtaimBenefit and Prior Replacement Plan Benefid@stified in
Section 6, which are valued and administered seggria accordance with the terms and procedureffact under the Prior Plans.
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Qualified Retirement Plameans the United Technologies Corporation Empl®e&t@ement Plan (or any other tax-qualified defined
benefit retirement plan sponsored by the Corpanatioa UTC Company).

Separation from Serviagmeans a Participant’s Termination of Employmenhvaii UTC Companies, other than by reason of death
Disability, that qualifies as a “separation fronngee” for purposes of Section 409A of the Code. A Sejmrdtom Service will be deemed
occur where the Participant and the UTC Compantyetmploys the Participant reasonably anticipatétth@bona fide level of services the
Participant will perform (whether as an employea®ran independent contractor) will be permanertlyiced to a level that is less than
thirty-seven and a half percent (37.5%) of the agerevel of bona fide services the Participanfopered during the immediately preceding
36 months (or the entire period the Participantgrasided services if the Participant has beeniging services to the UTC Companies for
less than 36 months.) A Participant shall not besitered to have had a Separation from Serviceesudt of a transfer from one UTC
Company to another UTC Company.

Specified Employemeans each of the 50 highest-paid executives dftimporation and its Subsidiaries effective aniyuad of
March 31%t, based on annual salary and incentive compensadiichin the prior year. The term includes both.l&& non-U.S. employees.

UTC Companyneans United Technologies Corporation or any entiytrolled by or under common control with UnifBeichnologies
Corporation within the meaning of Section 414(bJarof the Code (but substituting “at least 20cget” for “at least 80 percent” as the
control threshold used in applying Sections 414fj (c)).

4. ELIGIBILITY

Each employee of a UTC Company who is a Participatite Qualified Retirement Plan shall be eligitdeoarticipate in the
Preservation Plan if and to the extent such empglsy@ompensation increases such that the Partitipaocrued Benefit under the Qualified
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Retirement Plan is limited by (i) provisions of tQealified Retirement Plan that are designed sdtelyomply with the Limits; or (ii) such
employee experiences a Compensation Reductiorn évent shall any person who is not entitled toeffisnunder the Qualified Retirement
Plan be eligible for retirement benefits or survibenefits under this Preservation Plan. An emmayfehe UTC Companies who is eligible
for retirement benefits under the Preservation Blahhas completed three years of “continuous a&tyas defined in the UTC Employee
Retirement Plan as in effect on January 1, 2008) bl referred to herein as a “Participant.”

5. DETERMINATION OF PRESERVATION PLAN BENEFIT
The amount of the retirement benefit or survivandfé payable from the Preservation Plan to orespect of a Participant shall equal
the excess, if any, of (a) over (b), and for pugsosf this calculation, it shall be assumed thalified Retirement Plan Benefit and
Preservation Plan Benefit commence at the same vifmere
(a) equals the retirement benefit or survivor bignlefit would be paid to such Participant (or o ¢ni her behalf to his Contingent
Annuitant or Beneficiary) under the Qualified Retivent Plan if the provisions of the Qualified Retiient Plan were administered
without regard to the Limits and Compensation R&édacand

(b) equals the retirement benefit or survivor bénmfyable to such Participant (or on his or hdrdikto his or her Contingent Annuitant
or Beneficiary) under the Qualified Retirement Plan

6. PLAN BENEFITS

(a) Prior Plan Benefit. Benefits accrued underRhier Plan are not intended to be subject to Se@@9A of the Code. No amendment
to Appendix A or Appendix B that would constituténaaterial modification” for purposes of Section90shall be effective unless the
amending instrument states that it is intendedatenmlly modify Appendix A and/or Appendix B arml¢ause the Prior Plan(s) to become
subject to Section 409A. Although the Prior Plan
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Benefit is not intended to be subject to SectiodMMeither the UTC Companies nor any directoriceff, or other representative of a UTC
Company shall be liable for any adverse tax conmecgl suffered by a Participant or Beneficiary Hraor Plan Benefit becomes subject to
Section 409A.

(i) Prior Preservation Plan Benefit

Amounts that were credited before January 1, 2808,any subsequent increases in these amountr¢hpérmitted to be
treated as grandfathered benefits under SectioA 40¢he Code, shall be maintained and accounteddparately and shall
remain subject to the terms and conditions of ttier Plan, as set forth in Appendix A.

(i) Prior Replacement Plan Benefit

Amounts that were credited before January 1, 2808,any subsequent increases in these amountr¢hpérmitted to be
treated as grandfathered benefits under SectioA 40¢he Code, shall be maintained and accounteddparately and shall
remain subject to the terms and conditions of ttier Plan, as set forth in Appendix B.

(b) Current Plan Benefit. Current Plan Benefit shmadlude amounts credited to Participants undireeithe Preservation or Replacen
Plans on or after January 1, 2005.

7. FORM OF PRESERVATION PLAN BENEFIT

(a) The Committee shall determine, as of the easfithe Participant’s Separation from Serviceha Participant’s date of death, that
portion of the Participant’s total retirement bénef survivor benefit that is to be paid under Breservation Plan, using the same formula
that is used under the UTC Employee Retirement laalculate such Participant’s benefit. The Cotteriwill apply either the Final
Average Earnings (FAE) formula, Cash Balance (@Binula, or both as applicable to each Participadiuthe Qualified Retirement Plan.
The Preservation Plan retirement benefit or sunibanefit shall be paid to the Participant, or @ h
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or her behalf to any Contingent Annuitant or Beciafiy (as designated under the Qualified RetirerR¢amt), as a monthly annuity, unless a
timely election is made in accordance with Subpaalg (c) of this Section 7.

(b) A Participant may elect separate payment metti@dPrior and Current Plan Benefits. Prior Plané&it elections are administered
separately in accordance with the terms and praesdn effect under the Prior Plans, as set forthpgpendices A and B.

(c) Unless a Participant elects a form of the biepafyment for Current Plan Benefit, benefits edroader the Preservation Plan will be
paid as a single life annuity or actuarially eqlew life annuity. A Participant may elect to raeeh single lump-sum payment or a series of 2
to 10 annual installment payments. A payment edaeatinder the Plan shall be made on an electronigititen Election Form, completed and
submitted to the UTC Pension Service Center no tat;n December 31st of the calendar year pritingoyear in which the period of service
commences on which the benefit is based. A chamgetuarially equivalent annuities shall not berdee to be a change in payment election
for purposes of this Plan. Except as provided bélo®&ubsection (d), a Participasfpayment election shall become irrevocable orelbetion
deadline date.

(d) Change in Payment Election. A Participant makenan election to change the form of paymentttt@Participant elected under
Section 7(c), subject to the following requirements

() The new election must be made at least tweleaths prior to the date payments are scheduledrtonence (and the new
election shall be ineffective if the payment como@nment date occurs within twelve months after tite @f the new election);

(i) The new election will not take effect until least twelve months after the date when the Raatit submits a new Election
Form to the UTC Pension Service Center; and
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(iii) The new benefit payment commencement datetinedive years later than the date on which paymeommence under the
current election.

(e) If a Participant’s benefit is calculated untteyr FAE formula and the Participant elects to Haigeor her Preservation Plan benefit
paid in the form of a single lump-sum or annuatatiment distribution, the Actuarially Equivalentgsent value of the Preservation Plan
retirement benefit or survivor benefit shall beedletined using the RP-2000 Group Annuity Mortaligble and interest assumption equal to
the average vyield for tax-free municipal bonds @fygar maturities, averaged over the prior 5 caepdars. For purposes of computing this
interest assumption, the Actuary shall utilize Bagclays Capital 10-Year Municipal Bond Index, agng the published yield for 10-year
maturities (credit quality AA or above) on the lassiness day of the year over the most recenhSemwitive full calendar year period. This
rate shall be adjusted annually at the beginninggah calendar year.

(f) The payment of a monthly annuity, lump-sum onaal installment distribution in accordance whstSection 7 shall be in full
satisfaction of all of the Corporation’s obligatsowith respect to the Participant under the Predienv Plan.

8. DISTRIBUTION OF BENEFIT

(a) Except as provided in Section 7(d) (concertimgfiveyear delay following a Change in Payment Electi@®ction 8(b) (concernil
distributions to Specified Employees), the valua éfarticipant’s Preservation Plan Benefit willdigtributed (or begin to be distributed) to
the Participant as follows:

(i) If a Participants benefit is calculated under the FAE formula otitg, benefit will be paid to Participant on thesfiof the mont
following the later of a Participant’s Separatioorh Service, or when the Participant reaches age 55
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(i) If a Participant’s benefit is calculated undke CB formula only, the benefit will be paid tarBcipant on the first of the month
following the Participant’'s Separation from Seryice

(iii) If a Participants benefit is calculated under both the FAE and @hfilas, the benefit will be paid to the Participaccording
to the rules outlined above in Subsections (i) @pdor the corresponding portions of the benefit.

(b) Separation from Service of Specified Employéethe Participant is a Specified Employee ondha& of the Participarg’Separatio
from Service, distribution of the Participant’s @nt Plan Benefit to the Participant that is madeccount of the Participant’s Separation
from Service will not be made or commence earhantthe first day of the seventh month following ttate of Separation from Service.

(c) Administrative Adjustments in Payment Date. dyment is treated as being made on the date wlgedue under the Plan if the
payment is made on the due date specified by g, Bl on a later date that is either (i) in thmsa&alendar year (for a payment whose
specified due date is on or before September 3@)i) oy the 15th day of the third calendar mofdlowing the date specified by the Plan
(for a payment whose specified due date is onter &fctober 1). A payment also is treated as beiade on the date when it is due under the
Plan if the payment is made not more than 30 deferé the due date specified by the Plan. In notevell a payment to a Specified
Employee be made or commence earlier than thedfingof the seventh month following the date ofé@afpion from Service. A Participant
may not, directly or indirectly, designate the tabeayear of a payment made in reliance on the aidirérive rules in this Section 8(c).

9. DISTRIBUTION IN THE EVENT OF DEATH

(a) If a Participant’s benefit (or portion of a ledit) is calculated under the FAE formula and tlaetieipant has not made an election to
receive his or her Pension Preservation Plan Beinedilump sum or installments as of the dateeatl, any survivor benefits will be paid as
a life annuity subject to the following:

(i) If death occurs prior to age 55 with five yeafsservice, the spouse of the Participant shakike a 50% Contingent Annuity
Benefit beginning on the date the Participant wdwdsle attained his or her 55th birthday. If thetifigrant is unmarried, no Plan
benefit is payable.
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(i) If death occurs prior to age 55 with ten yeafservice, the spouse of the Participant shakixe a 100% Contingent Annuity
Benefit beginning on the date the Participant wdwdsle attained his or her 55th birthday. If thetiBigrant is unmarried, no Plan
benefit is payable.

(iii) If death occurs on or after attainment of d&fewith ten years of service or attainment of @gesurvivor benefits shall be paid
as a 100% Contingent Annuity Benefit beginning loa first business day of the month following thetiegant’s death in the
following order:

(1) to the Spouse of the Participant, if the Paéint is married at the time of death;

(2) to the named Beneficiary or contingent annjtdithe Participant is not married at the timedefath;

(3) to the children of the Participant if the Pagant has not designated a Beneficiary prior sodniher death; or
(4) to the estate of the Participant, if the Pgréint has no children at the time of his or hettldea

If the Participant is not married at the time o&tteand the Participant has not designated a Beasfior contingent
annuitant, the benefit shall be payable as:

(1) a 10-year certain actuarially equivalent anntatthe children of the Participant; or
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(2) a 5-year certain actuarially equivalent anntityhe estate of the Participant.

(b) If a Participant’s benefit (or portion of a lefit) is calculated under the FAE formula and tlagtieipant has made an election to
receive his or her Preservation Plan Benefit imnag sum or annual installments in accordance wéitti8n 7(c) herein, such Participant shall
have survivor benefits paid to his or her Beneficis follows: If death occurs prior to age 55, fireservation Plan accrued benefit shall be
paid in a lump sum payment as of the date theddaaitit would have attained his or her 55th birthdagleath occurs after the benefit
commencement date but before all annual installsneate been paid, the remaining installments weilphid to his or her Beneficiary as
scheduled.

(c) If a Participant’s benefit (or portion of a ledit) is calculated under the CB formula, the Rgpint shall have survivor benefits paid
in a lump sum on the first business day of the mdoitowing the Participant’'s death as follows:
(i) to the Spouse of the Participant, if the Pgrtiat is married at the time of death;
(i) to the named Beneficiary or contingent annuiifdf the Participant is not married at the tinfeleath;
(iii) to the children of the Participant if the Baipant has not designated a Beneficiary pridnigoor her death; or
(iv) to the estate of the Participant, if the Rapi@nt has no children at the time of his or heatde

10. DISABILITY

In the event of the disability of a Participank tRarticipant’s Plan Benefit will be maintained alistributed in accordance with the
Participant’s elections on file.
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11. MINIMUM BALANCE PAYOUT PROVISION

If the value of a Participant’s Current Plan Bepefetermined at the time of the Participant’s $ati@n From Service is less than one-
hundred thousand dollars ($100,000), the Commitiéelistribute the Participant’s entire CurrentiRIBenefit in a lump sum on the first
business day following the Participant’s Separakoom Service, notwithstanding a Participant’s &decto receive a different form of
distribution.

12. FUNDING

The Preservation Plan shall be maintained as amdefl Plan that is not intended to meet the quatifin requirements of Section 401
of the Code. Except in the event of a Change int@bof the Corporation (as described in Sectiorh&8of), all benefits under the
Preservation Plan shall be payable solely frongtheeral assets of the Corporation. In this reghedrights of each Participant, Contingent
Annuitant and Beneficiary under the Preservati@nmVith respect to his or her Preservation Plareraent benefit or survivor benefit shall
be those of a general unsecured creditor of thed@ation. No Participant, Contingent Annuitant @mficiary hereunder shall be entitled to
receive any benefits payable under the PreservRiamfrom the assets of the Qualified Retireméa Fhor shall the Corporation undertake
to set aside assets in trust or otherwise segregateds to fund its obligations under the Preserv&tian except as provided in Section 13
hereof.

13. CHANGE OF CONTROL

In the event of a Change of Control of the Corgomatthe Corporation shall immediately fully furttetvalue of all Accrued Benefit
under the Preservation Plan, determined by theakgtas of the date of the Change of Control, predithe funding is not proximate to a
downturn in the Corporation’s financial health vifithhe meaning of Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-3((XXC)(1). The required proceeds will
be contributed to the United Technologies CorporaBension Preservation Plan Retirement SecuritgtTa rabbi trust, and such proceeds
will be held and maintained in the United Statesaddition, if the United
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Technologies Corporation Board of Directors Comeeitbn Compensation and Executive Development &kgaction under the United
Technologies Corporation Long Term Incentive Plie (LTIP"), including, without limitation, the aeterated vesting or other adjustment to
outstanding LTIP awards in anticipation of (i) aZdge of Control (ii) an event, which if consummateduld constitute a Change of Control
or (iii) any other significant change pertainingthe ownership of the Corporation, the Corporasball then also immediately fund the Uni
Technologies Corporation Pension Preservation R&titement Security Trust, a rabbi trust, provitteel funding is not proximate to a
downturn in the Corporation’s financial health vifithhe meaning of Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-3([{XXC)(1); and further provided such
funds are held and maintained in the United St&espurposes of this Section 13, “Change of Cdhsfuall have the meaning given to that
term under the LTIP.

14. NONASSIGNABILITY

No Participant, Contingent Annuitant or Beneficiaryany other person shall have the right to ssljgn, transfer, pledge, or otherwise
encumber any interest in the Preservation PlanPAdkervation Plan benefits are unassignable amdransferable and shall not be subject to
attachment or seizure for the payment of any d@ldgiments or other obligations. No Preservati@anmhterest shall be transferred by
operation of law in the event of the bankruptcynsolvency of a Participant, Contingent AnnuitatBeneficiary.

15. NO CONTRACT OF EMPLOYMENT

Participation in the Preservation Plan shall notdestrued to constitute a direct or indirect cacttiof employment between the
Corporation and the Participant. Nothing in thesBreation Plan shall be deemed to give a Partitienright to be retained in the service of
the Corporation for any length of time. Particimr@ontingent Annuitants and Beneficiaries shalehao rights against the Corporation
resulting from participation in the PreservatioarPbther than as specifically provided herein.
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16. OPERATION AND ADMINISTRATION

The Preservation Plan shall be administered by#resion Administration and Investment Committe&loited Technologies
Corporation (the “Committee”). The Committee shale the right to delegate its responsibilitiesebader to sub-committees and
individuals. Any question of administration or irgeetation arising under the Preservation Planl sleatletermined by the Committee (or its
delegate) in its full discretion, and its decisgrall be final and binding upon all parties.

17. TAXES/WITHHOLDING

The Corporation shall have the right to withholdets from Preservation Plan benefit accruals andneays to the extent it reasonably
determines such withholding to be required by laee withheld from such credits and payments.

18. GOVERNING LAW

The Preservation Plan shall be construed, admieidt@nd enforced in accordance with the Employda&dReent Income Security Act
1974, as amended (“ERISA"), and to the extent ne¢empted thereby, the laws of the State of Contigtctilisregarding its choice-of-law
rules).

19. AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION

(a) The Corporation expects to continue the Presienv Plan indefinitely, but reserves the right,dayion of the Committee, to amenc
terminate the Preservation Plan at any time, pexjititowever, that no such action shall decreasdangfits accrued under the Preservation
Plan as of the date of such action. Although theefits accrued under the Preservation Plan areuigjéct to the restrictions imposed by
Section 204(g) of ERISA, the proviso in the preagdientence shall be construed in a manner conisigtiln Section 204(g) of ERISA. As a
result, the proviso referred to in the precedingesece imposes restrictions identical with therretsdns that would be imposed on the
Preservation Plan if the Preservation Plan wergestitp Section 204(g) of ERISA.
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(b) Upon the termination of the Plan with respecalt Participants, and termination of all arrangems sponsored by the Corporation or
its affiliates that would be aggregated with tharPlinder Section 409A of the Code, the Corporati@il have the right, in its sole discretion,
and notwithstanding any elections made by the E&patit, to pay the Participant’s vested Benefd ilnmp sum, to the extent permitted under
Section 409A. All payments that may be made purstgeathis Section 19(b) shall be made no earliantthe thirteenth month and no later
than the twenty-fourth month after the terminatidrthe Plan. The Corporation may not acceleratergengs pursuant to this Section 19(b) if
the termination of the Plan is proximate to a dawmtn the Corporation’s financial health withiretmeaning of Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-
3()(4)(ix)(C)(2). If the Corporation exercises discretion to accelerate payments under this &ed(b), it shall not adopt any new
arrangement that would have been aggregated wihPthn under Section 409A within three years feilg the date of the Plan’s
termination.

20. COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 409A

To the extent that rights or payments under this Rre subject to Section 409A of the Internal ReeeCode, the Preservation Plan
shall be construed and administered in compliaritetve conditions of Section 409A and regulatians other guidance issued pursuant to
Section 409A for deferral of income taxation uttig time the compensation is paid. Any distributbection that would not comply with
Section 409A of the Code shall not be effectivedorposes of this Plan. To the extent that a prowief this Plan does not comply with
Section 409A of the Code, such provision shall biel and without effect. The Corporation does notrevat that the Preservation Plan will
comply with Section 409A of the Code with respecahy Participant or with respect to any paymenhd event shall a UTC Company; any
director, officer, or employee of a UTC Companyh@tthan the Participant); or any member of the @dtee be liable for any additional t
interest, or penalty incurred by a Participant en&ficiary as a result of the Preservation Plaailsife to satisfy the requirements of
Section 409A of the Code, or as a result of the'Bltilure to satisfy any other requirements gblagable tax laws.
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21. SUCCESSORS

The provisions of the Preservation Plan shall lsind inure to the benefit of the Corporation, aedsitccessors and assigns. The term
successors shall include any corporate or othenéss entity that by merger, consolidation, pureh@sotherwise acquires all or substantially
all of the business and assets of the Corporatidrsaccessors of any such Corporation or othetyenti

22. BENEFIT CLAIMS PROCEDURE

(a) The Committee shall establish and communicateguures for Participants to obtain forms requicedffect elections and
designations under the Plan. The Committee mayléstiaa telephonic communication system to fad#itdne administration of the Plan and
to provide information to Participants, provideditthny estimate of a Participant’s current or prigje accrued benefit shall in no event be
binding on the Committee in the event of any digarey between such estimate and a Participantsieatcrued benefit, which, in all cases,
shall control. Upon notification of the death ofydParticipant while in the employment of the Emmgythe Committee may initiate any cle
on behalf of the Spouse, Contingent Annuitant, endiciary.

(b) A Participant or Beneficiary who believes thator she has been denied a benefit to which bheois entitled under the Plan
(referred to in this Section 22 as a “Claimant”)ynfige a written request with the Committee settfogh the claim. The Committee shall
consider and resolve the claim as set forth below.

(i) Upon receipt of a claim, the Committee or itsijnated agent shall advise the Claimant thas@orese will be forthcoming
within 90 days. The Committee may, however, extinedresponse period for up to an additional 90
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days for reasonable cause, and shall notify thar@lat of the reason for the extension and the drge®esponse date. The
Committee or its designated agent shall resportldet@laim within the specified period.

(ii) If the claim is denied in whole or part, th@@mittee shall provide the Claimant with a writtcision, using language
calculated to be understood by the Claimant, ggefonth (1) the specific reason or reasons for glatal; (2) the specific
reference to relevant provisions of this Plan onctisuch denial is based; (3) a description of adgitional material or
information necessary for the Claimant to perfestdn her claim and an explanation why such mdteriauch information is
necessary; (4) appropriate information as to thpssto be taken if the Claimant wishes to subneitdhim for review; (5) the time
limits for requesting a review of the claim; and {6e Claimant’s right to bring an action for beatsefinder Section 502(a) of
ERISA.

(iif) Within 60 days after the Claimant’s receigtthe written decision denying the claim in wholeio part, the Claimant may
request a review of such determination by filingogice of appeal in writing with the Benefit ClailAppeal Committee (the
“Benefits Appeal Committee”). Such notice mustfeeth all relevant factors upon which the appedlased. The Claimant or his
or her duly authorized representative may, but megdreview the relevant documents and submiessuind comment in writing
for consideration by the Benefits Appeal Commitiééhe Claimant does not request a review of thial determination within
such 60-day period, the Claimant shall be barrechfchallenging the determination.

(iv) Within 60 days after the Benefits Appeal Corttae receives a request for review, it will revithe initial determination. If
special circumstances require that the 60-day tiered be extended, the Benefits Appeal Committidlesay notify the Claimant
and will render the decision as soon as possibiend later than 120 days after receipt of the estfor review.
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(v) The Benefits Appeal Committee shall have theatgst discretion permitted by law in making decisipursuant to this

Section 22. All decisions on review shall be finatl binding with respect to all concerned parfid® decision on review shall set
forth, in a manner calculated to be understoochkyGlaimant, (1) the specific reasons for the deacjsncluding references to the
relevant Plan provisions upon which the decisidaised; (2) the Claimant’s right to receive, upaguest and free of charge,
reasonable access to and copies of all documewtx,ds, and other information, relevant to hiserlenefits; and (3) the
Claimant’s right to bring an action for benefitden Section 502(a) of ERISA
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Appendix A

This Appendix A sets forth the United Technologisporation Pension Preservation Plan, as in effe@ecember 31, 2004 (“Prior
Preservation Plan”), and as modified thereaftanftime to time in a manner that does not constiéuteaterial modification” for purposes of
Section 409A. Amounts that were earned and vest#Hif the meaning of Section 409A) prior to Jaryudy 2005, and any subsequent
increases in these amounts that are permitted tiebted as grandfathered benefits under Secti®A 4re generally subject to and shall
continue to be governed by the terms of this FRi@servation Plan.
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UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION

PENSION PRESERVATION PLAN

AS AMENDED AND RESTATED EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 1996

1. INTRODUCTION & PURPOSE

The United Technologies Corporation Pension Presienv Plan (the “Preservation Plan”) is maintaiasdin unfunded plan solely for the
purpose of providing retirement benefits in exagfsthe retirement and survivor benefits that mayéiel from tax-qualified retirement plans
due to (i) benefit limitations imposed by Sectidib4f the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amefidadtime to time (the “Code”) and

(i) the limitation imposed by Section 401(a)(17tloe Code on compensation that may be taken icdtoumt in computing retirement benefits
under tax-qualified retirement plans (referredatiectively as the “Limits”). The Preservation Plastores the amount of the retirement
benefit or survivor benefit that is not paid frohe tUnited Technologies Corporation Employee Retn@n®Plan (or any other tax-qualified
defined benefit retirement plan sponsored by thgp@mation) (the “Qualified Retirement Plan”) aseault of the Limits so that the total
actuarial present value of the Qualified Retirenfélah and Pension Preservation Plan benefits ethesctuarial present value of the
retirement benefit or survivor benefit that wouk fmaid from the Qualified Retirement Plan if sutdinRvere administered without regard to
the Limits. The Preservation Plan shall be admenét and construed to effectuate the foregoingiinte

The capitalized terms used herein shall have trenings given to them by the United TechnologiegpBGration Employee Retirement Plan
unless the context clearly indicates otherwise.
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2. EFFECTIVE DATE

The Preservation Plan became effective on Janydr97B. This amendment and restatement of the Retgmn Plan shall be effective
January 1, 1996, except to the extent otherwiseifspaly provided herein.

3. ELIGIBILITY

An employee of United Technologies Corporation (Gerporation”) or an affiliate thereof who is arBeipant in the Qualified Retirement
Plan shall be eligible to participate in the Preation Plan if and to the extent the Participafiterued Benefit under the Qualified
Retirement Plan is reduced or limited by provisiohthe Qualified Retirement Plan that are desigs@dly to comply with the Limits. In no
event shall any person who is not entitled to biemahder the Qualified Retirement Plan be eligfoleretirement benefits or survivor bene
under the Preservation Plan. An employee of thep@ation or an affiliate thereof who is eligible fe@tirement benefits under the
Preservation Plan shall be referred to herein“®agticipant.”

4. DETERMINATION OF PRESERVATION PLAN BENEFIT
The amount of the retirement benefit or survivandfé payable from the Preservation Plan to oespect of a Participant shall equal the
excess, if any, of (a) over (b), where

€)) equals the retirement benefit or survivor biertleat would be paid to such Participant (or os1dni her behalf to his
Contingent Annuitant or Beneficiary) under the Qfied Retirement Plan if the provisions of the Qfiedl Retirement Plan
were administered without regard to the Limits;

(b)  equals the retirement benefit or survivor bmpefyable to such Participant (or on his or hdrabto his or her Contingent
Annuitant or Beneficiary) under the Qualified Retivent Plan
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5. FORM OF PRESERVATION PLAN BENEFIT

(@)

(b)

The Plan Administrator shall determine, ashefé¢arlier of the Participant’s Retirement DatéherParticipant’s date of death, that
portion of the Participant’s total retirement benef survivor benefit that is to be paid under Breservation Plan. The Preservation
Plan retirement benefit or survivor benefit shallgaid to the Participant, or on his or her betwaéiny Contingent Annuitant or
Beneficiary (as designated under the Qualifiedri@etent Plan), in the form of distribution that dpplto the benefit payments made to,
or on behalf of, the Participant under the Qualifiketirement Plan unless the Participant has maideedy election to receive his or her
Preservation Plan retirement benefit in a singhedisum payment or in a series of 2 to 10 annu#hlinsent payments in accordance

with this Section 5
If—

() the Participant qualifies for an Early Retiramh@nnuity or a Normal Retirement Annuity or satsfthe Rule of 65 under
Section 5.4 of the United Technologies Corporakomployee Retirement Plan (or dies after qualifyimgan Early Retirement
Annuity or a Normal Retirement Annuity or satisfgisuch Rule of 65, but before the date as of wretihement benefits under 1
Qualified Retirement Plan are scheduled to begind

(i) terminates, or retires from, employment with thep@oation and its affiliates after December 31,3,

the Participant may elect, in accordance with $acdi(c) hereof, to have his or her Preservation Rdéirement benefit or survivor
benefit paid in a lump-sum or in annual installnsepayable (or commencing) as of the ParticipaR&€8rement Date. Subject to the
provisions of Section 5(c) hereof, a Participanymevoke any such election at any time. A Particfall have no right under the
Preservation Plan to have his or her Qualifiedi@gtent Plan benefit paid in a lump sum or in anmghliments. Distributions from
the Qualified Retirement Plan shall be governedlgdly the terms of the Qualified Retirement Plan.
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(©

(d)

()

An election to have a lump-sum or installmeistribution paid pursuant to Section 5(b) hereofd@evocation of any such election)
shall be disregarded unless it is filed at least ywar before the Participant’s Retirement Datei{@arlier, the first day of the month
next following the Participa’s date of death), except tt

() If such an election or revocation is filed onbefore October 30, 1996, the election or revocashall be given effect only if the
Participant consents to a distribution (or the ca@noement of distributions) under the Preservatian Bs of a date occurring on
or after January 1, 1997; a

(i) If such an election or revocation is filed onafter November 1, 1996, and on or before Decerdbgl996, the election or
revocation shall be given effect only if the Papamt consents to a distribution (or the commencgrogdistributions) under the
Preservation Plan as of a date occurring on or Aftel 1, 1997.

If a Participant elects to have his or her Breation Plan benefit paid in the form of a sinlglep-sum or annual installment distributic
the Actuarially Equivalent present value of thedergation Plan retirement benefit or survivor bérstfall be determined using the 1¢
Group Annuity Mortality Table and an interest asption equal to the average yield for tax-free migstbonds of 10-year maturities,
averaged over the prior 5 calendar years. For pagpof computing this interest assumption, the @wgtshall utilize the Lehman Bros.
Municipal Bond Index, averaging the published yifeld10-year maturities (credit quality AA or abdwan the last business day of the
year over the most recent 5 consecutive full cadedar period. This rate shall be adjusted anpaalithe beginning of each caleni
year.

The payment of a lump-sum or annual installnalisttibution in accordance with this Section 5Ikha in full satisfaction of all of the
Corporatior's obligations with respect to the Participant urtierPreservation Pla
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6. DEATH BENEFITS

A Participant who has made an election to receaes®n Preservation Plan benefits in a lump suanaoal installments in accordance with
Section 5 herein shall have survivor benefits pailis or her Pension Preservation Plan benefi@darfpllows. If death occurs prior to age
the Pension Preservation Plan accrued benefit sbadhid in a lump sum payment as of the date dnécipant would have attained his or her
55th birthday. If death occurs after retirementlbefore all annual installments have been paidrgh®ining installments will be paid to his
or her Beneficiary as scheduled unless the estabedrarticipant is the Beneficiary in which célse commuted value of the remaining
payments will be paid in a lump sum.

If no election to receive Pension Preservation Blmefits in a lump sum or instaliments is in effes of the date of death, any survivor
benefits will be paid in accordance with the disition option in effect and to the Beneficiary anfingent Annuitant designated under the
Qualified Retirement Plan.

7. FUNDING

The Preservation Plan shall be maintained as amdefl Plan that is not intended to meet the quatifin requirements of Section 401 of the
Code. Except in the event of a Change in ContréthefCorporation (as described in Section 7 heradifpenefits under the Preservation Plan
shall be payable solely from the general assetiseo€orporation. In this regard, the rights of eRalnticipant, Contingent Annuitant and
Beneficiary under the Preservation Plan with resfehis or her Preservation Plan retirement bénefsurvivor benefit shall be those of a
general unsecured creditor of the Corporation. Bidi&pant, Contingent Annuitant or Beneficiary éander shall be entitled to receive any
benefits payable under the Preservation Plan flamassets of the Qualified Retirement Plan, ndf #ieCorporation undertake to set aside
assets in trust or otherwise segregate assetsdatiiobligations under the Preservation Plan jgixas provided in Section 7 hereof.
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8. CHANGE OF CONTROL

In the event of a Change of Control of the Corgomatthe Corporation shall immediately fully furttetvalue of all Accrued Benefits under
the Preservation Plan, determined by the Actuanf #ise date of the Change of Control. The requmateeds will be contributed to the
United Technologies Corporation Pension Presemadian Retirement Security Trust. In additionhié tUnited Technologies Corporation
Board of Directors Committee on Compensation angcktive Development takes any action under theddriiiechnologies Corporation
Long Term Incentive Plan (the “LTIP"), including,tivout limitation, the accelerated vesting or othdjustment to outstanding LTIP awards
in anticipation of (i) a Change of Control (ii) ament, which if consummated, would constitute ar@gaof Control or (iii) any other
significant change pertaining to the ownershiphef Corporation, the Corporation shall then also édiately fund the United Technologies
Corporation Pension Preservation Plan Retiremeruir8g Trust. For purposes of this Section 7, “Ciaef Control” shall have the meaning
given to that term under the LTIP.

9. NONASSIGNABILITY

No Participant, Contingent Annuitant or Beneficiaryany other person shall have the right to ssljgn, transfer, pledge, or othern
encumber any interest in the Preservation PlanPAdkervation Plan benefits are unassignable amdransferable and shall not be subject to
attachment or seizure for the payment of any d@ldgiments or other obligations. No Preservati@anmhterest shall be transferred by
operation of law in the event of the bankruptcynsolvency of a Participant, Contingent AnnuitantBeneficiary.

10. NO CONTRACT OF EMPLOYMENT

Participation in the Preservation Plan shall notdestrued to constitute a direct or indirect cacttiof employment between the Corporation
and the Participant. Nothing in the Preservati@anRhall be deemed to give a Participant the timbe retained in the service of the
Corporation for any length of time. Participanten@ngent Annuitants and Beneficiaries shall hap@ights against the Corporation resulting
from participation in the Preservation Plan ottt as specifically provided herein.
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11. OPERATION AND ADMINISTRATION

The Preservation Plan shall be administered by#resion Administration and Investment Committe&loited Technologies Corporation
(the “Committee”). The Committee shall have théntitp delegate its responsibilities hereunder te@mmittees and individuals. Any
guestion of administration or interpretation agsimder the Preservation Plan shall be determiggddbCommittee (or its delegate) in its full
discretion, and its decision shall be final anddbig upon all parties.

12. TAXES/WITHHOLDING

The Corporation shall have the right to withholdets from Preservation Plan benefit payments t@tent it reasonably determines such
withholding to be required by law.

13. GOVERNING LAW

The Preservation Plan shall be construed, admieidt@nd enforced in accordance with the Employa&dReent Income Security Act of
1974, as amended (“ERISA"), and to the extent neémpted thereby, the laws of the State of Contigtctilisregarding its choice-of-law
rules).

14. AMENDMENT AND DISCONTINUANCE

The Corporation expects to continue the Presenvdtlan indefinitely, but reserves the right, byi@tof the Committee, to amend or
discontinue the Preservation Plan at any time,igealy however, that no such action shall decreagdanefits accrued under the
Preservation Plan as of the date of such actiahofigh the benefits accrued under the PreservBtenmare not subject to the restrictions
imposed by Section 204(g) of ERISA, the provisthia preceding
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sentence shall be construed in a manner consistdmSection 204(g) of ERISA. As a result, the psovreferred to in the preceding sentence
imposes restrictions identical with the restricidhat would be imposed on the Preservation PldareifPreservation Plan were subject to
Section 204(g) of ERISA.

15. SUCCESSORS

The provisions of the Preservation Plan shall lsind inure to the benefit of the Corporation, aedsitccessors and assigns. The term
successors shall include any corporate or othénésis entity that by merger, consolidation, pureh@sotherwise acquires all or substantially
all of the business and assets of the Corporatidrsaccessors of any such Corporation or othetyenti

16. BENEFIT CLAIMS PROCEDURE

(@) The Plan Administrator shall establish and camitate procedures for Participants to obtain foreqsiired to effect elections and
designations under the Plan. The Plan Administnaitay establish a telephonic communication systefadititate the administration of
the Plan and to provide information to Participaptevided that any estimate of a Participamtirrent or projected accrued benefit s
in no event be binding on the Plan Administratothi@ event of any discrepancy between such estiamate Participant’s actual
Accrued Benefit, which, in all cases, shall conttgpon notification of the death of any Participadile in the employment of the
Employer, the Plan Administrator may initiate atgim on behalf of the Spouse, Contingent AnnuitanBeneficiary

(b) If a claim is denied, the Plan Administratoiitsrdesignated agent shall give the claimant eatiovriting of such denial, which notice
shall set forth (i) the specific reason(s) for tlemial; (ii) specific reference to pertinent Planyisions on which the denial is based;
(iii) a description of any additional material oférmation necessary for the claimant to perfeetdlaim and an explanation of why st
materials or information are necessary; and (iv@@planation of the PI's claim review procedur
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(c) Within 60 days after receipt of the notice of dédiescribed above, the claimant may request aweofesuch denial by filing a notice
appeal in writing with the Benefit Claims Appealr@mittee (the “Benefits Appeal Committee”). Suchio@imust set forth all relevant
factors upon which the appeal is based. The Bengfipeal Committee shall decide the issues raiggéappeal, either with or
without holding a hearing, and shall issue to tladtant a written notice setting forth its decisemmd the reasons for the decision. The
Benefits Appeal Committee’s decision shall be maotemore than 60 days after it has received theneliat’s request for review, unless
the Benefits Appeal Committee determines that spegicumstances require an extension of time anubsifies the claimant, in which
case a decision shall be made not more than 12Dafter it has received the request for review. Berefits Appeal Committee shall
have the greatest discretion permitted by law ikingadecisions pursuant to this Section 16. Alempretations, determinations, and

decisions of the Benefits Appeal Committee in respéany claim shall be conclusive and bindingmuptl persons having or claiming
to have any interest or right under the P
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Appendix B

This Appendix B sets forth the United Technologiesporation Pension Replacement Plan, as in effe@ecember 31, 2004 (“Prior
Replacement Plan”), and as modified thereafter ftiome to time in a manner that does not constiétematerial modification’for purposes ¢
Section 409A. Amounts that were earned and vestéhig the meaning of Section 409A) prior to Jaryudy 2005, and any subsequent
increases in these amounts that are permitted tiebted as grandfathered benefits under Secti®A dre generally subject to and shall
continue to be governed by the terms of this ARigplacement Plan.
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UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION
PENSION REPLACEMENT PLAN
AS AMENDED AND RESTATED EFFECTIVE JANUARY 1, 1996

1. INTRODUCTION & PURPOSE

The United Technologies Corporation Pension Rephece Plan (the “Replacement Plan”) is maintainedragnfunded plan solely for the
purpose of providing retirement benefits in exagfsthe retirement and survivor benefits that mayéiel from the United Technologies
Corporation Employee Retirement Plan (or any othemualified defined benefit retirement plan sparesl by the Corporation) (the
“Qualified Retirement Plan”) and the United Teclogies Corporation Pension Preservation Plan asudt i any reduction in a Participant’s
compensation that would otherwise be utilized impating accrued benefits under such Plans whereethection results from participation
the Corporation’s Deferred Compensation Plan.

The capitalized terms used herein shall have thenimgs given to them by the United Technologiep@ation Employee Retirement Plan
unless the context clearly indicates otherwise.

2. EFFECTIVE DATE

The Replacement Plan became effective on Aprib85las the United Technologies Corporation Supphtah®lan, which was subsequently
renamed the United Technologies Corporation PeriReplacement Plan. This amendment and restaterhém Replacement Plan shall be
effective January 1, 199@&xcept to the extent otherwise specifically proditierein.
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3. ELIGIBILITY

An employee of United Technologies Corporation (@erporation”) or an affiliate thereof who is arBeipant in the Qualified Retirement
Plan and the Pension Preservation Plan (if apgégatnall be eligible to participate in the Replaeat Plan if and to the extent the
Participant’s Accrued Benefit under the QualifiegtirrRment Plan or the Pension Preservation Pleedisced as a result of participation in the
United Technologies Corporation Deferred Compenad®ilan or other similar deferred compensationngeeent if the Corporation
authorizes the replacement of pension benefita¢h srrangement (the “Deferred Compensation Plam’ho event shall any person who is
not entitled to benefits under the Qualified Retiemt Plan be eligible for retirement benefits avator benefits under the Replacement Plan.
An employee of the Corporation or an affiliate #efrwho is eligible for retirement benefits undee Replacement Plan shall be referred to
herein as a “Participant.”

4. DETERMINATION OF REPLACEMENT PLAN BENEFIT

The amount of the retirement benefit or survivandfé payable from the Replacement Plan to or épeet of a Participant shall equal the
excess, if any, of (a) over (b), where

(a) equals the retirement benefit or survivor bignlefit would be paid to such Participant (or o ¢ni her behalf to his Contingent
Annuitant or Beneficiary) under the Qualified Retivent Plan and the Pension Preservation Plan grihasions of such Plans were
administered by taking into account any compensatiat was deferred under the Deferred Compensiiem and

(b) equals the retirement benefit or survivor binmfyable to such Participant (or on his or hdrdikto his or her Contingent Annuitant
or Beneficiary) under the Qualified Retirement Pandl the Pension Preservation Plan.
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5. FORM OF PRESERVATION PLAN BENEFIT

(a) The Plan Administrator shall determine, ashefearlier of the Participant’s Retirement Datéher Participant’s date of death, that
portion of the Participant’s total retirement benef survivor benefit that is to be paid under Beplacement Plan. The Replacement Plan
retirement benefit or survivor benefit shall bedotm the Participant, or on his or her behalf tg @ontingent Annuitant or Beneficiary (as
designated under the Qualified Retirement Planthénform of distribution that applies to the benpayments made to, or on behalf of, the
Participant under the Qualified Retirement Plareasithe Participant has made a timely electiordeive his or her Replacement Plan
retirement benefit in a single lump-sum paymeriha series of 2 to 10 annual installment paymanéccordance with this Section 5.

(b) If—
(i) the Participant qualifies for an Early Retiremhé@nnuity or a Normal Retirement Annuity or satsfthe Rule of 65 under
Section 5.4 of the United Technologies Corporakomployee Retirement Plan (or dies after qualifyimgan Early Retirement
Annuity or a Normal Retirement Annuity or satisfyisuch Rule of 65, but before the date as of whetihement benefits under 1
Qualified Retirement Plan are scheduled to beging,

(i) terminates, or retires from, employment wittetCorporation and its affiliates after Decemberl®p5,

the Participant may elect, in accordance with $adhi(c) hereof, to have his or her Replacement Rtmrement benefit or surviv
benefit paid in a lump sum or in annual installnsepayable (or commencing) as of the ParticipgR€8rement Date. Subject to
the provisions of Section 5(c) hereof, a Participaay revoke any such election at any time. A Pt shall have no right unt
the Replacement Plan to have his or her Qualifietr&nent Plan benefit paid in a lump sum or inuanstallments.
Distributions from the Qualified Retirement Plaralbe governed solely by the terms of the QualifRetirement Plan.
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(c) An election to have a lump-sum or installmeistribution paid pursuant to Section 5(b) hereafg@evocation of any such election)
shall be disregarded unless it is filed at least ywar before the Participant’s Retirement Datei{@arlier, the first day of the month next
following the Participant’s date of death), exctat

(i) If such an election or revocation is filed onb®fore October 30, 1996, the election or revocashall be given effect only if tl
Participant consents to a distribution (or the canogment of distributions) under the Replacemeant Bt of a date occurring on
or after January 1,1997; and

(i) If such an election or revocation is filed onafter November 1, 1996, and on or before Decei®bgl996, the election or
revocation shall be given effect only if the Papamt consents to a distribution (or the commencgrogdistributions) under the
Replacement Plan as of a date occurring on or Aftel 1, 1997.

(d) If a Participant elects to have his or her Repinent Plan benefit paid in the form of a singtap-sum or annual installment
distribution, the Actuarially Equivalent presentuaof the Replacement Plan retirement benefitiorigor benefit shall be determined using
the 1983 Group Annuity Mortality Table and an iesrassumption equal to the average yield for teg-funicipal bonds of 10-year
maturities, averaged over the prior 5 calendarsydaor purposes of computing this interest assumpthe Actuary shall utilize the Lehman
Bros. Municipal Bond Index, averaging the publislyeld for 10-year maturities (credit quality AA above) on the last business day of the
year over the most recent 5 consecutive full calegdar period. This rate shall be adjusted anpaalthe beginning of each calendar y:

(e) The payment of a lump sum or annual installndésitibution in accordance with this Section 5lkba in full satisfaction of all of
the Corporation’s obligations with respect to tlatitipant under the Replacement Plan.
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6. DEATH BENEFITS

A Participant who has made an election to receigpl&tement Plan benefits in a lump sum or anng#liments in accordance with
Section 5 herein and such election is effectivefdbe date of the Participant’s death shall hawgigor benefits paid to his or her
Replacement Plan Beneficiary as follows. If deatbuos prior to age 55, the Replacement Plan bergfdll be paid in a lump sum payment
as of the date the Participant would have attaiedr her 55th birthday. If death occurs afteireetent but before all annual installments
have been paid, the remaining installments wilphil to his or her Beneficiary as scheduled urtles®state of the Participant is the
Beneficiary in which case the commuted value ofréreaining payments will be paid in a lump sum.

If no election to receive Replacement Plan bengfitslump sum or installments is in effect ashaf tlate of death, any survivor benefits
will be paid in accordance with the distributiortiop in effect and to the Beneficiary or Contingéminuitant designated under the Qualified
Retirement Plan.

7. FUNDING

The Replacement Plan shall be maintained as amdeéuPlan that is not intended to meet the quatifio requirements of Section 401
of the Code. Except in the event of a Change int@bof the Corporation (as described in Sectidrereof), all benefits under the
Replacement Plan shall be payable solely from #megal assets of the Corporation. In this regarights of each Participant, Contingent
Annuitant and Beneficiary under the Replacement Riih respect to his or her Preservation Plamewtént benefit or survivor benefit shall
be those of a general unsecured creditor of thed@ation. No Participant, Contingent Annuitant @m@ficiary hereunder shall be entitled to
receive any benefits payable under the ReplaceRiantfrom the assets of the Qualified RetiremeahpPhor shall the Corporation undertake
to set aside assets in trust or otherwise segregatgs to fund its obligations under the Replacéikan except as provided in Section 7
hereof.
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8. CHANGE OF CONTROL

In the event of a Change of Control of the Corgomtthe Corporation shall immediately fully furttetvalue of all Accrued Benefits
under the Replacement Plan, determined by the Acamof the date of the Change of Control. Thelireg proceeds will be contributed to
the United Technologies Corporation Pension Reptace Plan Retirement Security Trust. In additiémhé United Technologies
Corporation Board of Directors Committee on Comp¢ins and Executive Development takes any actiateuthe United Technologies
Corporation Long Term Incentive Plan (the “LTIPihcluding, without limitation, the accelerated \uegtor other adjustment to outstanding
LTIP awards in anticipation of (i) a Change of Gohtii) an event, which if consummated, would ciituge a Change of Control or (iii) any
other significant change pertaining to the ownersiiithe Corporation, the Corporation shall thesoalmmediately fund the United
Technologies Corporation Pension Replacement PdtineRent Security Trust. For purposes of this iBact, “Change of Control” shall
have the meaning given to that term under the LTIP.

9. NONASSIGNABILITY

No Participant, Contingent Annuitant or Beneficiaryany other person shall have the right to ssljgn, transfer, pledge, or otherwise
encumber any interest in the Replacement PlarRéfllacement Plan benefits are unassignable antraosferable and shall not be subjet
attachment or seizure for the payment of any d@ldgiments or other obligations. No Replacemen Riterest shall be transferred by
operation of law in the event of the bankruptcynsolvency of a Participant, Contingent AnnuitatBeneficiary.
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10. NO CONTRACT OF EMPLOYMENT

Participation in the Replacement Plan shall natdoestrued to constitute a direct or indirect cartttd employment between the
Corporation and the Participant. Nothing in the IRepment Plan shall be deemed to give a Participantight to be retained in the service of
the Corporation for any length of time. Particimr@ontingent Annuitants and Beneficiaries shalehao rights against the Corporation
resulting from participation in the ReplacementRi¢her than as specifically provided herein.

11. OPERATION AND ADMINISTRATION

The Replacement Plan shall be administered by émsiBn Administration and Investment Committee ofted Technologies
Corporation (the “Committee”). The Committee shralle the right to delegate its responsibilitiesebader to sub-committees and
individuals. Any question of administration or irgeetation arising under the Replacement Plan sieatletermined by the Committee (or its
delegate) in its full discretion, and its decisgrall be final and binding upon all parties.

12. TAXES/WITHHOLDING

The Corporation shall have the right to withholglets from Replacement Plan benefit payments toxteneit reasonably determines
such withholding to be required by law.

13. GOVERNING LAW

The Replacement Plan shall be construed, admiaisend enforced in accordance with the EmployedRent Income Security Act
of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”), and to the extentomeempted thereby, the laws of the State of Conné (disregarding its choice-of-law
rules).
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14. AMENDMENT AND DISCONTINUANCE

The Corporation expects to continue the Replaceikamt indefinitely, but reserves the right, by aetof the Committee, to amend or
discontinue the Replacement Plan at any time, gealjihowever, that no such action shall decreagbeamefits accrued under the
Replacement Plan as of the date of such actiohoAth the benefits accrued under the Replacemantd®Pé not subject to the restrictions
imposed by Section 204(g) of ERISA, the provisthia preceding sentence shall be construed in a@enaonsistent with Section 204(g) of
ERISA. As a result, the proviso referred to in pneceding sentence imposes restrictions identiihltive restrictions that would be imposed
on the Replacement Plan if the Replacement Plaa sugrject to Section 204(g) of ERISA.

15. SUCCESSORS

The provisions of the Replacement Plan shall bimdiiaure to the benefit of the Corporation, andgsitscessors and assigns. The term
successors shall include any corporate or othenéss entity that by merger, consolidation, pureh@sotherwise acquires all or substantially
all of the business and assets of the Corporatiot successors of any such Corporation or othéyent

16. BENEFIT CLAIMS PROCEDURE

(a) The Plan Administrator shall establish and camicate procedures for Participants to obtain foreggiired to effect elections and
designations under the Plan. The Plan Administnaitay establish a telephonic communication systefadititate the administration of the
Plan and to provide information to Participantgviled that any estimate of a Participant’s curmermrojected accrued benefit shall in no
event be binding on the Plan Administrator in tlkerg of any discrepancy between such estimate &adtcipant’s actual Accrued Benefit,
which, in all cases, shall control. Upon notificattiof the death of any Participant while in the yment of the Employer, the Plan
Administrator may initiate any claim on behalf bétSpouse, Contingent Annuitant, or Beneficiary.

(b) If a claim is denied, the Plan Administratoritsrdesignated agent shall give the claimant edtionriting of such denial, which
notice shall set forth (i) the specific reason(s) f
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the denial; (ii) specific reference to pertinerdriPprovisions on which the denial is based; (iidescription of any additional material or
information necessary for the claimant to perfletdlaim and an explanation of why such materialsformation are necessary; and (iv) an
explanation of the Plan’s claim review procedure.

(c) Within 60 days after receipt of the notice ehihl described above, the claimant may requestiaw of such denial by filing a
notice of appeal in writing with the Benefit ClailAppeal Committee (the “Benefits Appeal Committe&j)ich notice must set forth all
relevant factors upon which the appeal is based.Bdnefits Appeal Committee shall decide the issaised by the appeal, either with or
without holding a hearing, and shall issue to tladtant a written notice setting forth its decisammd the reasons for the decision. The
Benefits Appeal Committee’s decision shall be maatemore than 60 days after it has received theneliat’s request for review, unless the
Benefits Appeal Committee determines that spedielimstances require an extension of time and sfiesthe claimant, in which case a
decision shall be made not more than 120 days iaftes received the request for review. The Bénéfppeal Committee shall have the
greatest discretion permitted by law in making giecis pursuant to this Section 16. All interpretasi, determinations, and decisions of the
Benefits Appeal Committee in respect of any clalirallsbe conclusive and binding upon all personsrtaer claiming to have any interest or
right under the Plan.
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Exhibit 10.5

UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION
DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN

(As amended and restated effective January 1, 2005)

ARTICLE | —PREAMBLE

United Technologies Corporation established theaddniechnologies Deferred Compensation Plan effe&pril 1, 1985. Pursuant to
such Plan, certain eligible executives of the Caapon, its Subsidiaries and Affiliates deferrebaala portion of their compensation earned
with respect to 1985 and 1986. No compensationegafter 1986 was deferred under the Plan untiPthe was amended and restated
effective December 15, 1993 to offer eligible exams the opportunity to defer all or a portion@Gdmpensation earned or otherwise payable
in 1994 and subsequent years. The Plan has beerdath&om time to time since 1993.

The Plan is hereby amended and restated, effetdiveary 1, 2005, to reflect the requirements ofi@ed09A of the Internal Revenue
Code. The Plan, as amended and restated, appliesewals that were earned or vested after DeceBthe2004. Amounts that were earned
and vested (within the meaning of Section 409Apkefanuary 1, 2005, and any subsequent increafiessie amounts that are permitted to
be treated as grandfathered benefits under Setli®A, are subject to and shall continue to be gmeby the terms of the Prior Plan as set
forth in Appendix A.

From January 1, 2005 through December 31, 200& It has been operated in good faith compliantie 8éction 409A in accordan
with guidance provided by the Internal Revenue Berv
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ARTICLE Il —DEFINITIONS

Beneficiarymeans the person, persons or entity designated eteetronic or written form by the Participantrézeive the value of his
or her Plan Account in the event of the Particifsadé¢ath. If the Participant fails to designateem&iciary, or the Beneficiary (and any
contingent Beneficiary) does not survive the Pgodint, the value of the ParticipasitPlan Account will be paid to the estate of thdi€ipant.

Benefit Reduction Contributiomeans a contribution by the Corporation to thei€lpetnt’s Plan Account to recognize the reduction i
the value of employer matching or other contribngioinder any of the Corporation’s savings or otaeiqualified defined contribution
retirement plans as a result of the reduction ohdRarticipant’s Compensation pursuant to this Plan

Codemeans the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amdraiadime to time, and any successor thereto. fieafee to any section of
the Internal Revenue Code shall include any fiaglfations or other published guidance interpretivag section.

Committeaneans the United Technologies Corporation Defe@eahpensation Committee, which is responsible feratiministration
of the Plan. The Corporation’s Pension AdministratCommittee shall appoint the Committee’s members.

Compensatiomeans base salary and Incentive Compensation Péywthierwise payable to a Participant by a UTC Camyand
considered to be wages for purposes of federahiiec@x withholding, but before any deferral of Camgation pursuant to the Plan.
Compensation does not include foreign service preraiand allowances, compensation realized from Oargn Incentive Plan awards or
other types of awards.
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Corporationmeans United Technologies Corporation.
Credited Interest Accoumbeans the Investment Fund that is valued in theneraset forth in Section 5.2.
Deferral Periodmeans the period prior to the receipt of Compeasateferred hereunder.

“Disability” means permanent and total disability as determimelér the Corporation’s long-term disability plgsphcable to the
Participant, or if there is no such plan applicabléhe Participant, “Disability” means a deterntioa of total disability by the Social Security
Administration; provided that, in either case, Baticipant’'s condition also qualifies as a “disiai for purposes of Section 409A(a)(2)(C)
of the Code.

Election Formmeans the enrollment form provided by the Commitbelarticipants electronically or in paper form fiee purpose of
deferring Compensation under the Plan. Each Paatits Election Form must specify: the amount to be metefrom base salary and/or fri
any Incentive Compensation Payment with respettiddollowing calendar year; the respective amotmtse allocated to the Participant’s
Retirement Account and/or Special Purpose Accouitcgounts; the percentage allocation among thedtment Funds with respect to each
such Account; and if not previously elected forAatount, the method of distribution of each sucltéunt; and the Deferral Period for each
Special Purpose Account. There will be a separkgetiBn Form for each calendar year.

Incentive Compensation Paymeméans amounts awarded to a Participant pursuané tSorporation’s Annual Executive Incentive
Compensation Plan.
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Investment Fundheans the Credited Interest Account, the S&P 50fbAwt, the UTC Stock Unit Account or such othereistment
option as may be established by the Committee fioma to time. The value of Participants’ Accourttgl§be adjusted to replicate the
performance of the applicable Investment Funds. émmallocated to any Investment Fund do not réswhy investment in actual assets
corresponding to the Investment Fund.

Participantmeans an executive of a UTC Company who is paith fidJS payroll, files a U.S. income tax return, a elects to deft
Compensation under the Plan.

Plan means the United Technologies Corporation Defe@eahpensation Plan as amended and restated effSgjwember 1, 2002, a
as amended from time to time thereatfter.

Plan Accountmeans the aggregate value of all Special Purposeutits and the Retirement Account, but excludirgpants under the
Prior Plan. Accounts under the Prior Plan will lzdued and administered separately in accordand¢etidtterms and procedures in effect
under the Prior Plan.

Prior Plan means the United Technologies Corporation Defe@aahpensation Plan, as in effect on October 3, 2884gt forth in
Appendix A. All amounts earned and vested undePttier Plan, and any subsequent increases in #raseants that are permitted to be
treated as grandfathered benefits under SectioA,4ll continue to be subject to the terms anmld@mns of the Prior Plan and shall not be
affected by this amendment and restatement.

Retirement Accoumheans a Plan Account maintained on behalf of timecieant that is targeted for distribution follawg the
Participant’s Retirement.
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Retiremenmeans Separation from Service on or after age 8@&#ainment of age 65; Separation from Serviceraafter age 50 and
attainment of at least age 55 and a minimum ofrifda@re years of “continuous service” (as definethem UTC Employee Retirement Plan as
in effect on January 1, 2008); or a Rule of 65 teation.

Retirement Dateneans the date of a Participant’'s Retirement.

“Rule of 65" Terminationmeans Separation from Service on or after age 8Mafore age 55, with a combination of age andsyefr
“continuous service” (as defined in the UTC Empleyetirement Plan as in effect on January 1, 2866864l to at least 65.

Separation from Serviaeeans a Participant’s termination of employmenhwit UTC Companies, other than by reason of death,
Disability that qualifies as a “separation fromvsee” for purposes of Section 409A of the Code.dp&ration from Service will be deemed to
occur where the Participant and the UTC Compantyeimploys the Participant reasonably anticipatéttimbona fide level of services the
Participant will perform (whether as an employe@a®an independent contractor) for UTC Companidseipermanently reduced to a level
that is less than thirty-seven and a half percgni5@o) of the average level of bona fide servibesRarticipant performed during the
immediately preceding 36 months (or the entirequethe Participant has provided services if the¢i€pant has been providing services to
UTC Companies for less than 36 months). A Partittighall not be considered to have had a SeparfiionService as a result of a transfer
from one UTC Company to another UTC Company.

S&P 500 Accounmeans an Investment Fund that is valued in the araget forth in Section 5.4.
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Special Purpose Accounteans a Plan Account maintained on behalf of thieciEnt with a targeted distribution date in tedendar
year specified by the Participant. The minimum DefiePeriod is five (5) calendar years following tbend of the calendar year in which
Account is established; and the first payment femmAccount must commence no later than in the daleyear in which the Participant
attains age 72.

Specified Employemeans each of the 50 highest-paid executives dEtiiporation and its Subsidiaries, effective aniyuad of
March 31st, based on annual salary and incentive compengasiichin the prior year. The term includes both.l&u& non-U.S. employees.

UTC Common Stoakeans the common stock of United Technologies Gatjom.

UTC Companyneans United Technologies Corporation or any entiytrolled by or under common control with UnifBeichnologies
Corporation within the meaning of Section 414(bja@rof the Code (but substituting “at least 20ceet” for “at least 80 percent” as the
control threshold used in applying Sections 414 (c)).

UTC Stock Unit Accoumheans the Investment Fund that is valued in thenevaset forth in Section 5.3.

ARTICLE Il —ELIGIBILITY AND PARTICIPATION
Section 3.1—Eligibility

Each employee of a UTC Company who is classifiedrasligible Participant as of December 31 of theent year will be eligible to
elect to defer Compensation under the Plan in msgahe immediately following calendar year ircadance with the terms of the Plan and
the rules and
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procedures established by the Committee. Newlydhésecutives (or employees promoted to executivellare eligible to elect to defer base
salary during the current calendar year if they enak election within 30 calendar days from theie laiate or promotion date.

Section 3.2—Patrticipation

Each eligible Participant may elect to participatéhe Plan with respect to any calendar year foictvthe Committee offers the
opportunity to defer Compensation by timely filimith the Committee an Election Form, properly coatetl in accordance with Section 4.1.
Participation in the Plan is entirely voluntary.

ARTICLE IV —PARTICIPANT ELECTIONS AND DESIGNATIONS
Section 4.1—Election

An eligible Participant may,, on or before the &tatdeadline established by the Committee, makelectronic or written election on
the Election Form provided by the Committee to d€empensation for the immediately following calangtear.

Section 4.2—Election Amount

An eligible Participant must designate in the HatForm the dollar amount of base salary that belldeferred during such calendar
year, and/or the percentage or dollar amount oflacgntive Compensation Payment otherwise payaliteraspect to services perform
during such calendar year that will be deferredenrtde Plan. The minimum dollar amount that a Bigdint may defer under the Plan for any
calendar year is $5,000. The maximum amount tifarécipant may defer under the Plan for any caegdar is 70% of base salary and/or
100% of any Incentive Compensation Payment.
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Section 4.3—Election Date

For an election to defer base salary, an electrniegritten Election Form must be completed andsitted to the Committee no later
than the December 31 immediately preceding thendaleyear to which the election applies, or suchiezalate as the Committee may
specify. A deferral election shall be effectiveyiflthe individual making the election is still @figible Participant at the election deadline.
Except as provided below in Section 4.8 (Chand€eléction), the choices reflected on the ParticijzaBtection Form shall be irrevocable on
the election deadline. If an eligible executivdsad submit a properly completed Election Fornthuy election deadline, the executive will be
ineligible to defer base salary under the Plarttierimmediately following calendar year.

For an election to defer any Incentive Compensd®ayment with respect to services to be performehe current calendar year and
otherwise payable in the immediately following caler year, an electronic or written Election Formstrbe completed and submitted to the
Committee no later than the June 30 of the cuceal@ndar year, or such earlier date as the Conenitiey specify. A deferral election shall
effective only if the individual making the eleatids still an eligible Participant as of the eleatdeadline. Except as provided below in
Section 4.8 (Change in Election), the choices cédig on the Participant’s Election Form shall beviocable on the election deadline. If an
eligible executive fails to submit a properly coeteld Election Form by the election deadline, thecative will be ineligible to defer
Incentive Compensation under the Plan with resfmesérvices to be performed in the current calegpdar.
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Section 4.4—Deferral Period

Each Participant shall specify in the Election Foinmwhole percentages, how the amounts to be idefén the immediately following
calendar year are to be allocated among the Ratit$ Retirement Account and any Special Purpose Adsasiablished for the Participe
To the extent that the Participant fails to make#iective allocation among the available accouthts,deferral shall be allocated entirely to
the Participant’s Retirement Account. A Participaraty elect to defer into a Special Purpose Accthatthas not previously been established,
with a Deferral Period ending on a Specific Deferate that is at least five (5) calendar yearkfoing the end of the calendar year in which
the Account is established (but not later thanRagicipant’s 72nd birthday). If the Participant2and birthday falls prior to the completion of
this five (5) year period, the Participant mustaidéfito the Retirement Account only.

Section 4.5—Distribution Election

At the time the Participant first elects to deferaanount to the Participant’s Retirement Accourtbax Special Purpose Account, the
Participant must further make an election to h&veeRarticipant’s Retirement or Special Purpose Aotdistributed in a lump sum or in two
to fifteen annual installments. The Participant rebact a different form of distribution for the Rement Account and for each Special
Purpose Account. If no distribution election is maudth respect to a Participant’s Retirement AcaaurSpecial Purpose Account, the
Account will be distributed in a lump sum.
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Section 4.6—Investment Fund Allocations

When completing the Election Form, the Participaost allocate the amounts to be deferred, in wpheteentages, among the available
Investment Funds. To the extent that the Partic¢ifals to make an effective allocation among thaikable Investment Funds, the deferral
shall be allocated entirely to the Credited Intefescount.

Participants may reallocate their existing Plandnus among the available Investment Funds as iedriy the Committee, generally
once per year. Such reallocations shall be in wheteentages and, unless otherwise specified b§dhemittee, shall be effective the first
business day of the calendar year following the déthe reallocation election.

Section 4.7—Change in Election

A Participant who has made an election to defer @@mation under the Plan may make a one time icedole election to extend the
Deferral Period for a Retirement Account and/or 8pgcial Purpose Account. A Participant may alskareone time irrevocable election to
change the form of distribution for the Retiremanti/or any Special Purpose Account. A Participaay thange his or her election, as
provided in this Section 4.8, for some accountsrastdor others; provided that the Participant mhgnge his or her election only once for
Retirement Account and only once for each Speaigbése Account. With respect to each Special Perpasount, the extended Deferral
Period shall end not less than five (5) years foihy the date on which distribution would otherwis®ve occurred. With respect to the
Retirement Account, the extended Deferral Peridd/ésyears form the date on which the Retiremeetdunt would otherwise have
commenced payment.
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A deferral extension election and/or change tdfdhm of distribution must meet all of the followimgquirements:

(a) The new election must be made at least twelweting prior to the date on which payments will caenoe under the current
election (and the new election shall be ineffectithe payment commencement date under the cuetention occurs within
twelve months after the date of the new election);

(b) The new election will not take effect untillaast twelve months after the date when the neutieteis submitted in a manner
acceptable to the Committee;

(c) The new payment commencement date must beydiaes later than the date on which payments waoadheence under the
current election; and

(d) In no case may a Participant extend the Ddfeeeaod for a Special Purpose Account beyond tmtidpants 72nd birthday.
the Participant’s 72nd birthday falls less thar f{&) years after the date on which payments wooildmence under the current
election, the Participant is not eligible to extdrisior her Deferral Period or to change the fofrdistribution for the Special
Purpose Account.

Section 4.8—Designation of Beneficiary

Each Participant shall designate a Beneficianhfsior her Plan Account on an electronic or writtemm provided by the Committee. A
Participant may change such designation on anrehéctor written form acceptable to the Committed eeceived by the Committee at any
time before the Participant’s death. In the evkat ho Beneficiary designation is filed with therrittee, or if the
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Beneficiary (and any contingent Beneficiary) doessurvive the Participant, all amounts deferreatbieder will be paid to the estate of the
Participant. If a Participant designates the Paditt's spouse as the Participant’s Beneficiargt tlesignation shall not be revoked or
otherwise altered or affected by any: (a) changbémmarital status of the Participant; (b) agresnbetween the Participant and such spouse;
or (c) judicial decree (such as a divorce decrffefting any rights that the Participant and sysbuse might have as a result of their
marriage, separation, or divorce; it being therintef the Plan that any change in the designatf@aBReneficiary hereunder may be made by
the Participant only in accordance with the procediset forth in this Section 4.8. In the everthefdeath of a Participant, distributions shall
be made in accordance with Section 6.5.

ARTICLE V —PLAN ACCOUNTS
Section 5.1—Accounts

Deferred amounts that were earned and vested bédoreary 1, 2005, and any subsequent increaskesa amounts that are permitted
to be treated as grandfathered benefits underd®e¢fi9A of the Code, shall be maintained in sepaaatounts and shall remain subject tc
terms and conditions of the Prior Plan. The PrianRccounts are not intended to be subject ta@ed09A of the Code. No amendment to
Appendix A that would constitute a “material modétion” for purposes of Section 409A shall be effecunless the amending instrument
states that it is intended to materially modify &pgix A and to cause the Prior Plan to become stutgjeSection 409A. Although the Prior
Plan accounts are not intended to be subject thddet09A, neither the UTC Companies nor any dogabfficer, or other representative of a
UTC Company shall be liable for any adverse taxsegnence suffered by a Participant or BeneficiaayRrior Plan account becomes subject
to Section 409A.
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Deferred amounts that were earned or vested aieember 31, 2004, will be allocated to a Retirerd@tiount and/or one or more
Special Purpose Accounts as elected by the Patitifhe Committee will establish the maximum nundfeSpecial Purpose Accounts.

Participants’ Plan Accounts shall be allocatedeatlocated among Investment Funds in accordandeeaith Participant’s instructions
in the manner set forth in Section 4.6.

Section 5.2—Valuation of Credited Interest Account

Deferred amounts allocated to the Credited Intekesbunt will be credited daily with a rate of inést equal to the average interest rate
on 10-Year Treasury Bonds as of the last businag®tieach month from January through Octoberéncilendar year prior to the calendar
year in which the interest is credited, plus :

Section 5.3—Valuation of UTC Stock Unit Account

Deferred Compensation allocated to the UTC Stocik Alecount will be converted to Stock Units, inclind fractional Stock Units. A
UTC Stock Unit is equal to the closing price of @mare of UTC Common Stock as reported on the ceitgotape of the New York Stock
Exchange. The number of Stock Units will be caltadaby dividing the amount of Compensation defelrgdhe closing price of UTC
Common Stock on the date when the deferred amsumedited to the Participant’'s UTC Stock Unit Agob UTC Stock Units held in the
UTC Stock Unit Account on a dividend payment daii lve credited with dividend equivalent paymengsial to the Corporation’s declared
dividend on UTC Common Stock (if any). Such dividesguivalent payments will be converted to addalddTC Stock Units and fractional
units using the closing price of UTC Common Stoslofthe date such dividends are credited to theciRmnt's UTC Stock Unit Account.
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Section 5.4—Valuation of S&P 500 Account

Deferred amounts allocated to the S&P 500 Accouihw converted to S&P Account units based ondlosing share price of the
Vanguard 500 Index Fund as of date the deferreduatris credited to the Participant's S&P 500 Acdodime value of the S&P 500 Account
units will fluctuate on each business day basethemperformance of the Vanguard 500 Index Fund.

Section 5.5—Allocation to Accounts

During the year of deferral, deferred amounts hallallocated to the Participant’s Plan Account lavéstment Funds as of the date the
deferred amounts would otherwise have been paitkt®articipant.

Section 5.6—Crediting of Benefit Reduction Contribtion

At the end of each calendar year, the Committeedstermine if any Benefit Reduction has been irediwvith respect to any of the
Corporation’s savings plans or other tax qualifiefined contribution retirement plans, and willditehe amount of such Benefit Reduction
to the affected Participant’s Plan Account as efl&st business day of the calendar year. Any aoabunts will be allocated on a pro-rata
basis to the Participant’s Retirement Account apelci&l Purpose Accounts and Investment Funds iordaace with the Participastteferra
elections on file for that calendar year.

Section 5.7—Reports to Participants

The Committee will provide or make available dediinformation to Participants regarding the valti®lan Accounts, distribution
elections, Beneficiary designations, Investmentdraifocations and credited values for Retiremendt @pecial Purpose Accounts, not less
than once per year. Such information may be pralida electronic media as determined by the Conemitt
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ARTICLE VI —DISTRIBUTION OF ACCOUNTS
Section 6.1—Timing of Plan Distributions

Except as provided in Section 4.8 (concerning ihe-year delay following a Change in Election), &t 6.3 (concerning Separation
from Service before Attaining Age Fifty), and Seati6.4 (concerning distributions to Specified Enypeles), the value of a Participant’s
Retirement Account will be distributed (or begin® distributed) to the Participant in April of tbalendar year following the Retirement
Date. The value of a Participant’s Special Purpgosmunt will be distributed (or begin to be distribd) to the Participant in April of the year
specified in the Participant’s initial electioniarany change in election under Section 4.8. Theams, for example, that if a deferral election
specifies a Deferral Period until 2015, distribatigill occur in April of 2015.

Section 6.2—Method of Distribution

Except as provided in Section 6.3 (concerning Sejmar from Service before Attaining Age Fifty), éaRetirement and Special Purp:
Account will be distributed to the Participant isiagle lump-sum cash payment, or in a series nflaihcash installment payments, in
accordance with the Participant’s election withpesg to each such account. Annual installmentd begbayable to the Participant beginning
as of the payment commencement date and contimginng each anniversary of the payment commenceda¢atthereafter until all
installments have been paid. To determine the abwfugach installment, the value of the ParticifmRtan Account on the payment date will
be multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of whistone and the denominator of which is the nunebecheduled installments that remain
unpaid.

Page 1¢



Section 6.3—Separation from Service before Attainig Age Fifty

If a Participant’s Separation from Service occuefobe the Participant attains age fifty (50), thi ¥alue of the Participant’s Plan
Account will be distributed to the Participant ituanp-sum payment in April following the Particig@nSeparation from Service (or, if the
Participant is a Specified Employee at the timbisfor her Separation from Service, on the dateigea in Section 6.4, below, if later)
regardless of the distribution option elected.

If a Participant has a Separation from Serviceiataker re-hired by a UTC Company, the Partici{zaage at the time of the
Participant’s first Separation from Service wiltelemine how the Participant’s Plan Account at theetof the first Separation from Service is
distributed. If the Participant accumulates anyithoithl deferrals after the Participant is re-hirtte Plan shall separately account for the
additional deferrals (and related investment gaimiesses), and the Participant’s age at the tiftbeoParticipant’s second Separation from
Service will determine how the additional amountsdistributed.

Section 6.4—Separation from Service of Specified Brioyees

If the Participant is a Specified Employee on theedf the Participant’s Separation from Servicg, distribution of the Participant’s
Plan Account to the Participant that is made omawtof the Participard’ Separation from Service will not be made or comeee=arlier tha
the first day of the seventh month following théedaf Separation from Service. The Plan Accountl glaatinue to accrue hypothetical
investment gains and losses as provided in Articlantil the distribution date.
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Section 6.5—Distribution in the Event of Death

In the event of the death of a Participant, thevalue of the Participant’s Plan Account will bistdbuted to the designated Beneficiary
in a lump sum on the first business day of the mdoitowing the Participant’s death.

Section 6.6—Accelerated Distribution in the Case ain Unforeseeable Emergency

(a) Unforeseeable Emergency. The Committee mayn ag@articipant’s written application, agree tcaanelerated distribution of some
or all of the value of Participant’s Plan Accoupba the showing of an unforeseeable emergency uifofeseeable emergency” is a severe
financial hardship to the Participant resultingfir¢l) an iliness or accident of the Participang, Brarticipant’s spouse, the Participant’s
Beneficiary, or the Participant’'s dependent (asngefin IRC Section 152, without regard to Secti®é(b)(1), (b)(2), and (d)(1)(B)); (2) loss
of the Participant’s property due to casualty;3jrdther similar extraordinary and unforeseealieucnstances arising as a result of events
beyond the control of the Participant. Whether di€pant is faced with an unforeseeable emerggerynitting a distribution is to be
determined based on the relevant facts and ciranoss of each case. Acceleration will not be grhifitthe emergency is or may be relieved
through reimbursement or compensation from insweamotherwise, by liquidation of the Participarassets (to the extent the liquidation of
such assets would not cause severe financial hip)gdsh by cessation of deferrals under the Plan.

(b) Amount of Distribution Permitted Upon an Unfseeable Emergency. Distributions on account ofrdaraseeable emergency, as
defined in Section 6.6(a), shall be limited to #mount reasonably necessary to satisfy the emergmea. Such amount may include
amounts necessary to pay any Federal, state, mcfreign income taxes or penalties reasonaltigipated to result from the distribution.
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(c) The Committee will determine from which Spedtalrpose or Retirement Accounts and associatedtment Funds hardship
distributions will be made. Any Participant whaais officer or director of the Corporation withiretmeaning of Section 16 of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 is not eligible for distritants on account of unforeseeable emergency.

Section 6.7—Disability

In the event of the Disability of a Participante tRarticipant’s Plan Accounts will be maintained distributed in accordance with the
Participant’s elections on file.

Section 6.8—Administrative Adjustments in Payment @&te

A payment is treated as being made on the date wiedue under the Plan if the payment is madéherdue date specified by the
Plan, or on a later date that is either (a) inddume calendar year (for a payment whose specifiedidte is on or before September 30), or
(b) by the 15th day of the third calendar monthofeing the date specified by the Plan (for a paynvéimose specified due date is on or after
October 1). A payment also is treated as being madbee date when it is due under the Plan if tagnent is made not more than 30 days
before the due date specified by the Plan. In mmewill a payment to a Specified Employee be n@dsommence earlier than the first day
of the seventh month following the date of Separatiom Service. A Participant may not, directlyirdirectly, designate the taxable year of
a payment made in reliance on the administratilesrim this Section 6.9.
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ARTICLE VII —AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION OF PLAN
Section 7.1—Amendment

The Corporation may, at any time, amend the Plawvhiole or in part, provided that no amendment megrelse the value of any Plan
Accounts as of the date of such amendment. Intbetef any change in law or regulation relatinghte Plan and the tax treatment of Plan
Accounts, the Plan shall, without further actiontbg Committee, be deemed to be amended to conifilyawy such change in law or
regulation effective as of the first date necessarevent the taxation, constructive receipteemded distribution of Plan Accounts prior to
the date Plan Accounts would be distributed unldemptovisions of Article VI.

Section 7.2—Plan Suspension and Termination

(a) The Corporatiors’ Pension Administration Committee, may, at anyetisuspend or terminate the Plan with respectwoareexisting
Election Forms if, in its sole judgment, the cootince of the Plan, the tax, accounting, or othiecesf thereof, or potential payments
thereunder would not be in the best interest oQbgporation or for any other reason.

(b) In the event of the suspension of the Plargduitional deferrals shall be made under the Blanall previous deferrals shall
accumulate and be distributed in accordance welotherwise applicable provisions of the Plan &mdapplicable elections on file.

(c) Upon the termination of the Plan with respecalt Participants, and the termination of all agaments sponsored by the Corpore
or its affiliates that would be aggregated with FHan under Section 409A of the Code, the Corpmmaghall have the right, in its sole
discretion, and
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notwithstanding any elections made by the Partitip@ pay the Participant’s Plan Account in a lusoin, to the extent permitted under
Section 409A. All payments that may be made purstaathis Section 7.2 shall be made no earlier tharthirteenth month and no later than
the twenty-fourth month after the termination of felan. The Corporation may not accelerate paynmmtsiant to this Section 7.2 if the
termination of the Plan is proximate to a downturthe Corporation’s financial health within the améng of Treas. Reg. section 1.409A-3(j)
(4)(X)(C)(1). If the Corporation exercises itsaistion to accelerate payments under this Sectdnit/shall not adopt any new arrangement
that would have been aggregated with the Plan uddetion 409A within three years following the date¢he Plan’s termination.

Section 7.3—No Consent Required

The consent of any Participant, Beneficiary, oreotherson shall not be required with respect toaangndment, suspension, or
termination of the Plan.

ARTICLE VIl —GENERAL PROVISIONS
Section 8.1—Unsecured General Creditor

The Corporation’s obligations under the Plan coutgtian unfunded and unsecured promise to pay marteg future. Participants’ and
Beneficiaries’ rights under the Plan are solelysthof a general unsecured creditor of the Corpmrahlo assets will be placed in trust, set
aside or otherwise segregated to fund or offsbilifiees in respect of the Plan or ParticipantsifPAccounts.
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Section 8.2—Nonassignability

No Participant or Beneficiary or any other persbalishave the right to sell, assign, transfer, gisdr otherwise encumber any interest
in the Plan. All Plan Accounts and the rights igpalyments are unassignable and non-transferalale AZcounts or payment hereunder, prior
to actual payment, will not be subject to attachnoerseizure for the payment of any debts, judgsenbther obligations. Plan Accounts or
other Plan benefit will not be transferred by ofieraof law in the event of a Participant’s or @@gneficiary’s bankruptcy or insolvency.

Section 8.3—No Contract of Employment

Participation in the Plan shall not be construedaiostitute a direct or indirect contract of empieant between any UTC Company and
the Participant. Participants and Beneficiaries ndlve no rights against any UTC Company resultiom participation in the Plan other than
as specifically provided herein. Nothing in therP&hall be deemed to give a Participant the righitet retained in the service of any UTC

Company for any length of time or to interfere witle right of any UTC Company to terminate a Pgréint’'s employment prior to the end of
any Deferral Period.

Section 8.4—Governing Law

The provisions of the Plan will be construed artdripreted according to the laws of the State ofrfécticut, to the extent not preemp
by federal law.
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Section 8.5—Validity

If any provision of the Plan is held to be illegalinvalid for any reason, the remaining provisiohshe Plan will be construed and
enforced as if such illegal and invalid provisicadmever been inserted herein.

Section 8.6—Notice

Any notice or filing required or permitted to bevgh to the Committee under the Plan shall be sefftdf sent by first-class mail, to the
United Technologies Corporation Deferred Compenaafiommittee, 1 Financial Plaza, Hartford, Conme¢td6101, Attn: Director,
Compensation, MS-504. Any notice or filing requidoermitted to be given to any Participant or &amary under the Plan shall be
sufficient if provided either electronically, hadélivered, or mailed to the address (or email aslras the case may be) of the Participant or
Beneficiary then listed on the records of the Coaion. Any such notice will be deemed given athefdate of delivery or, if delivery is
made by malil, as of the date shown on the postmragknail system.

Section 8.7—Successors

The provisions of the Plan shall bind and inurthbenefit of the Corporation and its successodsassigns. The term successors as
used herein shall include any corporate or othemss entity, which by merger, consolidation, pase or otherwise acquires all or
substantially all of the business and assets o€thvporation, and successors of any such corparati@ther business entity.
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Section 8.8—Incompetence

If the Committee determines, upon evidence satisifgdo the Committee, that any Participant or By to whom a benefit is
payable under the Plan is unable to care for hireomaffairs because of illness or accident, aryyrant due (unless prior claim therefore shall
have been made by a duly authorized guardian er ¢dlgal representative) may be paid, upon appatgpmdemnification of the Committee
and the Corporation, to the spouse of the Partitipaother person deemed by the Committee to leouered expenses for the benefit of and
on behalf of such Participant or Beneficiary. Amgls payment from a ParticipastPlan Account shall be a complete discharge ofliability
under the Plan with respect to the amount so paid.

Section 8.9—Section 409A Compliance.

To the extent that rights or payments under thés Rlre subject to Section 409A of the Internal RaeeCode, the Plan shall be
construed and administered in compliance with tritions of Section 409A and regulations and otheédance issued pursuant to
Section 409A for deferral of income taxation uttig time the compensation is paid. Any distributbection that would not comply with
Section 409A of the Code shall not be effectivegorposes of this Plan. To the extent that a prawisf this Plan does not comply with
Section 409A of the Code, such provision shall biel and without effect. The Corporation does notresat that the Plan will comply with
Section 409A of the Code with respect to any Pigditt or with respect to any payment In no eveatlsny UTC Company; any director,
officer, or employee of a UTC Company (other thiaa Participant); or any member of the Committeédide for any additional tax, interest,
or penalty incurred by a Participant or Beneficiasya result of the Plasfailure to satisfy the requirements of SectioBA0f the Code, or ¢
a result of the Plan’s failure to satisfy any otrexjuirements of applicable tax laws.
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Section 8.10—Withholding Taxes

The Committee may make any appropriate arrangenenisduct from all deferrals and payments undeian any taxes that the
Committee reasonably determines to be requiredytd be withheld from such credits and payments.

ARTICLE IX —ADMINISTRATION AND CLAIMS
Section 9.1—Plan Administration

The Committee shall be solely responsible for ttmiaistration and operation of the Plan. The Cortarishall have full and exclusive
authority and discretion to interpret the provisiar the Plan and to establish such administragreeedures as it deems necessary and
appropriate to carry out the purposes of the Plan.

Any person claiming a benefit, requesting an imetigtion or ruling under the Plan, or requestirfgrimation under the Plan shall
present the request in writing to the Committedrited Technologies Corporation, 1 Financial Platartford, Connecticut 06101, Attn:
Deferred Compensation Committee. The Committed sbgpond in writing as soon as practicable.

Section 9.2—Claim Procedures

A Participant or Beneficiary who believes that hesloe has been denied a benefit to which he oisshgtitled under the Plan (referred
to in this Section 9.2 as a “Claimant”) may filevetten request with the Committee setting forth ttaim. The Committee shall consider and
resolve the claim as set forth below.
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(&) Upon receipt of a claim, the Committee shalliselthe Claimant that a response will be fortheanwithin 90 days. The Committee
may, however, extend the response period for @mtadditional 90 days for reasonable cause, arbmsidy the Claimant of the reason for
the extension and the expected response date. dinen{itee shall respond to the claim within the $jestt period.

(b) If the claim is denied in whole or part, then@roittee shall provide the Claimant with a writtegcidion, using language calculated to
be understood by the Claimant, setting forth (&)ghecific reason or reasons for such denialh@}pecific reference to relevant provisions
of this Plan on which such denial is based; (3¢scdption of any additional material or informatinecessary for the Claimant to perfect his
or her claim and an explanation why such materiaugh information is necessary; (4) appropriaterimation as to the steps to be taken if
the Claimant wishes to submit the claim for revi¢sy);the time limits for requesting a review of ttlaim; and (6) the Claimant's right to
bring an action for benefits under Section 502{dRISA.

(c) Within 60 days after the Claimant’s receiptloé written decision denying the claim in wholeropart, the Claimant may request in
writing that the Committee review the determinatidhe Claimant or his or her duly authorized repn¢ative may, but need not, review the
relevant documents and submit issues and commaeuriting for consideration by the Committee. If tB&imant does not request a reviev
the initial determination within such 60-day peritiie Claimant shall be barred from challengingdb&rmination.

(d) Within 60 days after the Committee receivesquest for review, it will review the initial detaination. If special circumstances
require that the 60-day time period be extendedltbmmittee will so notify the Claimant and wilhder the decision as soon as possible, but
no later than 120 days after receipt of the reqgiseseview.
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(e) All decisions on review shall be final and himglwith respect to all concerned parties. Theslenion review shall set forth, in a
manner calculated to be understood by the Clainfapthe specific reasons for the decision, inalgdieferences to the relevant Plan
provisions upon which the decision is based; (8)Gtaimant’s right to receive, upon request and éfcharge, reasonable access to and
copies of all documents, records, and other inféionarelevant to his or her benefits; and (3) @aimant’s right to bring an action for
benefits under Section 502(a) of ERISA.

CERTAIN REGULATORY MATTERS

The Plan is subject to the Employee Retirementrire&ecurity Act of 1974, as amended (“ERISA”). Besmathe Plan is an unfunded plan
maintained by an employer primarily for the purpo$eroviding deferred compensation for a seleougrof management or highly
compensated employees, the Plan is exempt from ah@RISA’s requirements. Although the Plan is sgbjo Part 1 (Reporting and
Disclosure) and Part 5 (Administration and Enforeath of Title |, Subtitle B of ERISA, the Departntai Labor has issued a regulation that
exempts the Plan from most of ERISA'’s reporting distlosure requirements.
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TO WHOM SHOULD QUESTIONS CONCERNING THE PLAN BE DIR ECTED?

All questions concerning the operation of the Rlaoluding information concerning the administratof the Plan) should be directed
to:

Director, Compensation
United Technologies Corporation
1 Financial Plaza, MS 504
Hartford, Connecticut 06101
Telephone: 860-728-6381
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Appendix A

This Appendix A sets forth the United Technologisporation Deferred Compensation Plan, as in eéfedctober 4, 2004 (“Prior
Plan”), and as modified thereafter from time todiimn a manner that does not constitute a “mater@lification” for purposes of
Section 409A. Amounts that were earned and vestéhdig the meaning of Section 409A) prior to Jaryudy 2005, and any subsequent
increases in these amounts that are permitted tiebted as grandfathered benefits under SectiBA dire generally subject to and shall
continue to be governed by the terms of this Arian.
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UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION
DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN

(As amended and restated effective September 1, 200

ARTICLE | —PREAMBLE

United Technologies Corporation established thaddniechnologies Deferred Compensation Plan effe&pril 1, 1985. Pursuant to
such Plan, certain eligible executives of the Coapon deferred all or a portion of their compeimatarned with respect to 1985 and 1986.
No compensation earned after 1986 was deferredruheélan until the Plan was amended and res#dtective December 15, 1993 to of
eligible executives the opportunity to defer allbgportion of Compensation earned or otherwise lpayia 1994 and subsequent years. The
Plan is hereby amended and restated, effectiveeByatr 1, 2002, to reflect administrative changeseathancements.

ARTICLE Il —DEFINITIONS

Beneficiarymeans the person, persons or entity designatelaebidrticipant to receive the value of his or HanRAccounts in the event
of the Participant’s death. If the Participant$ad designate a Beneficiary, or the Beneficiand(any contingent Beneficiary) does not
survive the Participant, the value of the PartioifsaPlan Accounts will be paid to the estate @& Frarticipant.

Benefit Reductiomeans either a reduction in a Participant’s (orRb#icipant’s Beneficiary’s) benefit under anytlegé Corporation’s
defined benefit pension plans or a reduction invidee of employer matching or other contributiomsler any of the Corporatiasavings o
other tax qualified defined contribution retiremetdns as a result of the reduction of such Pagitfs Compensation pursuant to this Plan.

Class Yeameans each calendar year for which Compensatiobdersdeferred pursuant to the Plan prior to 2003.
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Class Year Accoumheans the account established for each Participaetich Class Year for which Compensation has deérred
under the Plan prior to January 1, 2003.

Committeaneans the United Technologies Corporation Defe@eahpensation Committee, which is responsible feratiministration
of the Plan. The Corporation’s Pension AdministratCommittee shall appoint the Committee’s members.

Compensatiomeans base salary and Incentive Compensation Pé&ywtherwise payable to a Participant and consitlierée wages
for purposes of federal income tax withholding, betore any deferral of Compensation pursuanted™ian. Compensation does not include
foreign service premiums and allowances, compemsagialized from Long Term Incentive Plan awardstber types of awards.

Corporationmeans United Technologies Corporation, its divisjaffiliates and subsidiaries.
Credited InteresAccount means the Investment Fund that is valugdeérmanner set forth in Section 5.2.
Deferral Periodmeans the period prior to the receipt of Compeasateferred hereunder.

Election Formmeans the enroliment form provided by the Commitbelearticipants electronically or in paper form flee purpose of
deferring Compensation under the Plan. Each Paatits Election Form must specify: the amount to bedeéefrom base salary and/or fri
any Incentive Compensation Payment with respettiddollowing calendar year; the respective amotmtse allocated to the Participant’s
Retirement Account and/or Special Purpose Accouiicoounts; the percentage allocation among thedtment Funds with respect to each
such Account; the method of distribution of eacbhsAccount; and the Deferral Period for each Spé&uiapose Account. There will be a
separate Election Form for each calendar year.
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Incentive Compensation Paymeméans amounts awarded to a Participant pursuané tSorporation’s Annual Executive Incentive
Compensation Plan.

Investment Fundcheans the Credited Interest Account, the S&P 50fbAwt, the UTC Stock Unit Account or such otheristment
option as may be established by the Committee fiora to time. The value of Participants’ Accourttgls be adjusted to replicate the
performance of the applicable Investment Fund. Am®allocated to any Investment Fund do not réswdhy investment in actual assets
corresponding to the Investment Fund.

Participantmeans an executive of the Corporation who is paichfa US payroll, files a U.S. income tax retummgl avho elects to defer
Compensation under the Plan.

Plan means the United Technologies Corporation Defe@eahpensation Plan as amended and restated effSgjwember 1, 2002, a
as amended from time to time thereafter.

Plan Accountsneans the aggregate value of all Class Year Acsp@piecial Purpose Accounts, and Retirement Ac¢cbumiexcluding
accounts under the Prior Plan. Accounts under tize Plan will be valued and administered sepayatebccordance with the terms and
procedures in effect under the Prior Plan.

Prior Plan means the United Technologies Corporation Defe@ashpensation Plan, as in effect prior to Decembefl293. All
amounts deferred and credited under the Prior $Hafi continue to be subject to the terms and dimmdi of the Prior Plan and shall not be
affected by this amendment and restatement.
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Retirement Accoumheans a Plan Account maintained on behalf of tmécigant that will be distributed in the manneeetked by the
Participant commencing in April of the calendaryfedlowing the Participant’'s Retirement Date.

Retiremenimeans attainment of age 65; attainment of at lgestc5 and a minimum of 10 or more years of “camirs service” (as
defined in one of the Corporation’s retirement glawor termination of employment on or after ageab before age 55, with a combination
of age and years of service equal to at leasti&s"Rule of 65”).

Retirement Dateneans the date a Participant terminates employfrantthe Corporation on or after attaining eligiyilfor Retirement
S&P 500 Accountneans an Investment Fund that is valued in the sreset forth in Section 5.4.

Special Purpose Accounteans a Plan Account maintained on behalf of tliediReant that will be distributed in the manneeated by
the Participant commencing in April of the calengear specified by the Participant. The minimumeDetl Period is five (5) calendar years
following the end of the calendar year for whick thccount is established.

UTC Common Stoakeans the common stock of United Technologies Catjom.
UTC Stock Unit Accoumheans the Investment Fund that is valued in thenevaset forth in Section 5.3.
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ARTICLE Il —ELIGIBILITY AND PARTICIPATION
Section 3.1—Eligibility
Each employee of the Corporation who is classifie@n eligible Participant as of December 31 vélelgible to elect to defer

Compensation under the Plan in respect of the sules¢ calendar year in accordance with the terntiseoPlan and the rules and procedures
established by the Committee.

Section 3.2—Patrticipation

Each eligible Participant may elect to participatéhe Plan with respect to any calendar year foictvthe Committee offers the

opportunity to defer Compensation by timely filimith the Committee an Election Form, properly coatetl in accordance with Section 4.1.
Participation in the Plan is entirely voluntary.

ARTICLE IV —PARTICIPANT ELECTIONS
Section 4.1—Election

An eligible Participant may participate in the Planexecuting the Election Form provided by the @uttee for the subsequent
calendar year. The eligible Participant must destigthe dollar amount of base salary that will eeded during such calendar year, and/or
the percentage or dollar amount of any Incentivem@ensation Payment otherwise payable during sueindar year that will be deferred
under the Plan. The minimum dollar amount that di¢ant may defer under the Plan for any calerygar is $5,000. Any deferral election
made in the Election Form is irrevocable and mestdmpleted and returned to the Committee no thter the December 31 immediately
preceding the calendar year to which the electpplias, or such earlier date as the Committee rpagify. If an eligible executive fails to
return a properly completed Election Form by suatedthe executive will be ineligible to defer Canpation under the Plan for the
following calendar year.
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Section 4.2—Investment Fund Allocations

When completing the Election Form, the Participaost allocate the amounts to be deferred, in wpeteentages divisible by 10,
among the available Investment Funds.

Participants may reallocate their existing post3L@®ass Year Accounts, Special Purpose AccountdRatidement Account among the
available Investment Funds as permitted by the Citten generally once per year. Such reallocatstradl be in whole percentages divisible
by 10 and, unless otherwise specified by the Cotemishall be effective January 1 of the calendar following the date of the reallocation
election.

Section 4.3—Designation of Beneficiary

Each Participant shall designate a Beneficianhfsior her Plan Accounts on a form provided by@oenmittee. Such designation may
be changed on a form acceptable to the Committaryatime by the Participant. In the event thaBeoeficiary designation is filed with the
Committee, or if the Beneficiary (and contingennBgciary) does not survive the Participant, allamts deferred hereunder will be paid to
the estate of the Participant in a lump sum. I&giBipant designates the Participant’s spousba®articipant’s Beneficiary, that designation
shall not be revoked or otherwise altered or aéfgdty any: (a) change in the marital status oPsicipant; (b) agreement between the
Participant and such spouse; or (¢) judicial de¢saeh as a divorce decree) affecting any righasttie Participant and such spouse might
have as a result of their marriage, separatiodjvarce; it being the intent of the Plan that ahgmrge in the designation of a Beneficiary
hereunder may be made by the Participant only éor@ance with the procedures set forth in thisiBeet.3. In the event of the death of a
Participant, distributions shall be made in accocgawith Section 6.4.
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Section 4.4—Deferral Period

Each Participant shall specify in the Election Fahm Deferral Period for amounts to be deferretthénfollowing calendar year. The
minimum Deferral Period for a Special Purpose Actasifive (5) calendar years following the endlod calendar year in which the Account
is established. Participants may defer Compensattora Retirement Account until April of the catiar year following their Retirement
Date.

Section 4.5—Distribution Schedule

Each Participant shall specify in the Election Favirether the value of the Participant’s Retirem@rpecial Purpose Account shall be
distributed in a single lumpum cash payment or in a series of annual caslllimsint payments for a specified number of yeaos {m excee:
15 years).

ARTICLE V —PLAN ACCOUNTS

Section 5.1—Accounts

Prior to 2003, the Committee established a Class Yecount for each Participant with respect tche@lass Year for which the
Participant elected to defer Compensation undePthe. Each Class Year Account will be maintainepbsately.

Amounts deferred in 2003 and subsequent calendais ydll be allocated to a Retirement Account andfte or more Special Purpose
Accounts as elected by the Participant. The Coremittill establish the maximum number of SpeciapBse Accounts.
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Participants’ Plan Accounts shall be allocatedeatlocated among Investment Funds in accordandeeaith Participant’s instructions
in the manner set forth in Section 4.2.

Section 5.2—Valuation of Credited Interest Account

Deferred amounts allocated to the Credited Intekesbunt will be credited with a rate of interequal to the average interest rate on
10-Year Treasury Bonds as of the last businesoflagch month from January through October in tier galendar year, plus 1%.

Section 5.3—Valuation of UTC Stock Unit Account

Deferred Compensation allocated to the UTC Stocit Alecount will be converted to Stock Units, ordtimnal Stock Units. A UTC
Stock Unit is equal to the closing price of onershaf UTC Common Stock as reported on the comptsite of the New York Stock
Exchange. The number of Stock Units will be caltadaby dividing the amount of Compensation defelnedhe closing price of UTC
Common Stock on the date the deferred amountswithervould have been paid. Stock Units held inWA€ Stock Unit Account will be
credited with a dividend payment equal to the Coapon’s declared dividend on UTC Common Stocla(if/). Such dividend equivalent
payments will be converted to additional Stock Wit fractional units using the closing price of @Tommon Stock as of the date such
dividends are credited to the Participant’'s UTCc8tdnit Account.

Section 5.4—Valuation of S&P 500 Account

Deferred amounts allocated to the S&P 500 Accouihw converted to S&P Account units based ondlosing share price of the
Vanguard 500 Index Fund as of date the deferreduatrs credited to the Participant's S&P 500 Acdodime value of the S&P 500 Account
units will fluctuate on a daily basis based onpkeformance of the Vanguard 500 Index Fund.
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Section 5.5—Allocation to Accounts

During the year of deferral, deferred amounts béllallocated to the Participant’s Plan Accountslamdstment Funds as of the date the
deferred amounts would otherwise have been paid.

Section 5.6—Reports to Participants

The Committee will provide or make available detdiinformation to Participants regarding the valfi®lan Accounts, distribution
elections, Beneficiary designations, Investmentdraifocations and credited values for Class Yeatir@nent and Special Purpose Accou
not less than once per year. Such information neagrbvided via electronic media as determined kyGbmmittee.
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ARTICLE VI —DISTRIBUTION OF ACCOUNTS
Section 6.1—Timing of Plan Distributions

The value of a Participant’s Retirement Account i distributed (or begin to be distributed) inri\pf the calendar year following the
Retirement Date. The value of a Participant’'s Sgdeiirpose Account will be distributed (or begirbeodistributed) in April of the specified
year. This means, for example, that if a deferedtéon specifies a Deferral Period until 2015¢ritsition will occur in April of 2015

The value of a Participant’s Class Year Account bel distributed (or begin to be distributed) inrhpf the last year of the Deferral
Period. Upon Retirement, the value of a Particifga@tass Year Account will be distributed (or betgirbe distributed) in April next followin
the Retirement Date, or in April of the calendaary®llowing the Retirement Date, as elected.

Section 6.2—Method of Distribution

Each Class Year, Retirement and Special Purposeulstevill be distributed in a single lump-sum cg@styment, or in a series of annual
cash installment payments, in accordance with #rédipant’s election with respect to each suchadrt.

Section 6.3—Termination of Employment

In the event of termination of employment prioat®articipants Retirement Date, during or after the Deferraldeewith respect to an
Class Year, Retirement or Special Purpose Acctliatfull value of the Participant’s Plan Accountd e distributed in a lump-sum cash
payment in April following the date of terminatiagardless of the distribution option elected.
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Section 6.4—Distribution in the Event of Death

In the event of the death of a Participant prioattaining eligibility for Retirement, and befoteetend of the Deferral Period with resj
to any Plan Account, the full value of such Plarcéunts will be distributed to the designated Begiafy in a lump sum as soon as
administratively feasible.

In the event of the death of a Participant prioattaining eligibility for Retirement, but afterglend of the Deferral Period with respect
to any Plan Account, the full value of such Plarcéunts will be distributed to the designated Benefi in accordance with the Participant’s
distribution election on file.

In the event of death of a Participant after attajreligibility for Retirement, the full value ohé Participant’s Plan Accounts will be
distributed to the Beneficiary in accordance with Participant’s distribution elections on file.

If the Beneficiary is the Participant’s estate, thiévalue of the Participant’s Plan Accounts Wil paid in a single lump sum as soon as
administratively feasible following the Participantlate of death.

In the event of the death of the Beneficiary (angd @ontingent Beneficiary) while receiving distrifmns from the Plan, the full value of
the applicable Plan Accounts will be paid in a &rigmp sum to such Beneficiary’s estate as soadasnistratively feasible.
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Section 6.5—Hardship Distribution

The Committee may, in its sole discretion, upouifig that the Participant (or Beneficiary in theervof a Participant’'s death) has
suffered an unforeseen, severe and immediate fialagmmergency, permit such Participant to withdeaportion of the value of the
Participant’s Plan Accounts in an amount sufficien¢liminate the hardship. Financial hardshipritistions will be made only if the
Committee determines that the Participant is unebfesolve the financial emergency through otheamns reasonably available to the
Participant. Financial hardship distributions viadl made following the Committee’s determinatiomafualifying financial emergency on the
basis of the value of the Participant’s Plan Acdsw@s of the most recent date available. The Cotmentill determine from which Special
Purpose, Retirement or Class Year Accounts andciadéed Investment Funds hardship distributions béllmade. Any Participant who is an
officer or director of the Corporation within theeaming of Section 16 of the Securities ExchangeofAd934 is not eligible for financial
hardship distributions.

Section 6.6—Disability

In the event of the disability of a Participantdesermined under the Corporation’s Long Term Dilggli’lan, the Participant’s Plan
Accounts will be maintained and distributed in adamce with the Participant’s elections on file.

Section 6.7—Distribution from Supplemental Account

The Committee will effect distributions from suplental retirement plans with respect to BenefitURgéidns incurred in any of the
Corporation’s defined benefit pension plans atstame time, in the same manner and in the requinediats such that when combined with
benefits provided by the defined benefit pensi@anglin which a Participant incurred a Benefit
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Reduction, the total amount received by a Partittifar Beneficiary) will equal the amount of pensizenefit that would otherwise have been
paid had the Participant not participated in tHanP

At the end of each calendar year, the Committekdstermine if any Benefit Reduction has been irediwvith respect to any of the
Corporation’s savings plans or other tax qualifiefined contribution retirement plans, and willditehe amount of such Benefit Reduction
to the affected Participant’s Plan Accounts aseflast business day of the calendar year. Any aoabunts will be allocated on a pro-rata
basis to the Participant’s Plan Accounts and Imaest Funds in accordance with the Participant’smaf elections on file for that calendar
year.

ARTICLE VII —AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION OF PLAN
Section 7.1—Amendment

The Corporation may, at any time, amend the Plawvhiale or in part, provided that no amendment megrelse the value of any Plan
Accounts as of the date of such amendment. Inwbetef any change in law or regulation relatinghte Plan and the tax treatment of Plan
Accounts, the Plan shall, without further actiontbg Committee, be deemed to be amended to conifilyawy such change in law or
regulation effective the first date necessary &vent the taxation, constructive receipt or deedistlibution of Plan Accounts prior to the
date Plan Accounts would be distributed under tiogipions of Article VI.

Section 7.2—Plan Suspension and Termination

The Corporation’s Pension Administration Committ@ay, at any time, suspend or terminate the Plém @spect to new or existing
Election Forms if, in its sole judgment, the
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continuance of the Plan, the tax, accounting, beioéffects thereof, or potential payments hereungdelld not be in the best interest of the
Corporation or for any other reason. In the evéiih® suspension of the Plan, no additional defstrall be made under the Plan, but all
previous deferrals shall accumulate and be digiibin accordance with the otherwise applicablerisions of the Plan and the applicable
elections on file. In the event of the terminatadrthe Plan, each Participant will receive, in mpisum cash payment, the value of his or her
Plan Accounts.

Section 7.3—No Consent Required

The consent of any Participant, Beneficiary, orotherson shall not be required with respect toaangndment, suspension, or
termination of the Plan.

ARTICLE VIII —GENERAL PROVISIONS
Section 8.1—Unsecured General Creditor

The Corporation’s obligations under the Plan coutstian unfunded and unsecured promise to pay martag future. Participants’ and
Beneficiaries’ rights under the Plan are solelysthof a general unsecured creditor of the Corpmrahlo assets will be placed in trust, set
aside or otherwise segregated to fund or offshiliiees in respect of the Plan or ParticipantsafPAccounts.

Section 8.2—Nonassignability

No Participant or Beneficiary or any other persbalishave right to sell, assign, transfer, pledgegtherwise encumber any interest in
the Plan. All Plan Accounts and the rights to all
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payments are unassignable and non-transferable Alzounts or payment hereunder, prior to actugipent, will not be subject to
attachment or seizure for the payment of any d@ldgiments or other obligations. Plan AccountstbeoPlan benefit will not be transferred
by operation of law in the event of a Participatsany Beneficiary’s bankruptcy or insolvency.

Section 8.3—No Contract of Employment

Participation in the Plan shall not be construedaiostitute a direct or indirect contract of empiant between the Corporation and the
Participant. Participants and Beneficiaries wilN&ao rights against the Corporation resulting fymanticipation in the Plan other than as
specifically provided herein. Nothing in the Pldrak be deemed to give a Participant the rightedediained in the service of the Corporation
for any length of time or to interfere with thehigf the Corporation to terminate a Participaetisployment prior to the end of any Deferral
Period.

Section 8.4—Governing Law

The provisions of the Plan will be construed artdrpreted according to the laws of the State ofrfécticut, to the extent not preemp
by federal law.

Section 8.5—Validity

If any provision of the Plan is held to be illegalinvalid for any reason, the remaining provisiohshe Plan will be construed and
enforced as if such illegal and invalid provisicadmever been inserted herein.
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Section 8.6—Notice

Any notice or filing required or permitted to bevgn to the Committee under the Plan shall be seffidf sent by first-class mail, to the
United Technologies Corporation Deferred Compensafiommittee, 1 Financial Plaza, Hartford, Conme¢tD6101, Attn: R. Larry Acorn,
Director, Compensation, MS-504. Any notice or fijirequired or permitted to be given to any Paréinipor Beneficiary under the Plan shall
be sufficient if provided either electronically,rtadelivered, or mailed to the address (or emaitesk, as the case may be) of the Participant
or Beneficiary then listed on the records of theg@oation. Any such notice will be deemed giverobthe date of delivery or, if delivery is
made by malil, as of the date shown on the postoraeknail system.

Section 8.7—Successors

The provisions of the Plan shall bind and inuréhtobenefit of the Corporation and its successodsagsigns. The term successors as
used herein shall include any corporate or othemss entity, which by merger, consolidation, pase or otherwise acquires all or
substantially all of the business and assets o€thrporation, and successors of any such corporati@ther business entity.

Section 8.8—Incompetence

If the Committee determines, upon evidence satisfado the Committee, that any Participant or Biiery to whom a benefit is
payable under the Plan is unable to care for tifédirs because of illness or accident, any payrdaet(unless prior claim therefore shall h
been made by a duly authorized guardian or otlyal lepresentative) may be paid, upon appropnetemnification of the Committee and
the Corporation, to the spouse of the Participamtioer person deemed by the Committee to haveredexpenses for the benefit of and on
behalf of such Participant or Beneficiary. Any sppayment from a Participant’s Plan Accounts shalalzomplete discharge of any liability
under the Plan with respect to the amount so paid.
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ARTICLE IX —ADMINISTRATION AND CLAIMS
Section 9.1—Plan Administration

The Committee shall be solely responsible for ttmiaistration and operation of the Plan. The Corterishall have full and exclusive
authority and discretion to interpret the provisiai the Plan and to establish such administrggieeedures as it deems necessary and
appropriate to carry out the purposes of the Plan.

Any person claiming a benefit, requesting an imetigtion or ruling under the Plan, or requestirfgrimation under the Plan shall
present the request in writing to the Committeechishall respond in writing as soon as practicable.

Section 9.2—Claim Procedures

If a Participant or Beneficiary requests a bermfipayment under the Plan and such claim or redsielgnied, the Committee will
provide a written notice of denial which will spic{a) the reason for denial, with specific referero the Plan provisions on which the de
is based and (b) a description of any additionakni or information that may be required withpest to the claim and an explanation of
why such information is necessary.

If a claim or request is denied or if the Participar Beneficiary receives no response within 6@sdthe Participant or Beneficiary may
request review by writing to the Committee. The @uttee will review the claim or request, and maguest additional information or
materials that it deems appropriate to the resmiutf any issues presented. The decision on
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review will normally be made by the Committee witliO days of its receipt of the request for revimwmay be extended up to 120 days
from such date. The Committee’s decision will beviiting and will state the basis for its decisieomd shall be conclusive and binding on all
parties.
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Exhibit 10.28

United Technologies Corporation
Long Term Incentive Plan

Performance Share Unit Award
Schedule of Terms

This Schedule of Terms describes the material featof the recipient’'s Performance Share Unit Aw@tavard”) granted under the United
Technologies Corporation 2005 Long Term IncentilamRs amended and restated on April 9, 2008 (thé&P”). The Award is subject to th
Schedule of Terms and the terms, definitions, angigions of the LTIP. The LTIP Prospectus contalatailed information about the LTIP
and this Award.



Performance Share Unit

A Performance Share Unit (a “PSU”) is equal in ealo one share of common stock of the Corporati@ortimon Stock”). PSUs are
generally convertible into shares of Common Stded to the extent the associated pre-establipegdrmance targets are achieved (see
“Vesting” below).

Acknowledgement of Award

The number of PSUs awarded is set forth in thee8taht of Award. The recipient must acknowledge @swbpt the terms and conditions of
the PSU Award by signing and returning the desiggha@brtion of the Statement of Award to the StoldnPAdministrator by the specified d
date.

Vesting

PSUs vest only if pre-established three year perdmice targets are achieved. Performance targésslendi) diluted earnings per share;

(i) total shareowner return; (iii) working capit@hd gross inventory turnover; and (iv) revenuengino A PSU Award may be subject to a
single or multiple performance targets. The StatdroéAward will specify the applicable performarteggets, the performance period and
vesting date, the minimum performance requiredrésting, the range of vesting relative to measpeformance and, if multiple
performance targets apply, the relative weightihgazh.

In the event of certain types of misconduct, Awarasy be forfeited, including vested Awards and ga@alized from prior Awards. See
“Forfeiture of Interest and Recoupment of GainslRed from Prior Awards” on page 3.

No shareowner rights

A PSU is the right to receive a share of CommoreiSio the future, subject to continued employmertt achievement of performance
targets. The holder of a PSU has no voting, dividenother rights accorded to owners of CommonliStoc

Payment/Conversion of PSUs

PSUs will generally be converted into shares of @am Stock, effective as of the vesting date, wienGommittee on Compensation and
Executive Development of the Corporation’s Boardogctors (the “Committee”) determines if, andibat extent, PSUs have vested as a
result of the achievement of performance targéfseifformance targets are not met, the PSUs thabtlwest will be cancelled without value.
PSUs may be paid in cash where local law restitieglistribution of Common Stock.

Termination of Employment

If the recipient terminates employment prior to &mel of the performance measurement period foreason other than death, disability, or
retirement (including if the recipient meets thaut®of 65”, below), unvested PSUs will be cancelisf the termination date.

Retirement. The recipient is eligible for retirement (includifigule of 65”) under this Award if the recipient is
(i) age 65 on date of termination;

(i) at least age 55 with 10 or more years of aundus service as of the date of termination; or

(iii) meets the “Rule of 65.” The recipient quadi§i for the Rule of 65 if termination of employmeunturs after age 50, but before age 55, and
the sum of age and continuous service adds up t 6tore.



Following retirement, including termination undbetRule of 65, the unvested PSUs that have beerfdreht least one year prior to the date
of retirement will remain outstanding and eligibbevest as scheduled, if and to the extent the Ctteerdetermines that performance targets
have been achieved.

In all cases, PSUs held for less than one year fwitetirement or termination under the Rule ofidb be cancelled without value.

Service used to determine eligibility for retirerhenthe “Rule of 65” will be based on continuoeswsce recognized under the recipient’s
UTC retirement plan.

Disability. If employment terminates by reason of disabilityy@sted PSUs will not be forfeited. As long aspiit the recipient remains
disabled under the recipient's UTC disability pl&§Us not yet vested will remain eligible to vest fhe terms of the Award.

Death. The number of PSUs awarded will vest and be coaddd shares of Common Stock (at target) effecvef the date of death. The
shares will be delivered to the estate of the fenipas soon as administratively practicable.

Rehire. If the recipient terminates employment and is trefrired by the Corporation before the end of thel®p period immediately
following the date of termination, unvested PSUa thiere cancelled because of the termination ofil@mpent will be reinstated. If the
recipient is rehired by the Corporation after tBed@y period immediately following the date of t@ration, the recipient will be treated as a
new employee and cancelled PSUs will not be retiedta

Forfeiture of Interests and Recoupment of Gains Rdi&ed from Prior Awards

PSUs shall be forfeited and the recipient will idigated to repay the value realized from the cosioa of PSUs into shares of unrestricted
Common Stock under the following circumstances:

()  Termination of Employment for Caus
(i) A restatement of financial results attributabléhte recipier’s actions, whether intentional or neglige

(i) The Committee determines that Award vesting waedbas incorrect performance measurement calcukatiorsuch event, vesting (e
recoupment, if applicable) will be adjusted coresistwith the actual, corrected resu

(iv) If within three years following any Terminatioof Employment, the Committee or the Corporatietednines that the recipient engaged
in conduct before the recipi¢ s termination date that would have constitutedbdss for a Termination of Employment for Cat

(v) If at any time during the twer-four month period immediately following any Termiizaa of Employment, the recipier

(A)  solicits for employment or otherwise attempts tairethe professional services of any individu&rtlemployed or engag
by the Corporation (other than a person perfornsiggyetarial or similar services) or who was so eygd or engaged
during the three month period preceding such gation; or

(B) publicly disparages the Corporation or anytsfafficers, directors or senior executive emplayeeotherwise makes any
public statement that is materially detrimentathte interests of the Corporation or such individuat
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(vi) If at any time during the twelve month perifidlowing any Termination of Employment, the re@pt becomes employed by, consults
for or otherwise renders services to any businetty@r person engaged in activities that compéth the Corporation or the business
unit that employed the recipient, unless the reciphas first obtained the consent of the Commie@cipient shall be deemed to have
been employed by each business unit that empldyecetipient within the two-year period immediatphor to the date of the
Termination of Employmen

Adjustments

If the Corporation effects a subdivision or condation of shares of Common Stock or other capdplsiment, the number of PSUs (and the
number of shares of Common Stock that will be idaygon conversion) shall be adjusted in the sammeraand to the same extent as all
other shares of Common Stock of the Corporatiothénevent of material changes in the capital strecof the Corporation resulting from:
the payment of a special dividend (other than @oglarterly dividends) or other distributions baseowners without receiving consideration
therefore; the spin-off of a subsidiary; the sdla substantial portion of the Corporation’s assetthe event of a merger or consolidation in
which the Corporation is not the surviving entity;other extraordinary non-recurring events affegthe Corporation’s capital structure and
the value of Common Stock, equitable adjustmeradi b made in the terms of outstanding Awardduiiog the number of PSUs and
underlying shares of Common Stock as the Commilé¢ermines are necessary or appropriate to preveinicrease or decrease in the value
of PSUs relative to Common Stock or the dilutiorentargement of the rights of recipients.

Change of Control

In the event of a change of control or restructyonthe Corporation, the Committee may take cerations with respect to outstanding
Awards to assure fair and equitable treatment dPLEcipients. Such actions may include: accelenadf the vesting date; offering to
purchase an outstanding Award from the holdertfoequivalent cash value (as determined by the dtiee)1 or providing for other
adjustments or modifications to outstanding Awasishe Committee may deem appropriate.

Awards Not to Affect or Be Affected by Certain Transactions

PSU Awards shall not in any way affect the righpower of the Corporation or its shareowners teaff(a) any or all adjustments,
recapitalizations, reorganizations or other chamgéise Corporation’s capital structure or its Imesis; (b) any merger or consolidation of the
Corporation; (c) any issue of bonds, debenturemeshof stock preferred to, or otherwise affectrgyCommon Stock of the Corporation or
the rights of the holders of such Common Stockilid)dissolution or liquidation of the Corporatiga) any sale or transfer of all or any part
of its assets or business; or (f) any other cotearat or proceeding.

Taxes/Withholding

Recipients are responsible for any income or dédpetiability attributable to any Award. The clogiprice of UTC’s Common Stock on the
New York Stock Exchange on the vesting date wilubed to calculate income realized from the vestingSUs. The Corporation shall te
such steps as are appropriate to assure complgticapplicable federal, state and local tax witldiveg requirements. The Corporation shall,
to the extent required by law, have the right tdude directly from any payment or delivery of stsadeie to a recipient or from the recipient’s
regular compensation, all federal, state and ltzoas of any kind required by law to be withheldhwiespect to the vesting of any PSU.
Recipients not based in the United States anddoneationals who are not permanent residents ofittieed States must pay the appropriate
taxes as required by any country where they aresuto tax. A discussion of U.S. Federal tax tmezt of PSUs may be found in the LTIP
prospectus.



Deferral of Gain (U.S. based executives)

A recipient who qualifies as a Participant under tifIP PSU Deferral Plan may irrevocably elect éfed the conversion of vested PSUs into
shares of Common Stock to a date that is at laasy€ars after the scheduled vesting date. Thatieteto defer the conversion of shares n
be made no later than the end of the second yahegderformance measurement period, or such eddie as may be specified by the
Committee. Vested PSUs subject to a deferral eleatill be converted to unfunded deferred sharésuthat will convert into shares of
Common Stock on the distribution date as specifigtie deferral election and the LTIP PSU Deferian. Deferred share units will be
credited with dividend equivalents. Under U.S. meotax law, a recipient will generally not be taxadil the resulting deferred share units
are converted to shares of Common Stock and diséab Deferred share units will not be funded iy @orporation. In this regard, a
recipient’s rights to deferred share units are¢hafsa general unsecured creditor of the Corparafietails of the deferral of PSUs into
deferred share units will be provided with the ttetmaterials. The opportunity to make such antala is subject to changes in Federal tax
law. The Committee reserves the right to discomtioffering PSU deferral elections at any time fioy eeason it deems appropriate in its sole
discretion.

Nonassignability

Unless otherwise prescribed by the Committee, smament or transfer of any right or interest ofracipient in any PSU, whether voluntary
or involuntary, by operation of law or otherwishall be permitted except by will or the laws of dast and distribution. Any attempt to as:
such rights or interest shall be void and withauté or effect.

Nature of Payments

All Awards made pursuant to the LTIP are in consatien of services performed for the Corporationha& business unit employing the
recipient. Any gains realized pursuant to such Alsaronstitute a special incentive payment to thipient and shall not be taken into accc
as compensation for purposes of any of the emplbgeefit plans of the Corporation or any businass u

Administration

Under the LTIP, subject to certain limitations, themmittee has delegated to the Chief Executivéic@fthe authority to grant PSU Awards,
and has further delegated the authority to adngnesnd interpret such Awards to the Senior Vicesident, Human Resources and
Organization, and to such subordinates as he omslyefurther delegate. Awards to employees of thg@ration who are either reporting
persons under Section 16 of the Securities Exchangef 1934 (“Insiders”) or members of the Corp@ra’s Executive Leadership Group
will be granted, administered, and interpreted @sigkly by the Committee.

Data Privacy

The Corporation maintains electronic records ferghrpose of administering the LTIP and individ&alards. In the normal course of plan
administration, electronic data may be transfetoedifferent sites within the Corporation and taside service providers. Acceptance of an
Award constitutes consent by the recipient to thegmission of information related to the admimistm of Awards and the LTIP.
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Government Contract Compliance

The “UTC Policy Statement on Business Ethics anddDot in Contracting with the United States Govesnth calls for compliance with the
letter and spirit of government contracting lawsd aegulations. In the event of a violation of gaweent contracting laws or regulations, the
Committee reserves the right to revoke any outstanélward.

Interpretations

This Schedule of Terms and each Statement of Aaardubject in all respects to the terms of thePLTih the event that any provision of this
Schedule of Terms or any Statement of Award isnistgient with the terms of the LTIP, the termshaf LTIP shall govern. Any question
concerning administration or interpretation arisimgler the Schedule of Terms or any Statement afrAwhall be determined by the
Committee or its delegate, and such determinatidretfinal and conclusive upon all parties in iaggr

Additional Information
Questions concerning the Plan or Awards and regtdiesPlan documents can be directed to:

Stock Plan Administrator

United Technologies Corporation
1 Financial Plaza, MS 504
Hartford, CT 06101
stockoptionplans@utc.com

The Corporation and/or its approved Stock Plan Austiator will send any Award-related communicasiaa the recipient’s email address or
physical address on record. It is the respongjlilithe recipient to ensure the address on reisaug-to-date and accurate at all times to
ensure delivery of Award-related communications.



Exhibit 10.29

United Technologies Corporation
Long Term Incentive Plan

Stock Appreciation Right
Schedule of Terms

This Schedule of Terms describes the material featof the recipient’'s Stock Appreciation Right Ad/i&‘Award”) granted under the United
Technologies Corporation 2005 Long Term IncentilamRs amended and restated on April 9, 2008 (thé&P”). The Award is subject to th

Schedule of Terms and the terms, definitions, angigions of the LTIP. The LTIP Prospectus contalatailed information about the LTIP
and this Award.



Stock Appreciation Right Award

A Stock Appreciation Right (a “SAR”) provides thecipient with the right to the appreciation in tenmon stock of the Corporation
(“Common Stock”) measured from the date of grarthtodate of exercise.

Acknowledgement of Award

The number of SARs awarded and the SAR grant prrieeset forth in the Statement of Award. The retipmust acknowledge and accept
terms and conditions of the SAR Award by signind egturning the designated portion of the Statern&Award to the Stock Plan
Administrator by the specified due date.

Exercise Price (or “Grant Price”)

The Grant Price represents the Fair Market Valub®fCorporatiors Common Stock on the date of grant. Fair Markdu&means, as of al
given date, the closing price of the Corporatidd@nmon Stock on the New York Stock Exchange.

Vesting and Expiration

The vesting and expiration dates are each set ffotthe Statement of Award. SARs may be exercisedrafter the vesting date until the
earlier of:

() the expiration date specified in the Statementwf#d, at which time the SARs and all associatelitsitppse; o
(i) the last day permitted following termination of dmypment as specified i Termination of Employme” (see next page

In the event of certain types of misconduct, awandy be forfeited, including vested awards andrggains realized from exercises. See
“Forfeiture of Interest and Recoupment of GainslRked from Prior Awards” on page 4.

Exercise and Payment

While employed, SARs may be exercised on or aftenvesting date until the expiration date usingntie¢hod prescribed by the Corporation.
Unexercised SARs will expire without value on tixpieation date. The gross value realized upon #eaise of a SAR will equal the
difference between the price at the time of exer@sd the Grant Price. The recipient will gengradteive shares of Common Stock upon
exercise. SARs may be paid in cash where localdstvicts the distribution of Common Stock.

It is the responsibility of the recipient, or a idgmted representative, to track the expiratiothefr Award and exercise SARs in a timely
manner. The Corporation assumes no responsililitgrid will make no adjustments with respect to SARt expire unexercised. Any
communication from the Plan Administrator or ther@wation to the recipient with respect to expoatis provided as a courtesy only.
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Termination of Employment
There are different provisions based on the cir¢cantes associated with the recipient’s terminatioemployment.

Retirement. The recipient is eligible for retirement (includifigule of 65”) under this Award if the recipient is
(i) age 65 on date of termination;

(i) at least age 55 with 10 or more years of aundus service as of the date of termination; or

(iii) meets the “Rule of 65.” The recipient quadi§i for the Rule of 65 if termination of employmeunturs after age 50, but before age 55, and
the sum of age and continuous service adds up tw 6fore.

Following retirement, including termination undbeetRule of 65, vested SARs (i.e., those held féeat three years while continuously
employed) may be exercised for three years follgwire date of retirement or until the expiratiorttid SAR, whichever is earlier. Unvested
SARs that have been held for at least one year fithe date of retirement will vest as of theedat retirement and may be exercised for
three years thereafter (but not beyond the expmalate).

However, if retirement occurs on or after ageahl the Corporation consents to the recipient’s reteetnvested SARs may be exercised
SARs for their full term until the expiration datuch consent will be at the sole discretion ofGloeporation based on its ability to
effectively transition the recipient’s responsitids as of the retirement date and such otherifaet®it may deem appropriate.

Service used to determine eligibility for retirerhenthe Rule of 65 will be based on continuousiserrecognized under the rules of the L
retirement plan.

In all cases, SARs held for less than one yeaf Heaate of retirement or termination under thieRof 65 will be cancelled without value.

Termination. If termination occurs before retirement or reachimg Rule of 65, vested SARs may be exercisedddo®0 days (or until the
expiration of the SAR, if earlier) from the datemoyment with UTC is terminated, whether voluntanjinvoluntary, including layoff. All
unvested SARs are cancelled as of the terminatta d

Disability. If employment terminates by reason of disabilitysted SARs may be exercised for up to three yeams the date of termination
(or until the expiration of the SAR, if earlier)nMested SARs will vest as scheduled and may thaxéeeised for three years following the
vesting date.

Death*. If the recipient dies while an active employee uaiVested SARs immediately vest. The estate wiletene year from the date of
death to exercise all outstanding SARs. If deatturscfollowing termination of employment, the esthas one year from the date of death in
which to exercise all SARs outstanding as of thte dadeath.

*Different tax rules may apply when the estate @ir lexercises the deceased employee’s SARs.

Rehire. If the recipient terminates employment and is tredrired by the Corporation within 90 days, unexadivested SARs and unvested
SARs that were cancelled because of the terminafiemployment will be reinstated. Unexercised SAliRg received accelerated vesting at
termination will be subject to the original vestischedule upon rehire. If the recipient is rehivgdhe Corporation after the 90 day period
immediately following the date of termination, catted SARs will not be reinstated.

3



Forfeiture of Interests and Recoupment of Gains Rdaed from Prior Awards

SARs, whether or not vested, shall be forfeited thedrecipient will be obligated to repay gaindireal from the exercise of SARs under the
following circumstances:

() Termination of Employment for Caus
(i) A restatement of financial results attributabléhte recipier’s actions, whether intentional or neglige

(iii) If within three years following any Terminath of Employment, the Committee on CompensationEmtutive Development of the
Corporation’s Board of Directors (the “Committe@t)the Corporation determines that the recipiegiaged in conduct before the
recipien’s termination date that would have constitutedothss for a Termination of Employment for Cat

(iv) If at any time during the twer-four month period immediately following any Termiizaa of Employment, the recipier

(A)  solicits for employment or otherwise attempts tairethe professional services of any individu&tlemployed or engag
by the Corporation (other than a person perfornsiggretarial or similar services) or who was so eygd or engaged
during the three month period preceding such gation; or

(B) publicly disparages the Corporation or anytsfafficers, directors or senior executive emplayeeotherwise makes any
public statement that is materially detrimentatlte interests of the Corporation or such individuat

(v) If at any time during the twelve month periadlédwing any Termination of Employment, the recigi®ecomes employed by, consults
for or otherwise renders services to any businetyer person engaged in activities that compéthk the Corporation or the business
unit that employed the recipient, unless the reciphas first obtained the consent of the Commikeecipient shall be deemed to have
been employed by each business unit that empldyedetipient within the two-year period immediatphor to the date of the
Termination of Employmen

Adjustments

If the Corporation effects a Common Stock splibtirer capital adjustment, the number of SARs (drapplicable, the exercise price) will be
adjusted in the same manner and to the same edefiares of Common Stock of the Corporation. éretlent of material changes in the
capital structure of the Corporation such as ther@nt of a special dividend (other than regulantprly dividends); the spin-off of a
subsidiary; a merger; or other extraordinary naureng events affecting the Corporation’s capstalicture and the value of Common Stock,
equitable adjustments will be made to the termsutétanding awards as the Committee determines tebessary or appropriate to prevent
either an increase or decrease in the value of SAlBEve to Common Stock or the dilution or entargnt of the rights of recipients.

Change of Control

In the event of a change of control or restructyiohthe Corporation, the Committee may (in iteestiscretion) take actions to assure fair and
equitable treatment of LTIP recipients. Such acioray include acceleration of the Vesting Dateffarmg to purchase an Award for its
equivalent cash value (as determined by the Cormae)itt



Awards Not to Affect or Be Affected by Certain Transactions

SAR Awards do not limit the right or power of ther@oration or its shareowners to enter into tratisas that may affect Common Stock ¢
the value of this Award; examples include: (a) aemin the Corporation’s capital structure or iisibess; (b) any merger or consolidation of
the Corporation; (c) any issue of bonds, debenjstesres of stock preferred to, or otherwise afigdhe Common Stock of the Corporation
or the rights of the holders of such Common Stédkthe dissolution or liquidation of the Corpoaatj (e) any sale or transfer of all or any
part of its assets or business; or (f) any othepa@te act or proceeding.

Taxes/Withholding

Recipients are responsible for any income or dtipetiability attributable to any Award. Additiondktails on tax treatment are provided in
the LTIP Prospectus. The recipients are encourtgednsult with their personal tax advisor(s). Tharporation will comply with all tax
reporting and withholding requirements and hagitijiet to deduct tax withholding from any paymentetivery of shares due to the recipient
or from a recipient’s regular compensation.

Nonassignability

No assignment or transfer of any right or intemfst recipient in any SAR, whether voluntary oratuntary, by operation of law or otherwi
will be permitted except by will or the laws of dest and distribution.

Nature of Payments

All Awards made pursuant to the LTIP are in consatien of services performed for the Corporatiorthar business unit employing the
recipient. Any gains realized pursuant to such Alsaronstitute a special incentive payment to thiient and will not be taken into account
as compensation for purposes of any of the emplbgeefit plans of the Corporation or any businass u

Administration

Under the LTIP, subject to certain limitations, themmittee has delegated to the Chief Executivéic@fthe authority to grant SAR Awards,
and has further delegated the authority to adngnesnd interpret such Awards to the Senior Vicesident, Human Resources and
Organization, and to such subordinates as he omslydfurther delegate. Awards to employees of thgp@ration who are either reporting
persons under Section 16 of the Securities Exchaaogef 1934 (“Insiders”) or members of the Corgaa’s Executive Leadership Group
will be granted, administered, and interpreted @sigkly by the Committee.

Data Privacy

The Corporation maintains electronic records ferghrpose of administering the LTIP and individ&alards. In the normal course of plan
administration, electronic data may be transfetoedifferent sites within the Corporation and tdside service providers. Acceptance of an
Award constitutes consent by the recipient to thedmission of information related to the admimistm of Awards and the LTIP.

Government Contract Compliance

The “UTC Policy Statement on Business Ethics anddDot in Contracting with the United States Govesnth calls for compliance with the
letter and spirit of government contracting lawsd aggulations. In the event of a violation of gaweent contracting laws or regulations, the
Committee reserves the right to revoke any outstanélward.



Interpretations

This Schedule of Terms and each Statement of Aardubject in all respects to the terms of thePLBiny question concerning
administration or interpretation arising under 8whedule of Terms or any Statement of Award wiltbtermined by the Committee or the
Senior Vice President, Human Resources and Organmizand their determination will be final and ctusive upon all parties in interest.

Additional Information
Questions concerning the Plan or awards and regjt@sPlan documents can be directed to:

Stock Plan Administrator

United Technologies Corporation
1 Financial Plaza, MS 504
Hartford, CT 06101
stockoptionplans@utc.com

The Corporation and/or its approved Stock Plan Autiator will send any Award-related communicasida the recipient's email address or
physical address on record. It is the respongjhilitthe recipient to ensure the address on reisang-to-date and accurate at all times to
ensure delivery of Award-related communications.



Exhibit 10.35
UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION
INTERNATIONAL DEFERRED COMPENSATION
REPLACEMENT PLAN

ARTICLE | —PREAMBLE

United Technologies Corporation hereby establithedJnited Technologies International Deferred Cengation Replacement Plan
(“the Plan™),effective January 1, 2005, for the purpose of cgmplwith the requirements of Section 409A of theetnal Revenue Code. T
Plan applies to any amounts credited or accrueel, Becember 31, 2004, to an employee of a UTC Gmyyvho accrues benefits or has
amounts credited under a deferred compensationgplarrangement outside the United States, whexte @mnounts are or become subject to
Section 409A. Such amounts shall automaticallyredited and deferred under and distributed from fttan in lieu of the Non-US Plan. This
Plan shall be administered and construed to efféetilne foregoing intent.

From January 1, 2005 through December 31, 200&R It has been operated in good faith compliantie 8éction 409A in accordan
with guidance provided by the Internal Revenue Berv

1. INTRODUCTION & PURPOSE

The Plan shall be maintained as an unfunded platydor the purpose of deferring compensation praviding retirement benefits to
certain employees who have deferred income orleyible for benefits under a Non-US Plan, wheretsamounts would be deemed to be
“deferred compensation” within the meaning of andject to Section 409A. The amount of deferred inepretirement benefit or survivor
benefit shall be credited under this Plan, in béthe Non-US Plan.

2. EFFECTIVE DATE
The Plan shall be effective January 1, 2005.
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3. DEFINITIONS

Beneficiarymeans the person, persons or entity designatedtingvby a Participant to receive the value of tisher Plan Account in
the event of the Participant’s death, , in accocdanith the terms of this Plan. If a Participanisféo designate a Beneficiary under this Plan,
the Beneficiary or Contingent Annuitant shall béedmined under the Non-US Plan. If the Benefici@yd any contingent Beneficiary) does
not survive the Participant or if no Beneficiarnydssignated under the Non-US Plan, the value oP#récipant’s Plan Account will be
payable to the estate of the Participant, in aced with the terms of this Plan.

Codemeans the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amdratedime to time, and any successor thereto. iRafee to any section of
the Internal Revenue Code shall include any fiaglfations or other published guidance interpretivag section.

Corporationmeans United Technologies Corporation.

Committeaneans the United Technologies Corporation Defe@eahpensation Committee, which is responsible feratiministration
of the Plan. The Corporation’s Pension AdministratCommittee shall appoint the Committee’s members.

Covered Participantneans an employee who participates in a Non-US Wwhemis subject to Section 409A of the Code.

Disability means permanent and total disability as determimeler the Corporation’s long-term disability plgphcable to the
Participant, or if there is no such plan applicabléhe Participant, “Disability” means a deterntioa of total disability by the Social Security
Administration; provided that, in either case, Baticipant’'s condition also qualifies as a “disi&gi for purposes of Section 409A(a)(2)(C)
of the Code.

Election Formmeans the form provided to Participants electrdlyica in paper form for the purpose of electing timing and form of
payment for a Plan Account.
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Non-US Plarmeans a deferred compensation plan or arrangemeefioed benefit retirement benefit plan maintditiee Corporation
or a UTC Company outside of the United StatesaAlbunts credited or deferred under the Non-US piian to December 31, 2004 and
amounts credited or deferred under the Non-US Rtanh would not be deemed to be subject to 4094, ary subsequent increases in these
amounts, shall continue to be subject to the temasconditions of the Non-US Plan and shall naaffiected by this Plan.

Plan Accountmeans an account maintained for Covered Partigpaitih respect to 409A Amounts credited or accrueder the Plan.

Retiremenmeans Separation from Service on or after age 8@&#tainment of age 65; Separation from Serviceraafter age 50 and
attainment of at least age 55 and a minimum ofrlfd@re years of “continuous service” (as definethemUTC Employee Retirement Plan as
in effect on January 1, 2008); or a Rule of 65 teation.

Retirement Dateneans the date of a Participant’'s Retirement.

“Rule of 65” Terminationmeans Separation from Service on or after age 8afore age 55, with a combination of age andsyefr
“continuous service” (as defined in the UTC Empleyetirement Plan as in effect on January 1, 26483l to at least 65.

Separation from Serviaeeans a Participant’s Termination of Employmenhwit UTC Companies, other than by reason of death
Disability that qualifies as a “separation fromwsee” for purposes of Section 409A of the Code.&p&ration from Service will be deemed to
occur where the Participant and the UTC Comparntyetimploys the Participant reasonably anticipatétth@bona fide level of services the
Participant will perform (whether as an employe@a®an independent contractor) will be permanertyced to a level that is less than
thirty-seven and a half percent (37.5%) of the agerlevel of bona fide services the Participantopered during the immediately preceding
36 months (or the entire period the Participantgrasided services if the Participant has beeniging services to the UTC Companies for
less than 36 months.) A Participant shall not besitered to have had a Separation from Serviceesudt of a transfer from one UTC
Company to another UTC Company.
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Specified Employemeans each of the 50 highest-paid executives dEtiiporation and its Subsidiaries, effective aniyuad of
March 31%t, based on annual salary and incentive compensasiichin the prior year. The term includes both.&u& non-U.S. employees.

UTC Companyneans United Technologies Corporation or any enttytrolled by or under common control with UnifBeichnologies
Corporation within the meaning of Section 414(bj@rof the Code (but substituting “at least 20ceet” for “at least 80 percent” as the
control threshold used in applying Sections 414 (c)).

409A Amounineans the amount credited, or the actuarial presdné of a benefit accrued under a Non-US Plahishar becomes
subject to Section 409A of the Code.

4. ELIGIBILITY

Each employee of a UTC Company who is a ParticipaatNonUS Plan shall be become a Covered Participant uhdgePlan if and t
the extent the Participant’s Accrued Benefit ural&on-US Plan is subject to 409A. Participationlstmmmence automatically without any
election or other action required of the employebdcome a Covered Participant. In no event shglparson who is not entitled to benefits
under a Non-US Plan be eligible for benefits urttlex Plan. An employee of the UTC Companies whambegs a Covered Participant under
this Plan shall be referred to herein as a “Paxdicf.”

5. DETERMINATION OF PLAN BENEFIT

The amount of the benefit payable from this Plaartin respect of a Participant shall equal theAMB@nount credited or accrued under
any Non-US Plan in which the employee participates.

6. PLAN ACCOUNTS
Plan Accounts shall include amounts credited orwsmtto Participants’ Accounts under the Plan oaftar January 1, 2005.
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7. FORM OF PLAN BENEFIT

(a) Plan benefits shall be paid to the Participangn his or her behalf to any Contingent AnnuitamnBeneficiary (as designated under
the Non-US Plan), as a single life annuity or agtlig equivalent life annuity, unless the Partanip timely makes an election for an
alternative form of payment in accordance with Sarbgraph (c) of this Section 7.

(b) A Participant may elect separate payment mettiadbenefits payable under the Non-US Plan aisdRtfan.

(c) Unless a Participant elects an alternative fofithe benefit payment, benefits earned undePtha will be paid as a single life
annuity or actuarially equivalent life annuity. Afficipant may elect to receive a single lump-s@ayrpent or a series of 2 to 10 annual
installment payments. A payment election undeiRtlam shall be made on an electronic or written titlad-orm, completed and submitted to
the Committee no later than December 31st of thendar year prior to the year in which the peribdervice commences on which the
benefit is based. A change in actuarially equiviatemuities shall not be deemed to be a changayiment election for purposes of this Plan.
Except as provided below in Subsection (d), a Eipetnt’s payment election shall become irrevocall¢he election deadline date.

(d) Change in Payment Election. A Participant makena one-time irrevocable election to changedhm bf payment that the
Participant elected under Section 7(c), subjethédollowing requirements:

(i.) The new election must be made at least tweleaths prior to the date payments are scheduledrtonence (and the new
election shall be ineffective if the payment como@ment date occurs within twelve months after tte df the new election);

(ii.) The new election will not take effect until lzast twelve months after the date when the épatit submits a new Election
Form to the Committee; and

(iii.) The new benefit payment commencement datstrba at least five years later than the date dolwtayments commence
under the current election.
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(e) The payment of a monthly annuity, lump-summmal installment distribution in accordance whfstSection 7 shall be in full
satisfaction of all of the Corporation and/or any@Company’s obligations with respect to the Pastint under the Plan.

8. DISTRIBUTION OF ACCOUNTS

(a) Except as provided in Section 7(d) (concertimgyfiveyear delay following a Change in Payment Electi®@®ction 8(b) (concernil
Separation from Service before Attaining Age Fifignid 8(c) (concerning distributions to Specifieddoyees), the value of a Participant’s
Plan Accounts will be distributed (or begin to bstibuted) to the Participant in April of the catiar year following the Retirement Date, if
the benefit is a retirement benefit. If the benisfincome deferred until a set year, the valua Barticipant’s Plan Account will be distributed
(or begin to be distributed) to the Participanfpril of the set year. This means, for examplet tha deferral election specifies a Deferral
Period until 2015, distribution will occur in Aprilf 2015.

(b) Separation from Service before Attaining AgiyFilf a Participant’s Separation from Service mxbefore the Participant attains
age fifty (50), the full value of the ParticipanP$an Account will be distributed to the Participana lump-sum payment in April following
the Participans Separation from Service (or, if the Participara iSpecified Employee at the time of his or hgragation from Service, on t
date provided in Subsection 8(c), below, if lategardless of the distribution option elected.

If a Participant has a Separation from Serviceiataker re-hired by a UTC Company, the Partici{zaage at the time of the
Participant’s first Separation from Service wiltelemine how the Participant’s Plan Account at theetof the first Separation from Service is
distributed. If the Participant accumulates anyitholthl deferrals after the Participant is re-hirtte Plan shall separately account for the
additional deferrals (and related investment gaimiesses), and the Participant’s age at the tifibeoParticipant’s second Separation from
Service will determine how the additional amountsdistributed.
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(c) Separation from Service of Specified Employdfethe Participant is a Specified Employee ondaee of the Participarg’Separatiol
from Service, distribution of the Participant’s PlAccount to the Participant that is made on actotithe Participant’s Separation from
Service will not be made or commence earlier thanfitst day of the seventh month following theedat Separation from Service.

(d) Administrative Adjustments in Payment Date. dyment is treated as being made on the date wledue under the Plan if the
payment is made on the due date specified by tue Bl on a later date that is either (i) in th@sa&alendar year (for a payment whose
specified due date is on or before September 3@)i) oy the 15th day of the third calendar mofdlowing the date specified by the Plan
(for a payment whose specified due date is onter &fctober 1). A payment also is treated as beiade on the date when it is due under the
Plan if the payment is made not more than 30 defmré the due date specified by the Plan. In notewvéll a payment to a Specified
Employee be made or commence earlier than thedfigbf the seventh month following the date oféafion from Service. A Participant
may not, directly or indirectly, designate the taleayear of a payment made in reliance on the aidirérive rules in this Section 8(c).

9. DESIGNATION OF BENEFICIARY

Each Participant shall designate a Beneficianhferor her Plan Account on an electronic or writtemm provided by the Committee. A
Participant may change such designation on anreléctor written form acceptable to the Committed eeceived by the Committee at any
time before the Participant’s death. If a Partinipfails to designate a Beneficiary under this Ptha Beneficiary or Contingent Annuitant
shall be determined under the Non-US Plan. If teadBiciary (and any contingent Beneficiary) doessuwvive the Participant or if no
Beneficiary is designated under the Non-US Plamytilue of the Participant’s Plan Account will keypble to the estate of the Participant, in
accordance with the terms of this Plan.
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10. DISTRIBUTION IN THE EVENT OF DEATH

In the event of the death of a Participant, thevalue of the Participant’s Plan Account will bistdbuted to the designated Beneficiary
in a lump sum on the first business day of the mmdéoitowing the Participant’s death.

11. DISABILITY

In the event of the disability of a Participant tRarticipant’s Plan Accounts will be maintained drstributed in accordance with the
Participant’s elections on file.

12. MINIMUM BALANCE PAYOUT PROVISION

If a Participants Plan Account balances under this Plan (and wadtlether nonqualified deferred compensation plairthe Corporatiol
that are required to be aggregated with this PlafeuSection 409A of the Code), determined atithe of the Participant’s Separation From
Service, is less than the amount set as the limélective deferrals under Section 402(g)(1)(Bdhef Code in effect for the year in which the
Participant’s Separation From Service occurs, the@ittee may distribute the Participant’s entirarPAccount balances in a lump sum on
the first business day following the Participar@&paration From Service, notwithstanding a Paditijg election to receive a different form
of distribution.

13. FUNDING

The Plan shall be maintained as an unfunded Prigmot intended to meet the qualification reguients of Section 401 of the Code.
All benefits under the Plan shall be payable sdiedyn the general assets of the Corporation. s tbgard, the rights of each Participant,
Contingent Annuitant and Beneficiary under the Riéth respect to his or her Plan benefit shalllmse of a general unsecured creditor o
Corporation. The Corporation shall not undertaksebaside assets in trust or otherwise segregastsato fund its obligations under the Plan.
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14. NONASSIGNABILITY

No Participant, Contingent Annuitant or Beneficiaryany other person shall have the right to sslign, transfer, pledge, or otherwise
encumber any interest in the Plan. All Plan besedit unassignable and non-transferable and gitddlensubject to attachment or seizure for
the payment of any debts, judgments or other ofitiga. No Plan interest shall be transferred byragen of law in the event of the
bankruptcy or insolvency of a Participant, Contimig&nnuitant, or Beneficiary.

15. NO CONTRACT OF EMPLOYMENT

Participation in the Plan shall not be construedaiostitute a direct or indirect contract of empieant between any UTC Company and
the Participant. Nothing in the Plan shall be degttoegive a Participant the right to be retainethim service of a UTC Company for any
length of time. Participants, Contingent Annuitaasl Beneficiaries shall have no rights againstldn¢ Company resulting from
participation in the Plan other than as specificatovided herein.

16. OPERATION AND ADMINISTRATION

The Committee shall be solely responsible for ttmiaistration and operation of the Plan. The Cortarishall have full and exclusive
authority and discretion to interpret the provisiar the Plan and to establish such administragreeedures as it deems necessary and
appropriate to carry out the purposes of the FAay.question of administration or interpretatioisarg under the Plan shall be determined by
the Committee (or its delegate) in its full disavat and its decision shall be final and bindinguill parties.

Any person claiming a benefit, requesting an imetigtion or ruling under the Plan, or requestirfgrimation under the Plan shall
present the request in writing to the Committed@ited Technologies Corporation, 1 Financial Pl&zartford, Connecticut 06101, Attn:
Deferred Compensation Committee. The Committed sbgppond in writing as soon as practicable.
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17. TAXES/WITHHOLDING

The Corporation shall have the right to withholy &deral, state, local or foreign taxes of anydkiaquired to be withheld from all
deferrals and distributions under the Plan thabgoration reasonably determines to be requiyeldw to be withheld from such deferrals
and distributions.

18. GOVERNING LAW

The provisions of the Plan will be construed artdrpreted according to the laws of the State ofrfécticut, to the extent not preemp
by federal law.

19. AMENDMENT

The Corporation may, at any time, amend the Plawvhiale or in part, provided that no amendment megrelse the value of any Plan
Accounts as of the date of such amendment. Inuhetef any change in law or regulation relatinghte Plan and the tax treatment of Plan
Accounts, the Plan shall, without further actionthg Committee, be deemed to be amended to conifilyawy such change in law or
regulation effective as of the first date necessarevent the taxation, constructive receipteemded distribution of Plan Accounts prior to
the date Plan Accounts would be distributed unlderprovisions of Section 8.

20. PLAN SUSPENSION AND TERMINATION

(a) The Committee, may, at any time, suspend aritette the Plan with respect to new or existingtit® Forms if, in its sole
judgment, the continuance of the Plan, the taxp@atting, or other effects thereof, or potentialipants thereunder would not be in the |
interest of the Corporation or for any other reason
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(b) In the event of the suspension of the Plamaduditional deferrals shall be made under the Rlanall previous deferrals shall
accumulate and be distributed in accordance wahotherwise applicable provisions of the Plan &edapplicable elections on file.

(c) Upon the termination of the Plan with respecalt Participants, and the termination of all agaments sponsored by the Corpore
or its affiliates that would be aggregated with FHan under Section 409A of the Code, the Corpmmaghall have the right, in its sole
discretion, and notwithstanding any elections madée Participant, to pay the Participant’s Plaitdunt in a lump sum, to the extent
permitted under Section 409A. All payments that rhaynade pursuant to this Section 19 shall be madsarlier than the thirteenth month
and no later than the twenty-fourth month aftertérenination of the Plan. The Corporation may ramtederate payments pursuant to this
Section 19 if the termination of the Plan is proatmto a downturn in the Corporation’s financiahltie within the meaning of Treas. Reg.
section 1.409A-3(j)(4)(ix)(C)(1). If the Corporatie@xercises its discretion to accelerate paymerdsruthis Section 19, it shall not adopt any
new arrangement that would have been aggregatédhvé@tPlan under Section 409A within three yeallsvigng the date of the Plan’s
termination.

21. COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 409A

To the extent that rights or payments under thes Rre subject to Section 409A of the Internal RaeeCode, the Plan shall be
construed and administered in compliance with tritions of Section 409A and regulations and otheédance issued pursuant to
Section 409A for deferral of income taxation uttig time the compensation is paid. Any distributbection that would not comply with
Section 409A of the Code shall not be effectivegorposes of this Plan. To the extent
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that a provision of this Plan does not comply vgttion 409A of the Code, such provision shall tiel and without effect. The Corporation
does not warrant that the Plan will comply with 8at409A of the Code with respect to any Partioipar with respect to any payment. In no
event shall UTC Company; any director, officereamployee of a UTC Company (other than the Partitjpar any member of the
Committee be liable for any additional tax, intéres penalty incurred by a Participant or Benetfigias a result of the Plan’s failure to satisfy
the requirements of Section 409A of the Code, @ eesult of the Plan’s failure to satisfy any etlegjuirements of applicable tax laws.

22. NO CONSENT REQUIRED

The consent of any Participant, Beneficiary, orofherson shall not be required with respect toaangndment, suspension, or
termination of the Plan.

23. VALIDITY

If any provision of the Plan is held to be illegalinvalid for any reason, the remaining provisionshe Plan will be construed and
enforced as if such illegal and invalid provisiaadmever been inserted herein.
24. NOTICE

Any notice or filing required or permitted to bevgn to the Committee under the Plan shall be seffidf sent by first-class mail, to the
United Technologies Corporation Deferred Compensafiommittee, 1 Financial Plaza, Hartford, Conmettd6101, Attn: Director,
Compensation, MS-504. Any notice or filing requidoermitted to be given to any Participant or &eiary under the Plan
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shall be sufficient if provided either electronigahand-delivered, or mailed to the address (ocaikaddress, as the case may be) of the
Participant or Beneficiary then listed on the reisoof the Corporation. Any such notice will be deengiven as of the date of delivery or, if
delivery is made by mail, as of the date shownhengiostmark or email system.

25. SUCCESSORS

The provisions of the Plan shall bind and inuréhteobenefit of the Corporation, and its succesandsassigns. The term successors :
include any corporate or other business entitylilganherger, consolidation, purchase or otherwisgiiaes all or substantially all of the
business and assets of the Corporation and suecsessany such Corporation or other entity.

26. BENEFIT CLAIMS PROCEDURE

A Participant or Beneficiary who believes that hesloe has been denied a benefit to which he oisshrgtitled under the Plan (referred
to in this Section 26 as a “Claimant”) may file &tten request with the Committee setting forth ¢k@m. The Committee shall consider and
resolve the claim as set forth below.

(&) Upon receipt of a claim, the Committee shalliselthe Claimant that a response will be forthaawithin 90 days. The Committee
may, however, extend the response period for @mtadditional 90 days for reasonable cause, arbmsidy the Claimant of the reason for
the extension and the expected response date. dinenlitee shall respond to the claim within the $jestt period.

(b) If the claim is denied in whole or part, then@roittee shall provide the Claimant with a writtegcibion, using language calculated to
be understood by the Claimant, setting forth (&) th
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specific reason or reasons for such denial; (2sfeeific reference to relevant provisions of flian on which such denial is based; (3) a
description of any additional material or infornmatinecessary for the Claimant to perfect his orck@m and an explanation why such
material or such information is necessary; (4) appate information as to the steps to be takénafClaimant wishes to submit the claim for
review; (5) the time limits for requesting a reviefthe claim; and (6) the Claimant’s right to lyian action for benefits under Section 502(a)
of ERISA.

(c) Within 60 days after the Claimant’s receiptloé written decision denying the claim in wholeropart, the Claimant may request in
writing that the Committee review the determinatidhe Claimant or his or her duly authorized repng¢ative may, but need not, review the
relevant documents and submit issues and commaeuriting for consideration by the Committee. If tB&imant does not request a reviev
the initial determination within such 60-day peritiie Claimant shall be barred from challengingdbrmination.

(d) Within 60 days after the Committee receivesquest for review, it will review the initial detaination. If special circumstances
require that the 60-day time period be extendezltbmmittee will so notify the Claimant and wilhaer the decision as soon as possible, but
no later than 120 days after receipt of the reqgiseseview.

(e) All decisions on review shall be final and himglwith respect to all concerned parties. Theslenion review shall set forth, in a
manner calculated to be understood by the Clainfanthe specific reasons for the decision, inalgdieferences to the relevant Plan
provisions upon which the decision is based; (2)@haimant’s right to receive, upon request and echarge, reasonable access to and
copies of all documents, records, and other inftionarelevant to his or her benefits; and (3) @laimant’s right to bring an action for
benefits under Section 502(a) of ERISA.
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Exhibit 10.36

UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION
LTIP PERFORMANCE SHARE UNIT DEFERRAL PLAN

ARTICLE | —PREAMBLE

The United Technologies Corporation LTIP Perforn@aBbare Unit Deferral Plan (thelan” ) was adopted pursuant to Section 13(
the United Technologies Corporation 2005 Long Téragentive Plan (theLTIP” ) approved by the shareholders in April 2005. Thgpse
of this Plan is to provide eligible Participantgiwihe opportunity to defer receipt of shares of@wn Stock in respect of Performance Share
Units (“PSUs”) awarded under the LTIP. In additiorthe terms and conditions set forth below, trenR$ subject to the provisions of the
LTIP, which are incorporated herein by this refesn

This Plan incorporates the requirements of Seet@nA of the Internal Revenue Code. From Janua®pQ7 through December 31,
2008, the Plan has been operated in good faith kanee with Section 409A in accordance with guidapoovided by the Internal Revenue
Service.

ARTICLE I —DEFINITIONS
Except as defined in this Article Il, terms usedhis Plan have the definitions of the terms aga#t in Section 2 of the LTIP:

a) Beneficiarymeans the person, persons or entity designated eteetronic or written form by the Participantézeive the value of
his or her Plan Account in the event of the Pgrtini’'s death. If the Participant fails to desigreatgeneficiary, or the Beneficiary (and any
contingent Beneficiary) does not survive the Pgudint, the value of the ParticipasitPlan Account will be paid to the estate of thdi€ipant.

1



b) Codemeans the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amédraadime to time, and any successor thereto. iRafes to any section
of the Internal Revenue Code shall include anyl fiegulations or other published guidance inteipgethat section.

¢) Committeeaneans the Committee on Compensation and ExecugvelBpment of the Corporation’s Board of Directerssept to the
extent that said Committee has delegated authorigglminister this Plan to the Corporation’s DeddrCompensation Committee.

d) Corporationmeans United Technologies Corporation.

e) Deferral Periodmeans the period designated (or deemed to be @d¢sirby the Participant in accordance with themRhat ends on
the Participant’s Retirement Date or on a Spefiferral Date.

f) Deferred Share Unitmeans PSUs which have been deferred pursuant terthe of this Plan, and dividend equivalents #rat
credited and invested pursuant to Section 7.1.

g) Default Deferral Periodneans the minimum Deferral Period of five (5) ydat®wing the date on which the Performance Cycle
Account is established.

h) Default Distributionmeans payment in a lump sum distribution.

i) Disability means permanent and total disability as determimeler the Corporation’s long-term disability plapphcable to the
Participant, or if there is no such plan applicabléhe Participant, “Disability” means a deterntioa of total disability by the Social Security
Administration; provided that, in either case, Beaticipant's condition also qualifies as a “didi&i for purposes of Section 409A(a)(2)(C)
of the Code.



j) Distribution Datemeans the date on which distributions commencevafig the Valuation Date.

k) Election Formmeans the enrollment form provided to Participatstronically or in paper form for the purposaleferring PSUs
under the Plan. Each Participant’s Election Fornstnspecify the percentage of the Award to be defewith respect to the applicable
Performance Cycle, the form of distribution electaad the distribution start datsde alsdefault Deferral Period and Default Distribution).
There will be a separate Election Form for eaclidPerance Cycle.

[) Participantmeans an executive of a UTC Company who is paith fidJ.S. payroll, files a U.S. income tax returas bheen awarded
PSUs and elects to defer a portion of such PSUsupat to the terms of this Plan.

m) Performance Cyclmeans the three-year performance measurement griod) which the pre-established performance targee
measured for each PSU Award.

n) Performance Cycle Accounteans the account established for each Participaetich Performance Cycle for which PSUs have
deferred under the Plan. The Performance Cycle éucshall be established on the date when the R8&is

0) Plan means the United Technologies Corporation LTIPd?arance Share Unit Deferral Plan, as amended firmmtb time
hereafter.



p) Plan Accountmeans the aggregate value of all Performance GQyadeunts.

g) Retirementmeans Separation From Service on or after age &@tanment of age 65; Separation From Serviceraiter age 50
and attainment of at least age 55 and a minimut®afr more years of “continuous service” (as defimethe UTC Employee Retirement
Plan as in effect on January 1, 2008); or a “R@i&53 Termination.

r) Retirement Dateneans the date of a Participant’s Retirement.

s)“Rule of 65" Terminationmeans Separation From Service on or after age &®efore age 55, with a combination of age andsyet
“continuous service” (as defined in the UTC Empleyetirement Plan as in effect on January 1, 26483l to at least 65.

t) Separation from Servigmeans a Participant’s Termination of Employmentwait UTC Companies, other than by reason of death
Disability that qualifies as a “separation fromwsee” for purposes of Section 409A of the Code.&p&ration from Service will be deemed to
occur where the Participant and the UTC Compantyetmploys the Participant reasonably anticipatétth@bona fide level of services the
Participant will perform (whether as an employea®ran independent contractor) for UTC Companidiso@ipermanently reduced to a level
that is less than thirty-seven and a half percgni5@o) of the average level of bona fide servibesRarticipant performed during the
immediately preceding 36 months (or the entirequethe Participant has provided services if thei€pant has been providing services to
UTC Companies for less than 36 months.) A Partidighall not be considered to have had a SeparfionService as a result of a transfer
from one UTC Company to another UTC Company.



u) Specific Deferral Dateneans a specified date, not less than five (5)syldliowing the date on which the Performance Cydeount
is established.

v) Specified Employemeans each of the 50 highest-paid executives aCtmporation and its Subsidiaries, effective aniyuzd of
March 31st, based on annual salary and incentive compensadiichin the prior year. The term includes both.l&& non-U.S. employees.

w) Sharemeans a share of UTC Common Stock.
x) UTC Common Stoakeans the common stock of United Technologies Gatjom.

y) UTC Companyneans United Technologies Corporation or any entiytrolled by or under common control with United
Technologies Corporation within the meaning of fecti14(b) or (c) of the Code (but substituting l&dst 20 percent” for “at least 80
percent” as the control threshold used in applBegtions 414(b) and (c)).

z) Valuation Datemeans the date on which Deferred Share Units iedun a Participant’s Performance Cycle Accountvattaed prior
to distribution. If the distribution is made becaws the Participant’'s Separation from Service mpgoattaining age 50, the Valuation Date for
the lump sum distribution will be the date of Segian from Service. If the distribution is made dese of the Participant’s Retirement, or
attainment of Separation from Service after attajrage 50, and the distribution is a lump sumMaleiation Date will be the date of
Separation from Service. If the distribution is rdmtcause of the Participant’s Retirement, orratiant of Separation from Service after
attaining age 50, and the distribution is instatlitlsethe Valuation Date will be the July Sfollowing the Separation from Service Date and
each subsequent July 3thereafter for the remaining installments. If thetgbution is made because the Deferral
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Period has ended on a Specific Deferral Date, @leation Date for the lump sum or initial instalimelistribution will be the July 3%
following the Specific Deferral Date and each sgjosamt July 3Ethereafter. If the distribution is made as a resfithe death of the
Participant, the Valuation Date will be the datale&th. In the event that the New York Stock Exgfeais closed on any of the foregoing d.
the Valuation Date will be the next business day.

ARTICLE Il —ELIGIBILITY AND PARTICIPATION
Section 3.1—Eligibility

Each employee of a UTC Company who is classifiedrasligible Participant at the time of the defeetaction will be eligible to
participate in the Plan in respect of that PerforoeaCycle in accordance with the terms of the Plan.

Section 3.2—Patrticipation

Each eligible Participant may elect to participatéhe Plan with respect to any Performance Cymievhich he/she receives an awart
PSUs, and for which the opportunity to defer PSsfiered, by timely filing an Election Form, prajyecompleted in accordance with
Section 4.1. Participation in the Plan is entinedjuntary.



ARTICLE IV —PARTICIPANT ELECTIONS AND DESIGNATIONS
Section 4.1—Election

An eligible Participant who has been awarded PSH, on or before the election deadline establidhethe Committee, make an
electronic or written election on the Election Fqurovided by the Committee to defer the Particifzamtsted PSUs.

Section 4.2—Election Amount

An eligible Participant must designate in the HatForm the percentage of vested PSUs (roundedh dowhe nearest whole share)
will be deferred under the Plan for the Performa@igele. The minimum percentage of vested PSUsalrarticipant may defer under the
Plan for any Performance Cycle is 10% and the mawiris 100%.

Section 4.3—Election Date

An electronic or written Election Form must be cdeted and submitted to the Committee no later tharelection deadline for that
Performance Cycle. If the PSUs qualify as “perfanocebased compensation” for purposes of SectioA 40%he Code when they are
awarded, the election deadline shall be no latan thecember 3%of the second year of the Performance Cycle, peaiitiat the
compensation provided under the PSUs has not beomesenably ascertainable by the election deadiime provided further that the
Participant has performed services continuouslynftioe beginning of the Performance Cycle (or,tédathe date when the performance
criteria were established if the award is mader difte beginning of the Performance Cycle) until ¢étection deadline. The Committee may
specify an election



deadline for any Performance Cycle that is eatfian the latest permissible deadline describeligngaragraph, or may specify before the
election deadline that particular PSUs are noftdégor deferral. Except as provided below in at#.6 (Change in Election) and

Section 7.2 (Unforeseeable Emergency), the choeftected in the Participant’s Election Form shedtome irrevocable on the election
deadline (subject, however, to the provisions efPan that provide for non-elective payments edfent of death, change in control, small
account balances, and other special circumstarifas) eligible executive fails to submit a progecbmpleted Election Form by the election
deadline, the executive will be ineligible to peifiate in the Plan for the applicable Performangel€

Section 4.4—Deferral Period

Each Participant shall specify in the Election Fah@ Deferral Period for amounts to be deferredufeato specify a deferral period
shall result in a deferral for the Default DeferPariod. A Participant may elect a Deferral Pethwat ends either (1) on a Specific Deferral
Date that is at least five (5) years following ttete on which the Performance Cycle Account ishédisteed (but not later than the Participant’
72nd birthday), or (2) on the Participant’s RetismnDate. If the Participant’'s 72nd birthday féddlss than five (5) years after the date on
which the Performance Cycle Account is establistiesl Participant’'s Deferral Period will end on #articipant’s Retirement Date.

Section 4.5—Distribution Election

At the time the Participant first elects to defex ér her vested PSUs under Section 4.1, the Ratitmust further make an election to
have the Performance Cycle Account distributed



in a lump sum or in two to fifteen annual installme If no distribution election is made, the Raptnt’s Performance Cycle Account will be
distributed in a lump sum. If a Participant eldctseceive the Performance Cycle Account in instafits, the amount of each installment <
be determined by dividing the total Performancel€yacount Balance on each Valuation Date by thalmr of installments remaining,
rounded down to the nearest whole share.

Section 4.6—Change in Election

A Participant who has made an election to defer$&tdler the Plan may make a one time irrevocabldieh to extend the Deferral
Period and/or change the form of distribution fé*eaformance Cycle Account. With respect to eaafoRaance Cycle Account, the
extended Deferral Period shall not be less tham®) years following the date on which distribatiwould otherwise have occurred. A
deferral extension election and/or change to the fof distribution must meet all of the followingquirements:

i. The new election must be made at least twelveth®oprior to the date on which payments will comoeeunder the
current election (and the new election shall béféative if the payment commencement date undectineent
election occurs within twelve months after the dsftthe new election’

ii. The new election will not take effect until laast twelve months after the date when the neutiefeis submitted in a
manner acceptable to the Committ



iii. The new payment commencement date must beast five years later than the date on which paysngauld
commence under the current election;

iv. In no case, may a Participant extend the Daféteriod beyond the Participant’s 72nd birthdagheé Participant’s
72nd birthday falls less than five (5) years after date on which payments would commence undesuirent
election, the Participant is not eligible to extdmisl or her Deferral Period or to change the fofrdistribution.

Section 4.7—Designation of Beneficiary

Each Participant shall designate a Beneficianhfsior her Plan Account on an electronic or writtemm provided by the Committee. A
Participant may change such designation on anrehéctor written form acceptable to the Committed eeceived by the Committee at any
time before the Participant’s death. In the evkat ho Beneficiary designation is filed with therrittee, or if the Beneficiary (and any
contingent Beneficiary) does not survive the Pgodiot, all amounts deferred hereunder will be paithe estate of the Participant. If a
Participant designates the Participant’s spouskeaRarticipant’'s Beneficiary, that designationlishat be revoked or otherwise altered or
affected by any: (a) change in the marital stafub® Participant; (b) agreement between the Rpatit and such spouse; or (c) judicial de:
(such as a divorce decree) affecting any rightsttteaParticipant and such spouse might have asudt of their marriage, separation, or
divorce; it being the intent of the Plan that ahgrmge in the designation of a Beneficiary hereunt®y be made by the Participant only in
accordance with the procedures set forth in thidi®® 4.7. In the event of the death of a Partiafpéistributions shall be made in accordance
with Section 5.5.
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ARTICLE V —VALUATION & DISTRIBUTION OF ACCOUNTS
Section 5.1—Valuation of Performance Cycle Accounts

Deferred Share Units included in a Participant'gféeance Cycle Account are valued prior to disttibn on the applicable Valuation
Date as defined in this Plan. Except in the cagiistfibutions made after Deferred Share Units Haen converted to cash as a result of a
Committee action upon a Change of Control, oneesbBtUTC Common Stock will be distributed for edadferred Share Unit. If the
distribution includes a fractional Unit, the numio¢iUnits will be rounded down to the next wholeitfor purposes of calculating the numi
of shares of Stock to be exchanged in the distahutind the value of the fractional Unit will baig in cash. See Section 7.3 of this Plan
regarding satisfaction of Participant’s withholditax obligation. The Deferred Share Unit shall beied based on the closing price of UTC
Common Stock as reported on the composite tapgeedfiew York Stock Exchange on the Valuation Datéf, the Stock is not traded on that
day, on the next trading day.

Section 5.2—Timing of Plan Distributions

Except as provided in Section 4.6 (concerning ihe-year delay following a Change in Election), &t 5.3 (concerning Separation
from Service before Attaining Age Fifty), and Seat5.4 (concerning distributions to Specified Enygles), the value of a Participant’s
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Performance Cycle Account will be distributed (egin to be distributed) according to the distribatelection on file to the Participant as of
the first business day following the Valuation Dassociated with (1) the Participant’s Retiremérthé Participants Deferral Period ends «
the Retirement Date) or (2) the Specific Defermdi®d (if the Participant’s Deferral Period endsao8pecific Deferral Date).

Section 5.3—Separation from Service before Attainigp Age 50.

If a Participant’s Separation From Service occ@f®ie the Participant attains age fifty (50), thi ¥alue of Participant’s entire Plan
Account will be distributed in a lump sum on thesfibusiness day following a Participant’s Separakrom Service (or, if the Participant is a
Specified Employee at the time of his or her Seardrom Service, on the date provided in SecBoh below) regardless of the distribution
election on file.

Section 5.4—Separation from Service of Specified Brioyees

If the Participant is a Specified Employee on thtedf the Participant’s Separation from Servicw, distribution of the Participant’s
Plan Account that is made on account of the Ppeitis Retirement or other Separation from Senviitienot be made or commence earlier
than the first day of the seventh month followihg tate of Retirement or Separation from Servite. Rlan Account shall be valued as if the
Valuation Date were the last business day of thetmpreceding the distribution date.
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Section 5.5—Death

In the event of the death of a Participant, thevalue of the Participant’s Plan Account will bistdbuted to the designated Beneficiary
in a lump sum on the first business day of the mmdoitowing the Participant’s death.

Section 5.6—Disability

In the event of the Disability of a Participante tRarticipant’s Performance Cycle Accounts thadasgnated to be deferred to a
Specific Deferral Date will be maintained and disited in accordance with the Participant’s elawtion file. The Participant’s Performance
Cycle Accounts that are designated to be defeordllet Participant’s Retirement Date will be diatitéd as if the Participant had retired on the
date of the Participant’s Disability, but withoytying the six-month delay in Section 5.4, above.

Section 5.7—Distribution upon a Change in Control

In the event of a Change in Control or restructyohthe Corporation, the Participant’s entire PAaxcount will be converted to cash
and distributed in a lump sum on the first busirdesfollowing the Change in Control event. Thehcasiount per Unit will equal the closing
price of UTC Common Stock on the New York Stock lEage on the date the Change in Control occuii§the Stock is not traded on that
day, on the trading day immediately preceding thar@e in Control. For purposes of the Plan, a “@kan Control” means (i) the
acquisition by one person, or more than one peasting as a group, of stock possessing 30 percanbre of the total voting power of the
stock of the United Technologies Corporation dutimg 12-month period ending on the date of the mexstnt acquisition; (ii) the
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replacement of a majority of members of United Tetbgies Corporation’s board of directors during 48-month period by directors wha
appointment or election is not endorsed by a migjofithe members of United Technologies Corporasidboard of directors as constituted
immediately prior to the date of such appointmanglection; (iii) the acquisition by one personnoore than one person acting as a group, of
more than 50% of the total fair market value oatebting power of the stock of United Technologiasporation; (iv) a change in the
ownership of a substantial portion of the Corport assets such that one person, or more thapemsen acting as a group, acquires assets
of the Corporation with a total gross fair markatue equal to or more than 40 percent of the tptads fair market value of all of the asset
the Corporation determined immediately prior torsacquisition; (v) a dissolution or liquidationttye Corporation.

Section 5.8—Accelerated Distribution in the Case ain Unforeseeable Emergency

(a) Unforeseeable Emergencyhe Committee may, upon a Participantiritten application, agree to an acceleratedidigion of some
or all of the value of Participant’s Plan Accounf®n the showing of an unforeseeable emergencyuifioreseeable emergency” is a severe
financial hardship to the Participant resultingnfr¢l) an illness or accident of the Participang, Bfarticipant’s spouse, the Participant’s
Beneficiary, or the Participant’'s dependent (asngefin IRC Section 152, without regard to Secti®é(b)(1), (b)(2), and (d)(1)(B)); (2) loss
of the Participant’s property due to casualty;3jrqther similar extraordinary and unforeseealieucnstances arising as a result of events
beyond the control of the Participant. Whether di€pant is faced with an unforeseeable emerggreynitting a distribution is to be
determined based on the relevant facts and ciramoss of each case. Acceleration will not be
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granted if the emergency is or may be relievedutihoreimbursement or compensation from insuran@¢h@rwise, by liquidation of the
Participant’s assets (to the extent the liquidatibauch assets would not cause severe finanaidshgp), or by cessation of deferrals under
the Plan.

(b) Amount of Distribution Permitted upon an Unfeeeable EmergencyDistributions on account of an unforeseeable gemay, as
defined in Section 5.8(a), shall be limited to #meount reasonably necessary to satisfy the emergmeal. Such amount may include
amounts necessary to pay any Federal, state, mcfreign income taxes or penalties reasonaltigipated to result from the distribution.

(c) The Committee will determine from which Perf@mee Cycle Accounts hardship distributions willhbade. Any Participant who is
an officer or director of the Corporation withiretimeaning of Section 16 of the Securities Exchaxgef 1934 is not eligible for
distributions on account of unforeseeable emergency

Section 5.9—Administrative Adjustments in Payment

A payment under this Section 5.9 is treated asgogiade on the date when it is due under the Pl ipayment is made on the due
date specified by the Plan, or on a later dateishaither (a) in the same calendar year (for arayt whose specified due date is on or before
September 30), or (b) by the 15th day of the tbalgndar month following the date specified by Ften (for a payment whose specified due
date is on or after October 1). A payment alsodated as being made on the date when it is duer e Plan if the payment is made not
more than 30 days before the due date specifigébi?lan. In no event will a
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payment to a Specified Employee be made or commesgutier than the first day of the seventh monttofang the date of Separation from
Service. A Participant may not, directly or indilgcdesignate the taxable year of a payment madeliance on the administrative rules in
this Section 5.9.

Section 5.10—Minimum Balance Payout Provision

If a Participant’s Plan Account balance under Bian (and under all other nonqualified deferred pensation plans of the Corporation
that are required to be aggregated with this PlafeuSection 409A of the Code), determined atithe of the Participant’s Separation From
Service, is less than the amount set as the limélective deferrals under Section 402(g)(1)(Bdhef Code in effect for the year in which the
Participant’s Separation From Service occurs, theittee retains discretion to distribute the Rgrtint’s entire Plan Account (and the
Participants entire interest in any other nonqualified def@#icempensation plan that is required to be aggeegaith this Plan) in a lump st
on the first business day following the Participa®eparation From Service, even if the Particifeas elected to receive a different form of
distribution.

ARTICLE VI —AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION OF PLAN
Section 6.1—Amendment

The Corporation may, at any time, amend the Plavhiole or in part, provided that no amendment megrelse the value of any Plan
Accounts as of the date of such amendment. In
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the event of any change in law or regulation retatd the Plan and the tax treatment of Plan Actuhe Plan shall, without further action
the Committee, be deemed to be amended to comfiyamny such change in law or regulation effecthefirst date necessary to prevent the
taxation, constructive receipt or deemed distrinutf Plan Accounts prior to the date Plan Accownsld be distributed under the provisi
of Article V.

Section 6.2—Plan Suspension and Termination

(a) The Corporatiors’ Pension Administration Committee, may, at anyetisuspend or terminate the Plan with respectwoareexisting
Election Forms if, in its sole judgment, the cootince of the Plan, the tax, accounting, or othiecesf thereof, or potential payments
thereunder would not be in the best interest ofdbgporation or for any other reason.

(b) In the event of suspension of the Plan, notadil deferrals shall be made under the Planabyrevious deferrals shall accumul
and be distributed in accordance with the otherajgaicable provisions of the Plan and the appleatections on file.

(c) Upon the termination of the Plan with respecalt Participants, and the termination of all agaments sponsored by the Corpore
that would be aggregated with the Plan under Sedi®A, , the Corporation shall have the rightitsrsole discretion, and notwithstanding
any elections made by the Participant, to pay téiddpant’s Plan Account in a lump sum, to theeextpermitted under Section 409A of the
Code. All payments that may be made pursuant $0Skction 6.2 shall be made no earlier than tme#tith month and no later than the
twenty-fourth month after the termination of thafl The Corporation may not accelerate paymentupat to this Section 6.2 if the
termination of the Plan is proximate to a downtuwrn
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the Corporation’s financial health within the meanof Treas. Reg. section 1.4024)(4)(ix)(C)(1). If the Corporation exercises discretior
to accelerate payments under this Section 6.Bait sot adopt any new arrangement that would Heeen aggregated with the Plan under
Section 409A of the Code within three years follogvthe date of the Plan’s termination.

Section 6.3—No Consent Required

The consent of any Participant, Beneficiary, orotherson shall not be required with respect toaangndment, suspension, or
termination of the Plan.

ARTICLE VII —MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS
Section 7.1—Reinvestment of Dividend Equivalents

Deferred Share Units shall be credited with divitlequivalents at the same time and in the same @intfoat cash dividends would be
paid with respect to an equal number of sharesT@® Common Stock. At the time the election underti®act.1 is made, the Participant
agrees to have dividend equivalents deferred arebstad in additional Deferred Share Units baseahdipe number of whole and fractional
Units which the dollar dividend amount would pursbausing the closing price of UTC Common StockhenNew York Stock Exchange on
each dividend payment date. Dividend equivalerasdhne deferred and invested pursuant to this @eetil shall be credited to the same
Performance Cycle Account as the Deferred Shartsimi which the dividend equivalents are paid, ahall be distributed at the time and in
the form applicable to that Performance Cycle Actou
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Section 7.2—Required Taxes

No later than the date Deferred Share Units atemger subject to a substantial risk of forfeit(as defined in the Internal Revenue
Code, as time to time amended) or first becomaidible in gross income, Participant must pay toGbeporation, or make arrangements
satisfactory to the Corporation regarding the paymoé any federal, state, local or foreign taxearmy kind required to be withheld with
respect to such amount. Unless otherwise deterntipdde Corporation, withholding obligations maydegtled with UTC Common Stock
(including UTC Common Stock that is distributed anthe terms of the Plan) or with Deferred Shardd.that are deducted from the
Participant’s Plan Account under the Plan; provjdexvever, that not more than the legally requiredimum withholding may be settled
with Deferred Share Units or UTC Common Stock. ©hkgations of the Corporation under the Plan shbaltonditional on such payment or
arrangement, and the Corporation shall, to thenéxtermitted by law, have the right to make anyrappate arrangements to deduct any ¢
taxes from all deferrals and distribution underFti@n that the Corporation reasonably determiné® teequired by law to be withheld from
such deferrals and distributions.

Section 7.3—Adjustment of Deferred Share Units

In the event of any change in the outstanding shaff€ommon Stock, by reason of a stock dividensiptit, recapitalization, merger,
consolidation, combination, exchange of sharestluer similar corporate change, the number of DeteShare Units may be adjusted
appropriately by the Committee, whose determinastuall be conclusive.
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Section 7.4—Section 409A Compliance

To the extent that rights or payments under thés Rlre subject to Section 409A of the Internal RaeeCode, the Plan shall be
construed and administered in compliance with tritions of Section 409A and regulations and otheédance issued pursuant to
Section 409A for deferral of income taxation uttig time the compensation is paid. Any distributbection that would not comply with
Section 409A of the Code shall not be effectivegorposes of this Plan. To the extent that a prawisf this Plan does not comply with
Section 409A of the Code, such provision shall biel and without effect. The Corporation does notresat that the Plan will comply with
Section 409A of the Code with respect to any Pigditt or with respect to any payment. In no evéaatlsany UTC Company; any director,
officer, or employee of a UTC Company (other thiaa Participant); or any member of the Committeédide for any additional tax, interest,
or penalty incurred by a Participant or Beneficiasya result of the Plasfailure to satisfy the requirements of SectioBA0f the Code, or ¢
a result of the Plan’s failure to satisfy any otrejuirements of applicable tax laws.

ARTICLE VIII —GENERAL PROVISIONS
Section 8.1—Unsecured General Creditor

The Corporation’s obligations under the Plan coutstian unfunded and unsecured promise to distriludres in the future.
Participants’ and Beneficiaries’ rights under thanP
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are solely those of a general unsecured credittireo€orporation. No assets will be placed in {rest aside or otherwise segregated to fu
offset liabilities in respect of the Plan or Pagants’ Plan Accounts.

Section 8.2—Nonassignability

No Participant or Beneficiary or any other persbalishave right to sell, assign, transfer, pledgegtherwise encumber any interest in
the Plan. All Plan Accounts and the rights to &tributions are unassignable and non-transferdés Accounts or distributions hereunder,
prior to actual distribution, will not be subjectattachment or seizure for the payment of anysiglsigments or other obligations. Plan
Accounts or other Plan benefit will not be transfdrby operation of law in the event of a Partinifmor any Beneficiary’s bankruptcy or
insolvency.

Section 8.3—No Contract of Employment

Participation in the Plan shall not be construedaiestitute a direct or indirect contract of emmphant between any UTC Company and
the Participant. Participants and Beneficiaries ndlve no rights against any UTC Company resultiag participation in the Plan other than
as specifically provided herein. Nothing in therPéhall be deemed to give a Participant the righitet retained in the service of any UTC
Company for any length of time or to interfere witie right of any UTC Company to terminate a Paréint’'s employment prior to the end of
any Deferral Period.

Section 8.4—Governing Law

The provisions of the Plan will be construed artdrpreted according to the laws of the State ofrfécticut, to the extent not preemp
by federal law.
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Section 8.5—Validity

If any provision of the Plan is held to be illegalinvalid for any reason, the remaining provisiohshe Plan will be construed and
enforced as if such illegal and invalid provisicadmever been inserted herein.

Section 8.6—Notice

Any notice or filing required or permitted to bevgh to the Committee under the Plan shall be sefftdf sent by first-class mail, to the
United Technologies Corporation Deferred Compenaafiommittee, 1 Financial Plaza, Hartford, Conme¢td6101, Attn: Director,
Compensation, MS-504. Any notice or filing requidoermitted to be given to any Participant or &amary under the Plan shall be
sufficient if provided either electronically, hadélivered, or mailed to the address (or email aslras the case may be) of the Participant or
Beneficiary then listed on the records of the Coaion. Any such notice will be deemed given athefdate of delivery or, if delivery is
made by malil, as of the date shown on the postmragknail system.

Section 8.7—Successors

The provisions of the Plan shall bind and inurthbenefit of the Corporation and its successodsassigns. The term successors as
used herein shall include any corporate or othemss entity, which by merger, consolidation, pase or otherwise acquires all or
substantially all of the business and assets o€thvporation, and successors of any such corparati@ther business entity.
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Section 8.8—Incompetence

If the Committee determines, upon evidence satisifgdo the Committee, that any Participant or By to whom a benefit is
payable under the Plan is unable to care for tféairs because of illness or accident, any payrdaat(unless prior claim therefore shall h
been made by a duly authorized guardian or otlyal lepresentative) may be paid, upon appropnternnification of the Committee and
the Corporation, to the spouse of the Participatioer person deemed by the Committee to havernedexpenses for the benefit of and on
behalf of such Participant or Beneficiary. Any sppayment from a Participant’s Plan Accounts shalalzomplete discharge of any liability
under the Plan with respect to the amount so paid.

ARTICLE IX —ADMINISTRATION AND CLAIMS
Section 9.1—Plan Administration

The Committee shall be solely responsible for ttmiaistration and operation of the Plan. The Corterishall have full and exclusive
authority and discretion to interpret the provisiai the Plan and to establish such administrgiieeedures as it deems necessary and
appropriate to carry out the purposes of the Plan.

Any person claiming a benefit, requesting an imeigtion or ruling under the Plan, or requestirfgrimation under the Plan shall
present the request in writing to the Committed@ited Technologies Corporation, 1 Financial Pl&zartford, Connecticut 06101, Attn:
Deferred Compensation Committee. The Committed sbgpond in writing as soon as practicable.
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Section 9.2—Claim Procedures

A Participant or Beneficiary who believes that hesloe has been denied a benefit to which he oissigtitled under the Plan (referred
to in this Section 9.2 as a “Claimant”) may filevatten request with the Committee setting forth thaim. The Committee shall consider and
resolve the claim as set forth below.

(&) Upon receipt of a claim, the Committee shalliselthe Claimant that a response will be fortheawithin 90 days. The Committee
may, however, extend the response period for @mtadditional 90 days for reasonable cause, artmsidy the Claimant of the reason for
the extension and the expected response date. dinen{itee shall respond to the claim within the gt period.

(b) If the claim is denied in whole or part, then@roittee shall provide the Claimant with a writtegcidion, using language calculated to
be understood by the Claimant, setting forth (&)gpecific reason or reasons for such denialh@}pecific reference to relevant provisions
of this Plan on which such denial is based; (3¢scdption of any additional material or informatinecessary for the Claimant to perfect his
or her claim and an explanation why such materiaugh information is necessary; (4) appropriatermation as to the steps to be taken if
the Claimant wishes to submit the claim for revi¢®);the time limits for requesting a review of #tlaim; and (6) the Claimant'’s right to
bring an action for benefits under Section 502{RISA.
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(c) Within 60 days after the Claimant’s receiptloé written decision denying the claim in wholeropart, the Claimant may request in
writing that the Committee review the determinatidhe Claimant or his or her duly authorized repng¢ative may, but need not, review the
relevant documents and submit issues and commaeutiting for consideration by the Committee. If tB&aimant does not request a reviev
the initial determination within such 60-day peritite Claimant shall be barred from challengingdbermination.

(d) Within 60 days after the Committee receivesquest for review, it will review the initial detaination. If special circumstances

require that the 60-day time period be extendezlbmmittee will so notify the Claimant and wilhaer the decision as soon as possible, but
no later than 120 days after receipt of the reqgiseseview.

(e) All decisions on review shall be final and hirglwith respect to all concerned parties. Theslenion review shall set forth, in a
manner calculated to be understood by the Clainfanthe specific reasons for the decision, inalgdieferences to the relevant Plan
provisions upon which the decision is based; (8)Gtaimant’s right to receive, upon request and éfcharge, reasonable access to and

copies of all documents, records, and other inféionarelevant to his or her benefits; and (3) @aimant’s right to bring an action for
benefits under Section 502(a) of ERISA.
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UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION

AND SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENT RE: COMPUTATION OF PER SHARE EARNINGS

(in millions of dollars, except per share amounts)
Net income

Basic earnings for peric
Diluted earnings for perio

Basic average number of shares outstanding
during the period (thousanc

Stock awards (thousanc

Diluted average number of shares outstanding
during the period (thousanc

Basic earnings per common sh
Diluted earnings per common shi

Exhibit 11

Full year

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
$ 468 $ 4222 $ 373 $ 306¢ $ 267
$ 4,68¢ $ 4,224 $ 3,732 $ 3,06¢ $ 2,67
$ 4,68¢ $ 4,224 $ 3,732 $ 3,06¢ $ 2,67
937,80( 963,90( 980,00( 991,20( 992,80(
18,60( 24,90( 25,70( 23,30( 18,00(
956,40( 988,80( 1,005,70! 1,014,50! 1,010,80!
$ 5.0C $ 43¢ $ 3.81 $ 3.1C $ 2.6¢
$ 4.9 $ 4.27 $ 3.71 $ 3.0 $ 2.64



Exhibit 12

UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION
AND SUBSIDIARIES

STATEMENT RE: COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO F IXED CHARGES

Full year
(in millions of dollars) 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Fixed Charges
Interest expenske $ 68C $ 666 $ 60€ $ 49¢ $ 367
Interest capitalize 19 16 19 16 11
One-third of rent$ 16€ 14€ 96 10C 107
Total fixed charge $ 87€¢ $ 826 $ 721 $ 614 $ 481
Earnings:
Income before income taxes and minority inter $6,93¢ $6,38¢ $5,49: $4,68¢ $3,93¢
Fixed charges per abo 87¢ 82¢ 721 614 481
Less: capitalized intere (19) (16) (19) (16) (12)
857 81z 70z 59¢ 47C
Amortization of interest capitalize 9 8 8 10 3
Total earning $7,80z $7,20¢ $6,202 $5,29: $4,411
Ratio of earnings to fixed charg 8.91 8.7C 8.6( 8.62 9.17

1 Effective January 1, 2007, we adopted the provisimirFinancial Accounting Standards Board Inteigdien No. 48, “Accounting for
Uncertainty in Income Taxes.” As disclosed in N®t® our Consolidated Financial Statements, inteetated to unrecognized tax
benefits was $39 million, $56 million, $38 millioand $25 million for the years 2008, 2007, 2006 20@5, respectively. The ratio of
earnings to fixed charges would have been 9.33, 9.88, and 8.98 for the years 2008, 2007, 20062805, respectively, if such
interest is excluded from the calculation.

2 Reasonable approximation of the interest factor.



Five-Year Summary

Exhibit 13

(in millions, except per share amoun 2004 2007 2006 200t 2004
For the year
Revenue: $ 58,68] $ 54,75 $ 47,824 $ 42,72¢ $ 37,445
Research and developmt 1,771 1,67¢ 1,524 1,367 1,267
Income before cumulative effect of a change in antiag
principle? 4,684 4,224 3,734 3,16¢ 2,673
Net income 4,68¢ 4,224 3,734 3,06¢ 2,673
Earnings per shan
Basic:
Income before cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principlé 5.0d 4.38 3.81 3.1¢ 2.69
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting priteci|
£ — — — (.09) —
Net income 5.0( 4.3¢ 3.81 3.1C 2.69
Diluted:
Income before cumulative effect of a change in
accounting principlé 4.9( 4.27 3.71 3.1 2.64
Cumulative effect of a change in accounting priteci|
. — — — (.09) —
Net income 4.9( 4.27 3.71 3.0z 2.64
Cash dividends per common sh 1.35 1.17 1.04 .88 .70
Average number of shares of Common Stock outstan
Basic 93¢ 964 98( 991 993
Diluted 956 98¢ 1,006 1,014 1,011
Cash flow from operatior 6,16] 5,33( 4,803 4,33¢ 3,596
Capital expenditure 1,21¢ 1,153 954 92¢ 795
Acquisitions, including debt assum 1,448 2,336 1,044 4,58: 1,295
Share repurchas 3,16( 2,001 2,068 1,181 992
Dividends on Common Stoék 1,21( 1,08( 951 832 660
At year end
Working capital $ 4,664 $ 4,607 $ 3,63 $ 1,861 $ 2,575
Total asset8 56,46 54,574 47,141 45,92t 40,441
Long-term debt, including current portién 10,45 8,06 7,074 6,62¢ 4,271
Total debt* 11,47¢ 9,14¢ 7,931 8,24( 5,591
Debt to total capitalizatiof* 42% 30% 31% 33% 28%
Shareowners’ equity* 15,911 21,35" 17,29] 16,99 14,266
Number of employee 223,10 225,60 214,50 218,20( 209,700

= During 2005, we acquired Kidde, which in conjunntigith Chubb (acquired during 2003) forms the UTi€2 R Security segmen
= During 2005, a 2-for-1 split of our common stocksvedfected in the form of a share dividend. All coon share and per share amounts for periods prithet split have been

adjusted to reflect the spl

Note 1  During 2005, we adopted the provisions of Finangiedounting Standards Board (FASB) Interpretatian K7, “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retireméligations (an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 1" (FIN 47) and Statement of Financial Accounting Stadd (SFAS) 123FShar-Based Paymer”

Note 2  Excludes dividends paid on Employee Stock OwnerBffam common stocl

Note 3  During 2006, we adopted the provisions of SFAS Ng8, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Bgon and Other Postretirement Plans — an amendofi@&RAS Nos.
87, 88, 106 and 132(R),” (SFAS 158) which resuitedn approximately $1.8 billion non-cash chargedaity and a $2.4 billion non-cash reduction taltassets. In addition,
we early-adopted the measurement date provisioB§AfS 158 effective January 1, 2007, which incréasereowners’ equity by approximately $425 milleord decreased

long-term liabilities by approximately $620 millio

Note 4  The increase in the 2008 debt to total capitaliratatio reflects unrealized losses of approxinyadl.2 billion, net of taxes, associated with tffeet of market conditions on

our pension plans, and the 2008 debt issuancdmtp2.25 billion.



Management’s Discussion and Analysis

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial @dition
and Results of Operations

Business Overview

We are a global provider of high technology prodwaid services
to the building systems and aerospace industriesoerations
are classified into six principal business segmedtss, Carrier,
UTC Fire & Security, Pratt & Whitney, Hamilton Swstchnd and
Sikorsky. Otis, Carrier and UTC Fire & Security amlectively
referred to as the “commercial businesses,” whitR. Whitney,
Hamilton Sundstrand and Sikorsky are collectivelferred to as
the “aerospace businesses.” The commercial bussgsnerally
serve customers in the worldwide commercial anidiegsial
property industries, although Carrier also servesgamers in the
commercial and transport refrigeration industrigse aerospace
businesses serve commercial and government aesspstomers
in both the original equipment and aftermarketgartd services
markets. In addition, a portion of these businesseg customers
in certain industrial markets. Our consolidatederaies were
derived from the commercial and aerospace busiaesstollows
(revenues from Hamilton Sundstrand’s and Pratt &itiddy’s
industrial markets are included in “commercial amdustrial”):

2004 2007 2006

Commercial and industrii 62% 63% 63%
Military aerospace and spa 17% 16% 16%
Commercial aerospar 21% 21% 21%

100% 1009 100%

In both 2008 and 2007, approximately 60% of oursotidated
sales were original equipment and 40% were aftetetgrarts and
services, while in 2006 the amounts were 59% afd,41
respectively.

Our strategy has been, and continues to be, thetenaince of
balance across our businesses in order to limiintipact of any
one industry or the economy of any single countryor
consolidated operating results. This balance isaped, in part,
through the commercial and aerospace revenue,ragida
equipment and aftermarket parts and services splitsd above,
and the combination of shorter cycles in our conuiaér
businesses, particularly Carrier, and longer cyiclesir aerospace
businesses, as well as through the geographicsitiyénat has
evolved with the continued globalization of worlkcbaomies. The

composition of total revenues from outside the ebhibtates,
including U.S. export sales, in dollars and asragrage of total
segment revenues, has been as follows:

(in millions of

dollars) 200§ 2007 20049 200§ 2004 2006
Europe $15,819 $14,34] $12,064 27%| 2694 25%
Asia Pacific 8,214 7,991 7,054 14%| 15% 15%

Other Noi-U.S. 6,414 5,609 4,809 11%| 10% 10%
U.S. Exports 7,034 6,229 4,844 12%| 119%9 10%
International
segment
revenues

$37,481 $34,164 $28,781 64%| 6294 60%

As part of our growth strategy, we invest in busses in certain
countries that carry high levels of currency, pcdit and/or
economic risk, such as Argentina, Brazil, ChinajanRussia and
South Africa. At December 31, 2008, our investnierany one of
these countries did not exceed 4% of consolidatadeswners’

equity.

Despite an increasingly difficult economic enviragmhin 2008,
total revenues increased 7% year-over-year, as amdpvith
2007. Extreme volatility and financial market distion in the
United States, Europe and Asia, continuing aifinancial
distress, moderating commercial construction agtiand
depressed conditions in the domestic and certé&@nnational
housing markets all contributed to weakening wortiixeconomic
conditions. As discussed further below, some a$etfactors have
adversely impacted aspects of our underlying bgsigeand are
continuing to present operational challenges. Celg, other
market factors remained generally strong througB608, and our
businesses have continued to improve upon thenatipaal
performance.

Weakness in the U.S. residential market, as wedl second half
slowdown in both global non-residential constructaztivity and
the commercial aerospace market, created challgrmyiginess
conditions in 2008 that are expected to continueudph 2009. As
a result of the current economic conditions, orgaevenue
growth was 5% in 2008 compared with the 9% realindabth
2007 and 2006. Although lower than in 2007, thenginorate in
2008 was still well in excess of general economawgh levels
reflecting the global infrastructure investmentstthave benefited
our commercial businesses, and the strong opemdey backlogs
entering 2008. However, as the second half of 2008ressed, we
experienced a decline in order rates in the comialdrasinesses,
predominately at the end of the year.



On a global basis, Otis’ new equipment orders w@ré% and
Carrier's commercial heating, ventilating, andainditioning
(HVAC) new equipment orders grew approximately 372008,
as compared with 2007. These growth rates refiteceases for
most of the year partially offset by declines ie thurth quarter.
Although commercial HVAC revenue grew in 2008, coenaml
refrigeration revenues declined as a result ottireent economic
conditions. As with the prior year, the weaknesghimU.S.
residential market continued to affect Carrier'sthcAmerican
residential business where unit shipments declit¥édhowever
the broader market declined further. UTC Fire &8y
experienced 3% organic revenue growth in 2008 stitkngth in
the fire safety businesses being partially offsethe adverse
impact of the U.S. and international banking indusbwnturn on
its electronic security businesses. The growthéfire safety
businesses resulted largely from increased actiwitie oil & gas
and marine industries as well as growth in Asia.

Although the price of oil has retreated signifidaritom record
prices experienced early in 2008, the commerciasgace
industry continues to engage in capacity reductarairline
carrier consolidations to help offset the significdecline in
passenger and cargo traffic levels experiencedsadhe industry
in 2008. Worldwide revenue passenger miles (RPMsew
essentially flat in 2008 as compared to 2007, aaeit than
initially expected as a result of the worldwide eamic
slowdown. Consistent with expectations, we sawalieg off of
Pratt & Whitney’s commercial aerospace aftermabkestiness in
2008 compared to 2007, which reflected sales grinvthe first
half of the year offset by declines in the secoalf &f 2008.
However, also consistent with expectations, we g&peed
growth in the commercial aerospace original equiptme
manufacturer (OEM) markets at both Pratt & Whitaay
Hamilton Sundstrand, as well as continued stromgadtel for
military helicopters at Sikorsky.

With the increasingly tough economic environmerg,expect
revenues to decline in 2009 to approximately $3ibhireflecting
lower organic growth levels and a significant urfieable impact
from foreign currency translation due to the recgrgngthening of
the U.S. dollar as compared with currencies sucheaguro.
Although the disruption in the financial marketd diot have a
significant impact on our results in 2008, it conts to present a
risk as we enter 2009. In addition to managing @otgntial

impact to our financial results, we continue to mmand address
the potential impact to our customers and suppliehsch to date
has been limited.

The increase in revenue in 2008 was accompanied by
improvements in operational efficiencies, includsayings from
previously initiated restructuring actions, the &fnof cost
containment efforts and the favorable impact oéiign currency
translation. These operating profit improvementsengartially
offset by the adverse impact of higher restructudharges,
research and development spending and commodity, ¢os
generate a net 8%

increase in operating profit in 2008, as comparé&d 2007.
Although commodity prices declined in the seconld ¢a2008,
we still experienced overall cost increases forytbar, in part due
to certain existing long-term supplier agreeme#fter partial
recovery through pricing, the net adverse impae&aimings of
higher commadity costs in 2008 was approximately/Ssdillion.
As a result of the recent declines in commoditgipg, we are
now expecting the lower costs to provide a benefiperating
results in 2009 of about $150 million.

To help generate future margin growth, and in gditon of a
difficult economic environment in 2009, we inves&&57 million
in restructuring actions across our businesse808 2While
restructuring efforts have been undertaken actassampany, the
majority of the charges were incurred at Carriat Bratt &
Whitney as we focus on lowering our overall coaticture.

In 2008, operating profit benefited from variousngarelated to
business divestiture activity during the year ($i#Bion), the

sale of marketable securities ($38 million) an@wofable pre-tax
interest adjustment ($12 million) as discussedweéo“Results of
Operations.” Operating profit for 2007 was adverseipacted by
a civil fine, net of existing reserves, of $216Imi levied against
Otis. The European Commission’s Competition Direamti®
assessed a civil fine of approximately $300 mill{&v Fine)
against Otis, its relevant local entities and UA€ a result of
certain Otis subsidiaries in Europe violating Ew@ap Union
competition rules. Gains from the sale of marketagcurities and
certain non-core assets and lower restructuringgelsain 2007
helped to offset the adverse impact of this firsediacussed further
in “Results of Operations.”

In addition to the earnings generated from orgasenue growth,
including the growth from new product developmemd aroduct
improvements, our earnings growth strategy alsaetoplates
investments in acquisitions. We invested $1.4dnlland $2.3
billion, including debt assumed of $196 million &®@00 million,
in the acquisition of businesses across all ofoparations in 2008
and 2007, respectively. Acquisitions in 2008 caesigrincipally
of a number of small acquisitions in our commerbiasinesses.
Acquisitions in 2007 consisted principally of intreents in the
UTC Fire & Security segment including the acquisi§ of Initial
Electronic Security Group (IESG) for approximat8lly.2 billion
and Marioff Corporation, Oy (Marioff) for approxinedy $348
million. The remaining investments in 2007 includedumber of
smaller acquisitions across our businesses.

For additional discussion of acquisitions and restrring, see
“Liquidity and Financing Commitments,” “Restructng and
Other Costs” and Notes 2 and 11 to the Consolidaieancial
Statements.



Results of Operations

Revenues

(in millions of dollars) 2008 2007 200¢
Sales $58,044 $53,914 $47,11¢
Other income, ne 639 84( 711
Total revenue $58,68] $54,75¢ $47,82¢

All segments, except for Carrier, experienced oigegvenue
growth in 2008. Organic growth was led by the agacs
businesses which benefited from the general stnewigihe
commercial aerospace OEM, regional and businessgstets,
and demand for military helicopters. Commerciabapace
aftermarket growth rates have moderated due taondescin large
commercial spares orders resulting from the aislicensolidation
and continued reductions of capacity in responseaiket
conditions. Commercial OEM growth reflected strgmgduction
levels at the airframe manufacturers, while miit&EM revenue
growth was driven largely by government demandditary
helicopters. In the commercial businesses, revgmuath at Otis
reflected increases in Europe and North Americhblenew
equipment sales generated from the strong backitegieg the
year. At Carrier, significantly lower unit shipmerdf U.S.
residential product due to the continued weaknesdisd North
American residential market, and lower customer atgahfor
commercial refrigeration products as a result ofikveconomic
conditions contributed to a decline in organic rewes. UTC
Fire & Security revenues increased largely on thength of fire
safety sales in the oil & gas and marine industiewell as
growth in Asia. The consolidated revenue incredk8® billion
or 7% in 2008 also included growth from net acdiges of 1%
and the favorable impact of foreign currency tratish of 1%
resulting from the weakness of the U.S. dollartiedato other
currencies, particularly the Euro, experiencedhfioist of 2008.

The consolidated revenue increase of 14% in 200&cted
organic growth of 9%, acquisition growth of 2% dhd favorable
impact of foreign currency translation of 3% refmgtfrom the
weakness of the U.S. dollar relative to other auries including
the Euro and the Pound Sterling. All segments éxpeed organic
sales growth in 2007, led by the aerospace busiagagich
benefited from the general strength of the commaéegrospace
markets, overall helicopter demand, and the absefite impact
of the 2006 Sikorsky strike. Commercial aerospdtaraarket
growth rates were significantly in excess of gehimidustry
growth levels while military OEM revenue growth waééven by
government demand for military helicopters. The pwarcial
businesses benefited from generally favorable waodd
economic conditions throughout most of 2007. Qjigiwth
included increases in all geographic regions, keddw equipment
sales as a result of the strong backlog enteriagéar and
continued order strength throughout 2007. Carriengnues
increased as a result of

generally strong international residential and cargial HVAC
markets, partially offset by significantly loweritishipments of
U.S. residential product due to the weakness irNibreh
American residential market.

The decrease in other income in 2008, as compaited?@07, is
largely related to the absence of certain gairsatfd in 2007 as
further described below. Other income in 2008 idekigains
generated during the year from business divestéatigity,
including a $67 million gain at Carrier from thentabution of a
business into a new venture operating in the Middlst and the
Commonwealth of Independent States, an approxisn&gi
million non-cash gain recognized on the sale chrial
investment at Pratt & Whitney and a gain of appmately $25
million related to a disposal of a business at H@miSundstrand.
Also, other income in 2008 reflects a $38 millicirgfrom the
sale of marketable securities and an approxim&ER/million
favorable pre-tax interest adjustment related ¢osttttlement of
disputed adjustments from the 2000 through 200&@xation
with the Appeals Division of the Internal Revenwengce (IRS).
These gains were partially offset by the adverggairhof
increased hedging costs on our cash managemevitiastof
approximately $80 million. The balance of otherame is
comprised of interest and joint venture incomeaftigs, and other
miscellaneous operating activities.

Other income for 2007 included approximately $150ion in
gains resulting from the sale of marketable seiestitin
approximately $80 million gain recognized on thie & land by
Otis, gains of approximately $83 million on thepisal of certain
non-core businesses, and approximately $28 miitigire-tax
interest income relating to a re-evaluation of @urliabilities and
contingencies based on global tax examination iactiluring
2007, including completion of our review of the Rabrough
2003 IRS audit report and our related protestdiliRemaining
activity includes interest and joint venture incomagyalties and
other miscellaneous operating activities.

Gross Margin

(in millions of dollars) 200§ 2007 2006
Gross margir $15,481 $13,997 $12,378
Percentage of sali 26.7% 26.09 26.3%

The improvement in gross margin (product and sersales less
the cost of product and services sold) of 70 baaiists in 2008, as
a percentage of sales, is due largely to the befinefin higher
volumes, savings from previously initiated restuictg actions
and net operational efficiencies (approximatelyb@8is points
combined). The absence of the 2007 EU Fine, netswrves
(approximately 40 basis points) was partially dftsgthe adverse
impact




of higher commodity costs, net of pricing (approataly 20 basis
points) and increased restructuring costs (appratein 10 basis
points) contributing to the remainder of the yeaemyear change.

In 2007, the gross margin decline as a percenthgal@s
compared with 2006, was primarily the result of sldwerse
impact of the EU Fine, net of existing reservesambroximately
$216 million (approximately 40 basis points), ttsence of an
approximately $80 million benefit (approximately Bfisis points)
from a reserve reversal associated with the 20@&ent of a
Department of Defense collaboration accountinglagainst
Pratt & Whitney, and higher commodity costs in 208fter
partial recovery through pricing, the net adverspact to earnings
of higher commodity costs in 2007 was approxima$z90
million (approximately 50 basis points). All of feadverse
impacts were partially offset by lower restructgricharges in
2007 (approximately 20 basis points), higher volsntiee impact
of acquisitions, savings from previously initiatestructuring
actions, net operational efficiencies and the faliity of foreign
exchange translation.

Research and Development

(in millions of dollars) 200¢ 2007 2006
Compan-funded $1,77] $1,67¢ $1,529
Percentage of sali 3.1% 3.19 3.2%
Custome-funded $2,00¢ $1,872 $1,621
Percentage of sali 3.5% 3.59 3.4%

The increase in company-funded research and deweloipin
2008, compared with 2007, was led by continuedstments in
Pratt & Whitney’s next generation product familgluding the
PurePower™PW1000G (PurePower) engine, which feature
Geared Turbofan (GTF) technology. General increasssss the
businesses comprised the remainder of the yeary@aerincrease.
The approximately 10% increase in company-fundedarch and
development in 2007, as compared with 2006, wagdHdargely
by continued efforts on the Boeing 787 program atifton
Sundstrand (4%) and Pratt & Whitney’s next generafiroduct
family (3%). Increases in company-funded reseancth a
development costs at Hamilton Sundstrand on théngo87
program in 2007 were primarily the result of 78edft program
delays. Company-funded research and developmentisgis
subject to the variable nature of program develagreehedules.

The increase in customer-funded research and davelat
spending in 2008, as compared with 2007, relatggllato
increased engineering effort in the J-2X propulgioogram at
Pratt & Whitney Rocketdyne as well as various sgaograms at
Hamilton Sundstrand, while

development spending on the Joint Strike Fighteggam across
the company decreased. The 2007 increase in cusfanaed
research and development, as compared with 20@6igrily
attributable to increased spending at SikorskyhenGH-53K
program.

Company-funded research and development spendirZ@® is
expected to be consistent with 2008 spending levels

Selling, General and Administrative

(in millions of dollars) 200¢ 2007 2006
Selling, general and
administrative

Percentage of sali

$ 6,724 $ 6,104 $ 5,462
11.6% 11.39 11.6%

Increases in selling, general and administratiygeases in both
2008 and 2007 were due primarily to general in@easross the
businesses in support of higher volumes and theradumpact of
foreign currency translation. The increase in 26@8 further
impacted by the effect of increased restructurimarges
undertaken in anticipation of a tougher economimate in 2009,
resulting in a 30 basis point increase in sellgeneral and
administrative expenses as a percentage of salesX007 to
2008. Strong control of spending in 2007, couplétth the
significant growth in revenues, led to a 30 basisiforeduction in
selling, general and administrative expenses a@ptage of
sales from 2006 to 2007.

Interest Expense

(in millions of dollars) 200¢ 2007 2006
Interest expens $ 689 $ 666 $ 606
Average interest rate during

the yeal

Shor-term borrowings 5.6% 6.29 6.2%

Total debt 5.9% 6.29 6.4%

Interest expense increased in 2008, as comparad?@a7,
primarily as a result of the issuances of $1.0dilbf long-term
debt in December 2007, bearing interest at 5.3%6%,$1.0
billion of long-term debt in May 2008, bearing irgst at 6.125%.
This increase was partially offset by lower int¢i@sarges related
to our deferred compensation plan and lower interesrued on
unrecognized tax benefits. The issuance of $1.B6rbof long-
term debt in December 2008 bearing interest ati84did not
have a significant impact to interest expense 82Mnterest
expense increased in 2007 primarily as a resuliefull year
impact of the issuance of $1.1 billion of long-tedebt in May
2006, an increase in short-term borrowings to faoguisition
activity, and interest accrued on unrecognizednefits.



The issuance of $1.0 billion of long-term debt ied@mber 2007
did not have a significant impact to interest exgeeim 2007.

The average interest rate for commercial paperedsed in 2008
as compared to 2007 generating the decrease av#rage short-
term borrowing rate. The overall average interat declined as
the long-term debt issuances noted above werdeaest rates
lower than existing outstanding obligations. Theghted-average
interest rate applicable to debt outstanding aebdwer 31, 2008
was 5.3% for short-term borrowings and 5.9% foaltdebt as
compared to 7.2% and 6.2%, respectively, at DeceBthe2007.
The decrease in the average interest rate ondeldlin 2007, as
compared to 2006, corresponded to the full yeaaghpf the May
2006 long-term debt issuances which bear intete&0&% and
LIBOR + .07%. The three month LIBOR rate as of Deber 31,
2008, 2007 and 2006 was 1.4%, 4.7% and 5.4%, riéeplgc

Income Taxes

2004 2007 2006
27.1% 28.89 27.2%

Effective income tax rat

The effective tax rates for 2008, 2007 and 200 cefax benefits
associated with lower tax rates on internationahiegs, which we
intend to permanently reinvest outside the UnitedeS. The 2008
effective tax rate decreased as compared to 200 Tadiine
absence of certain discrete items which had adatrae impact in
2007. The 2008 effective tax rate reflects appraaty $62
million of tax expense reductions, principally téig to re-
evaluation of our liabilities and contingenciesdzhsipon
resolution of disputed tax matters with the Appdzilgsion of the
IRS for tax years 2000 through 2003.

The 2007 effective tax rate reflects approxima$d9 million of
tax expense reductions, principally relating teveduation of our
liabilities and contingencies based upon globah@ration
activity, including the IRS’s completion of 2000 digh 2003
examination fieldwork and our related protest €limnd
development of claims for research and developitaantredits.
Principal adverse tax impacts to the 2007 effedtxerate related
to the previously disclosed EU Fine and enactedaaxchanges
outside the United States.

In 2006, a residual disputed issue related to #89 Hisposition of
a business segment was settled with the Appealsibivof the
IRS and was reviewed by the U.S. Congress Jointritiee on
Taxation. The settlement resulted in an approxilp&85 million
reduction in tax expense in 2006.

We expect our effective income tax rate in 200Bdo
approximately 28%, before the impacts of any discexents.

For additional discussion of income taxes, seetitai
Accounting Estimates—Income Taxes” and Note 9 ¢ th
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Net Income and Earnings Per Share
(in millions of dollars, except per share |
amounts’ 2004 200 2006
Net income $4,68¢4 $4,224 $3,732
Diluted earnings per sha $ 4.9( $ 4.27 $ 3.71

The general weakness of the U.S. dollar againshiceturrencies,
such as the Euro, for the majority of the year egated a
beneficial year-over-year foreign currency impac$.@6 per share
in 2008. This year-over-year impact is net of tHeease impacts
of both foreign currency translation and hedgingatt &
Whitney Canada (P&WC) of a combined $.05 per shatre.
P&WC, the strength of the U.S. dollar in the fougtrarter of 2008
partially offset the adverse foreign currency ttatisn impact
experienced earlier in the year from a weaker ddBar as the
majority of P&WC'’s revenues are denominated in Wdd@lars,
while a significant portion of its costs are in@drin local
currencies. To help mitigate the volatility of faye currency
exchange rates on our operating results, we maifdegign
currency hedging programs, the majority of which entered into
by P&WC. Due to the significant revenue growth &M¥C, as
well as the dramatic increase in the strength @@hanadian dollar
to the U.S. dollar in 2007 and early 2008, the lesdgreviously
entered into generated an adverse foreign exchampet as the
U.S. dollar strengthened. As a result of hedgiragams currently
in place, P&WC'’s 2009 operating results will inctuthe adverse
impact of foreign currency translation, net of hiedg of
approximately $100 million. In 2007 and 2006, fgrecurrency
translation had a favorable impact of $.09 and $&ishare,
respectively. For additional discussion of foregymrency
exposure, see “Market Risk and Risk Management—igiore
Currency Exposures.” Diluted earnings per shar@@@8 were
also favorably impacted by approximately $.11 gers as a
result of the shares repurchased since Januag08, @nder our
share repurchase program.




Restructuring and Other Costs

We recorded net pre-tax restructuring and relabedges/(credits)
totaling $357 million in 2008 and $166 million i9@7 for new
and ongoing restructuring actions. We recordedeticbsirges in
the segments as follows:

(in millions of dollars) 2009 2007
Otis $ 21 $ 21
Carrier 14(Q 33
UTC Fire & Security 63 39
Pratt & Whitney 114 53
Hamilton Sundstran 16 23
Sikorsky — ©)]
Eliminations & Othel 1 —

The 2008 charges include $148 million in cost d&ésa$205
million in selling, general and administrative erpes and $4
million in other income. The 2007 charges includdé@million in
cost of sales, $55 million in selling, general adlninistrative
expenses and $1 million in other income. Thesegdtarelate
principally to actions initiated during 2008 and a lesser extent,
residual trailing costs related to certain 2007 2006 actions.

Restructuring actions are an essential componemtiodperating
margin improvement efforts and relate to both éxgsbperations
and those recently acquired. We have acquiredindstesinesses
at beneficial values, such as Linde, Chubb, Kidu# I&SG, with
the expectation of restructuring the underlyingtsbsicture in
order to bring operating margins up to expectedlkev
Restructuring actions focus on streamlining cdstsugh
workforce reductions, the consolidation of manufacg, sales
and service facilities, and the transfer of workrtore cost-
effective locations. For acquisitions prior to Janul, 2009, the
costs of restructuring actions at the acquired amgp
contemplated at the date of acquisition are reabtoheler
purchase accounting and actions initiated subséigueme
recorded through operating results. However, upenlanuary 1,
2009 adoption of SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), “Bass
Combinations” (SFAS 141(R)), restructuring costsoagated with
a business combination will be expensed as incuvkédexpect to
initiate restructuring actions during 2009 acrdestiusinesses due
to our continuing cost reduction efforts. Excludihg impact of
SFAS 141(R), we expect to incur approximately $ablion of
restructuring costs in the first quarter of 200&héugh no
specific plans for other significant actions haeebfinalized at
this time, we continue to closely monitor the eaoim
environment and may undertake further restructuaictgpns to
keep our cost structure aligned with the demandseoprevailing
market conditions.

2008 Actions. During 2008, we initiated restructuring actions
relating to ongoing cost reduction efforts, inchgiselling,
general and administrative reductions and the dutaimn of
manufacturing facilities. We recorded net pre-testiucturing and
related charges in the business segments totadiag fillion as
follows: Otis $21 million, Carrier $141 million, UT Fire &
Security $58 million, Pratt & Whitney $93 millioRlamilton
Sundstrand $13 million and Eliminations & Otherr§illion. The
charges included $119 million in cost of sales,4&4Gllion in
selling, general and administrative expenses aniffién in

other income. Those costs included $277 millionsirerance and
related employee termination costs, $24 milliondeset write-
downs and $26 million for facility exit and leaserhination costs.

We expect the 2008 actions to result in net woddaeductions of
approximately 6,300 hourly and salaried employ#esexiting of
approximately 1.2 million net square feet of fd@k and the
disposal of assets associated with the exitedtiasil As of
December 31, 2008, we have completed net workf@dections
of approximately 3,900 employees. We are targdtiegnajority
of the remaining workforce and all facility relatedst reduction
actions for completion during 2009 and 2010. Apprately 80%
of the total pre-tax charge will require cash pagtegwhich we
will fund with cash generated from operations. bgr2008, we
had cash outflows of approximately $130 millioratet to the
2008 actions. We expect to incur additional restniicg and
related charges of $60 million to complete thesmas. We
expect recurring pre-tax savings to increase dwetwo-year
period subsequent to initiating the actions to apipnately $370
million annually, of which $108 million was realdén 2008.

2007 Actions. During 2008, we recorded net pre-tax restructuring
and related charges in the business segmentsp&ili0 million
for restructuring actions initiated in 2007. Thé2@ctions relate
to ongoing cost reduction efforts, including wornlde reductions
and the consolidation of manufacturing facilitiége recorded the
charges in 2008 in our segments as follows: UT€ E&ilSecurity
$5 million, Pratt & Whitney $2 million and HamiltdBundstrand
$3 million. The charges included $9 million in co$tsales and $1
million in selling, general and administrative erpes. Those
costs included $7 million for facility exit and kmtermination
costs, $2 million for asset write-downs and $1 igmllfor
severance.

We expect the 2007 actions to result in net woddaeductions of
approximately 1,800 hourly and salaried employ#esexiting of
approximately 500,000 net square feet of facilitiad the disposal
of assets associated with the exited facilitiesoRBecember 31,
2008, we have

completed net workforce reductions of approximafie§00
employees and exited 200,000 net square feet titic We are
targeting the majority of the remaining workforageddacility
related cost reduction actions for completion dy2009.
Approximately 70% of the total pre-tax charge wé@guire cash
payments, which we will fund with cash generatenirfr



operations. During 2008, we had cash outflows preximately
$40 million related to the 2007 actions. We exjpedéhcur
additional restructuring and related charges offfibon to
complete these actions. We expect recurring predaings to
increase over the two-year period subsequent tiating the
actions to approximately $110 million annually.

2006 Actions. During 2008, we recorded net pre-tax restructuring
and related charges of $20 million for actionsiatétd in 2006.

The 2006 actions relate to ongoing cost reductftorts, selling,
general and administrative reductions, workforcuiotions and

the consolidation of manufacturing facilities. T¢tearges recorded
in 2008 pertain to facility exit and lease termiaatcosts, which
include $20 million of charges recorded to cossales and $1

Segment Review

million recorded to selling, general and adminibteaexpenses at
Pratt & Whitney, and $1 million of reversals receddo selling,
general and administrative expenses at Carrier.

The 2006 actions resulted in the exiting of apprately

800,000 net square feet of facilities and the digpof assets
associated with the exited facilities. As of Decem®l, 2008, we
have completed all net workforce reductions of agipnately
3,700 hourly and salaried employees and complédtdalcdity
related actions.

For additional discussion of restructuring, seeeNkt to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Revenue Operating Profits Operating Profit Margir
(in millions of dollars) 2004 2007 2006 200¢ 2007 2006 2004 2007 2006
Otis $12,949 $11,887 $10,29( $2,471 $2,321 $1,88§ 19.19%9 19.59 18.3%
Carrier 14,944 14,644 13,481 1,314 1,381 1,23 8.8% 9.49 9.2%
UTC Fire & Security 6,462 5,754 4,747 547 443 301 8.4% 7.79 6.3%
Pratt & Whitney 12,964 12,12 11,117 2,122 2,01] 1,817 16.4% 16.69 16.4%
Hamilton Sundstran 6,207 5,636 4,995 1,094 967 837 17.7% 17.29 16.7%
Sikorsky 5,368 4,784 3,23( 478 373 173 8.9% 7.89 5.4%

Commercial Businesse

The financial performance of our commercial bussesscan be
influenced by a number of external factors inclgdiluctuations
in residential and commercial construction activiggulatory
changes, interest rates, labor costs, foreign eoyrexchange
rates, customer attrition, raw material and eneasts, tightening
of credit markets and other global and politicaktdes. Carrier’s
financial performance can also be influenced bylpotion and
utilization of transport equipment, and for itsidemtial business,
weather conditions. Geographic and industry ditgiross the
commercial businesses help to balance the impaaiaf factors
on our consolidated operating results. The dedfirerders late in
the year across our commercial businesses is B oédsontinued
weakness in the U.S. residential market, the sthemjng of the
U.S. dollar and a second half slowdown in global-nesidential
construction activity. Although we have not seesigaificant
increase in cancellations of orders in the commaéhtisinesses to
date, we have experienced an increase in delay®amderlying
projects contend with financing issues as a restthe tight credit
markets.

In 2008, 72% of total commercial business revenus®
generated outside the United States, as compar&tan 2007.
The following table shows revenues generated caithid United
States for each of the commercial business segments

2004 2007
Otis 80% 81%
Carrier 60% 59%
UTC Fire & Security 83% 82%

Otis is the world’s largest elevator and escalator mactufing,
installation and service company. Otis designs,ufaotures, sells
and installs a wide range of passenger and freighvators for
low-, medium- and high-speed applications, as a®k broad line
of escalators and moving walkways. In additionéavrequipment,
Otis provides modernization products to upgradeattes and
escalators as well as maintenance services foritsopnoducts and
those of other manufacturers. Otis serves custoiméhe
commercial and residential property industries adbtine world.
Otis sells directly to the end customer and, ton#éd extent,
through sales representatives and distributors.



Organic revenue growth of 7% in 2008 was generayea strong
opening new equipment backlog with revenue increas&urope
and North America. Revenues in Asia were flat @swvin in China
was offset by a decline in Korea. New equipmenemdose 8%
and new equipment backlog at the end of the yearupa%, led
by China. Deteriorating economic conditions havgureto
adversely impact many commercial construction markeound
the world, resulting in declining new equipmenteardates in the
fourth quarter of 2008 and delays in some previpaslarded
projects. Global economic conditions are expeaeativersely
impact new equipment sales, orders, and pricirpDo.

In 2008, Otis revenues increased $1,064 million)(8&tnpared
with 2007, reflecting organic growth (7%) and thedrable
impact of foreign currency translation (3%), pdlyiaffset by the
absence of gains on the sale of land and a nonbcmieess
(combined 1%) recorded in 2007. Revenue growtlecedd
increased new equipment and service volume, aigeldebstrong
new equipment backlog entering the year, as weligiser
modernization and repair sales in North America Batbpe, the
latter benefiting from changes to elevator safatyd in France and
Spain. The 2007 increase of $1,595 million (16%poted
organic growth (8%), the favorable impact of foreurrency
translation (6%) and gains on the sale of landaandn-core
business (combined 1%). Organic growth reflectedeiases in all
geographic regions, led by new equipment sales.

Otis operating profits increased $156 million (7%2008
compared with 2007. Profit improvement resultearfiaigher
volumes, product cost reductions and improved fiestiallation
efficiencies as partially offset by higher commgdind labor costs
(net combined 9%), and the favorable impact ofifpreurrency
translation (5%). These improvements were redugetid
absence in 2008 of gains realized on the salenof dad a non-
core business in 2007 (combined 5%) and by pravssfor
inventory shortages and other accounting irregtigari

(2%) discovered at a subsidiary in Brazil in la@®8. Otis expects
to conclude its investigation into the Braziliantteain 2009.

Operating profits increased $433 million (23%) 00Z compared
with 2006 as a result of higher revenues and aogiainment
actions partially offset by escalating commodityl debor costs
(net 9%), the favorable impact of foreign curretreynslation
(7%), gains realized on the sale of land and agcure-business
(combined 6%), and lower restructuring charges (Xdfkerating
margins expanded despite the continued shift iessaix towards
new equipment, which has lower contribution mardhan
services.

Carrier is the world’s largest manufacturer and distributbr
HVAC and refrigeration systems. It also produceasifeervice
equipment and HVAC and refrigeration-related costfor
residential, commercial, industrial and transpastagpplications.
Carrier also provides

installation, retrofit and aftermarket services andhponents for
the products it sells and those of other manufacsun the HVAC
and refrigeration industries. Sales are made bio¢itttl to the end
customer and through manufacturers’ representatilissibutors,
wholesalers, dealers and retail outlets. Certai@asfier's HVAC
businesses are seasonal and can be impacted tyewe2arrier
customarily offers its customers incentives to pase products to
ensure adequate supply of our products in theiloligion channel.

The slowing global economy has had an immediateanpn
Carrier’s short cycle businesses, leading to aimedh organic
revenue of 1% in 2008. Weak end markets have aelyers
impacted the Refrigeration business and continuegkness in the
U.S. housing market unfavorably impacted the Nduterican
residential businesses. Higher costs on cross boatesactions, as
a result of significant currency shifts worldwideve also
negatively impacted 2008 operating margin. Oureuirr
expectation is that the U.S. housing market deatatin will
continue throughout 2009. Moderating commercial H3/érder
rates and significant declines in transport refiagjen orders late
in the year are expected to create challenginghbasiconditions
in 2009. These challenges as well as weak glolmdarnic
conditions are expected to contribute to a furtharall decline in
organic revenue in 2009. In response to the cugeshomic
environment and expected slower worldwide growtiriér
continues to focus on implementing restructurind ather cost
reduction initiatives.

Although commodity prices declined in the seconld 2008,
Carrier still experienced overall cost increasedlie year, in part
due to certain existing long-term supplier agreesehs a result
of commaodity cost increases in 2008 and 2007, €arri
implemented price increases on many of its prodédteough
this helped to partially mitigate the impact, conulity cost
increases still had a net adverse impact to operatiofit in 2008
and 2007 of $71 million and $79 million, respechyve

Carrier’s revenues increased $300 million (2%)00& compared
with 2007, reflecting the favorable impact of bédheign currency
translation (2%) and the net impact of recent agitjans (1%).
Organic revenue declined (1%) for the year duedaksend
markets in the Refrigeration business and a dediitiee
Residential and Light Commercial Systems busine$¢oirth
America attributable to the continued weaknesténld.S. housing
market. These decreases more than offset growvitteiBuilding
Systems and Services business while the ResidamtiaLight
Commercial International business was essentiidty The year-
over-year impact from a gain generated on the iriton of a
business into a new venture operating in the Middlst and the
Commonwealth of Independent States was essentidigt by the
absence of a gain in 2007 on the disposition ofi€as Fincoil-
teollisuus Oy (Fincoil) heat exchanger business.



Carrier’s revenues increased $1,163 million (9007
compared with 2006. Revenue growth was led by Ehgld
Systems and Services (3%), Refrigeration (2%),Residential
and Light Commercial International HVAC (2%), patty offset
by a decline in the Residential and Light ComméiSistems
business in North America (2%) as a result of teakmess in the
U.S. housing market. The year-over-year impact feogain on the
disposition of Fincoil in 2007 was offset by thepatt of a gain in
2006 on Carrier’s sale of its interest in a comgoes
manufacturing joint venture. The favorable impddiooeign
currency translation (4%) comprised the majorityhaf remaining
revenue increase in 2007.

Carrier’s operating profits decreased $65 millib#o] in

2008 compared with 2007. Higher restructuring c{®%) and the
adverse impact of higher commodity costs, net wimgy (5%),
were partially offset by the favorable impact ofefign currency
translation (4%), the absence of the adverse inqfeac2007
settlement of a gas furnace litigation matter (39d the net
benefit from recent acquisitions (1%). A gain geted in 2008
from the contribution of a business to a new ventbfo) was
mostly offset by the absence of a gain (4%) reabrde€2007 on
the disposition of Fincoil. Profit growth in Buildj Systems and
Services, product cost reductions, and benefits foaor
restructuring actions, were more than offset bydoaarnings in
the Refrigeration and Residential and Light Comnai8ystems
International businesses and the adverse impdgdgbér costs on
cross border transactions (4%), as a result offgignt currency
shifts experienced during the year, to contribatthe remainder
of the year-over-year decrease in operating profit.

Carrier’s operating profits increased $144 mill{@d2%) in 2007
compared with 2006. Earnings growth in Building t8yss and
Services, Residential and Light Commercial Intaomati HVAC,
and Refrigeration more than offset declining eagaim
Residential and Light Commercial Systems North Aozeto
generate a combined increase in operating prdfit%o]. Lower
restructuring charges (3%), the absence of manuiagt
inefficiencies associated with the ramp up of tR&SEER
production in 2006, and the favorable impact oéfgn currency
translation (4%) were partially offset by the adeeimpact of
higher commodity costs, net of price realizatiobo]6The adverse
impact of the settlement of a furnace litigationtiea($36 million)
was more than offset by a gain generated on thposiigon of
Fincoil, to generate the majority of the remainymgr-over-year
change.

UTC Fire & Security is a global provider of security and fire
safety products and services. The UTC Fire & Sécsagment
was created in the second quarter of 2005 uponirang iKidde
and adding the Kidde industrial, retail and comnaifire safety
businesses to the former Chubb segment. In th&reféc security
industry, UTC Fire & Security provides system intggpn,
installation and service of intruder alarms, acaesgrol systems
and video
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surveillance systems under several brand namagding Chubb.
In the fire safety industry, UTC Fire & Securitysigns,
manufactures, integrates, installs, sells and sesva wide range
of specialty hazard detection and fixed suppresgroducts and
systems and manufactures, sells and services poftab
extinguishers and other fire fighting equipmentemseveral
brand names including Kidde. UTC Fire & Securityaaprovides
monitoring, response and security personnel sesyineluding
cash-in-transit security, to complement its elett®ecurity and
fire safety businesses. UTC Fire & Security seiteatly to the
customer as well as through manufacturers’ reptatees,
distributors, dealers and U.S. retail distribution.

UTC Fire & Security’s revenues increased $708 omill{12%) in
2008, as compared with 2007, due principally toawgjuisitions
(9%). Organic revenue growth of 3% was primarilpiributed by
the North American and European Fire Safety buse®§2%) due
to strength in the oil & gas and marine industeed in Asia. UTC
Fire & Security’s revenues increased $1,007 mil([@h%) in
2007, as compared with 2006, due to acquisitioB%a)1 the
favorable impact of foreign currency translatioftj7and organic
growth (2%).

UTC Fire & Security’s operating profits increasezb3nillion
(22%) in 2008, as compared with 2007, due printipal
increased sales volume, the benefits of net cdsict®ns from
previous restructuring and integration and contigyroductivity
initiatives (combined 18%) and net acquisitions%}1These
improvements were partially offset by the advemspact of higher
restructuring costs (5%) and the unfavorable imp&ébreign
currency translation (1%) to reflect the majorifyttee remaining
yearover-year operating profit change. Operating psaficreased
$142 million (47%) in 2007 as compared with 2006e Thajority
of the increase in operating profits was generfrtad increased
volume, net cost reductions from previous restntiicguactions
(combined 19%), net acquisitions (19%), lower rastiring costs
(2%) and the favorable impact of foreign curremeyslation
(9%). These improvements were partially offsethry met adverse
impact of higher commodity costs (3%).

Aerospace Businesses

The financial performance of Pratt & Whitney, Hanil
Sundstrand and Sikorsky is directly tied to thenaeoic
conditions of the commercial aerospace and defiensestries. In
particular, Pratt & Whitney experiences intense petition for
new commercial airfframe/engine combinations. Engingpliers
may offer substantial discounts and other finanicie¢ntives,
performance and operating cost guarantees, patioipin
financing arrangements and maintenance agreenfdrtimes, the
aerospace businesses also enter into firm fixezkglevelopment
contracts, which may require the company to bear @eerruns
related to unforeseen technical and design chaketitat arise
during the development stage of the program. Custa®lections
of engines and components can also have a signiifica



impact on later sales of parts and service. Predicaffic levels,
load factors, worldwide airline profits, generabeomic activity
and global defense spending have been reliableatats for new
aircraft and aftermarket orders within the aerospgadustry. Spare
part sales and aftermarket service trends aretaffdry many
factors, including usage, technological improveragpticing,
regulatory changes and the retirement of olderafirc
Performance in the general aviation sector is tjased to the
overall health of the economy and is positivelyretated to
corporate profits.

The volatility of fuel prices throughout much of@adversely
impacted the commercial aerospace industry leatiagy airline
carriers to consolidate or reduce capacity by gdome aircraft
and retiring other older and less fuel efficiemtrift. Several
smaller carriers have either declared bankruptchat down
altogether. Although fuel prices had declined samgally by the
end of 2008, the deterioration in the worldwiderearoic
environment has led to a significant decline insgager and cargo
traffic. RPM growth was essentially flat in 200&woared to the
5% growth reflected in 2007. We expect worldwideM&Ro be
down approximately 3% in 2009 as a result of exgabé&trther air
traffic declines. While the service and capaciguetions did not
have a significant impact on our 2008 full yeautts we did
begin to see a decline in Pratt & Whitney’s yeaemyear large
commercial spares orders and we expect a furthetinden 2009
based upon the current economic conditions. Asaltref lower
business jet utilization, P&WC experienced a decimspares
volume in the second half of 2008, and expect &rrtteclines in
2009. Total commercial aerospace aftermarket reeemcreased
2% in 2008 compared with 2007, reflecting increasdsoth
Hamilton Sundstrand and Sikorsky, while Pratt & kbl was
essentially flat year-over-year. Pratt & Whitnegtammercial
aerospace aftermarket revenue performance refleeigrowth
experienced in the first half of 2008 offset by ldezs in the
second half of the year. Hamilton Sundstrand’sraféeket
revenues increased in the year due to provisiomnipe airlines
and as it supplies product content on a broad speatf aircraft.

Despite the airline industry adversity, the strpngduction levels
at the airframe manufacturers generated commexeralspace
OEM growth in 2008, as compared with 2007, as ainte
manufacturers continued delivering on their strbagklogs.
Given the current tight credit markets facing bibth airlines and
the business jet market, there is a possibility some commercial
aircraft delivery dates scheduled for 2009 ares&taf being
deferred. Projected global traffic declines, a vezalg business
jet market, and the possible deferral of commeiiairaft
deliveries by airlines to counter the weakeningdtalemand are
all expected to result in a moderation of growtiesan the
commercial aerospace markets. The machinist sttilBoeing
during the year did not have a significant advérggact to our
2008 full year results.
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Continued government military spending is drivirgitopter
demand and, as a result, Sikorsky’s military bagklemains very
strong. While the U.S. Defense Department budgetsaagely in
place for 2009, spending beyond 2009 will reflemiqies of a
new administration and Congress. Across all segsnemititary
OEM volume increased 13% in 2008 compared with 268V by
Sikorsky. As a result of the strong military hejiter demand and
our existing backlogs, we expect further growthdaticopter
deliveries in 2009. Total sales to the U.S. govemnof $7.7
billion, $7.3 billion, and $6.4 billion in 2008, 2@, and 2006,
respectively, were 13% of total UTC sales in 2008 44% in
both 2007 and 2006. The defense portion of oursperce business
is affected by changes in market demand and thEabfmlitical
environment. Our participation in long-term prodactand
development programs for the U.S. government hasibated
positively to our results in 2008 and is expecteddntinue to
benefit results in 2009.

Pratt & Whitney is among the world’s leading suppliers of
aircraft engines for the commercial, military, mess jet and
general aviation markets. Pratt & Whitney’s GloBakvices
organization provides maintenance, repair and aérbervices,
including the sale of spare parts, as well as fieebagement
services for large commercial engines. Pratt & Watproduces
families of engines for wide and narrow body aifciathe
commercial and military markets. Pratt & Whitnegakells
engines for industrial applications and space pedpo systems.
P&WC is a world leader in the production of engipesvering
business, regional, light jet, utility and militaayrcraft and
helicopters. Pratt & Whitney Rocketdyne (PWR) Isader in the
design, development and manufacture of sophisticatdeospace
propulsion systems for military and commercial aggilons,
including the U.S. space shuttle. Pratt & Whitngy'educts are
sold principally to aircraft manufacturers, airn@nd other aircraft
operators, aircraft leasing companies, space lavebitle
providers and U.S. and foreign governments. Pratfi&itney’s
products and services must adhere to strict remyland market
driven safety and performance standards. The frabyuehanging
nature of these standards, along with the longturaf aircraft
engine programs, create uncertainty regarding engiogram
profitability. The vast majority of sales are matieectly to the
end customer and, to a limited extent, through pedeent
distributors and foreign sales representatives.

During 2007, both Mitsubishi Heavy Industries LiiliHI) and
Bombardier selected Pratt & Whitney’s PurePowelirgs¢p
power their planned new aircraft. Both aircraft acheduled to
enter service in 2013. The PurePower engine, fegtGTF
technology, is the exclusive power plant for thevméditsubishi
Regional Jet and the proposed Bombardier C Sexiagyf of
passenger aircraft. This engine targets a sigmificeduction in
fuel burn and noise levels with lower environmemtalissions and
operating costs than current production engines. In



2008, the PurePower demonstrator engine succasstiutipleted
flight testing. The success of these aircraft drdRurePower
engine is dependent upon many factors includingrtelogical
challenges, aircraft demand, and regulatory appr®ased on
these factors, additional investment in the Puref?@md the GTF
program will be required, with potential additiomaestment in
the underlying aircraft programs being dependerduarcessful
launch by the air-framers and other conditions.

In view of the risks and costs associated with tgiag new
engines, Pratt & Whitney has entered into collabona
agreements in which revenues, costs and riskshared. At
December 31, 2008, the interests of participantein and
existing Pratt & Whitney-directed jet engine protioie programs
ranged from 14% to 29%. In addition, Pratt & Whitrieas
interests in other engine programs, including a ¥#rest in the
International Aero Engines (IAE) collaboration tsatls and
supports V2500 engines for the Airbus A320 family of aircraft.
At December 31, 2008, a portion of Pratt & Whitreyiterest in
IAE (equivalent to 4% of the overall IAE collabadrat) was held
by Pratt & Whitney sub-partners. Pratt & Whitnegahas a 50%
interest in the Engine Alliance (EA), a joint vergwith GE
Aviation, undertaken to develop, market and martufecthe
GP7000® engine for the Airbus A380 aircraft. At December 31
2008, 40% of Pratt & Whitney’'s 50% interest in t&& was held
by other participants. During 2008, we also enténéal
collaboration arrangements for the above mentidhaePower
engine programs. Effective January 1, 2009, we aaepted
EITF Issue No. 07-1, “Accounting for Collaborative
Arrangements,” which requires that revenues antsdosm
collaborative arrangements be reported on a grasis in the
appropriate line item in our financial statemertr Bdditional
discussion of this EITF Issue, see “New Accounting
Pronouncements.”

Pratt & Whitney’s revenues increased $836 millid#o] in 2008
as compared with 2007. This increase is primatiiybatable to
higher engine deliveries at P&WC (4%), increasedmercial
engine revenue and aftermarket services voluméapharoffset by
commercial spares (net combined 1%), and increasiedne at
Pratt & Whitney Power Systems (1%). Increased vel@anPWR
(1%) was offset by lower military engine volumegvnues
increased $1,017 million (9%) in 2007 as comparéh 2006.
This increase was primarily attributable to higegine deliveries
at P&WC (4%), higher commercial aftermarket voluf@&), and
higher volumes at Pratt & Whitney Power Systems)(3%

Pratt & Whitney’s operating profits increased $hiillion (6%) in
2008 as compared with 2007. This increase is piriynar
attributable to the profit contributions from highengine
deliveries and favorable engine mix at P&WC (7% arcreased
volume at PWR (2%). Operating profit growth alsfieets a gain
from the sale of a partial investment (2%) and the
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favorable impact of commercial engine mix, a contigrengine
program adjustment, and lower net commodity casimpined
3%). These profit contributions were partially eff®y the
absence of the favorable impact of a contract teation in 2007
(3%), higher year-over-year restructuring costs)(a#d the
adverse impact of foreign currency movement (3%bati
foreign currency translation and hedging activity.

Pratt & Whitney’s operating profits increased $18#lion

(11%) in 2007 as compared with 2006. This increeae primarily
attributable to the profit contribution from higheslumes in
commercial markets and aftermarket services (1Rgher
volumes and aftermarket performance at P&WC (6%d,an
improved engine mix in military markets (5%). Thésereases to
operating profit were patrtially offset by the impa¢ higher year-
over-year commaodity costs (7%), and the absentieedfavorable
impact of a 2006 settlement of a government litggamatter
(5%).

Hamilton Sundstrand is among the world’s leading suppliers of
technologically advanced aerospace and industrialyzts and
aftermarket services for diversified industries Matide. Hamilton
Sundstrand’s aerospace products, such as poweragieng
management and distribution systems, flight systemgine
control systems, environmental control systems, giotection and
detection systems, auxiliary power units and prepslystems,
serve commercial, military, regional, business gederal
aviation, as well as space and undersea applicatiftermarket
services include spare parts, overhaul and repadgfineering and
technical support and fleet maintenance prograramitbn
Sundstrand sells aerospace products to airframefactorers, the
U.S. and foreign governments, aircraft operatotsindependent
distributors. Hamilton Sundstrand’s principal inttigd products,
such as air compressors, metering pumps and fandimg
equipment, serve industries involved with raw matgrocessing,
bulk material handling, construction, hydrocarbod ahemical
processing, and water and wastewater treatmenselpr@ducts
are sold under the Sullair, Sundyne, Milton Roy atieer brand
names directly to end-users and through manufasture
representatives and distributors.

Hamilton Sundstrand’s revenues increased $571ami{ll0%) in
2008 as compared with 2007, due principally to oigaolume
growth in both the aerospace (7%) and industri#d)(Businesses,
and the favorable impact of foreign currency tratish (1%). The
increase within aerospace was primarily attribigdblOEM
volume growth. Revenues increased $641 million (LBPR007
as compared with 2006 due principally to organiltire growth
in both the aerospace (7%) and industrial (2%)rmssies, and the
favorable impact of foreign currency translatiofe)2 Within
aerospace, both commercial aftermarket (5%) anchuencial
OEM (2%) contributed to the volume increase.



Hamilton Sundstrand’s operating profits increas&82smillion
(14%) in 2008 as compared with 2007, primarily tugrowth in
the aerospace (6%) and industrial businesses (B%)favorable
impact of gains related to divestiture activity (3%he favorable
impact of foreign currency translation (1%), andédo year-over-
year restructuring costs (1%) contributed the niigjaf the
remaining year-over-year operating profit growttpe@ating
profits increased $135 million (16%) in 2007 as paned with
2006 due principally to volume growth in both tremenercial
aftermarket (13%) and industrial businesses (2%)tae
favorable impact of foreign currency translatiofo2 Operating
profits from commercial OEM revenue growth (8%) dhnel
impact of lower restructuring costs (2%) were mosffset by
increased company funded research and developrostst ©%),
principally related to the Boeing 787 program.

Sikorsky is one of the world’s largest manufacturers of taily
and commercial helicopters and also provides afiekat
helicopter and aircraft parts and services. Cunmggjbr production
programs at Sikorsky include the UH-60M Black Haw&dium-
transport helicopters and HH-60M Medevac helicapfer the
U.S. and foreign governments, the S-70 Black HaavKdreign
governments, the MH-60S and MH-60R helicoptergterU.S.
Navy, the International Naval Hawk for multiple m&wmissions
and the S-76 and the S-92 helicopters for commlavpirations.
The UH-60M helicopter is the latest and most modera series
of Black Hawk variants that Sikorsky has been dglivg to the
U.S. Army since 1978 and requires significant addal assembly
hours relative to the previous variants. In Decen2®®7, the U.S.
government and Sikorsky signed a five-year, mdtivice contract
for 537 H-60 helicopters to be delivered to the.lABny and U.S.
Navy, which include the U-60M, HH-60M, MH-60S and MH-
60R aircraft. The contract value for expected aglas over the
five year term is approximately $7.4 billion andlindes options
for an additional 263 aircraft, spares, and kitshwhe total
contract value potentially reaching $11.6 billioaking it the
largest contract in UTC and Sikorsky history. Attompduction
guantities will be determined year by year overlifeeof the
program based on funding allocations set by Cosgres
Pentagon acquisition priorities. The deliverieshef aircraft are
scheduled to be made through 2012. Sikorsky aldeveloping
the CH-53K next generation heavy lift helicopter tloe U.S.
Marine Corps and the CH-148, a derivative of th82a military
variant of the S-92, for the Canadian governmehe [atter is
being developed under an approximately $3 billiom ffixed-
price contract that provides for the developmerdgdpction, and
20-year logistical support of 28 helicopters. Tikithe largest and
most expansive fixed-price development contra8ikorsky’s
history. In December 2008, Sikorsky and the Camadia
government executed amendments to the contractehiaed the
delivery schedule and contract specifications. fiilsé test flight
was successfully conducted in November 2008 andetglof the
first helicopter is scheduled for the fourth quad&2010.
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Sikorsky’s aftermarket business includes sparesgsaies,
overhaul and repair services, maintenance confractslogistics
support programs for helicopters and other airc&dtes are made
directly by Sikorsky and by its subsidiaries anidt@entures.
Sikorsky is increasingly engaging in logistics soygprograms
and partnering with its government and commeraiat@mers to
manage and provide maintenance and repair services.

Sikorsky’s revenues increased $579 million (1292008, as
compared with 2007, due to the higher volume oftanif aircraft
deliveries and a favorable aircraft mix betweeritary and
commercial programs. Revenues increased $1,55@mill
(48%) in 2007, as compared with 2006, due to hitposiness
volume and full production in 2007 as comparedd0& which
was adversely impacted by the six week strike kdSky’s union
workforce. Increases in military aircraft deliveyiand program
support (22%), commercial aircraft revenues (13846 a
aftermarket operations (13%) comprised the majarftthe year-
over-year revenue increase.

Sikorsky’s operating profits increased $105 milli@8%) in 2008
as compared with 2007. This improvement was primari
attributable to increased military aircraft deliesrand favorable
aircraft mix for both military and commercial pregns (combined
42%). These improvements were partially offsetrinyéased
selling, general, and administrative expenses @fd)research
and development (6%). Sikorsky’s operating prafitseased
$200 million (116%) in 2007 as compared with 2006&8%
increase in the number of large aircraft delivedes result of
strong commercial and military demand and the atesenthe
strike related impact in 2006 generated the mgjoffithe increase
in operating profit in 2007. Lower year-over-yeastructuring
charges (14%), partially offset by the absencesobveries from
the Comanche program termination (7%), contribtibetthe
remaining operating profit increase.

Liquidity and Financing Commitments

(in millions of dollars) 2008 2007
Cash and cash equivalel $ 4,327 $ 2,904
Total debt 11,474 9,148
Net debt (total debt less cash and ¢

equivalents, 7,144 6,244
Shareowner equity 15,911 21,355
Total capitalization (debt plus equit 27,393 30,503
Net capitalization (debt plus equ

less cash and

cash equivalents 23,06¢ 27,599
Debt to total capitalizatio 42% 30%
Net debt to net capitalizatic 31% 23%




We assess our liquidity in terms of our abilitygenerate cash to
fund our operating, investing and financing aci@gt Our
principal source of liquidity is operating cashwi®, which, after
netting out capital expenditures, we target to equaxceed net
income. In addition to operating cash flows, otsignificant
factors that affect our overall management of liifyiinclude:
capital expenditures, customer financing requiresjénvestments
in businesses, dividends, common stock repurchpeesjon
funding, access to the commercial paper marketxjuaaty of
available bank lines of credit, and the abilityattract long-term
capital at satisfactory terms.

Recent distress in the financial markets has haataarse impact
on financial market activities including, amongetlhings,
extreme volatility in security prices, severely dished liquidity
and credit availability, rating downgrades of ceriavestments
and declining valuations of others. We have assebse
implications of these factors on our current bussnare closely
monitoring the impact on our customers and supgpli@nd have
determined that there has not been a significapaanon our
financial position, results of operations or ligitiycduring 2008.
Our pension plans have not experienced any sigmfitnpact on
liquidity or counterparty exposure due to the \ibitatin the credit
markets. However, as a result of losses experieimctd global
equity markets, our domestic pension funds expeeém negative
return on assets of approximately 27% in 2008. Tbigative
return on our domestic plan in 2008, combined waitthange in
discount rate will increase pension costs by apprately $225
million in 2009 as compared to 2008. The negatatarn on assets
also had a significant adverse impact on share@vequity in
2008. Combined with the changes attributable teigor currency
translation, the unrealized pension losses corigtba combined
increase of seven percentage points to the dedgjutity ratio.

Approximately 85% of our domestic pension plansiavested in
readily-liquid investments, including equity, fixéttome, asset
backed receivables and structured products. Lesslibo of these
investments are senior tranches of several stredtinvestment
vehicles that have been absorbed onto the baldeetssof the
sponsoring banks. The balance of our domestic peiqdans
(14%) is invested in less-liquid but market-valiregestments,
including real estate and private equity.

As discussed further below, our strong debt ratangys financial
position enabled us to issue $1.0 billion of lorgyt debt in May
2008 and $1.25 hillion of long-term debt in Decem®@08 at
favorable market rates. While market volatility nahbe
predicted, we do not currently expect a signifidampact to our
liquidity, financial position or results of operaris in 2009.
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Our ability to obtain debt financing at comparatik-based
interest rates is partly a function of our existdept to
capitalization levels as well as our current crsethinding. In
December 2008, we used the net proceeds from argrbleer
2008 issuance of $1.25 billion in long-term debtepay a portion
of our outstanding commercial paper borrowing$at time, as
well as a portion of our outstanding borrowingsrirour
multicurrency revolving credit facility. Our creditings are
reviewed regularly by major debt rating agencieshsas Standard
and Poor’s and Moody’s Investors Service. In Noven#08,
Standard and Poor’s affirmed our short-term defmgaas A-1,
and in December 2008, affirmed our long-term dabhg as A.
Similarly, in November 2008, Moody’s Investors Seevalso
affirmed its corporate rating on our long-term ahdrt-term debt
as A2 and P-1, respectively. We continue to hagessto the
commercial paper markets and our existing creditifies, and
expect to continue to generate strong operating taws. While
the impact of continued market volatility cannotgredicted, we
believe we have sufficient operating flexibilitygsh reserves and
funding sources to maintain adequate amounts woidity and to
meet our future operating cash needs.

Most of our cash is denominated in foreign curresciWe manage
our worldwide cash requirements by consideringlatsée funds
among the many subsidiaries through which we conoluc
business and the cost effectiveness with whichettimsds can be
accessed. The repatriation of cash balances fromic®f our
subsidiaries could have adverse tax consequenocegver, those
balances are generally available without legalia&ins to fund
ordinary business operations. We will continuerémsfer cash
from those subsidiaries to UTC and to other intéonal
subsidiaries when it is cost effective to do so.

We believe our future operating cash flows willsedficient to
meet our future operating cash needs. Furtheralility to obtain
debt or equity financing, as well as the avail&pilinder
committed credit lines, provides additional potaehsiources of
liquidity should they be required.

Cash Flow from Operating Activities

Year Ended December &
(in millions of dollars) 200¢ 2007
Net cash flows provided by operati
activities $ 6,16] $ 5,330

In both 2008 and 2007, the majority of cash flowsvided by
operating activities were generated by the incomm fthe strong
operational performance in both years. For 2008t income
contribution was partially offset by a growth in sking capital of
$230 million and



an increase in other net operating assets of appavely $240
million. The approximately $560 million growth inventory was
significantly lower than the $1.1 billion growth 2007 and largely
reflected the increased production levels at Sksorslowever, the
overall growth in inventories was more than oftsgfaccounts
payable and customer advances reflected in thegippately
$790 million increase in accounts payable and acthabilities.
The increase in accounts receivable is reflectiib® overall
growth in revenues.

For 2007, revenue and production growth generatamheined
increase in inventory and accounts receivable pfapmately
$1.6 billion. However, this amount was completelpded by
accounts payable and customer advances as refiadiesl
approximately $1.6 billion increase in accountsgidg and
accrued liabilities. Changes in other net operagisgets consumed
approximately $680 million due largely to the payrnef the
previously noted EU Fine and to the payment of @amrataxes in
connection with ongoing tax planning activities.

The funded status of our pension plans is depengmrt many
factors, including returns on invested assets hadevel of market
interest rates. We can contribute cash or compiatk $o our
plans at our discretion, subject to applicable lstipns. Total cash
contributions to pension plans during 2008 and 206 $242
million and $181 million, respectively. We also tdiouted $250
million and $150 million in UTC common stock to Heeplans
during 2008 and 2007, respectively. As of Decen®ier2008, the
total investment by the defined benefit pensiompla our
securities is approximately 4% of total plan assats expect to
make contributions of approximately $600 millionaiar pension
plans in 2009, including approximately $400 millimnour
domestic plans. Expected contributions to our @efipension
plans in 2009 will meet or exceed the current fagdi
requirements.

Cash Flow from Investing Activities

Year Ended December &
(in millions of dollars) 200¢ 2007
Net cash flows used in investil
activities $ (2,33¢6) $(3,187)

The 2008 activity primarily reflects a net investthn businesses
of $915 million and capital expenditures of $1,24lion. This
compares with a net investment in businesses i 20$1,739
million and capital expenditures of $1,153 millid@ash
investment in businesses across all of our operaiim 2008 was
$1,252 million and primarily consisted of a numbésmall
acquisitions in our commercial businesses. Acqaisitin 2007
consisted principally of the UTC Fire & Securitygaidsition of
IESG for $952 million and Marioff for $348 millioms
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well as a number of smaller acquisitions acrosstrenesses.
Dispositions in both 2008 and 2007 consisted ptiignaf the sale
of certain non-core businesses including Carrigireoil in 2007.
We expect total investments in businesses in 20@@proximate
$2 billion; however, actual acquisition spendingymary
depending upon the timing, availability and appiatervalue of
acquisition opportunities.

The $63 million increase in capital expenditure2008 as
compared with 2007 is related largely to restringuand facility
changes across the businesses. In preparationef@htllenging
economic climate expected in 2009, we have tiglteapital
expenditure spending substantially across the cagnpad as a
result expect a reduction of spending in 2009.

Customer financing activities were a net cash figi47 million
in 2008, compared to a net cash use of $139 milli2007. While
we expect that customer financing will be a netafseash in
2009, actual funding is subject to usage undetiagisustomer
financing arrangements. At December 31, 2008, vikfinancing
and rental commitments of $1,142 million related¢donmercial
aircraft, of which as much as $407 million may bguired to be
disbursed in 2009. We may also arrange for thindygavestors to
assume a portion of our commitments. Refer to Mdtethe
Consolidated Financial Statements for additionst¢assion of our
commercial aerospace industry assets and commiment

Cash Flow from Financing Activities

Year Ended December &
(in millions of dollars) 200¢ 2007
Net cash flows used in financil
activities $ (2,23¢) $ (1,955

In both 2008 and 2007, cash was primarily useetiorn value to
shareowners through dividends and share repurchases
December 2008, May 2008 and December 2007, wedskl@5
billion, $1.0 billion and $1.0 billion, respectiyelof long-term
debt. The proceeds of the May 2008 issuance wareaply used
for general corporate purposes, including finaneoguisitions
and repurchases of our stock. The proceeds of goember 2008
and 2007 issuances were primarily used to repayreneial paper
borrowings and to repay outstanding borrowings uode
multicurrency revolving credit facility describeelbw.

The timing and levels of certain cash flow actgdti such as
acquisitions and repurchases of our stock, havdtegsin the
issuance of both long-term and short-term debt. @ervial paper



borrowings and revolving credit facilities providleort-term
liquidity to supplement operating cash flows anel ased for
general corporate purposes, including the fundingptential
acquisitions and repurchases of our stock. At Déegrgl, 2008,
we had two committed credit agreements from baeksnjiting
aggregate borrowings of up to $2.5 billion. Oneditreommitment
is a $1.5 billion revolving credit agreement. AddEcember 31,
2008 there were no borrowings under this revolvreglit
agreement, which expires in October 2011. We adse la $1.0
billion multicurrency revolving credit agreemenaths available
for general funding purposes, including acquisgiofss of
December 31, 2008, approximately $460 million hadrb
borrowed under this revolving credit agreementsgreement
expires in November 2011. As of December 31, 2@@8undrawn
portions of both the $1.5 billion revolving credgreement and
$1.0 billion multicurrency revolving credit agreemavere
available to serve as backup facilities for theidssge of
commercial paper. In December 2008, we increasethadimum
commercial paper borrowing authority from $1.5ibillto $2.5
billion. In addition, at December 31, 2008, approately $2.0
billion was available under short-term lines ofditevith local
banks at our various domestic and internationasisiidries. We
had approximately $150 million of commercial papetstanding
at December 31, 2008, all of which was scheduledature
within one month. In February 2009, we redeemedktiire $500
million outstanding principal amount of FloatingtB&otes that
were due in June 2009.

In July 2007, we filed a universal shelf registatstatement with
the SEC for an indeterminate amount of securiteduture
issuance, subject to our internal limitations om @imount of debt
to be issued under this shelf registration statémen

Financing cash outflows for 2008 and 2007 incluthed
repurchase of 50.4 million and 28.3 million shas&sur common
stock for $3,160 million and $2,001 million, respeely, under a
share repurchase program. On June 11, 2008, thel Bba
Directors authorized a new 60 million common shapirchase
program that replaced the previous program, apprave
December 2006, which was nearing completion. Of the
approximately 50 million shares which were repusethin 2008,
19 million shares were repurchased under the pusyioogram
and 31 million shares were repurchased under tivepnegram. In
addition to management’s view that the repurch&seiocommon
stock is a beneficial investment, we also repuretiaffset the
dilutive effect of the issuance of stock and opsiomder the stock-
based employee benefit programs. At December 318,20e had
remaining authority to repurchase approximatelyr#ion shares
under the current program. We expect total sharerohases in
2009 to approximate $2.0 billion; however, totgluchases may
vary depending upon various factors including theel of other
investing activities.
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We paid dividends of $.32 per share in the firstregr of 2008 for
a total of $293 million, $.32 per share in the setquarter for a
total of $290 million, $.32 per share in the thipgarter for a total
of $286 million, and $.385 per share in the fouytiarter for a total
of $341 million. During 2007, $1,080 million of dadividends
were paid to shareowners.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Preparation of our financial statements requiresagament to
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegpamounts
of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses. Ntaghe
Consolidated Financial Statements describes thméfisant
accounting policies used in preparation of the ©bdated
Financial Statements. Management believes the coosplex and
sensitive judgments, because of their significandbe
Consolidated Financial Statements, result primdrdyn the need
to make estimates about the effects of mattersattgainherently
uncertain. The most significant areas involving agament
judgments and estimates are described below. Antsalts in
these areas could differ from management’s estsnate

Long-Term Contract Accounting. We utilize percentage of
completion accounting on certain of our long-teiwntcacts. The
percentage of completion method requires estinwdthgure
revenues and costs over the full term of produkivelsy. We also
utilize the completed-contract method of accountingertain
lesser value commercial contracts. Under the camegeontract
method, sales and cost of sales are recognized ahentract is
completed.

Losses, if any, on long-term contracts are providedvhen
anticipated. We recognize loss provisions on odabaguipment
contracts to the extent that estimated inventogiatdnufacturing,
engineering, product warranty and product perforreaguarantee
costs exceed the projected revenue from the prsduacitemplated
under the contractual arrangement. For new commifsneve
generally record loss provisions at the earliecarftract
announcement or contract signing. For existing cidments,
anticipated losses on contracts are recognizeukipériod in
which losses become evident. Products contemplatddr the
contractual arrangement include products purchasddr the
contract and, in the large commercial engine bssiniture
highly probable sales of replacement parts requisecegulation
that are expected to be purchased subsequentlyciamporation
into the original equipment. Revenue projectiorsdus
determining contract loss provisions are based @stimates of
the quantity, pricing and timing of future prodaeliveries. We
recognize losses on shipment to the extent thanitoviable
manufacturing costs, estimated warranty costs andigt
performance guarantee costs exceed revenue redli@ceasure



the extent of progress toward completion on ougiterm
commercial aerospace equipment and helicopter atistusing
units of delivery. In addition, we use the costst method for
development contracts in the aerospace businesddsraelevator
and escalator sales, installation and modernizatotracts in the
commercial businesses. For long-term aftermarketraots, we
recognize revenue over the contract period in ptapoto the
costs expected to be incurred in performing sesvineler the
contract. Contract accounting also requires esémat future
costs over the performance period of the contraetell as an
estimate of award fees and other sources of revenue

Contract costs are incurred over a period of tiwtdch can be
several years, and the estimation of these cogtéres
management’s judgment. The long-term nature ofetlcestracts,
the complexity of the products, and the strict saéad
performance standards under which they are regltate affect
our ability to estimate costs precisely. As a reswé review and
update our cost estimates on significant contracta quarterly
basis, and no less frequently than annually foothlérs, or when
circumstances change and warrant a modificatiapgevious
estimate. We record adjustments to contract loggigions in
earnings when identified.

Income Taxes. The future tax benefit arising from net deductible
temporary differences and tax carryforwards is $llibn at
December 31, 2008 and $2.4 billion at DecembeRBQy.
Management believes that our earnings during thiegsewhen

the temporary differences become deductible wikb#icient to
realize the related future income tax benefits.tRose
jurisdictions where the expiration date of tax giomwards or the
projected operating results indicate that reakizats not likely, a
valuation allowance is provided.

In assessing the need for a valuation allowancegstienate future
taxable income, considering the feasibility of oimgatax planning
strategies and the realizability of tax loss camyfards. Valuation
allowances related to deferred tax assets canfeeted by
changes to tax laws, changes to statutory tax eatésuture
taxable income levels. In the event we were tordete that we
would not be able to realize all or a portion of daferred tax
assets in the future, we would reduce such amdhragsgh a
charge to income in the period in which that deteation is made
or when tax law changes are enacted. Conversele ifiere to
determine that we would be able to realize ourmefetax assets
in the future in excess of the net carrying amgumtswould
decrease the recorded valuation allowance thronghcaease to
income in the period in which that determinatiomiade.
Subsequently recognized tax benefits associatddwaltiation
allowances recorded in a business combination baga recorded
as an adjustment to goodwill. However, upon thaidanl, 2009
adoption of SFAS 141(R), changes in deferred tartagaluation
allowances and income tax uncertainties after tiggiaition date
generally will affect income tax expense as furithescribed in
“New Accounting Pronouncements.”
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In the ordinary course of business there is inttarapertainty in
guantifying our income tax positions. We assessmmome tax
positions and record tax benefits for all yeargettito
examination based upon management’s evaluatidmed&icts,
circumstances and information available at the ntémpdate. For
those tax positions where it is more likely tham that a tax
benefit will be sustained, we have recorded thgelstramount of
tax benefit with a greater than 50% likelihood efrig realized
upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authoritgtthas full
knowledge of all relevant information. For thosedme tax
positions where it is not more likely than not thaax benefit will
be sustained, no tax benefit has been recognizéifinancial
statements. See Notes 1 and 9 to the Consolid&teddial
Statements for further discussion.

Goodwill and I ntangible Assets. Our net investments in businesses
in 2008 totaled $1.4 billion, including approximigt&196 million

of debt assumed. The assets and liabilities ofieedjbusinesses
are recorded under the purchase method of accouatitheir
estimated fair values at the dates of acquisit@modwill

represents costs in excess of fair values assignbe underlying
net assets of acquired businesses.

Goodwill and intangible assets deemed to have initiefives are
not amortized, but are subject to annual impairnesting. The
identification and measurement of goodwill impainnevolves
the estimation of the fair value of reporting unitie estimates of
fair value of reporting units are based on the dstmation
available as of the date of the assessment, whictagly
incorporates management assumptions about expiedted cash
flows and contemplates other valuation technigEagure cash
flows can be affected by changes in industry orketaconditions
or the rate and extent to which anticipated symsrgr cost
savings are realized with newly acquired entifi#s. completed
our assessment of goodwill as of July 1, 2008 atdrchined that
no impairment existed at that date. Although nai§icant
goodwill impairment has been recorded to date gtitan be no
assurances that future goodwill impairments will occur.
However, a 10% decrease in the estimated fair vafla@y of

our reporting units at the date of our 2008 assessmould not
have resulted in a goodwill impairment charge. Sete 2 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for further dismn.

Product Performance. We extend performance and operating cost
guarantees beyond our normal service and warralityigs for
extended periods on some of our products, partigud@mmercial
aircraft engines. Liability under such guarantesesased upon
future product performance and durability. In aiait we incur
discretionary costs to service our products in eation with

product performance issues. We accrue for sucls tioat are
probable and can be reasonably estimated. The zsstsiated

with these product performance and operating aostamntees
require estimates over the full terms of the



agreements, and require management to considerdasich as
the extent of future maintenance requirements heduture cost
of material and labor to perform the services. Ehasst estimates
are largely based upon historical experience. Sge N3 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for further dismn.

Contracting with the U.S. Government. Our contracts with the
U.S. government are subject to government oversigtitaudit.
Like many defense contractors, we have received erjpbrts,
which recommend that certain contract prices shbaldeduced to
comply with various government regulations. Soméhete audit
reports have involved substantial amounts. We naage
voluntary refunds in those cases we believe apatEpin

addition, we accrue for liabilities associated wihbse government
contracting matters that are probable and candsorably
estimated. The inherent uncertainty related tootiteome of these
matters can result in amounts materially diffefemtn any
provisions made with respect to their resolutioze Slote 15 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements for further dis@mn. We
recorded sales to the U.S. government of $7.7hill$7.3 billion,
and $6.4 billion in 2008, 2007, and 2006, respetyiv

Employee Benefit Plans. We sponsor domestic and foreign
defined benefit pension and other postretiremearigplMajor
assumptions used in the accounting for these eraplbgnefit
plans include the discount rate, expected returplam assets, rate
of increase in employee compensation levels, aatttheare cost
increase projections. Assumptions are determineddan
company data and appropriate market indicators aam@valuated
each year at December 31. A change in any of thes@mnptions
would have an effect on net periodic pension argtrptirement
benefit costs reported in the Consolidated Findi8tatements.

In the following table, we show the sensitivityafr pension and
other postretirement benefit plan liabilities ared periodic cost to
a 25 basis point change in the discount rate &eoémber 31,
2008.

Change il

Discount Rat
Increase in 25 b|

Change in
Discount Rate
(in millions of dollars) Decrease in 25 by
Pension plan

Projected
benefit
obligation $ (625) $ 647

Net periodic
pension
cost (67) 66

Other
postretirement
benefit plans
Accumulated
postretiren
benefit
obligation
Net periodic
postretiremer
benefit
cost — —

(14) 14

Pension expense is also sensitive to changes exihexted long-
term rate of asset return. An increase or decre®® basis points
in the expected long-term rate of asset return dbalve
decreased or increased 2008 pension expense hyxapptely
$48 million.

The weighted-average discount rate used to measmson
liabilities and costs is set by reference to UTEcHic analysis
using each plan’s specific cash flows and comptrétgh-quality
bond indices for reasonableness. Global marketdsteates have
increased in 2008 as compared with 2007 and, esudt rthe
weighted-average discount rate used to measuréopdiebilities
increased from 6.0% in 2007 to 6.1% in 2008. Pemsigpense in
2009 is expected to increase approximately $22komiprimarily
as a result of negative asset return incurred @8208at resulted
from the deterioration in the global equity mark&ee Note 10 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements for furthseubssion.

Inventory Valuation Reserves. Inventory valuation reserves are
established in order to report inventories at tveelr of cost or
market value on our Consolidated Balance Sheet. The
determination of inventory valuation reserves reggli
management to make estimates and judgments onttire f
salability of inventories. Valuation reserves facess, obsolete,
and slow-moving inventory are estimated by compuatime
inventory levels of individual parts to both futisales forecasts or
production requirements and historical usage riatesder to
identify inventory where the resale value or replaent value is
less than inventoriable cost. Other factors thatagament
considers in determining these reserves includehenéndividual
inventory parts meet current specifications anchoabe
substituted for a part currently being sold or uaea service part,
overall market conditions, and other inventory ngement
initiatives.

As of December 31, 2008, and 2007 we had $497amilind $471
million, respectively, of inventory valuation reses recorded.
Although management believes these reserves aguiaige any
abrupt changes in market conditions may requir® wscord
additional inventory valuation reserves.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements and Contractual Obgjations

We extend a variety of financial guarantees taltparties in
support of unconsolidated affiliates and for patdrfinancing
requirements of commercial aerospace customersal¥dehave
obligations arising from sales of certain business®l assets,
including representations and warranties and reliaigemnities
for environmental, health and safety, tax and egmpknt matters.
Circumstances that could cause the contingent atiigs and
liabilities arising from these arrangements to camguition are
changes in an underlying transaction (e.g., hazerd@ste
discoveries, etc.), nonperformance under a conttastomer
requests for financing, or deterioration in theaficial condition of
the guaranteed party.



A summary of our consolidated contractual obligagiand
commitments as of December 31, 2008 is as follows:

Payments Due by Peric

More than
Less tha] 1-3 3-5
(in millions of dollars) Tota 1Yea Year Year 5 Years
Long-term debt * $10,453 $ 1,114 $1,674 $ 5064 $ 7,159
Operating lease 1,65( 453 636 307 259
Purchase
obligations 14,101 8,340 4,284 1,08] 397
Other long-term
liabilities 16,544 1,90 3,326 3,136 8,180
Total contractua
obligations  $42,75] $11,814 $9,91§ $5,024 $15,995

*Principal only; excludes associated interest pays

Purchase obligations include amounts committed utedally
enforceable contracts or purchase orders for gandsservices
with defined terms as to price, quantity, delivand termination
liability. Approximately 35% of the purchase obliges disclosed
above represent purchase orders for products delbesred under
firm contracts with the U.S. government for whick have full
recourse under normal contract termination clauses.

Other long-term liabilities primarily include thoaenounts on our
December 31, 2008 balance sheet representing tibligaunder
product service and warranty policies, performaaroe operating
cost guarantees, estimated environmental remediatists and
payments under employee benefit programs. Duestintpact of
current market conditions on our overall pensianp| our
pension plans shifted from a net asset positidc20bi/ to a net
liability position in 2008, requiring a gross oldigpn of
approximately $14 billion to be reflected in theoab table. The
timing of expected cash flows associated with tlesigations is
based upon management’s estimates over the terthess
agreements and is largely based upon historicaréqce.

The above table does not reflect unrecognized ¢aefits of $773
million, the timing of which is uncertain, exceptr fapproximately
$50 million that may become payable during 2009eR&® Note 9
to the Consolidated Financial Statements for aoiutii discussion
on unrecognized tax benefits. In addition, the a&bable does not
include approximately $600 million of expected gdmitions to
our global pension plans in 2009, including appmadely $400
million to our domestic plans.
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Commercial Commitments

Amount of Commitment Expiration per Per
More than

1-3
Year

35
Year:

Less tha
1 Yea

(in millions of
dollars)

Commercial
aerospace
financing an
rental
commitment

IAE financing
arrangement

Unconsolidatec
subsidiary
debt
guarantee

Commercial
aerospace
financing
arrangement

Commercial
customer
financing
arrangement

Performance
guarantee

Total
commercial
commitment $ 3,156

Committe 5 Years

$ 1,142 $ 401 $149 $ 577

1,42( 396 603 162

20§ 133 12 63

137 4 5 9 119

209 209

40 33 I

$1187 $779 $280 $

Refer to Notes 4, 13 and 15 to the Consolidatedrial
Statements for additional discussion on contracindl
commercial commitments.
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Market Risk and Risk Management

We are exposed to fluctuations in foreign curreexghange rates,
interest rates and commodity prices. To managaiceof those
exposures, we use derivative instruments, inclugingps,
forward contracts and options. Derivative instrutsertilized by
us in our hedging activities are viewed as risk aggment tools,
involve little complexity and are not used for tirgglor speculative
purposes. We diversify the counterparties usecdchammitor the
concentration of risk to limit our counterparty espre.

We have evaluated our exposure to changes in foreigency
exchange rates, interest rates and commodity pirioagr market
risk sensitive instruments, which are primarilytgagdebt and
derivative instruments, using a value at risk asialyBased on a
95% confidence level and a one-day holding perbd,
December 31, 2008, the potential loss in fair valoeur market
risk sensitive instruments was not material intiefato our
financial position, results of operations or caskwi. Our
calculated value at risk exposure represents amast of
reasonably possible net losses based on volatibiie correlations
and is not necessarily indicative of actual resitesfer to Notes 1,
8 and 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statememtadditional
discussion of foreign currency exchange, interatgtsrand
financial instruments.



Foreign Currency Exposures. We have a large volume of foreign
currency exposures that result from our internatiaales,
purchases, investments, borrowings and other iatiemal
transactions. International segment revenues, dimuU.S. export
sales, averaged approximately $33 billion overaisethree years.
We actively manage foreign currency exposuresdtreassociated
with committed foreign currency purchases and satesother
assets and liabilities created in the normal coafdmrisiness at the
operating unit level. More than insignificant expass that cannot
be naturally offset within an operating unit arelgped with foreign
currency derivatives. We also have a significanbant of foreign
currency net asset exposures. Currently, we daaidtany
derivative contracts that hedge our foreign curyemet asset
exposures but may consider such strategies iruthesf

Within aerospace, our revenues are typically denated in U.S.
dollars under accepted industry convention. Howefeerour non-
U.S. based entities, such as P&WC, a substantitibpoof their
costs are incurred in local currencies. Conseqythigre is a
foreign currency exchange impact and risk to opanat results as
U.S. dollars must be converted to local currensieh as the
Canadian dollar in order to meet local currencyt obidigations. In
order to minimize the exposure that exists frornges in the
exchange rate of the U.S. dollar against these otireencies, we
hedge a certain portion of revenues to securesties at which
U.S. dollars will be converted. The majority ofghiedging
activity occurs at P&WC. At P&WC, firm and forecadtsales for
both engines and spare parts are hedged at vaagiognts up to
24 months on the U.S. dollar revenue exposuressented by
the excess of U.S. dollar revenues over U.S. dddaominated
purchases. Hedging gains and losses resulting finorements in
foreign currency exchange rates are partially otigethe foreign
currency translation impacts that are generateth@translation of
local currency operating results into U.S. dolfarsreporting
purposes. While the objective of the hedging progisto
minimize the foreign currency exchange impact oerafing
results, there are typically variances betweerh#uging gains or
losses and the translational impact due to thettheoighedging
contracts, changes in the revenue profile, volgtiti the exchange
rates and other such operational considerations.

I nterest Rate Exposures. Our long-term debt portfolio consists
mostly of fixed-rate instruments. From time to tinae& may hedge
to floating rates using interest rate swaps. Tlughe are
designated as fair value hedges and the gainardd on the
swaps are reported in interest expense, reflettiagportion of
interest expense at a variable rate. We issue coonmhpaper,
which exposes us to changes in interest ratese@llyr we do not
hold any derivative contracts that hedge our isteegposures, but
may consider such strategies in the future.

Commodity Price Exposures. We are exposed to volatility in the
prices of raw materials used in some of our praglaod from time
to time we may use forward contracts in limited
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circumstances to manage some of those exposurtée fature, if
hedges are used, gains and losses may affect garilinere were
no significant outstanding commodity hedges as&fdnber 31,
2008.

Environmental Matters

Our operations are subject to environmental reguidiy federal,
state and local authorities in the United Statekragulatory
authorities with jurisdiction over our foreign opéons. As a
result, we have established, and continually upgtkcies
relating to environmental standards of performaoceur
operations worldwide. We believe that expendituresessary to
comply with the present regulations governing emwvinental
protection will not have a material effect upon oompetitive
position, results of operations, cash flows orficial condition.

We have identified 579 locations, mostly in the tediStates, at
which we may have some liability for remediatingntaomination.
We have resolved our liability at 228 of these tmss. We do not
believe that any individual location’s exposurel\wdve a material
effect on our results of operations. Sites in theestigation,
remediation or operation and maintenance stagesept
approximately 92% of our accrued environmentaliliigt

We have been identified as a potentially respoagibrty under
the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensatd
Liability Act (CERCLA or Superfund) at 107 siteshd number of
Superfund sites, in and of itself, does not repreagelevant
measure of liability because the nature and exteetvironmental
concerns vary from site to site and our share ggoasibility
varies from sole responsibility to very little regsibility. In
estimating our liability for remediation, we consicur likely
proportionate share of the anticipated remediaiqrense and the
ability of other potentially responsible partiesfudfill their
obligations. Accrued environmental liabilities aw@t reduced by
potential insurance reimbursements.

At December 31, 2008, we had $553 million reseffeed
environmental remediation. Cash outflows for enwinental
remediation were $46 million in both 2008 and 20 $79
million in 2006. We estimate that ongoing enviromaé
remediation expenditures in each of the next twaryevill not
exceed $70 million.

Government Matters

As described in the “Critical Accounting Estimate€ontracting
with the U.S. government,” our contracts with th&lU
government are subject to audits. Such audits meymmend that
certain contract prices should be reduced to comyly various
government regulations. We are also the subjeahefor more
investigations and legal proceedings initiatedHsy/W.S.
government with respect to government contractersitt



As previously disclosed, the Department of Jugid®J) sued us
in 1999 in the U.S. District Court for the South®istrict of Ohio,
claiming that Pratt & Whitney violated the civil IBa Claims Act
and common law. This lawsuit relates to the “FigliErgine
Competition” between Pratt & Whitney’s F100 engarel General
Electric’'s F110 engine. The DOJ alleges that theegument
overpaid for F100 engines under contracts awargatedU.S. Air
Force in fiscal years 1985 through 1990 becaust & \&/hitney
inflated its estimated costs for some purchasets pad withheld
data that would have revealed the overstatementsiahof this
matter, completed in December 2004, the governitlaimhed
Pratt & Whitney’s liability to be $624 million. OAugust 1, 2008,
the trial court judge held that the Air Force had suffered any
actual damages because Pratt & Whitney had maddgicémt
price concessions. However, the trial court judgentl that

Pratt & Whitney violated the False Claims Act daertaccurate
statements contained in the 1983 offer. In the radesef actual
damages, the trial court judge awarded the DOddpamum civil
penalty of $7.09 million, or $10,000 for each of ff09 invoices
Pratt & Whitney submitted in 1989 and later undher t
contracts. Both the DOJ and UTC have appealeddbisidn.
Should the government ultimately prevail, the outecof this
matter could result in a material effect on ounhessof operations
in the period in which a liability would be recoged or cash
flows for the period in which damages would be paid

In December 2008, the Department of Defense (D@f)dd a
contract claim against Sikorsky to recover overpagts the DOD
alleges it has incurred since January 2003 in ottiorewith cost
accounting changes approved by the DOD and impleeddry
Sikorsky in 1999 and 2006. These changes reldtestoalculation
of material overhead rates in government contrddis.DOD
claimed that Sikorsky’s liability is approximatehg0 million
(including interest). We believe this claim is vdtht merit and
intend to appeal.

Except as otherwise noted above, we do not betteateresolution
of any of these matters will have a material advefect upon our
competitive position, results of operations, cdstv$ or financial
condition.

Other Matters

Additional discussion of our environmental, U.Svgmment
contract matters, product performance and othetirggent
liabilities is included in “Critical Accounting Hghates” and Notes
1, 13 and 15 to the Consolidated Financial Stat¢sn&ior
additional discussion of our legal proceedings,|ta 3, “Legal
Proceedings,” in our Annual Report on Form 10-KZ0608 (2008
Form 10-K).
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New Accounting Pronouncement:

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS 141(R), wieplaces
SFAS No. 141, “Business Combinations” (SFAS 14BAS 141
(R) retains the underlying concepts of SFAS 14thai all
business combinations are still required to be @t for at fair
value under the acquisition method of accountingSiRAS 141
(R) changed the method of applying the acquisiti@thod in a
number of significant aspects. Acquisition costh generally be
expensed as incurred; noncontrolling interests lvélivalued at fair
value at the acquisition date; in-process reseamnchdevelopment
will be recorded at fair value as an indefiniteslivintangible asset
at the acquisition date, until either abandonecoonpleted, at
which point the useful lives will be determinedstreicturing costs
associated with a business combination will gehelsd expensed
subsequent to the acquisition date; and changdsférred tax
asset valuation allowances and income tax uncéeaiafter the
acquisition date generally will affect income tagpense. SFAS
141(R) is effective on a prospective basis foballiness
combinations for which the acquisition date is omfber the
beginning of the first annual period subsequemd¢oember 15,
2008, with the exception of the accounting for ailon
allowances on deferred taxes and acquired taxragenicies.
SFAS 141(R) amends SFAS No. 109, “Accounting faome
Taxes” (SFAS 109) such that adjustments made toatiah
allowances on deferred taxes and acquired taxragenicies
associated with acquisitions that closed priohtdffective date
of SFAS 141(R) would also apply the provisions BAS 141(R).
Early adoption was not permitted. Upon adoptiolASHE41(R)
will not have a significant impact on our finangmasition and
results of operations; however, any business caatibim entered
into after the adoption may significantly impact éinancial
position and results of operations when comparezttuisitions
accounted for under existing U.S. Generally Acogptecounting
Principles (GAAP) and result in more earnings vibtatand
generally lower earnings due to the expensing af dests and
restructuring costs of acquired companies. Alswesive have
significant acquired deferred tax assets for wiiighvaluation
allowances were recorded at the acquisition d&t8SS141(R)
could significantly affect the results of operasdhchanges in the
valuation allowances occur subsequent to adopfierof
December 31, 2008, such deferred tax valuationvathzes
amounted to $278 million. For additional discussiondeferred
tax valuation allowances, refer to Note 9 to thesiidated
Financial Statements in the 2008 Form 10-K.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160,
“Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Finan&ahtements—
an amendment of ARB No. 51" (SFAS 160). This staehis
effective for fiscal years, and interim periodshintthose fiscal
years, beginning on or after December 15, 2008 eatrlier
adoption prohibited. This statement requires tlcegaition of a
noncontrolling interest (minority interest) as agun the
consolidated financial statements and separate tihherparent’s
equity. The amount of net income attributable ® th



noncontrolling interest will be included in constalted net income
on the face of the income statement. It also ameerdain of ARB
No. 5Ts consolidation procedures for consistency with th
requirements of SFAS 141(R). This statement alsludes
expanded disclosure requirements regarding theestteof the
parent and its noncontrolling interest. We havdieatad this new
statement and have determined that the statem#émotvhave a
significant impact on the reporting of our finargasition and
results of operations.

In December 2007, the EITF issued Issue No. 0At¢counting
for Collaborative Arrangements.” This Issue is efifee for
financial statements issued for fiscal years begmafter
December 15, 2008, and interim periods within tHasml years,
and shall be applied retrospectively to all prieripds presented
for all collaborative arrangements existing ashef ¢ffective date.
This Issue requires that transactions with thindigs. (i.e., revenue
generated and costs incurred by the partners) dtguteported in
the appropriate line item in each company’s finahsiatement
pursuant to the guidance in EITF Issue No. 99-R&gbrting
Revenue Gross as a Principal versus Net as an Adéris Issue
also includes enhanced disclosure requirementsdiegethe
nature and purpose of the arrangement, rights bhgiations
under the arrangement, accounting policy, amoudteome
statement classification of collaboration transattibetween the
parties. The collaborator share of revenue wasoxpately $1.1
billion, $.9 billion and $.8 billion for 2008, 200¥d 2006,
respectively. Costs associated with engine programsr
collaboration agreements are expensed as inclrater this
Issue, revenues would be increased by these amwithtan
offsetting increase to cost of sales in order fleceéthe impact of
the collaboration arrangements on a gross basis.

In February 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 157-ftetfive
Date of FASB Statement No. 157,” which delays tfiective date
of SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements,” (SFA3)Ifor all
nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilitiessept those that
are recognized or disclosed at fair value in tharftial statements
on a recurring basis, with the exception of theliagppon of the
statement to non-recurring nonfinancial assetsramdinancial
liabilities. This FSP defers the effective dateS6fAS 157 to fiscal
years beginning after November 15, 2008 and int@eninds
within those fiscal years for items within the seayf this FSP.
Refer to Note 14 to the Consolidated Financiale®tents for
additional discussion on fair value measurements have
evaluated this new FSP and have determined thaéll ot have a
significant impact on the determination or repaytof our
financial results.

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161, “Disares
about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activitias
amendment of FASB Statement No. 133" (SFAS 161 Th
statement is intended to improve transparencyniantial
reporting by requiring enhanced disclosures ofraityes
derivative instruments and hedging activities dradrteffects on
the entity’s financial position, financial perfornte, and cash
flows. SFAS 161 applies to all derivative
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instruments within the scope of SFAS 133, “Accougtior
Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities” (SEA33) as
well as related hedged items, bifurcated derivatiaad
nonderivative instruments that are designated aatifg as
hedging instruments. Entities with instruments sabjo SFAS
161 must provide more robust qualitative disclosumed
expanded quantitative disclosures. SFAS 161 ictfe
prospectively for financial statements issued feedl years and
interim periods beginning after November 15, 200 early
application permitted. We are currently evaluating disclosure
implications of this statement; however, the neateshent will not
have an impact on the determination of our findmesults.

In April 2008, the FASB issued FSP No. FAS 142-3,
“Determination of the Useful Life of Intangible Asts.” This FSP
amends the factors that should be considered ieldewg
renewal or extension assumptions used to deterthnaseful life
of a recognized intangible asset under SFAS No, ‘l@&odwill
and Other Intangible Assets” (SFAS 142). The objeadf this
FSP is to improve the consistency between the Liiefuwf a
recognized intangible asset under SFAS 142 angdhed of
expected cash flows used to measure the fair \@lthee asset
under SFAS 141(R), and other principles of GAAPISTRSP
applies to all intangible assets, whether acquimedbusiness
combination or otherwise, and shall be effectivefiftancial
statements issued for fiscal years beginning &ftarember 15,
2008, and interim

periods within those fiscal years and applied pecsipely to
intangible assets acquired after the effective.dzaely adoption is
prohibited. We have evaluated this new FSP and Hatermined
that it will not have a significant impact on thetermination or
reporting of our financial results.

In November 2008, the EITF issued Issue No. 0&@6uity
Method Investment Accounting Considerations.” Tlegue is
effective on a prospective basis in fiscal yeagifo@ng on or
after December 15, 2008, and interim periods withose fiscal
years, consistent with the effective dates of SEAB(R) anc
SFAS 160. Earlier application by an entity that pesviously
adopted an alternative accounting policy is nobpted. This
Issue addresses the impact that SFAS 141(R) an& 3B8 might
have on the accounting for equity method investsantiuding
how the initial carrying value of an equity methodestment
should be determined, how it should be testednfigmairment, and
how changes in classification from equity methoddst method
should be treated. We are currently evaluatingribig Issue and
anticipate that it will not have a significant ingb@n the reporting
of our results of operations.

In December 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 132(R)-1,
“Employers’ Disclosures about Postretirement Berffin
Assets.” This FSP amends SFAS No. 132 (revised)2003
“Employers’ Disclosures about Pensions and OthstrBtirement
Benefits,” to provide guidance on an employer’'shlisures about
plan assets of a defined benefit pension or other



postretirement plan on investment policies andegias, major
categories of plan assets, inputs and valuatidmtgoes used to
measure the fair value of plan assets and significancentrations
of risk within plan assets. This FSP shall be effecfor fiscal
years ending after December 15, 2009, with eaalpglication
permitted. Upon initial application, the provisiooisthis FSP are
not required for earlier periods that are presefdgedomparative
purposes. We are currently evaluating the discioseguirements
of this new FSP.

Cautionary Note Concerning Factors That May AffectFuture
Results

This annual report contains statements which,dcettient they are
not statements of historical or present fact, dartst“forward-
looking statements” under the securities laws. Fiome to time,
oral or written forward-looking statements may adgoincluded in
other materials released to the public. These fari@oking
statements are intended to provide management'srdur
expectations or plans for our future operating tamahcial
performance, based on assumptions currently believée valid.
Forward-looking statements can be identified byube of words
such as “believe,” “expect,” “plans,” “strategy prospects,”
“estimate,” “project,” “target,” “anticipate,” “gaiance” and other
words of similar meaning in connection with a dission of future
operating or financial performance. These inclaheong others,
statements relating to:

« future revenues, earnings, cash flow, uses of aadtother
measures of financial performan:

» the effect of economic conditions in the Unitedt&aand
globally, including the financial condition of oaustomers and
suppliers;

* new business opportunitie

* restructuring costs and savini

« the scope, nature or impact of acquisition actigityl integration
into our businesse

« the development, production and support of advanced
technologies and new products and servi

« the anticipated benefits of diversification andamale of
operations across product lines, regions and iness

« the impact of the negotiation of collective bardgainagreement

« the outcome of contingencie

« future repurchases of common sta

« future levels of indebtedness and capital spending

* pension plan assumptions and future contributi

All forward-looking statements involve risks andcerntainties that
may cause actual results to differ materially fritvose expressed
or implied in the forward-looking statements. Ournival Report
on Form 10-K for 2008 includes important informatias to these
factors that may cause actual results to vary nadiiefrom those
stated in the forward-looking statements
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in the “Business” section under the headings “Galrier
“Description of Business by Segment” and “Other et
Relating to our Business as a Whole” and in thesKAdactors”
and “Legal Proceedings” sections. For additionfdrimation
identifying factors that may cause actual resalteary materially
from those stated in the forward-looking statemesge our
reports on Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K filed with Securities and
Exchange Commission from time to time.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finangal
Reporting

The management of UTC is responsible for estaloigshind
maintaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting.
Internal control over financial reporting is a pess designed to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the rétjabflfinancial
reporting and the preparation of financial statetsiéor external
reporting purposes in accordance with accountiimgipies
generally accepted in the United States of AmeBesause of its
inherent limitations, internal control over finaacreporting may
not prevent or detect misstatements. Managemeradsessed the
effectiveness of UTC's internal control over finalceporting as
of December 31, 2008. In making its assessmentagenent has
utilized the criteria set forth by the CommitteeSgfonsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commissionnternal Control —
Integrated FrameworkManagement concluded that based on its
assessment, UTC's internal control over finana@galarting was
effective as of December 31, 2008. The effectivermddJTC'’s
internal control over financial reporting, as ofd@enber 31, 2008,
has been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers LLirdapendent
registered public accounting firm, as stated inrtreport which is
included herein.

/sl Louis R. Chéneve
Louis R. Chénevert
President and Chief Executive Officer

/sl Gregory J. Haye

Gregory J. Hayes
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

/sl Margaret M. Smyt|
Margaret M. Smyth
Vice President, Controller




Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

To the Board of Directors and Shareowners of United
Technologies Corporation:

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated badasheets and
the related consolidated statements of operatafreash flows
and of changes in shareowners’ equity presenyfairlall material
respects, the financial position of United Techgas Corporation
and its subsidiaries at December 31, 2008 and Dieeef1, 2007,
and the results of their operations and their ¢lasts for each of
the three years in the period ended December 3B 20
conformity with accounting principles generally eapted in the
United States of America. Also in our opinion, Berporation
maintained, in all material respects, effectiveinal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2008, basedriteria
established imnternal Control—Integrated Framewoigsued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of theadivay
Commission (COSO). The Corporation’s management is
responsible for these financial statements, fomtaaiing effective
internal control over financial reporting and fta assessment of
the effectiveness of internal control over finahcégporting
included in accompanying Management’'s Report oariratl
Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsipiigt to express
opinions on these financial statements and on tdrpdZation’s
internal control over financial reporting basedoam integrated
audits. We conducted our audits in accordance tvérstandards
of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Boaraifed
States). Those standards require that we plan arform the
audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whigthénancial
statements are free of material misstatement amdheh effective
internal control over financial reporting was mained in all
material respects. Our audits of the financialestants included
examining, on a test basis, evidence supportingutheunts and
disclosures in the financial statements, assessagccounting
principles used and significant estimates made égagement,
and evaluating the overall financial statement gméstion. Our
audit of internal control over financial reportiirggluded obtaining
an understanding of internal control over financggdorting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness eaististesting and
evaluating the design and operating effectivenéggernal
control based on the assessed risk. Our auditsradkaed
performing such other procedures as we considezeéssary in
the circumstances. We believe that our audits peogireasonable
basis for our opinions.

24

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated findrst&ements, the
Corporation changed the manner in which it accofortdefined
benefit pension and other postretirement plan®062nd 2007
and the manner in which it accounts for uncertainpositions in
2007. As discussed in Note 14 to the consolidatezhtial
statements, the Corporation adopted FASB StatehMent 57,

Fair Value Measurementas of January 1, 2008.

A corporation’s internal control over financial wfing is a
process designed to provide reasonable assurageelieg the
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacat of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally
accepted accounting principles. A corporation’stinal control
over financial reporting includes those policied @nocedures that
() pertain to the maintenance of records thateasonable detail,
accurately and fairly reflect the transactions disgositions of the
assets of the corporation; (ii) provide reasonaBkurance that
transactions are recorded as necessary to perepagation of
financial statements in accordance with generalbepted
accounting principles, and that receipts and exiperss of the
corporation are being made only in accordance aithorizations
of management and directors of the corporation;(afgrovide
reasonable assurance regarding prevention or tidetgction of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition ef¢brporation’s
assets that could have a material effect on tteméial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohaver financial
reporting may not prevent or detect misstatemeisa,
projections of any evaluation of effectivenesstitufe periods are
subject to the risk that controls may become inadegbecause of
changes in conditions, or that the degree of caanpé with the
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers L

Hartford, Connecticu
February 11, 200



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

(in millions of dollars, except per share amout 200§ 2007 2006
Revenues
Product sale $42,17" $39,24( $34,271
Service sale 15,864 14,67¢ 12,847
Other income, ne 639 84( 711
58,681 54,75¢ 47,829
Costs and Expenses
Cost of products sol 31,774 29,92] 26,089
Cost of services sol 10,78] 9,994 8,651
Research and developmt 1,771 1,67¢ 1,529
Selling, general and administrati 6,724 6,104 5,462
Operating profit 7,624 7,05( 6,098
Interest 689 666 606
Income before income taxes and minority inter 6,936 6,384 5,492
Income taxe: 1,883 1,83¢ 1,494
Minority interests in subsidiari’ earnings 364 324 266
Net Income $ 4,684 $ 4,224 $ 3,732
Earnings per Share of Common Stocl
Basic $ 5.0( $ 4.36 $ 381
Diluted $ 4.9 $ 4.27 $ 371

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financie®ents
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

(in millions of dollars, except per share amol—shares in thousand: 200¢ 2007
Assets
Cash and cash equivalel $ 4,327 $ 2,90/
Accounts receivable (net of allowance for doub#fotounts of $332 and $2¢ 9,112 8,84¢
Inventories and contracts in progri 8,34( 8,101
Future income tax benefi 1,551 1,267
Other current asse 76¢ 95k
Total Current Asset 24,09¢ 22,07:
Customer financing asse 1,00z 963
Future income tax benefi 3,63: 1,12¢
Fixed asset 6,34¢ 6,29¢
Goodwill 15,36 16,12(
Intangible asset 3,44: 3,751
Other asset 2,581 4,24z
Total Assets $ 56,46¢ $ 54,57¢
Liabilities and Shareowners Equity
Shor-term borrowings $ 1,02: $ 1,08t
Accounts payabl 5,22¢ 5,05¢
Accrued liabilities 12,06¢ 11,271
Long-term debt currently du 1,11¢ 48
Total Current Liabilities 19,43¢ 17,46¢
Long-term debt 9,337 8,01¢
Future pension and postretirement benefit obliga 6,574 2,562
Other lon¢-term liabilities 4,19¢ 4,262
Total Liabilities 39,54 32,30¢
Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (Notes 4 a6l
Minority interests in subsidiary compani 1,00¢ 912
Shareownel Equity:
Capital Stock
Preferred Stock, $1 par value; Authori—250,000 shares; None issued or outstan — —
Common Stock, $1 par value; Authorized—4,000,0G0 ey Issued 1,370,054 and
1,364,791 share 11,17¢ 10,572
Treasury Stoc—426,113 and 381,244 common shares at (14,31¢) (11,339
Retained earning 25,15¢ 21,75
Unearned ESOP shar (200 (2149)
Accumulated other ne-shareowner changes in equity
Foreign currency translatic (612) 1,35¢
Other (5,297) (777)
Total Accumulated Other N-Shareownerl Changes in Equit (5,90%) 584
Total Shareowne’ Equity 15,917 21,35¢
Total Liabilities and Shareown¢ Equity $ 56,46¢ $ 54,57¢

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financie®ents
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(in millions of dollars) 200¢ 2007 200¢
Operating Activities
Net income $ 4,68¢ $ 4,224 $ 3,732
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net casivglprovided by operating activitie
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,321 1,17z 1,03:
Deferred income tax provision (bene 45 58 (219
Minority interests in subsidiari’ earnings 364 324 26€
Stock compensation cc 211 19¢ 18C
Change in
Accounts receivabl (497 (462) (35)
Inventories and contracts in progri (562) (1,117 (789
Other current asse 35 44 25
Accounts payable and accrued liabilit 78¢ 1,561 99C
Other, ne (239 (679 (385)
Net Cash Provided by Operating Activiti 6,161 5,33( 4,80z
Investing Activities
Capital expenditure (1,216 (1,159 (9549)
Increase in customer financing ass (28%) (411 (319
Decrease in customer financing as: 13¢ 272 382
Investments in business (1,257) (2,037) (911)
Dispositions of business: 337 29¢ 451
Other, ne (58) (157) 85
Net Cash Used in Investing Activitii (2,336 (3,189 (1,267
Financing Activities
Issuance of lor-term deb 2,24¢ 1,03z 1,10¢
Repayment of lor-term debi (48) (330 (82%)
Increase (decrease) in st-term borrowings 91 191 (817)
Common Stock issued under employee stock 162 41F 34¢€
Dividends paid on Common Sto (1,210 (1,080 (957)
Repurchase of Common Stc (3,160) (2,000) (2,069
Dividends to minority interests and ott (322 (182 (13€)
Net Cash Used in Financing Activiti (2,23¢) (1,95%) (3,342
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on Castcasid equivalent (164) 165 99
Net increase in Cash and cash equival 1,42 35¢ 29¢
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of 2,90¢ 2,54¢ 2,247
Cash and cash equivalents, end of $ 4,32] $ 2,904 $ 2,54¢
Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Informati
Interest paid, net of amounts capitali: $ 65¢ $ 62¢ $ 57¢
Income taxes paid, net of refur $1,91- $ 1,81¢ $ 1,345

Non-cash investing and financing activities inclu

Contributions of UTC common stock of $250 durin@2@nd $150 each in 2007 and 2006 to

domestic defined benefit pension pl:

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financidt®ents
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN SHAREOWNERS' E QUITY

(in millions of dollars, except per share amout

Commo
StocH

Treasur
Stock

Retainel
Earning:

Unearne

ESOF
Share

Accumulated Othe

Non-Shareowners|
Changes in Equi

Non-
Shareowners’
Changes in Equi

for the Perio

December 31, 200!

$ 8,79

$ (7,419

$16,05:

$ (2417)

$ (199

$ 4,021

Common Stock issued under employee plans (12.6
million shares), including tax benefit of $1
Common Stock contributed to defined benefit pensic
plans (2.5 million share
Common Stock repurchased (33.3 million sha
Dividends on Common Stock ($1.02 per shi
Dividends on ESOP Common Stock ($1.02 per st
Adjustments to initially apply SFAS No. 158, incing
tax benefit of $1,14.
Non-Shareowner? Changes in Equity:
Net income
Foreign currency translation adjustme
Minimum pension liability adjustments, net of
income taxes of $
Unrealized holding gain on marketable equity
securities, net of income taxes of
Unrealized cash flow hedging loss, including ta
benefit of $2¢

734

9]

14

59
(2,065

(39)

(951)
(44)

3,732

14

(1,83)

613

20

(53

3,732
613

20

(59

December 31, 2006

$ 9,627

$ (9,419

$18,75¢

$ (227)

$ (1,439)

$ 4,31¢

Effect of changing pension plan measurement date
pursuant to SFAS No. 158, net of taxes of $
Adoption of FASB Interpretation No. ¢

(49)
(19

47C

Opening balance at January 1, 2007, as adjustt
Common Stock issued under employee plans (13.8
million shares), including tax benefit of $1
Common Stock contributed to defined benefit pensic
plans (2.3 million share:
Common Stock repurchased (28.3 million sha
Dividends on Common Stock ($1.17 per shi
Dividends on ESOP Common Stock ($1.17 per st
Non-Shareowners’ Changes in Equity:
Net income
Foreign currency translation adjustme
Change in pension and post-retirement benefit
plans, net of income taxes of $4
Adjustment for sale of securities, including tax
benefit of $5C

Unrealized cash flow hedging gain, net of income

taxes of $5¢

$ 9,629
863

87

$ (9,419
13

63
(2,007)

$18,69(

(36)

(1,080)
(47)

4,22¢

$ (227)

13

$ (969)

77€
(84)

13¢

$ 4,31¢

4,224
722

77€
(84)

13¢

December 31, 200°

$10,57%

$(11,339)

$21,75!

$ (219

$ 584

$ 5,77

Common Stock issued under employee plans (5.7am
shares), including tax benefit of $
Common Stock contributed to defined benefit pensic
plans (5.0 million share:
Common Stock repurchased (50.4 million sha
Dividends on Common Stock ($1.35 per shi
Dividends on ESOP Common Stock ($1.35 per st
Non-Shareowner¢ Changes in Equity:
Net income
Foreign currency translation adjustme
Change in pension and post-retirement benefit
plans, including tax benefit of $2,5.
Adjustment for sale of securities, including tax
benefit of $41
Unrealized cash flow hedging loss, including tax
benefit of $127

525

82

14

16€
(3,160

(19

(1,210
(52)

4,68¢

14

(1,967
(4,159
(59

(310)

4,68¢
(1,967)

(4,159
(59

(310)

December 31, 2008

$11,174

$(14,316)

$25,15¢

$ (200)

$ (5,905)

$ (1,800

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financadt®ient:
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Note 1. Summary of Accounting Principles

The preparation of financial statements requiresagament to

make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegpamounts
of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses.ahotsults could
differ from those estimates.

Consolidation. The Consolidated Financial Statements include the
accounts of UTC and our controlled subsidiarieerbompany
transactions have been eliminated.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents includes
cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term wesstinents
that are highly liquid in nature and have originedturities of three
months or less.

On occasion, we are required to maintain cash dspeigh
certain banks in respect to contractual obligatietsted to
acquisitions or divestitures or other legal obligias. As of
December 31, 2008, the amount of restricted cash wa
approximately $310 million, of which approximatéig5 million
is included in current assets and $275 milliomgduded in long-
term assets. Restricted cash as of December 37,289 not
significant.

Accounts Receivable. Current and long-term accounts receivable
include retainage of $154 million and $121 milliar2008 and
2007, respectively, and unbilled receivables of2Z8#ilion and
$643 million in 2008 and 2007, respectively.

Retainage represents amounts that, pursuant apgleable
contract, are not due until project completion andeptance by
the customer. Unbilled receivables represent rexethat are not
currently billable to the customer under the teahthe contract.
These items are expected to be collected in th@alarourse of
business. Long-term accounts receivable are indlidether
assets in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Marketable Equity Securities. Equity securities that have a readily
determinable fair value and that we do not intenttade are
classified as available for sale and carried atfaliue. Unrealized
holding gains and losses are recorded as a segaragonent of
shareowners’ equity, net of deferred income taxes.

Inventories and Contracts I n Progress. Inventories and contracts
in progress are stated at the lower of cost omegéd realizable
value and are primarily based on first-in, first-¢lFO) or
average cost methods; however, certain subsidiasieshe last-in,
first-out (LIFO) method. If inventories that weralued using the
LIFO method had been valued under the FIFO metthey, would
have been higher by $176 million and $173 million a
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.
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Costs accumulated against specific contracts arerdre at actual
cost. Inventory in excess of requirements for caoty and current
or anticipated orders have been reserved as ajg@pr
Manufacturing costs are allocated to current prédoand firm
contracts.

Fixed Assets. Fixed assets are stated at cost. Depreciation is
computed over the assets’ useful lives using tteegstt-line
method, except for aerospace assets acquiredtprianuary 1,
1999, which are depreciated using accelerated rdstho

Goodwill and Other I ntangible Assets. Goodwill represents costs
in excess of fair values assigned to the underlgigigassets of
acquired businesses. Goodwill and intangible astmed to
have indefinite lives are not amortized. Goodwiltlandefinite-
lived intangible assets are subject to annual impext testing
using the guidance and criteria described in Statgmf Financial
Accounting Standard (SFAS) No. 142, “Goodwill anth€r
Intangible Assets.” This testing compares carryiatyes to fair
values and, when appropriate, the carrying valubede assets is
reduced to fair value. During 2008, we were notinegl to record
any impairment on goodwill or indefinite-lived imgibles.

Intangible assets other than goodwill consist ofise portfolios,
patents and trademarks, customer relationship® e
intangible assets. Useful lives of finite livedangible assets are
estimated based upon the nature of the intanggsetand the
industry in which the intangible asset is usedirizsted useful
lives of service portfolios generally range frono530 years.
Estimated useful lives of patents and finite-litegtlemarks range
from 3 to 40 years. Estimated useful lives of costp
relationships and other assets range from 2 taea2sy These
intangible assets are amortized based on the pattevhich the
economic benefits of the intangible assets arewued. If a
pattern of economic benefit cannot be reliably aebeed, a
straight-line amortization method is used.

Other Long-Lived Assets. We evaluate the potential impairment of
other long-lived assets when appropriate. If theyirag value of
assets exceeds the sum of the undiscounted exgeattee cash
flows, the carrying value of the asset is writtenvd to fair value.

Income Taxes. In the ordinary course of business there is intteren
uncertainty in quantifying our income tax positiod¢e assess our
income tax positions and record tax benefits fbyedrs subject to
examination based upon management’s evaluatidmed®rts,
circumstances, and information available at themépg date. For
those tax positions where it is more-likely-than-that a tax
benefit will be sustained, we have recorded thgdstramount of
tax benefit with a greater than 50% likelihood efriy realized
upon ultimate settlement with a taxing authoritgtthas full
knowledge of all relevant information. For thosedme tax
positions where it is not more-likely-than-not tlaaiax benefit will
be sustained, no tax benefit has been recognizéifinancial
statements. Where applicable, associated inteasstlso been
recognized.



We adopted the provisions of Financial Accountitgn8ards
Board (FASB) Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting fdncertainty
in Income Taxes,” (FIN 48) on January 1, 2007. Asslt of this
adoption, we recognized a charge of approximat&8/illion to
the January 1, 2007 retained earnings balance edégnize
interest accrued related to unrecognized tax bsnefinterest
expense. Penalties, if incurred, would be recoghézea
component of income tax expense.

Revenue Recognition. Sales under government and commercial
fixed-price contracts and government fixed-priceeintive
contracts are recorded at the time deliveries a@enor, in some
cases, on a percentage-of-completion basis. Satey gost-
reimbursement contracts are recorded as work fenpeed.

Sales under elevator and escalator sales, ingtallahd
modernization contracts are accounted for undepéneentage-of-
completion method.

Losses, if any, on contracts are provided for wéueticipated.
Loss provisions on original equipment contractsrasegnized to
the extent that estimated inventoriable manufacgréngineering,
product warranty and product performance guaraciets exceed
the projected revenue from the products contenglateler the
contractual arrangement. For new commitments, weigdy
record loss provisions at the earlier of contratcaincement or
contract signing. For existing commitments, antgal losses on
contracts are recognized in the period in whiclsédsshecome
evident. Products contemplated under contractuahgement
include products purchased under contract andhenearge
commercial engine business, future highly probahles of
replacement parts required by regulation that apeeted to be
purchased subsequently for incorporation into tligiral
equipment. Revenue projections used in determioamgract loss
provisions are based upon estimates of the quaptiting and
timing of future product deliveries. Losses areoggized on
shipment to the extent that inventoriable manufaegucosts,
estimated warranty costs and product performaneeagtee costs
exceed revenue realized. Contract accounting regjeistimates of
future costs over the performance period of thdraghas well as
estimates of award fees and other sources of revdinese
estimates are subject to change and result in taggus to
margins on contracts in progress. The extent ajneiss toward
completion on our long-term commercial aerospacepsoent and
helicopter contracts is measured using units ategl. In
addition, we use the cost-to-cost method for dguakent contracts
in the aerospace businesses and for elevator aathts sales,
installation and modernization contracts in the gwrcial
businesses. For long-term aftermarket contractemee is
recognized over the contract period in proportmthe costs
expected to be incurred in performing services utiuke contract.
We review our cost estimates on significant congrac
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on a quarterly basis, and for others, no less &etiy than
annually or when circumstances change and warrant a
modification to a previous estimate. Adjustmentsdatract loss
provisions are recorded in earnings upon identifica

Service sales, representing aftermarket repainsaidtenance
activities, are recognized over the contractualogeor as services
are performed. In the commercial businesses, revengenerally
recognized on a straight line basis. In the aeespasinesses,
revenue is generally recognized in proportion tst.co

Revenues from engine programs under collaboratioeesnents
are recorded as earned and the collaborator sheegemue is
recorded as a reduction of revenue at that time.cbtlaborator
share of revenues under Pratt & Whitney’s enging@ms was
approximately $1.1 billion, $.9 billion and $.8Ikh for 2008,
2007 and 2006, respectively. Costs associatedemigine
programs under collaboration agreements are exgersse
incurred. The collaborator share of program casted¢orded as a
reduction of the related expense item at that time.

Research and Development. Research and development costs not
specifically covered by contracts and those rel&iettie company
sponsored share of research and development gdtivit
connection with cost-sharing arrangements are €liaigyexpense
as incurred. Government research and developmepbst not
associated with specific contracts, is recordeal @sluction to
research and development expense in the perioéaarn
Repayment, if any, is in the form of future royadtiand is
conditioned upon the achievement of certain finalneirgets.

Research and development costs incurred underacistrith
customers are expensed as incurred and are reporeed
component of cost of products sold. Revenue frooh sontracts
is recognized as product sales when earned.

Foreign Exchange and Hedging Activity. We conduct business in
many different currencies and, accordingly, argextlio the
inherent risks associated with foreign exchange madvements.
The financial position and results of operationsufstantially all
of our foreign subsidiaries are measured usindate currency
as the functional currency. Foreign currency demaiteid assets
and liabilities are translated into U.S. dollarshet exchange rates
existing at the respective balance sheet datespanthe and
expense items are translated at the average exehargg during
the respective periods. The aggregate effectanélating the
balance sheets of these subsidiaries are defesradeparate
component of Shareowners’ Equity.



We have used derivative instruments, including syégpward
contracts and options, to manage certain foreigrenay, interest
rate and commodity price exposures. Derivativerimsents are
viewed as risk management tools by us and areseat for trading
or speculative purposes. Derivatives used for hegdgurposes
may be designated and effective as a hedge oflémtified risk
exposure at the inception of the contract.

All derivative instruments are recorded on the bedasheet at fair
value. Derivatives used to hedge foreign-currerneyetinated
balance sheet items are reported directly in egsnithong with
offsetting transaction gains and losses on thesiteeing hedged.
Derivatives used to hedge forecasted cash flonscagsd with
foreign currency commitments or forecasted comnyqulirchases
may be accounted for as cash flow hedges, as degppedpriate.
Gains and losses on derivatives designated adloashedges are
recorded in other comprehensive income and refiled$o
earnings in a manner that matches the timing oé#raings
impact of the hedged transactions. The ineffeqiimeion of all
hedges, if any, is recognized currently in earnings

Environmental. Environmental investigatory, remediation,
operating and maintenance costs are accrued wigepritbable
that a liability has been incurred and the amoantloe reasonably
estimated. The most likely cost to be incurredcisraed based on
an evaluation of currently available facts withpest to each
individual site, including existing technology, oemt laws and
regulations and prior remediation experience. Wheramount
within a range of estimates is more likely, the imimm is accrued.
For sites with multiple responsible parties, wesider our likely
proportionate share of the anticipated remediatmsts and the
ability of the other parties to fulfill their oblégions in establishing
a provision for those costs. Liabilities with fixed reliably
determinable future cash payments are discountectud
environmental liabilities are not reduced by patdribsurance
reimbursements.

Asset Retirement Obligations. We record the fair value of legal
obligations associated with the retirement of thleggiong-lived
assets in the period in which it is determinedxisteif a
reasonable estimate of fair value can be made. ipial
recognition of a liability, we capitalize the cadtthe asset
retirement obligation by increasing the carryingoammt of the
related long-lived asset. Over time, the liabilgyncreased for
changes in its present value and the capitalizetlisalepreciated
over the useful life of the related asset. We tdetermined that
conditional legal obligations exist for certainaafr worldwide
owned and leased facilities related primarily tdding materials.
As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the outstandagity for
asset retirement obligations was $163 million ah@d1$million,
respectively.

Pension and Postretirement Obligations. In September 2006, the
FASB issued SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting Befined
Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement Plans—ramdment
of FASB Statement Nos. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R)” (SEAS).
This statement
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requires balance sheet recognition of the overfdrote
underfunded status of pension and postretiremergftiglans.
Under SFAS 158, actuarial gains and losses, peiofice costs or
credits, and any remaining transition assets dgatibns that have
not been recognized under previous accounting atdsdnust be
recognized in Accumulated Other Non-Shareownersirges in
Equity, net of tax effects, until they are amortizes a component
of net periodic benefit cost. SFAS 158 was effexfiwr publicly-
held companies for fiscal years ending after Deaamb, 2006,
except for the measurement date provisions, whietegffective
for fiscal years ending after December 15, 200&eflzon the
funded status of our plans as of December 31, 2B@6doption
of SFAS 158 decreased total assets by approxim$gelybillion,
decreased total liabilities by approximately $548iom and
reduced total shareowners’ equity by approxima$dly billion,
net of taxes. SFAS 158 also requires the measuresaén (the
date at which plan assets and the benefit obligatie measured)
to be the company’s fiscal year end. We early-ashbie
measurement date provisions of SFAS 158 effecaveidry 1,
2007. The majority of our pension and postretireinpdsns
previously used a November 30 measurement datglaik are
now measured as of December 31, consistent witlc@upany’s
fiscal year end. The non-cash effect of the adopicthe
measurement date provisions of SFAS 158 incredsa@ewners’
equity by approximately $425 million and decrealsen)-term
liabilities by approximately $620 million in 200The adoption of
SFAS 158 did not affect our results of operations.

Note 2. Business Acquisitions, Goodwill and Intangie Assets

Business Acquisitions. Our investments in businesses in 2008,
2007 and 2006 totaled $1.4 billion, $2.3 billiordz®i..0 billion,
including debt assumed of $196 million, $300 miiliand $138
million, respectively.

The 2008 investments consisted primarily of a nunatbemall
acquisitions in our commercial businesses. The 20@0%stments
consisted principally of the acquisition of Initilectronic
Security Group (IESG), a division of Rentokil laitj plc, and
Marioff Corporation, Oy (Marioff) both now part tie UTC
Fire & Security segment, and a number of small &sitins in
both the commercial and aerospace businesses.

On July 2, 2007, we completed the acquisition &®with the
exception of the French operations, the acquistiiomhich was
completed on December 27, 2007 after receivinglatory
approval. The total purchase price was approximd&el2 billion
including approximately $250 million of debt assum@/e
recorded approximately $1.0 billion of goodwill and
approximately $300 million of identified intangilbéessets in
connection with this acquisition. The acquisitiddE©SG enhances
UTC Fire & Security’s scale and capability in tHeatronic
security business in key markets where we havgrafigiant
presence. IESG sells



integrated security systems, intrusion detectitosed circuit
television, access control and security softwdris. headquartered
in the United Kingdom, with operations in the Udit€¢ingdom,

the Netherlands, the United States and France.

On August 30, 2007, we completed the acquisitioNlafioff, a
global provider of water mist fire suppression eyss for land and
marine applications, for approximately $348 millia¢de recorded
approximately $250 million of goodwill and approxately $70
million of identified intangibles in connection \ithis acquisition.
The acquisition increases UTC Fire & Security’ssgfece in
environmentally friendly water-based suppressisteays and will
expand the company’s product and service offerings.

The 2006 investments in businesses consisted palhgiof a
number of smaller acquisitions including Red Haw#tustries by
UTC Fire & Security, Page Group Ltd. by Hamiltorn8strand
and Longville Group Ltd. and Sensitech, Inc. bynear

The assets and liabilities of the acquired busemase accounted
for under the purchase method of accounting anarded at their
fair values at the dates of acquisition. The excéske purchase
price over the estimated fair values of the ne¢tasacquired was
recorded as an increase in goodwill of $825 miliim2008, $1.8
billion in 2007, and $646 million in 2006. The réswof operations
of acquired businesses have been included in tnsdlidated
Statement of Operations beginning as of the effedate of
acquisition. The final purchase price allocationdoquisitions is
subject to the finalization of the valuation ofteém assets and
liabilities, plans for consolidation of facilitiesd relocation of
employees and other integration activities. Assalltepreliminary
amounts assigned to assets and liabilities willudgect to revision
in future periods.

Goodwill. The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill, by
segment, are as follows:

Balance
Balanc Goodwil Foreigr as of
aso| resulting fron  currenc)| December 31,
January ] translatior
(in millions of busines
dollars) 2004 combination]  and othe 2008
Otis $1,341] $ 3 $ (189 $ 1,193
Carrier 2,916 454 (200 3,270
UTC Fire &
Security 5,92 271 (1,125 5,074
Pratt &
Whitney 1,021 10 — 1,037
Hamilton
Sundstrantc 4,574 16 (172 4,423
Sikorsky 235 19 (5) 249
Total
Segment: 16,02( 814 (1,586 15,246
Eliminations &
Other 100 13 4 117
Total $16,12¢ $ 824 $(1.582 $ 15,363
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I ntangible Assets. Identifiable intangible assets are comprised of
the following:

2008 2007
Accumulated Accumulatet
(in millions of Gross i . Gros
dollars) Amount| Amortization Amoun{ Amortizatior
Amortized:
Service
portfolios $ 1,629 $ (700 $1559 $ (639
Patents and
trademark 333 (203 37§ (97
Other,
principally
customer
relationship  2,46( (825) 2,444 (654)
$ 4414 $ (1,628 $4,384 $ (1,389
Unamortizec
Trademarks
andother $ 653 $ — $ 759 $ —

Amortization of intangible assets for the yearsezhd
December 31, 2008 and 2007 was $363 million and $3flion,
respectively. Amortization of these intangible asd$er 2009
through 2013 is expected to approximate $280 milper year.

Note 3. Earnings Per Share

(in millions, except per share i
amounts’ 200§ 200 2006
Net income $4,68¢9 $4,224 $ 3,732
Basic weighted average

shares outstandir 937.8 963.9 980.0
Stock award: 18.6 24 9 25.7
Diluted weighted average

shares outstandir 956.4 988.4 1,005.7
Earnings per shal
Basic $ 5.0C $ 4.38 $ 381
Diluted 4.9( 4.2 3.71

The computation of diluted earnings per share eadithe effect
of the potential exercise of stock awards, inclgditock
appreciation rights (SARs) and stock options winenaverage
market price of the common stock is lower thanekercise price
of the related SARs and options during the pefldukse
outstanding stock awards are not included in thepzdation of
diluted earnings per share because the effect waaud been
antidilutive. For the year ended December 31, 2@@8number of
stock awards excluded from the computation was 8.9

million. There were no antidilutive stock awardgstanding for
the years ended December 31, 2007 and 2006.



Note 4. Commercial Aerospace Industry Assets ar
Commitments

We have receivables and other financing assetsowitimercial
aerospace industry customers totaling $2,636 mikind $2,586
million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively

Customer financing assets related to commercialsparce
industry customers consist of products under lea$642 million
and notes and leases receivable of $346 millioe. dtes and
leases receivable are scheduled to mature as I8¢ million
in 2009, $34 million in 2010, $12 million in 201470 million in
2012, $13 million in 2013, and $243 million thereaf

Financing commitments, in the form of secured dgbarantees or
lease financing, are provided to commercial aemsgastomers.
The extent to which the financing commitments Wwél utilized is
not currently known, since customers may be abteEbtain more
favorable terms from other financing sources. Wg alao
arrange for third-party investors to assume a porif these
commitments. If financing commitments are exerciskbt
financing is generally secured by assets withrfarket values
equal to or exceeding the financed amounts witr@st rates
established at the time of funding. We also magdedircraft and
subsequently sublease the aircraft to customersrdadg-term
noncancelable operating leases. In some instacgs®mers may
have minimum lease terms that result in subleadedseshorter
than our lease obligation. Lastly, we have madilues$ value and
other guarantees related to various commerciakpace
customer-financing arrangements. The estimatedrfarket
values of the guaranteed assets equal or exceedlthe of the
related guarantees, net of existing reserves.

Our commercial aerospace financing and rental camerits as of
December 31, 2008 were $1,142 million and are ésahte as
follows: $407 million in 2009, $114 million in 201832 million

in 2011, $6 million in 2012, $6 million in 2013, &#$577 million
thereafter. Our financing obligations with customare contingent
upon maintenance of certain levels of financialdithan by the
customers.

In addition, we have residual value and other gutaes of $137
million as of December 31, 2008.

We have a 33% interest in International Aero EngjiA& (IAE),
an international consortium of four shareholdeaaized to
support the V2500 commercial aircraft engine progr@ur
interest in 1AE is accounted for under the equistinod of
accounting. IAE may offer customer financing in fbem of
guarantees, secured debt or lease financing inexiom with
V2500 engine sales. At December 31, 2008, IAE aahting
commitments of $1,069 million and asset value guees of $55
million. Our share of IAE’s financing commitmentsdaasset
value guarantees was approximately $365 milliobetember 31,
2008. In addition,
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IAE had lease obligations under long-term noncatielleases of
approximately $296 million, on an undiscounted asirough
2020 related to aircraft, which are subleased sbocuers under
long-term leases. These aircraft have fair mark&tes, which
approximate the financed amounts, net of reseifvess.
shareholders of IAE have guaranteed IAE’s financing
arrangements to the extent of their respective ostije interests.
In the event of default by a shareholder on cerméithese
financing arrangements, the other shareholdersduvoeil
proportionately responsible.

Reserves related to receivables and financing aaset $149
million and $172 million at December 31, 2008 af@?2,
respectively. Reserves related to financing comeitis and
guarantees were $30 million and $71 million at Delcer 31,
2008 and 2007, respectively.

Note 5. Inventories and Contracts in Progress

(in millions of dollars) 200¢ 2007
Inventories consist of the followin
Raw materialt $ 1,271 $ 1,281
Work-in-process 3,29t 2,78:
Finished good 3,634 3,694
Contracts in progres 5,174 4,75¢
13,37« 12,51
Less:
Progress payments, securec
lien, on U.S. government
contracts (47€) (279)
Billings on contracts in
progress (4,55¢) (4,13))
$ 8,34( $ 8,101

Raw materials, work-in-process and finished goodaat of
valuation reserves of $497 million and $471 millesof
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. As oebder 31,
2008 and 2007, inventory also includes capitalizsgarch and
development costs of $833 million and $740 millicespectively,
related to certain aerospace programs. These kapitaosts will
be liquidated as production units are delivereth&éocustomer. The
capitalized contract research and development edgis
inventory principally relate to capitalized costs ®ikorsky’s CH-
148 contract with the Canadian government. The @Biig a
derivative of the H-92, a military variant of the93.

Contracts in progress principally relate to elevatud escalator
contracts and include costs of manufactured compusne
accumulated installation costs and estimated egsron
incomplete contracts.



Our sales contracts in many cases are long-tertnamis expected
to be performed over periods exceeding twelve msorh
December 31, 2008 and 2007, approximately 66% &Pl 6
respectively, of total inventories and contractpringress have
been acquired or manufactured under such long-temtracts, a
portion of which is not scheduled for delivery viitlthe next
twelve months.

Note 6. Fixed Assets

Estimate
(in millions of dollars) Useful Live 200¢ 2007
Land $ 334 $ 351
Buildings and
improvements 20-40 year 4,681 4,561
Machinery, tools anc
equipmen: 3-20 year 9,48¢ 9,394
Other, including
under constructio 60& 571
15,10¢ 14,87
Accumulated
depreciatior (8,75%) (8,58))
$ 6,34¢ $ 6,29¢

Depreciation expense was $865 million in 2008, $Tifllon in
2007 and $724 million in 2006.

Note 7. Accrued Liabilities

(in millions of dollars) 2008 2007
Advances on sales contracts and
service billings $ 5,24¢ $ 4,934
Accrued salaries, wages and employee
benefits 1,877 1,858
Litigation and contract matte 436 538
Service and warrant 526 573
Income taxes payab 307 450
Interest payabl 29¢ 265
Accrued property, sales and use ts 207 209
Accrued restructuring cos 213 88
Accrued workers compensati 177 168
Other 2,783 2,194
$12,06¢ $11,277
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Note 8. Borrowings and Lines of Credi
Short-term borrowings consist of the following:

(in millions of dollars) 200§ 2007
Domestic borrowing $ 1 $ 1

Foreign bank borrowing 872 1,084
Commercial pape 15(¢ —
$1,023 $1,085

The weighted-average interest rates applicabladda-$erm
borrowings outstanding at December 31, 2008 and 2@%e
5.3% and 7.2%, respectively. At December 31, 2008,
approximately $2.0 billion was available under $tterm lines of
credit with local banks at our various domestic arternational
subsidiaries.

At December 31, 2008, we had two committed creglit@aments
from banks permitting aggregate borrowings of u2d billion.
One credit commitment is a $1.5 billion revolvingdit
agreement. As of December 31, 2008, there wereonowings
under this revolving credit agreement, which expireOctober
2011. We also have a $1.0 billion multicurrencyolging credit
agreement that is available for general fundingpses, including
acquisitions. As of December 31, 2008, approxinyzdi60
million had been borrowed under this revolving dradreement.
This agreement expires in November 2011. As of D 31,
2008, the undrawn portions of both the $1.5 billiemolving
credit agreement and $1.0 billion multicurrencyalging credit
agreement were available to serve as backup fasifior the
issuance of commercial paper. In December 2008nereased
our maximum commercial paper borrowing authoripnir$1.5
billion to $2.5 billion. We generally use our commeial paper
borrowings for general corporate purposes, inclydire funding
of potential acquisitions and repurchases of curkst

In December 2008, we issued $1.25 billion of loaeg¥t debt, the
proceeds of which were used primarily to repay cemual paper
borrowings maturing between December 15, 2008 andaty 21,
2009. A portion of the net proceeds from the offgnivas also
used to repay approximately $180 million of thestahding
borrowings under our multicurrency revolving crefditility. The
remainder of the net proceeds will be used for gm®rporate
purposes. Pending use, we have invested the rerganailable
net proceeds in short-term interest bearing obbgat The terms
of the long-term debt issued in December 2008 asr®llows:

Rat¢
6.1259

Principal (in millions of dollars’

$1,250

Maturity
February 1, 201




We may redeem the notes, in whole or in part, abption at any
time at a redemption price in U.S. dollars equahtogreater of
100% of the principal amount of the notes to becezded or the
sum of the present values of the remaining schddudgments of
principal and interest on the notes to be redeentisdpunted to
the redemption date on a semiannual basis at jhetad treasury
rate plus 50 basis points. The redemption prickalsb include
interest accrued to the date of redemption on timeipal balance
of the notes being redeemed.

In May 2008, we issued $1.0 billion of long-ternbtiehe
proceeds of which were primarily used for geneoaporate
purposes, including financing acquisitions and repases of our
stock. The terms of the long-term debt issued iy RIZ08 were as
follows:

Principal (in millions of dollars’ Ratg Maturity

$1,000 6.1259 July 15, 203¢

We may redeem the notes, in whole or in part, abgption at any
time at a redemption price in U.S. dollars equahtogreater of
100% of the principal amount of the notes to beeesded or the
sum of the present values of the remaining schddudgments of
principal and interest on the notes to be redeedisdpunted to
the redemption date on a semiannual basis at jhetad treasury
rate plus 25 basis points. The redemption prickalsb include
interest accrued to the date of redemption on timeipal balance
of the notes being redeemed.

In December 2007, we issued $1.0 billion of longrtelebt, the
proceeds of which were primarily used to repay cemual paper
borrowings. The terms of the long-term debt issmddecember
2007 were as follows:

Principal (in millions of dollars’ Ratg Maturity

$1,000 5.375¢ December 15, 201

We may redeem the notes, in whole or in part, abption at any
time at a redemption price in U.S. dollars equahtgreater of
100% of the principal amount of the notes to beeeaded or the
sum of the present values of the remaining schddudgments of
principal and interest on the notes to be redeentisdpunted to
the redemption date on a semiannual basis at fsted treasury
rate plus 25 basis points. The redemption prickalsb include
interest accrued to the date of redemption on timeipal balance
of the notes being redeemed.
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In May 2006, we issued $1.1 billion of long-termbtiehe
proceeds of which were used to repay commerciadipap
borrowings. The long-term debt issued in May 2G06amprised
of two series of notes as follows:

Principal (in millions of dollars’ Rat Maturity
$600 6.059 June 1, 203!
$500 LIBOR + .079 June 1, 200!

In February 2009, we redeemed all of the outstanfisO0 million
in notes due in 2009 at a redemption price in ddBars equal to
100% of the principal amount, plus interest accriv&d may
redeem the notes due in 2036, in whole or in paur option at
any time, at a redemption price in U.S. dollarsatqo the greater
of 100% of the principal amount of the notes tadaeemed or the
sum of the present values of the remaining schddudgments of
principal and interest on the notes to be redeentisdpunted to
the redemption date on a semiannual basis at jhetad treasury
rate plus 15 basis points. The redemption prickalsb include
interest accrued to the date of redemption on timeipal balance
of the notes being redeemed. The three month LIB@Ras of
December 31, 2008 and 2007 was approximately lad¥%h4.7%,
respectively.

In April 2005, we issued $2.4 billion of long-teebt, the
proceeds of which were used primarily to suppagtftmding of
the Kidde acquisition. The long-term debt is corsgdi of three
series of notes as follows:

Principal (in millions of dollars’ Ratq Maturity
$600 4.3759 May 1, 201C
$1,200 4.8759 May 1, 201&
$600 5.4009 May 1, 203<

We may redeem the notes of any series, in whoie part, at our
option at any time, at a redemption price in U @&lads equal to
the greater of 100% of the principal amount ofribées of the
series to be redeemed or the sum of the presamvaf the
remaining scheduled payments of principal and @stieon the
notes of the series to be redeemed as describew bdiscounted
to the redemption date on a semiannual basiseadjusted
treasury rate described below plus 10 basis péinthe 4.375%
notes, 15 basis points for the 4.875% notes ansh&is points for
the 5.400% notes. In each case, the redemptioa piiltalso
include interest accrued to the date of redempiiothe principal
balance of the notes being redeemed.



Total long-term debt consists of the following:

Weighted
Averag
(in millions of dollars) Interest Ral  Maturity| 2008 2007
Notes and other de
denominated in
U.S. dollars 2009
6.09 2034 $10,371 $7,942
Foreign 2009
currency 5.69 2027 43 56
ESOP deb 7.79 2009 33 65
10,45 8,063
Less: Long-term
debt currently du 1,116 48
$ 9,337 $8,015

Included within the U.S. dollar denominated delfieted above
are project financing obligations in the amoun$®3 million
associated with the sale of rights to unbilled reses related to the
ongoing activity of an entity recently acquired®srrier. Principal
payments required on long-term debt for the nex fiears are:
$1,116 million in 2009, $1,133 million in 2010, $bAillion in
2011, $503 million in 2012, and $3 million in 20The
percentage of total debt at floating interest ratas 15% and 18%
at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively.

In July 2007, we filed a universal shelf registatstatement with
the SEC for an indeterminate amount of securitesuture
issuance, subject to our internal limitations om @imount of debt
to be issued under this shelf registration statémen
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Note 9. Taxes on Incom:

(in millions of dollars) 200¢ 2007 200¢
Current:
United States
Federal $ 57¢€ $ 49C $ 667
State 51 82 11
Foreign 1,211 1,20¢ 1,03(C
1,83¢ 1,77¢ 1,70¢
Future:
United States
Federal $ 142 $ 22C $ (82
State (52 (60) 38
Foreign (45) (102 (170
45 58 (214
Income tax expens $1,88: $1,83¢ $1,49/
Attributable to items
credited (charged) to
equity and goodwil $2,81¢ $ (493 $1,287

Future income taxes represent the tax effectsaobactions, which
are reported in different periods for tax and ficiahreporting
purposes. These amounts consist of the tax efféttsnporary
differences between the tax and financial reporiaignce sheets
and tax carryforwards. Pursuant to SFAS 109, “Aatiog for
Income Taxes,” current and non-current future inedax benefits
and payables within the same tax jurisdiction aneegally offset
for presentation in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.



The tax effects of net temporary differences andcaryforwards
which gave rise to future income tax benefits aagables at
December 31, 2008 and 2007 are as follows:

(in millions of dollars) 200¢ 2007
Future income tax benefit
Insurance and employee bene  $3,20( $ 75t
Other asset basis differenc (397) (332
Other liability basis difference 1,271 1,26¢
Tax loss carryforward 683 54¢
Tax credit carryforward 1,12¢ 70C
Valuation allowanct (69¢) (54%)
$5,18¢ $2,39:
Future income taxes payab
Fixed asset $ 52¢ $ 63C
Other items, ne 29C 192
$ 81: $ 822

Valuation allowances have been established prignfoiltax
credit, tax loss carryforwards, and certain fordigmporary
differences to reduce the future income tax benéditexpected
realizable amounts. Of the total valuation alloweaamount of
$698 million, $278 million was established in puash
accounting, relating primarily to the purchase btb. Upon the
January 1, 2009 adoption of SFAS 141(R), changdsfierred tax
asset valuation allowances and income tax uncéeaiafter the
acquisition date generally will affect income tagpense including
those associated with acquisitions that closed poithe effective
date of SFAS 141(R).

The sources of income from continuing operatiorfefdeeincome
taxes and minority interests are:

(in millions of dollars) 2008 2007 2006
United State: $2,89¢ $2,786 $2,410
Foreign 4,037 3,59¢ 3,082

$6,93¢ $6,384 $5,492

U.S. income taxes have not been provided on uitzliséd
earnings of international subsidiaries. It is n@gbicable to
estimate the amount of tax that might be payable.i@ention is
to reinvest these earnings permanently or to rigpatthe earnings
only when it is

37

tax effective to do so. Accordingly, we believetthlaS. tax on any
earnings that might be repatriated would be subistgnoffset by
U.S. foreign tax credits.

Differences between effective income tax ratestaedstatutory
U.S. federal income tax rates are as follows:

200¢ 2007 2006

Statutory U.S. federal income
tax rate 35.0% 35.09 35.0%
Tax on international activitie (6.9)% (5.2)9 (7.8)%
Tax audit settlemen (0.8)% (0.6)9 (0.6)%
Other (0.2)% (0.4)9 0.6%
Effective income tax rat 27.1% 28.89 27.2%

The effective tax rates for 2008, 2007 and 200&cethe tax
benefits associated with lower tax rates on intéonal earnings,
which we intend to permanently reinvest outsideUhé&ed States.
The 2008 effective tax rate reflects $62 milliortat expense
reductions, principally related to the resolutidrdizputes with the
Appeals Division of the IRS for tax years 2000 tigb 2003.

The 2007 effective tax rate reflects approxima$d9 million of
tax expense reductions, principally relating teveduation of our
liabilities and contingencies based upon globah@ration
activity including IRS completion of 2000 throug@(3
examination fieldwork and related protest filingdadevelopment
of claims for research and development tax creBitisicipal
adverse tax impacts to the 2007 effective taxnelged to the EU
Fine and enacted tax law changes outside the USiiztgs.

In 2006, a residual disputed issue related to @89 Hisposition of
a business segment was settled with the Appealsibivof the
IRS and was reviewed by the U.S. Congress Jointritiee on
Taxation. The settlement resulted in an approxilp&8a5 million
reduction in tax expense.

In the normal course of business, various tax aitthe examine
us, including the IRS. The IRS examination of teans 2004 and
2005 is ongoing. Although the outcome of these enattannot be
currently determined, we believe adequate provikasbeen
made for any potential unfavorable financial statatimpact.

At December 31, 2008, tax credit carryforwardsn@pally state
and federal, were $1,125 million, of which $541lioil expire as
follows: $23 million expire from 2009-2013, $403llipin from
2014-2018, and $115 million from 2019-2028.

At December 31, 2008, tax loss carryforwards, ppiaity state
and foreign, were $2,726 million, of which $843 linih expire as
follows: $452 million from 2009-2013, $151 millidrom 2014-
2018, and $240 million from 2019-2028.



As disclosed in Note 1, we adopted the provisidrisiN 48 as of
January 1, 2007. At December 31, 2008, we had gaassffected
unrecognized tax benefits of $773 million of whigL0 million,

if recognized, would impact the effective tax rddeiring the years
ended December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, we retartest
expense related to unrecognized tax benefits aoappately $39
million, $56 million, and $38 million, respectivelyotal accrued
interest at December 31, 2008 and 2007 was appabaiyn$161
million and $174 million, respectively. A reconaiiion of the
beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized taefits for the
years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 are aw$o

(in millions of dollars) 200¢ 2007
Balance at January $ 79¢ $ 81¢
Additions for tax positions related to the

current yea 112 78
Additions for tax positions of prior yea 66 93
Reductions for tax positions of prior

years (85) (48)
Settlement: (11¢) (140
Balance at December . $77° $ 79¢

Included in the balances at December 31, 2008 86d,2re $63
million of tax positions whose tax characterizatistighly certain
but for which there is uncertainty about the timafgax return
inclusion. Because of the impact of deferred taboaating, other
than interest and penalties, the timing would ngidct the annual
effective tax rate but could accelerate the payroénash to the
taxing authority to an earlier period.

We conduct business globally and, as a result, oiT@e or more
of our subsidiaries file income tax returns in ths. federal
jurisdiction and various state and foreign jurisidics. In the
normal course of business, we are subject to exatinmby taxing
authorities throughout the world, including suchjona
jurisdictions as Australia, Canada, China, Fra@Gmmany, Hong
Kong, Italy, Japan, South Korea, Singapore, SghaUnited
Kingdom and the United States. With few exceptioves are no
longer subject to U.S. federal, state and locahar-U.S. income
tax examinations for years before 1998.

It is reasonably possible that over the next twehmths the
amount of unrecognized tax benefits may changeinéhange of
a net decrease of $175 million to a net increasks06fmillion
resulting from additional worldwide uncertain taosgtions, from
the re-evaluation of current uncertain tax posgianising from
developments in examinations, in appeals, or ircthets, or from
the closure of tax statutes. Not included in theyeais $266
million of tax benefits that we have claimed rethte a 1998
German reorganization. These tax benefits are milyrbeing
reviewed by the German Tax Office in the coursarofudit of tax
years 1999 to 2000. In 2008 the German FederalCbaxt deniec
benefits to another taxpayer in a case involvi@eaman tax law
relevant to our reorganization. The determinatibthe German
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Federal Tax Court on this other matter has beeralpg to the
European Court of Justice (ECJ) to determine ifush@erlying
German tax law is violative of European Union (Eldinciples. It
is our position that it is more likely than not thiae relevant
German tax law is violative of EU principles and e not
accrued tax expense for this matter. As developsnarthe
pending ECJ case warrant, it may become necessang to
accrue for this matter, and related interest.

Note 10. Employee Benefit Plans

We sponsor numerous domestic and foreign emplogeefi
plans, which are discussed below.

As disclosed in Note 1, we adopted the recognipiavisions of
SFAS 158 in 2006. In addition, we early-adoptedrtteasurement
date provisions of SFAS 158 effective January 0,720
Accordingly, we use a December 31 measurementfdatr
pension and postretirement plans. Prior to 2007ysesl a
November 30 measurement date for a majority ofpemsion ant
postretirement plans.

Employee Savings Plans. We sponsor various employee savings
plans. Our contributions to employer sponsorednaefi
contribution plans were $212 million, $200 milliand $205
million for 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Our non-union domestic employee savings plan uséaeployee
Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP) for employer contrimai
External borrowings, guaranteed by us and repasedkbt in the
Consolidated Balance Sheet, were used by the ES@iRd a
portion of its purchase of ESOP Convertible Prefgi$tock
(ESOP Preferred Stock) from us. On November 6, 20G3
Trustee and we effected the conversion of all hfilbon
outstanding shares of ESOP Preferred Stock intmi8®n shares
of common stock. At the time of the conversion tesicare of
ESOP Preferred Stock was convertible into fourehaf common
stock, had a guaranteed minimum value of $65, &%dnnual
dividend and was redeemable by us at any time@b6rger share.
Because of its guaranteed value, the ESOP PrefBtomk was
classified outside of Shareowners’ Equity. Begignivith the
December 31, 2003 balance sheet, common stoclkolette
ESOP and committed to employees is classified angeent
equity because it no longer has a guaranteed v@hramon stock
held by the ESOP is included in the average nurabeommon
shares outstanding for both basic and diluted egsnper share.

Shares of common stock are allocated to employe86P
accounts at fair value on the date earned. Casthetiigls on
common stock held by the ESOP are used for debicser
payments. Participants receive additional sharéeurnof cash
dividends. As ESOP debt service payments are ntadenon
stock is released from an unreleased shares ac&s0P debt



may be prepaid or re-amortized to either increaskeorease the
number of shares released so that the value afsedeshares
equals the value of plan benefit. We may alsouabption,
contribute additional common stock or cash to tBOP. At
December 31, 2008, 38.4 million common shares le@th b
allocated to employees, leaving 24.6 million unzdied common
shares in the ESOP Trust, with an approximatevedire of $1.3
billion.

Pension Plans. We sponsor both funded and unfunded domestic

and foreign defined benefit pension plans that céve majority
of our employees.

The amounts included in Other in the precedingetaéflect the
impact of the change in measurement date in 2@0&ign
exchange translation, primarily for plans in theted Kingdom
and Canada, and amendments to certain domestig. plan

Qualified domestic pension plan benefits comprigareximately
77% of the projected benefit obligation. Benefds tinion
employees are generally based on a stated amausddb year of
service. For non-union employees, benefits arergéipdased on
an employee’s years of service and compensationraggement.
A cash balance formula was adopted in 2003 for néived non-
union employees and for other non-union employdss made a

(in millions of dollars) 200¢ 2007
Change in Benefit Obligation:
Beginning balanc $ 21,91 $ 21,94¢
Service cos 44¢ 43¢
Interest cos 1,26: 1,182
Actuarial loss (gain 111 (565)
Total benefits pait (1,127 (1,107
Net settlement and curtailment g (22) (63)
Acquisitions — 38
Other (2,087 43
Ending balanc: $ 21,51 $ 21,91«
Change in Plan Assets:
Beginning balanc $ 22,65( $ 20,59:
Actual return on plan asse (5,095 2,07¢
Employer contribution 492 38C
Benefits paid from plan asse (2,095 (1,079
Other (1,012) 67€
Ending balanc: $ 15,94( $ 22,65(
Funded status:
Fair value of plan asse $ 15,94( $ 22,65(
Benefit obligation: (21,51)) (21,919
Funded status of ple $ (5,57)) $ 73€
Amounts Recognized in the

Consolidated Balance Sheet

Consist of:
Noncurrent asse $ 59 $ 2,18
Current liability (47 (57
Noncurrent liability (5,589 (1,399
Net amount recognize $ (5,57)) $ 73€
Amounts Recognized ir

Accumulated Other

Comprehensive Income

Consist of:
Net actuarial los $ 7,90¢ $ 1,247
Prior service cos 29¢ 34¢
Transition obligatior 9 13
Net amount recognize $ 8,21( $ 1,60¢

one-time voluntary election to have future benaditruals
determined under this formula. Certain foreign plamhich
comprise approximately 21% of the projected bertdfitgation,
are considered defined benefit plans for accoungumgoses.
Nonqualified domestic pension plans provide supplatary
retirement benefits to certain employees and are moaterial
component of the projected benefit obligation.

We contributed $250 million and $150 million of comn stock to
our domestic defined benefit pension plans durid@g?and 2007,

respectively.

Information for pension plans with accumulated bitobligation

in excess of plan assets:

(in millions of dollars) 200¢ 2007
Projected benefit obligatic $18,91 $2,412
Accumulated benefit obligatic 17,224 1,958
Fair value of plan asse 13,391 1,458

The accumulated benefit obligation for all defirmhefit pension
plans was $19.6 billion at both December 31, 20882007.

The components of the net periodic pension cosasifellows:

(in millions of dollars) 200¢ 2007 200¢
Pension Benefits:
Service cos $ 44¢ $ 43¢ $ 432
Interest cos 1,26: 1,182 1,12¢
Expected return
on plan assef (1,669 (1,546 (1,419
Amortization of
prior service
costs 49 37 36
Amortization of
unrecognized
net transition
obligation 1 1 1
Recognized
actuarial net
loss 11¢ 252 32E
Net settlement an
curtailment loss
(gain) 1 (D) 10
Net periodic pensio
cos—employer $ 21€ $ 364 $ b51¢




Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligat@rognized in
other comprehensive income in 2008 are as follows:

(in millions of dollars)

Current year actuarial lo: $6,86¢
Amortization of actuarial los (119
Current year prior service cc 13
Amortization of prior service cos (49
Amortization of transition obligatio @
Other (111
Total recognized in other comprehensive ince 6,60z
Net recognized in net periodic pension cost andr
comprehensive incorr $6,81¢

The estimated amount that will be amortized frormuaculated
other comprehensive income into net periodic pensast in 2009
is as follows:

(in millions of dollars)

Net actuarial los $220
Prior service cos 53
Transition obligatior 1

$274

Contributions to multiemployer plans were $163 ioiil| $145
million and $132 million for 2008, 2007 and 2006spectively.

Major assumptions used in determining the benéfigation and
net cost for pension plans are presented in thewoig table as
weighted-averages:

Benefit Obligatior Net Cos!
2004 2007 200§ 2007 2006
Discount rate 6.1% 6.09% 6.0% 5.4% 5.5%
Salary scalt 4.4% 4.3 4.4% 4.0 4.0%
Expected return on ple
asset: — — | 8.3% 8.3% 8.3%

In determining the expected return on plan asset;onsider the
relative weighting of plan assets, the historicatfgrmance of
total plan assets and individual asset classegemubomic and
other indicators of future performance. In additime may consult
with and consider the opinions of financial andevthrofessionals
in developing appropriate return benchmarks. TH¥/ 2@t cost
assumptions reflect the early adoption of the meawsant change
provisions of SFAS 158, as discussed in Note 1.
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Asset management objectives include maintainingdaguate
level of diversification to reduce interest ratel anarket risk and
to provide adequate liquidity to meet immediate arndre benefit
payment requirements.

The allocation of pension plan assets is as follows

Target Allocatio Percentage of Plan Asse
Asset Categor 2009 2009 2007
Equity securitie: 48%— 68% 49% 58%
Debt securitie! 18%— 30% 34% 27%
Real estat 4% - 8% 6% 6%
Other 7% — 20% 11% 9%
100% 100%

Our common stock represents approximately 4% andfi%tal
plan assets at December 31, 2008 and 2007, resggctiVe
review our assets at least quarterly to ensurerevgvthin the
targeted asset allocation ranges and, if necessssgt balances
are adjusted back within target allocations.

Estimated Future Contributions and Benefit Payments

We expect to make contributions of approximatel@Gnillion to
our pension plans in 2009, including approxima@t@0 million
to our domestic plans. Contributions do not refleenefits to be
paid directly from corporate assets.

Benefit payments, including amounts to be paid foorporate
assets, and reflecting expected future servicappsopriate, are
expected to be paid as follows: $1,174 million @99, $1,257
million in 2010, $1,257 million in 2011, $1,302 tiwh in 2012,
$1,341 million in 2013, and $7,461 million from 2Dthrough
2018.



Postretirement Benefit Plans. We sponsor a number of
postretirement benefit plans that provide healith lda benefits to
eligible retirees. Such benefits are provided prilpdrom
domestic plans, which comprise approximately 90%hefbenefit
obligation. The postretirement plans are primauitjunded. The
allocation of assets in funded plans is approxifg&&% equity
and 63% fixed income.

(in millions of dollars) 200¢ 2007
Change in Benefit Obligation:
Beginning balanc $971 $1,07¢
Service cos 3 5
Interest cos 53 56
Actuarial gain (54) (32
Total benefits pait (90) (84)
Other (12 (49
Ending balanc: $ 871 $ 971
Change in Plan Assets
Beginning balanc $ 27 $ 65
Employer contribution: 83 76
Benefits paid from plan asse (90) (84)
Other (4) (30
Ending balanci $ 16 $ 27
Funded Status:
Fair value of plan asse $ 16 $ 27
Benefit obligations (877) (977)
Funded status of ple $(85E) $ (9449
Amounts Recognized in the

Consolidated Balance Sheet

Consist of:
Current liability $ (89) $ (70
Noncurrent liability (767) (8749)

$(855) $ (944

Amounts Recognized in Accumulatel

Other Comprehensive Income

Consist of:
Net actuarial gail $(129) $ (76)
Prior service cos (4) (20

$(127) $ (86)
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The components of net periodic benefit cost afelésys:

(in millions of dollars) 200¢ 2007 200¢
Other Postretirement Benefi
Service cos $ 3 $ 5 $ 8
Interest cos 53 56 57
Expected return on plan
asset: 2 3 4
Amortization of prior
service cos (6) (8) (26)
Net settlement and curtailme
gain — — (1)
Net periodic othe
postretirement benefit co $ 48 $ 50 $ 34

Other changes in plan assets and benefit obligat@rognized in
other comprehensive income in 2008 are as follows:

(in millions of dollars)

Current year actuarial ga $(47)
Amortization of prior service crec 6
Total recognized in other comprehensive ince (47)
Net recognized in net periodic benefit cost anekc
comprehensive incomnr $ 7

The estimated amounts that will be amortized fracuanulated
other comprehensive income into net periodic bégegt in 2009
include net actuarial gains of $3 million and pservice credits of
$2 million.

Major assumptions used in determining the benéfigation and
net cost for postretirement plans are presentéuakifiollowing
table as weighted-averages:

Benefit
Obligation Net Cos!
2004 2007 2004 200¢ 2006
Discount rate 6.0% 5.99% 5.9% 5.5% 5.5%
Expected return on plé
asset: — — | 7.8% 7.3% 6.0%

The 2007 net cost assumptions reflect the earlptamoof the
measurement change provisions of SFAS 158, asgiiedun Note
1.



Assumed health care cost trend rates are as fallows

2008 2007
Health care cost trend rate assumed for n
year 8.5% 9.0%
Rate that the cost trend rate gradually
declines tc 5.0% 5.0%
Year that the rate reaches the rate it is
assumed to remain 201¢ 2016

Assumed health care cost trend rates have a signifeffect on
the amounts reported for the health care plansi&\gercentage-
point change in assumed health care cost trensl waiald have
the following effects:

2008
One-Percentac-Point
(in millions of dollars) Increas Decreas
Effect on total service and
interest cos $ 3 $ 2
Effect on postretirement bene
obligation $ 43 $ (39

Estimated Future Benefit Payments

Benefit payments, including net amounts to be fraich corporate
assets, and reflecting expected future servicappsopriate, are
expected to be paid as follows: $90 million in 20838 million in
2010, $86 million in 2011, $83 million in 2012, $B40llion in
2013, and $336 million from 2014 through 2018.

Stock-based Compensation. We have long-term incentive plans
authorizing various types of market and performaesed
incentive awards that may be granted to officedsemployees.
Prior to April 13, 2005, our long-term incentiveaplprovided for
the annual grant of awards in an amount not toeck@86 of the
aggregate number of shares of outstanding comnoaRk,dreasury
shares and potential common stock (as determiner lxy the
calculation of earnings per share on a diluted)der the
preceding year. On April 9, 2008, the shareownpmsaved an
amendment to the 2005 Long Term Incentive Plan P Thich
authorized the delivery of up to an additional 38iom shares of
common stock pursuant to awards under the LTIP. The
amendment increased the maximum number of shai@mohon
stock that may be awarded under the LTIP to 7lionikhares. As
of December 31,
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2008, approximately 43 million shares remain awdddor awards
under the LTIP. The LTIP does not contain an anaualrd limit.
We expect that the shares awarded on an annualwgisiange
from 1% to 1.5% of shares outstanding. The LTIR axpire after
all shares have been awarded or April 30, 2014chévier is
sooner. Following initial approval of the LTIP orpA 13, 2005,
we may not grant any new awards under previoudbtiag equity
compensation plans. Under all long-term incentilang, the
exercise price of awards is set on the grant daeder@ay not be
less than the fair market value per share on thgt dsenerally,
awards have a term of ten years and a minimum-gaevesting
schedule. In the event of retirement, awards haidnfore than one
year shall immediately become vested and exer@sébhddition
under the LTIP, awards with performance-based ngstiill also
generally be subject to a three-year performancesorement
period. In the event of retirement before compteti6 the three-
year performance measurement period, awards magime
eligible to vest. We have historically repurchashdres in an
amount at least equal to the number of sharesdsasuger our
equity compensation arrangements and expect tancenthis

policy.

We measure the cost of all share-based paymentsding stock
options, at fair value on the grant date and reizegthis cost in
the statement of operations. For the years endedrbger 31,
2008, 2007 and 2006, $211 million, $198 million &1i@0
million, respectively, of compensation cost wagized in
operating results. The associated future incoméemefit
recognized was $72 million, $67 million and $58lioil for the
years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 ctasghe.

For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 art] #00
amount of cash received from the exercise of stmtions was
$163 million, $415 million and $346 million, respieely, with an
associated tax benefit realized of $49 million, 417llion and
$137 million, respectively. Also, in accordance8FAS

No. 123(R), for the years ended December 31, 22087 anc
2006, $32 million, $130 million and $101 milliorggpectively, of
certain tax benefits have been reported as opgratish outflows
with corresponding cash inflows from financing sittés.

At December 31, 2008, there was $151 million oltot
unrecognized compensation cost related to non-desaity
awards granted under long-term incentive planss €bst is
expected to be recognized ratably over a weightedage period
of 1.5 years.



A summary of the transactions under all long-temoentive plans for the three years ended Decentheé2®8 follows:

Stock Appreciation Performance Sharg Othel
Stock Option: Rights Units Incentive
Averag Averag( Averag Shares
(shares and units in thousanc Share Price? Share Price? Units Price** Units
Outstanding ai
December 31, 20C 85,78¢| $36.37 — — — — 58€
Granted 22C 56.4¢ 7,11C| $56.79 1,18t $56.53 234
Exercised/earne (13,069 28.4] — — — — (234)
Cancellec (961) 47.76 (250) 56.7§ (44) 56.53 (37)
December 31, 20C 71,97¢| $37.7] 6,86(| $56.7¢ 1,141 $56.53 54¢
Granted 27¢ 64.4¢ 7,57¢ 65.34 1,08t 62.8] 12k
Exercised/earne (14,45%) 31.3¢ (61) 45.1¢ — — (85)
Cancellec (782) 39.3¢ (497) 60.24 (69) 59.63 (2
December 31, 20C 57,01:| $39.47 13,88¢| $61.37 2,157 $59.5¢ 587
Granted 192 74.57 7,221 74.23 94¢ 75.2] 174
Exercised/earned (6,095 32.64 (14) 47.34 — — (144)
Cancelled (110 4475 (798) 66.5% (117) 64.5¢ (55)
December 31, 200: 50,99¢| $40.31 20,29 $65.71 2,99¢| $64.3f 562
* weightec-average exercise pri
**  weightec-average grant stock prit
The weighted-average grant date fair value of stptions and December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $144 mifiah6
stock appreciation rights granted during 2008, 2883 2006 was million and $121 million, respectively. The totatrinsic value
$21.16, $19.10 and $15.84, respectively. The weifatverage (which is the amount by which the stock price exeskthe
grant date fair value of performance share unitéclvvest upon exercise price of the options on the date of ezejadf options
achieving certain performance metrics, grantedndu?i008, 2007, exercised during the years ended December 31, 2008, and
and 2006 was $84.01, $71.28 and $63.96, respectilViee total 2006 was $173 million, $575 million and $443 mitljo
fair value of options vested during the years ended respectively.

The following table summarizes information aboutiggawards outstanding that are expected to vabeguity awards outstanding that are
exercisable at December 31, 2008:

Equity Awards Outstanding Expected to \ Equity Awards Outstanding That Are Exercisa
Aggregat Aggregat
Averagg Intrinsig Remainin Averagg Intrinsid Remaining
(shares thousands, aggregate intrinsic value ifiom) Awardy Price? Valug Term** Awardy Price? Valug Term**
Stock Options/Stock Appreciation Rig} 70,879 $47.24 $ 45] 5.1 51,160 $ 40.24 $ 683 3.9
Performance Share Units/Restricted St 3,164 — | $ 17¢ 1.0

* weightec-average exercise price per sh
**  weightec-average contractual remaining term in ye
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The fair value of each option award is estimatedhendate of
grant using a binomial lattice model. The followitadple indicates
the assumptions used in estimating fair valuetentears ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006. Because latiseeboption
models incorporate ranges of assumptions for inpltse ranges
are as follows:

200¢ 2007 2006
Expected volatility 23% —26%| 22%-— 23% 21%
Weighted-average
volatility 23% 22% 21%
Expected term (in
years) 7.9-8.7 7.8—8.2 7.6-7.9
Expected dividenc 1.6% 1.69 1.7%
Risk-free rate 2.9%-4.0% 4.6%-5.04 4.0%-4.4%

Expected volatilities are based on the returnsuofstock,
including implied volatilities from traded options our stock for
the binomial lattice model. We use historical datastimate
equity award exercise and employee termination\aehavithin
the valuation model. Separate employee groups aquityeaward
characteristics are considered separately for tialugurposes.
The expected term represents an estimate of thedpafrtime
equity awards are expected to remain outstandihg.riBk-free
rate is based on the term structure of interessrat the time of
equity award grant.

Note 11. Restructuring

During 2008, we recorded net pre-tax restructuand related
charges totaling $357 million for new and ongoiagtructuring
actions. We recorded charges in the segmentslas/flOtis $21
million, Carrier $140 million, UTC Fire & Security63 million,
Pratt & Whitney $116 million, Hamilton Sundstran@i&bmillion
and Eliminations & Other $1 million. The chargeslide $148
million in cost of sales, $205 million in sellingeneral and
administrative expenses and $4 million in othebme. As
described below, these charges relate principalgctions
initiated during 2008 and, to a lesser extentgetain actions
initiated in 2007 and 2006.

2008 Actions. During 2008, we initiated restructuring actions
relating to ongoing cost reduction efforts, inchagliselling,
general and administrative reductions, principatiarrier,

Pratt & Whitney, and UTC Fire & Security, and thlensolidation
of manufacturing facilities. We recorded net pre+astructuring
and related charges totaling $327 million, inclgd$119 million
in cost of sales, $204 million in selling, geneaatl administrative
expenses, and $4 million in other income.

At December 31, 2008, net workforce reductionsppfraximately
3,900 employees of an expected 6,300 employeeshwere
completed. The majority of the remaining workforeductions
and all facility-related cost reduction actionspegted to total

1.2 million net square feet of facilities, are tted for completion
during 2009 and 2010.
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The following table summarizes the accrual balarces
utilization by cost type for the 2008 restructurengions:

Facility
Exit
Asse and Leas
Write- Terminatior
(in millions of dollars) Severanc Downs Cost: Total
Net pre-tax
restructuring
charges $ 277 $ 24 $ 26 $ 327
Utilization (125) (24) (19| (169
Balance at
December 31
2008 $ 152 $— $ 7 $ 15¢

The following table summarizes expected, incurned @maining
costs for the 2008 restructuring actions by type:

Facility
Exit
and Leas
Asse Terminatior
(in millions of Write-
dollars) Severanc Downs Cost: Total
Expected cost $ 30< $ 24 $ 60 $ 387
Costs incurred
during 200¢ (277) (24) (26) (327)
Remaining
costs at
December &
2008 $ 26 $— $ 34 $ 60

The following table summarizes expected, incurned @maining
costs for the 2008 restructuring actions by segment

Remaining
Costs at
Costs Incurred December 31,
Expectel

(in millions of dollars) Cost During 2008 2008
Otis $ 29 $ 21 $ 8
Carrier 164 (147 23

UTC Fire &

Security 66 (58) 8
Pratt & Whitney 114 (93) 21
Hamilton

Sundstrant 13 (13 —
Eliminations &

Other 1 Q) —
Total $ 387 $ (327 $ 60

2007 Actions. During 2008, we recorded net pre-tax restructuring

and related charges totaling $10 million, includ@gmillion in
cost of sales and $1 million in selling, general administrative
expenses. The 2007 actions relate to ongoing edsiction efforts
including workforce reductions, and the consoliolatbf

manufacturing facilities.



As of December 31, 2008, net workforce reductions o

approximately 1,700 employees of an expected ledfloyees
have been completed, and 200,000 net square fémtilifies of
an expected 500,000 net square feet have beerl ekite
remaining workforce and facility reduction acticare targeted for

completion during 2009.

The following table summarizes the restructuringraal balances
and utilization by cost type for the 2007 programs:

Facility
Exit
and Leas
Asse Terminatior
Write-
(in millions of dollars) Severanc Downs Cost: Total
Restructuring
accruals at —
January 1,200 $ 31 $ $ 7| $38
Net pre-tax
restructuring
charges 1 2 7 10
Utilization (28) 2) (9) (39
Balance at
December 31, —
2008 $ 4 $ $ 5 $ 9

The following table summarizes expected, incurned @maining
costs for the 2007 programs by type:

Facility
Exit
and Leas
Asse Terminatior
Write-
(in millions of dollars) Severanc Downs Costt Total
Expected cost $ 68 $ 23 $ 33 $ 124
Costs incurred
during 2007 (67) (21) 1 (109
Costs incurred
during 200¢ 1) ) @) (10)
Remaining cost:
at
December 31
2008 $ — $— $ 5 $ 5

The following table summarizes expected, incurned iemaining
costs for the 2007 programs by segment:

Costt Costs Remaining

Incurrec Incurred Costs at

Expectel December 31,

During During

(in millions of dollars) Cost 2007 200¢ 2008
Otis $ 20 $ (20 $ — $ —
Carrier 33 (33 — —

UTC Fire &

Security 32 27) 5) —
Pratt & Whitney 27 (25) 2 —
Hamilton

Sundstrant 12 4) 3 5
Total $ 124 $(109 $ (10| $ 5
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2006 Actions. During 2008, we recorded net pre-tax restructuring
and related charges in the business segmentsp&20 million

in cost of sales for the restructuring actionsanéd in 2006. These
actions relate to ongoing cost reduction efforts|uding selling,
general and administrative reductions, workforauotions and

the consolidation of manufacturing facilities. Asrecember 31,
2008, we have completed all net workforce redustioh
approximately 3,700 employees and exited approxn&00,000
net square feet of facilities. As of December 3&there were

no remaining costs on these actions.

Note 12. Financial Instruments

We operate internationally and, in the normal cewfkbusiness,
are exposed to fluctuations in interest rates,gorexchange rates
and commodity prices. These fluctuations can irggehe costs of
financing, investing and operating the business.nvdieage our
foreign currency transaction risks and some comtypakiposures
to acceptable limits through the use of derivatidesignated as
hedges as deemed appropriate.

By nature, all financial instruments involve marked credit risks.
We enter into derivative and other financial instants with major
investment grade financial institutions and havicps to monitor
the credit risk of those counterparties. We linoitisterparty
exposure and concentration of risk by diversify@oginterparties.
We do not anticipate non-performance by any oféhes
counterparties.

The non-shareowner changes in equity associatédhetging
activity for the 12 months ended December 31, 20282007
were as follows:

(in millions of dollars) 200¢ 2007
Balance at January $ 13¢ $ 4
Cash flow hedging (loss) gain, r (149 164
Net gain reclassified to sales or cos

products solt (162) (29
Balance at December . $(1712) $13¢

Assuming current market conditions continue, ofaheunt
recorded in Shareowners’ Equity, a $202 million-fzoeloss is
expected to be reclassified into sales or costadyrts sold to
reflect the fixed prices obtained from hedging witthe next 12
months. Gains and losses recognized in earningteteto the
discontinuance or the ineffectiveness of cash thos fair value
hedges were immaterial for the years ended DeceBihe2008
and 2007. At December 31, 2008, all derivative @t
accounted for as cash flow hedges mature by DeceRli®.



All derivative instruments are recorded on the hedasheet at fair
value. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the fairevalu
derivatives recorded as assets was $188 milliors86& million,
respectively, and the fair value of derivativesoreed as liabilities
was $680 million and $43 million, respectively. \Wee derivatives
to hedge forecasted cash flows associated witlgio@irrency
commitments or forecasted commodity purchaseseesdd
appropriate, which are accounted for as cash flegghs. In
addition, from time to time we use derivatives,tsas interest rate
swaps, which are accounted for as fair value hedges

The notional amount of foreign exchange contraetiging
foreign currency transactions was $9.9 billion &&.9 billion at
December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectively. The iogrgmounts
and fair values of financial instruments at Decen8ieare as
follows:

2008 2007

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

(in millions of dollars) Amount Value Amount Value
Financial Assets
and Liabilities
Marketable
equity

securite $ 325 $ 32| $ 20z $ 20z
Long-term

receival 3432 31¢ 30€ 30z
Customer
financing
notes

receivabli 31€ 24E 347 33t
Short-term

borrowil (1,027) (1,029 (1,085 (1,085
Long-term

debt (10,40¢) (11,33)) (8,009 (8,432

The above fair values were computed based on cabiear
transactions, quoted market prices, discounteddutash flows or
an estimate of the amount to be received or paidrtainate or
settle the agreement, as applicable.

The values of marketable equity securities reptesan
investment in common stock that is classified aslalle for sale
and is accounted for at fair value.

We have outstanding financing and rental commitsiéttling
$1,142 million at December 31, 2008. Risks assediatith
changes in interest rates on these commitmentsigigated by
the fact that interest rates are variable durimgctimmitment term
and are set at the date of funding based on cumarket
conditions, the fair value of the underlying catla and the credit
worthiness of the customers. As a result, theviaiwe of these
financings is expected to equal the amounts funtled.fair value
of the commitment itself is not readily determireabhd is not
considered significant. Additional information paérting to these
commitments is included in Note 4.
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Note 13. Guarantee:

We extend a variety of financial guarantees taltparties. As of
December 31, 2008 and 2007 the following finangigrantees
were outstanding:

2008 2007

Maximurry
Potentig
Paymer]

Maximum
Potential
Paymen

Carrying
Amount of]
Liability

Carrying
Amount of
(in millions of dollars) Liability
Credit facilities

and debt
obligations—
unconsolidat:
subsidiaries
(expire 2009
to 2034)
IAE’s financing
arrangements
(See Note 4
Commercial
aerospace
financing
arrangement
(See Note 4
Commercial
customer
financing
arrangement
Performance
guarantee

$ 20§ $ 2 $ 29¢ $ 1

1,42( 14 1,63¢ 14

137 10 219 40

206 5 196 1

4Q 58

We also have obligations arising from sales ofagerbusinesses
and assets, including representations and warsaatié related
indemnities for environmental, health and safety,and
employment matters. The maximum potential paymelated to
these obligations is not a specified amount asnabeu of the
obligations do not contain financial caps. Theyiag amount of
liabilities related to these obligations was $150iom and $164
million at December 31, 2008 and 2007, respectivedy
additional information regarding the environmental
indemnifications, see Note 15.

We accrue for costs associated with guarantees wiseprobable
that a liability has been incurred and the amoantloe reasonably
estimated. The most likely cost to be incurredcisraed based on
an evaluation of currently available facts, and reh® amount
within a range of estimates is more likely, the imimm is accrued.
In accordance with FASB Interpretation No. 45, “@Grdor’'s
Accounting and Disclosure Requirements for Guaesjte
Including Indirect Guarantees of Indebtedness boe@t,” for
guarantees issued after December 31, 2002, wedredability

for the fair value of such guarantees in the baasieet.

We provide service and warranty policies on oudpais and
extend performance and operating cost guarantgesbdeur
normal service and warranty policies on some ofppaducts,
particularly commercial aircraft engines. In adutiti we incur
discretionary costs to service our products in eation with
specific product performance issues. Liability for



performance and operating cost guarantees is hgsedfuture
product performance and durability, and is estinhédegely based
upon historical experience. Adjustments are madetouals as
claim data and historical experience warrant. Tianges in the
carrying amount of service and product warranties groduct
performance guarantees for the years ended Dece8hb2008
and 2007, are as follows:

(in millions of dollars) 200¢ 2007
Balance as of January $1,252 $1,321
Warranties and guarantees iss 42¢ 45C
Settlements mac (557) (531)
Adjustments to provisio 6 12
Balance as of December $1,13¢€ $1,252

Note 14. Fair Value Measurement

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 151y Value
Measurements” (SFAS 157), which is effective fecél years
beginning after November 15, 2007 and for intergniguls within
those years. This statement defines fair valuapéshes a
framework for measuring fair value and expands ¢teted
disclosure requirements. This statement appliesuother
accounting pronouncements that require or perrinivédue
measurements. The statement indicates, amongtathgs, that a
fair value measurement assumes that the transaotiell an asset
or transfer a liability occurs in the principal rket for the asset or
liability or, in the absence of a principal markibie most
advantageous market for the asset or liability. SAA7 defines
fair value based upon an exit price model.

Relative to SFAS 157, the FASB issued FASB StaffifRms
(FSP) FAS 157-1, FAS 157-2, and FAS 157-3. FSP EBG1
amends SFAS 157 to exclude SFAS No. 13, “Accourfting
Leases” (SFAS 13), and its related interpretiveoanting
pronouncements that address leasing transactidiie, MSP FAS
157-2 delays the effective date of the applicatbBFAS 157 to
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2008afbr
nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilitieatthre recognized
or disclosed at fair value in the financial stataetseon a non-
recurring basis. FSP FAS 157-3 clarifies the appilin of SFAS
157 as it relates to the valuation of financiak#s$n a market that
is not active for those financial assets. This ES§ffective
immediately and includes those periods for whidkaficial
statements have not been issued. We currently doave any
financial assets that are valued using inactiveketar and as such
are not impacted by the issuance of this FSP.

We adopted SFAS 157 as of January 1, 2008, witlexbeption of
the application of the statement to non-recurriagfimancial
assets and nonfinancial liabilities. Non-recurring
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nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilitiesvighich we have
not applied the provisions of SFAS 157 include ¢howasured at
fair value in goodwill impairment testing, indefiailived
intangible assets measured at fair value for innpaint testing,
asset retirement obligations initially measurethatvalue, and
those non-recurring nonfinancial assets and nonéiia liabilities
initially measured at fair value in a business coration.

Valuation Hierarchy. SFAS 157 establishes a valuation hierarchy
for disclosure of the inputs to valuation used &easure fair value.
This hierarchy prioritizes the inputs into threedn levels as
follows. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjdsin active
markets for identical assets or liabilities. Le2ehputs are quoted
prices for similar assets and liabilities in actimarkets, quoted
prices for identical or similar assets in markéts @are not active,
inputs other than quoted prices that are obsenfablihe asset or
liability, including interest rates, yield curvesdacredit risks, or
inputs that are derived principally from or corrodted by
observable market data through correlation. Leviap8ts are
unobservable inputs based on our own assumptictstas
measure assets and liabilities at fair value. Aritial asset or
liability’s classification within the hierarchy getermined based
on the lowest level input that is significant te flair value
measurement.

The following table provides the assets and litibdicarried at fair
value measured on a recurring basis as of Dece&ih@008:

Significan
Quoted price
Total Carrying othel Significant
Value at in active observabl unobservable
December 31 market: inputs inputs
(in millions of
dollars) 200¢ (Level L (Level 2 (Level 3)
Available for
sale
securities  $317| $ 317 $ — $ —
Derivative
asset: 18¢€ — 18¢€ —
Derivative
liabilities 68C — 68C —

Valuation Techniques. Our available for sale securities include
equity investments that are traded in an activekataihey are
measured at fair value using closing stock pricemsfactive
markets and are classified within Level 1 of theigton
hierarchy. Our derivative assets and liabilities include fgrei
exchange and commodity derivatives that are medsuriair
value using observable market inputs such as fahnates,
interest rates, our own credit risk and our coyp#gies’ credit
risks. Based on these inputs, the derivative assetdiabilities are
classified within Level 2 of the valuation hierayctBased on our
continued ability to trade securities and entev forward
contracts, we consider the markets for our faingahstruments to
be active.



As of December 31, 2008, there has not been amyfisant
impact to the fair value of our derivative liah@i$ due to our own
credit risk. Similarly, there has not been any Bigant adverse
impact to our derivative assets based on our etratuaf our
counterparties’ credit risks.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159¢"Fhir
Value Option for Financial Assets and Financialdilities —
Including an amendment of FASB Statement No. 18°AS
159), which is effective for fiscal years beginniter
November 15, 2007. This statement permits entitiehoose t
measure many financial instruments and certainr dtias at fair
value. This statement also establishes presentatidrlisclosure
requirements designed to facilitate comparisonséen entities
that choose different measurement attributes foilai types of
assets and liabilities. Unrealized gains and loesdagems for
which the fair value option is elected would bearted in
earnings. We have adopted SFAS 159 and have eleoted
measure any additional financial instruments aheémitems at fair
value.

Note 15. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

Leases. We occupy space and use certain equipment under lea
arrangements. Rental commitments of $1,650 mikibn
December 31, 2008 under long-term noncancelableatipg
leases are payable as follows: $453 million in 2@B¥ 1 million

in 2010, $265 million in 2011, $180 million in 201&122 million
in 2013 and $259 million thereafter. Rent expenas $604
million in 2008, $437 million in 2007 and $373 roth in 2006.

Additional information pertaining to commercial aspace rental
commitments is included in Note 4.

Environmental. Our operations are subject to environmental
regulation by federal, state and local authoritiethe United
States and regulatory authorities with jurisdictover our foreign
operations. As described in Note 1, we have acciurette costs
of environmental remediation activities and peroadly reassess
these amounts. We believe that the likelihood ofiining losses
materially in excess of amounts accrued is renfgdte.
December 31, 2008, we had $553 million reserved for
environmental remediation.

Government. We are now, and believe that in light of the cutren
U.S. government contracting environment we will tirmure to be,
the subject of one or more U.S. government invastgs. If we
or one of our business units were charged with gdoing as a
result of any of these investigations or other goreent
investigations (including violations of certain @nmental or
export laws) the U.S. government could suspendam bidding
on or receiving awards of new U.S. government @mtérpending
the completion of legal proceedings. If convictedaund liable,
the U.S. government could fine and debar us from UeS.
government contracting for a period generally no#xceed three
years. The U.S. government could void any contrfaetsd to be
tainted by fraud.
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Our contracts with the U.S. government are alsgestito audits.
Like many defense contractors, we have received erpbrts,
which recommend that certain contract prices shbaldeduced to
comply with various government regulations. Soméhete audit
reports involved substantial amounts. We have matismtary
refunds in those cases we believe appropriate aniihecie to
litigate certain cases. In addition, we accruditdyilities
associated with those matters that are probableamde
reasonably estimated. The most likely settlemerduarnto be
incurred is accrued based upon a range of estimatiesre no
amount within a range of estimates is more likéign we accrued
the minimum amount.

As previously disclosed, the Department of Jugti®J) sued us
in 1999 in the U.S. District Court for the South®istrict of Ohio,
claiming that Pratt & Whitney violated the civil IBa Claims Act
and common law. This lawsuit relates to the “Figtiegine
Competition” between Pratt & Whitney’s F100 engarel General
Electric’'s F110 engine. The DOJ alleges that theegument
overpaid for F100 engines under contracts awargatedU.S. Air
Force in fiscal years 1985 through 1990 becaust &/\&/hithey
inflated its estimated costs for some purchasets pad withheld
data that would have revealed the overstatementsiahof this
matter, completed in December 2004, the governmlaithed
Pratt & Whitney’s liability to be $624 million. OAugust 1, 2008,
the trial court judge held that the Air Force had suffered any
actual damages because Pratt & Whitney had maddgicémt
price concessions. However, the trial court judgentl that

Pratt & Whitney violated the False Claims Act daertaccurate
statements contained in the 1983 offer. In the radzsef actual
damages, the trial court judge awarded the DOdnlddmum civil
penalty of $7.09 million, or $10,000 for each of ff09 invoices
Pratt & Whitney submitted in 1989 and later undher t
contracts. Both the DOJ and UTC have appealeddbisidn.
Should the government ultimately prevail, the oaoteof this
matter could result in a material effect on ounhessof operations
in the period in which a liability would be recoged or cash
flows for the period in which damages would be paid

In December 2008, the Department of Defense (D@&)dad a
contract claim against Sikorsky to recover overpagts the DOD
alleges it has incurred since January 2003 in ottiorewith cost
accounting changes approved by the DOD and implesddyy
Sikorsky in 1999 and 2006. These changes reldtestoalculation
of material overhead rates in government contrdd¢is.DOD
claimed that Sikorsky’s liability is approximatehg0 million
(including interest). We believe this claim is vatit merit and
intend to appeal.

Except as otherwise noted above, we do not betteateresolution
of any of these matters will have a material adveféect upon our
competitive position, results of operations, cdsetv$ or financial
condition.



Other. As described in Note 13, we extend performance and
operating cost guarantees beyond our normal wareard service
policies for extended periods on some of our prtali/e have
accrued our estimate of the liability that may fesnder these
guarantees and for service costs, which are pretatd can be
reasonably estimated.

We have accrued for environmental investigatomnediation,
operating and maintenance costs, performance geasaand
other litigation and claims based on our estiméthe probable
outcome of these matters. While it is possible thatoutcome of
these matters may differ from the recorded liahilite believe the
resolution of these matters will not have a matém@act on our
competitive position, results of operations, cdstv$ or financial
condition.

We also have other commitments and contingentliliegsi related
to legal proceedings, self-insurance programs aatiens arising
out of the normal course of business. We accruérgmencies
based upon a range of possible outcomes. If no anvathin this
range is a better estimate than any other, theacerie the
minimum amount.

Note 16. Segment Financial Data

Our operations are classified in six principal segts. The
segments are generally determined based on thegexaeat of
the businesses and on the basis of separate grbopsrating
companies, each with general operating autonomy diversified
products and services.

Otis products include elevators, escalators, moving wajls and
service sold to customers in the commercial anideesial
property industries around the world.

Carrier products include residential, commercial and indaist
heating, ventilating, air conditioning (HVAC) aneffrigeration
systems and equipment, food service equipmentlibgil
automation and controls, HVAC and refrigeration poments and
installation, retrofit and aftermarket services.

UTC Fire & Security products include fire and special hazard and
suppression systems and fire fighting equipmerttednic

security, monitoring and rapid response systemssandce and
security personnel for a diversified internatiooastomer base
principally in the industrial, commercial and residial property
sectors.

Pratt & Whitney products include commercial, military, business
jet and general aviation aircraft engines, partsservices

industrial gas turbines and space propulsion soiddiversified
customer base, including international and domestiomercial
airlines and aircraft leasing companies, aircradhofacturers, and
U.S. and foreign governments. Pratt & Whitney glsavides
product support and a full range of overhaul, nepad fleet
management services and produces land-based peweragion
equipment.

Hamilton Sundstrand provides aerospace and industrial products
and aftermarket services for diversified industriesldwide.
Aerospace products include power generation, manageand
distribution systems, flight systems, engine cdrdystems,
environmental control systems, fire protection detection
systems, auxiliary power units and propeller systdmdustrial
products include air compressors, metering pumgdlard

handling equipment.

Sikorsky products include military and commercial helicopter
aftermarket helicopter and aircraft parts and sesvi

Segment Revenues and Operating Profit. Total revenues by segment include intersegmens salgich are generally made at prices
approximating those that the selling entity is ablebtain on external sales. Segment informatioritfe years ended December 31 is as

follows:
Total Revenue Operating Profits

(in millions of dollars) 200¢ 2007 200¢ 200¢ 2007 200¢
Otis $12,94¢ $11,88¢ $10,29( $2,471 $2,321 $1,88¢
Carrier 14,94 14,64+ 13,48: 1,31¢ 1,381 1,237
UTC Fire & Security 6,462 5,75¢ 4,747 542 4432 301
Pratt & Whitney 12,96¢ 12,12¢ 11,11 2,122 2,011 1,817
Hamilton Sundstran 6,207 5,63¢€ 4,99t 1,09¢ 967 832
Sikorsky 5,36¢ 4,78¢ 3,23( 47¢ 372 178
Total segmen 58,89t 54,83 47,85t 8,03« 7,49¢ 6,24¢
Eliminations & Othel (219 (78) (26) (1) (60) 187
General corporate expens — — — (40¢) (38€) (337)
Consolidatec $58,68: $54,75¢ $47,82¢ $7,62¢ $7,05( $6,09¢
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Total Asset: Capital Expenditure: Depreciation & Amortizatior
(in millions of dollars) 2008 2007 200¢ 2008 20071 2006 2008 2007 2006
Otis $7731 $772] $697:| $ 150 $ 13¢ $93 $ 203 ¢ 184 $ 183
Carrier 10,81( 10,33t 10,12; 191 181 144 194 184 157
UTC Fire & Security 10,027 11,143 8,51¢ 95 101 106 234 204 176
Pratt & Whitney 9,65( 9,273 9,82¢ 417 384 334 364 307 280
Hamilton Sundstran 8,644 8,96¢ 9,41¢ 141 160 147 178 164 142
Sikorsky 3,985 3,412 3,14¢ 165 12§ 66 62 52 47
Total segmen 50,84 50,849 48,00¢| 1,154 1,090 89(¢ 1,243 1,098 985
Eliminations & Othef 5,623 3,726 (86¢) 62 63 64 78 79 48
Consolidatec $56,469 $54,574 $47,147| $1,214 $1,15 $954 $1,32] $1,173 $1,033

1

decision to transfer domestic pension asset abditiabalances from the segments to UTC Corporate.

The asset increase from 2007 to 2008 primarilyeotsl the increase in cash and cash equivalentsah&l@C Corporate. The asset increase from 202087 reflects management’s

Geographic External Revenues and Operating Profit. Geographic external revenues and operating praf@sattributed to the geographic

regions based on their location of origin. U.Seexal revenues include export sales to commeraitbeers outside the United States and
sales to the U.S. government, commercial and at#itl customers, which are known to be for resateistomers outside the United States.
Long-lived assets are net fixed assets attributalle specific geographic regions.

External Revenue Operating Profits Lonc-Lived Asset

(in millions of dollars) 2004 2007 2009  200¢ 2007 200¢ 200§ 2007 2006
United States Operatiol $27,964 $26,467 $23,524 $3,94f| $3,50¢| $3,067| $3,199 $3,109 $2,939
International Operatior

Europe 15,814 14,341 12,06y 2,21¢( 2,204 1,731 1,349 1,35¢ 1,130

Asia Pacific 8,217 7,991 7,054 1,037 1,041 814 80( 762 717

Other 6,416 5,604 4,804 83:< 743 637 671 803 698
Eliminations & Othel 269 360 371 (409 (446 (151 334 266 241
Consolidatec $58,68] $54,759 $47,829 $7,62%| $7,05(| $6,09¢| $6,344 $6,29¢ $5,725

Revenues from U.S. operations include export sadsllows:

(in millions of dollars) 200¢ 2007 2006
Europe $2,11¢ $1,782 $1,448
Asia Pacific 2,052 2,22] 1,629
Other 2,864 2,221 1,771

$7,034 $6,22¢ $4,848
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Major Customers. Revenues include sales under prime contracts
and subcontracts to the U.S. government, primagigted to
Pratt & Whitney, Hamilton Sundstrand and Sikorskgducts, as

follows:

(in millions of dollars) 200¢ 2007 2006

Pratt & Whitney $3,547 $3,587 $3,652

Hamilton Sundstran 1,084 948 934

Sikorsky 3,064 2,774 1,819

Other 35 39 40
$7,734 $7,344 $6,445




Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

2008 Quarters

2007 Quarter

(in millions of dollars, except per share amout First | Seconq Third | Fourth First Seconc Third Fourth
Sales $13,57] $15,531 $14,70] $14,22¢ $11,93 $13,76¢ $13,71 $14,499
Gross margir 3,596 4,174 4,034 3,672 2,94( 3,637 3,65( 3,770
Net income 1,00( 1,275 1,264 1,144 819 1,148 1,197 1,060
Earnings per share of Common Sta

Basic—net income $ 104 $ 139 $ 13 $ 124 ¢ 85 $ 119 $ 124 ¢ 111

Diluted—net income $ 103 $ 134 $ 133 % 129 $ 82 $ 114 $ 121 $ 1.08
Comparative Stock Data (Unaudited)

2008 2007
Common Stock High Low Dividend High Low Dividend

First quartel $77.14 $6520 $ 320 $69.49 $61.8 $ .265
Second quarte $75.8¢ $6051 $ 320 $72.64 $63.6§ $ .265
Third quartel $67.99 $56.15§ $ .32 $80.99 $69.0¢ $ .320
Fourth quarte $59.9¢ $41.7¢ $ .38 $82.5( $72.6¢ $ .320

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stocklange. The high and low prices are based on thepGsite Tape of the New York
Stock Exchange. There were approximately 25,408tergd shareholders at December 31, 2008.
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Performance Graph (Unaudited)

The following graph presents the cumulative tokelreholder return for the five years ending Decartie 2008 for our common stock, as
compared to the Standard & Poor’s 500 Stock Indekta the Dow Jones 30 Industrial Average. Our comistock price is a component of
both indices. These figures assume that all divddgraid over the five-year period were reinvested, that the starting value of each index
and the investment in common stock was $100.00egember 31, 2003.

COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE FIVE YEAR TOTAL RETURN

5200

150

100 @

550

5{! T T T T 1
Dec-03 Dec-04 Dec-05 Dec-06 Dec-07 Dec-08

—+— United Technologies Corporation —8— S5&P 500 Index —a«—Dow Jones Industrials

Decembe
2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008
United Technologies Corporatit $100.0 $110.73 $121.81 $138.5 $172.34 $123.35
S&P 500 Inde» $100.0 $110.8¢ $116.31 $134.7 $142.1( $ 89.53
Dow Jones Industrial Averag $100.0 $105.5¢ $107.41 $127.84 $139.14 $ 93.93
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Shareowner Information

Corporate Office Certifications

United Technologies Corporation UTC has included as Exhibit 31 to its Shareowners may obtain a

United Technologies Building
Hartford, Connecticut 06101
Telephone: 860.728.7000

This report is made available to
shareowners in advance of the
annual meeting of shareowners to
be held at 11:00 a.m., April 8,
2009, in Jupiter, Florida. The
proxy statement will be made
available to shareowners on or
about February 20, 2009, at wh
time proxies for the meeting will
be requested.

Annual Report on Form 10-K for
fiscal year 2008 filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commiss
certificates of its principal executive
officers and principal financial
officers certifying, among other
things, the information contained in
the Form 10-K.

Annually UTC submits to the New
York Stock Exchange (NYSE) a
certificate of UTC’s Chief Executive
Officer certifying that he was not
aware of any violation by UTC of
NYSE corporate governance listi
standards as of the date of the
certification.

Information about UTC, includir
financial information, can be
found at our Web site:
WWw.utc.com. Dividends

Dividends are usually paid on the
10th day of March, June, September

and December.

Stock Listing
New York Stock Exchang

Ticker Symbol
UTX

Transfer Agent and Registrar
Computershare Trust Company, electronic access to future annual
N.A., is the transfer ager reports and proxy materials, rather
registrar and dividend disbursing than receiving mailed copies:
agent for UTC’s Common Stock.
Questions and communications
regarding transfer of stock,
replacement of lost certificates,
dividends and address changes,
and the Direct Stock Purchase i
Dividend Reinvestment Plan
should be directed to:

Electronic Access

Registered shareowners may sign upaccess to UTC financial

at the following Web site for

Your enrollment is revocable until

be able to request electronic acces
contacting their broker or bank, or
Broadridge Financial Solutions at:
http://enroll.icsdelivery.com/utc.
Computershare Trust Company,
N.A.
250 Royall Street
Canton, Massachusetts 02021
Telephone:

Within the

U.S.: 1.800.488.9281

Outside the

U.S.: 1.781.575.2724
Web site:
www.computershare.com/inves

TDD: 1.800.952.9245
Telecommunications device for
the hearing impaire(

www.computershare.com/us/ecommsinformation and other

each year’s record date for the annua
meeting. Beneficial shareowners mayq

Additional Information Direct Registration System

If your shares are held in str
name through a broker and
you are interested i
participating in the Direct
Registration System, you may
have your broker transfer

the shares to Computershare
Trust Company, N.A.,
electronically through

the Direct Registration
System. Interested investors
can request a description of
this book-entry form of
registration by calling
Shareholder Direct

at: 1.800.881.1914.

Environmentally Friendly
Report

This annual report is printed
on recycled and recyclable
paper.

www.utc.com
www.carrier.com
www.hamiltonsundstrand.ca
www.otis.com
WwWw.pw.utc.com
www.sikorsky.com
www.utcfireandsecurity.com
www.utcpower.com

copy of the UTC Annual
Report on Form 10-K for
2008 filed with the Securities
and Exchange Commission
writing to:

Corporate Secretary

United Technologies
Corporation

United Technologies Buildin
Hartford, Connecticut 06101

For additional information
about UTC, please contact
Investor Relations at the
above corporate office
address, or visit

our Web site at:
WwWw.utc.com

Shareowner Information
Services

Our Internet and telephone
services give shareowners f

results. The 24-hour-a-day,
toll-free telephone service
includes recorded summaries
of UTC’s quarterly earnings

company news. Callers also
fnay request copies of our
uarterly earnings and news
releases, by either fax or me
and obtain copies of the UTC
Annual Report and Form 10-
K.

To access the service, dial
1.800.881.1914 from any
touchtone phone and follow
the recorded instructions.



United Technologies Corporation
Subsidiary and Affiliate Listing
December 31, 2008

Entity Name
3206772 Nova Scotia Company

Australia Holdings Inc.

Beesail Limited

Carrier Commercial Refrigeration, Inc.
Carrier Corporation

Carrier HVACR Investments B.V.
Carrier Kéltetechnik Deutschland GmbH
Carrier Sales and Distribution, LLC
Carrier Technologies ULC

Carrier Transicold Pte. Ltd

Ceesalil Limited

Chubb (UK) Limited

Chubb Group (International) Limited
Chubb Group Limited

Chubb Group Properties Limited
Chubb Group Security Limited

Chubb International (Netherlands) BV
Chubb International Holdings Limited
Chubb International Limited

Chubb Investments Limited

Chubb Limited

Chubb Nederland B.V.

Chubb Overseas Investments Limitec

Chubb Security Holdings Australia Limited

Chubb White Peak (UK) Limited
Eagle Services Asia Private Limitec
Empresas Carrier, S. De R L.De C.V
Hamilton Sundstrand Corporation
Hamilton Sundstrand Holdings, Inc.
Helicopter Support, Inc.
International Comfort Products, LLC
Kaysail Limited

Kidde America Inc.

Kidde Finance Limited

Kidde Fire Protection Inc.

Kidde Holdings Inc.

Kidde Holdings Limited

Kidde International Limited

Kidde Limited

Kidde Technologies Inc. (*)

Kidde UK

Kidde UK Holdings Limited

KNA Inc.

Latin American Holding, Inc.

Lenel Systems International, Inc.
Moonless Limited

Nippon Otis Elevator Company

State/Country of Incorporation

Canada
Delaware
England
Delaware
Delaware
Netherlands
Germany
Delaware
Canada
Singapore
England
England
England
England
England
England
Netherlands
England
England
England
England
Netherlands
England
Australia
England
Singapore
Mexico
Delaware
Delaware
Connecticut
Delaware
England
Delaware
England
Delaware
Delaware
England
England
England
Delaware
England
England
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
England
Japan



United Technologies Corporation
Subsidiary and Affiliate Listing
December 31, 2008

Entity Name
NSI, Inc.

Otis Elevator Company

Otis Elevator Korea

Otis Holdings GmbH & Co. OHG

Otis International Holdings UK Limited

Otis Limited

Otis Pacific Holdings B.V.

Otis S.C.S.

Parkview Treasury Services (UK) Limited
Pilgrim House Group Limited

Pratt & Whitney Canada Corp.

Pratt & Whitney Canada Holdings Corp.
Pratt & Whitney Canada Leasing, Limited Partnership
Pratt & Whitney Engine Leasing, LLC

Pratt & Whitney Power Systems, Inc.

Pratt & Whitney Rocketdyne, Inc.

Pratt Aero Limited Partnership
Ratier-Figeac, SAS

SICLI Holding SAS

Sikorsky Aircraft Corporation

Sirius Korea Limited

Sullair Corporation

United Technologies Australia Holdings Limited
United Technologies Canada, Ltd

United Technologies Cortran, Inc.

United Technologies Electronic Controls, Inc
United Technologies Far East Limitec
United Technologies Finance (U.K.) Limited
United Technologies France SA!

United Technologies Holding GmbH

United Technologies Holdings Limited
United Technologies Holdings S.A

United Technologies International Corporatior-Asia Private Limited
United Technologies International SAS
United Technologies Luxembourg S.a.r.l.
United Technologies Paris SN(

UT (UK) LIMITED

UT Finance Corporation

UT Luxembourg Holding | S.a.r.l.

UT Luxembourg Holding Il S.a.r.l.

UT Park View, Inc.

UTC Canada Corporation

UTC Fire & Security Corporation

UTC Investments Australia Pty Limited
UTCL Holdings, Limited

UTCL Investments B.V.

UTX Holdings S.C.S.

Exhibit 21

State/Country of Incorporation
Delaware
New Jersey
South Korea
Germany
England
England
Netherlands
France
England
England
Canada
Canada
Canada
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Canada
France
France
Delaware
England
Indiana
Australia
Canada
Delaware
Delaware
Hong Kong
England
France
Germany
England
France
Singapore
France
Luxembourg
France
England
Delaware
Luxembourg
Luxembourg
Delaware
Canada
Delaware
Australia
Canada
Netherlands
France




Exhibit 21

United Technologies Corporation
Subsidiary and Affiliate Listing
December 31, 2008

Entity Name State/Country of Incorporation
White Peak Finance Ireland Limited Ireland

Wytwornia Sprzetu Komunikacyjnego PZL-Rzeszow S.A Poland

Xizi Otis Elevator Company Limited China

Zardoya Otis, S.A. Spain

* Kidde Technologies, Inc. also conducts busined§idde Aerospace & Defense, Fenwal Safety Systerdskaside Dual Spectrun

Other subsidiaries of the Registrant have beentediitom this listing since, considered in the aggtte as a single subsidiary, they would
constitute a significant subsidiary.



Exhibit 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémt¢lee Registration Statement on Form S-3 (No-B88330), in the Registration
Statement on Form S-4 (No. 333-77991) as amend&bbtyEffective Amendment No. 1 on Form S-8 (N8-33991) and in the
Registration Statements on Form S-8 (Nos. 333-1863%93-156385, 333-150643, 333-150640, 333-15083%,125478, 333-125476, 333-
125293, 333-110020, 333-100724, 333-100723, 333-18®(B33-82911, 333-77817, 333-21853, 333-21853;538937, 033-57769 and 033-
51385) of United Technologies Corporation of oyrar dated February 11, 2009 relating to the firerstatements and the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, whichpaars in the Annual Report to Shareowners, whidhcisrporated in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K. We also consent to the incorporatiomédgrence of our report dated February 11, 20Q8ingj to the financial statement
schedule, which appears on page S-I of this ForK.10

/sl PricewaterhouseCoopers L

Hartford, Connecticu
February 11, 200



Exhibit 24

UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION
Power of Attorney

The undersigned, as a member of the Board of Rirgcor as an officer of UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORP®RON, a Delaware
corporation (the “Corporation”), or as a membeaaommittee of said Board, or in all of said capesj hereby constitutes and appoints
CHARLES D. GILL, KATHLEEN M. HOPKO and GREGORY JAYES, or any one of them, his or her true and ldwaftorneys and ager
to do any and all acts and things and execute adyk instruments which the said attorneys andhesgemay deem necessary or advisable to
enable the Corporation to comply with the Secwsifixchange Act of 1934 and any rules and regulstiom requirements of the Securities
and Exchange Commission in respect thereof in adiorewith the filing of the Annual Report of theotporation on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2008, including specifichlit without limiting the generality of the forgigg, the power and authority to sign -
name of the undersigned, in the capacities afatesain any other capacity, to such Form 10-K ArdriRReport filed or to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, and any araredhdments to the said Form 10-K Annual Repod,aany and all instruments and
documents filed as a part of or in connection whth said Form 10-K Annual Report or any amendmreieto; hereby ratifying and
confirming all that the said attorneys and agemtsiny one of them, have done, shall do or caube ttone by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has signedRbiger of Attorney this 9th day of February, 2009.

/s/ John V. Faraci
John V. Farac




UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION
Power of Attorney

The undersigned, as a member of the Board of Rirgcor as an officer of UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORP®RON, a Delaware
corporation (the “Corporation”), or as a membeaaommittee of said Board, or in all of said capesj hereby constitutes and appoints
CHARLES D. GILL, KATHLEEN M. HOPKO and GREGORY JAYES, or any one of them, his or her true and ldwftorneys and ager
to do any and all acts and things and execute adyk instruments which the said attorneys andvesgemay deem necessary or advisable to
enable the Corporation to comply with the Secwifigchange Act of 1934 and any rules and regulataod requirements of the Securities
and Exchange Commission in respect thereof in atiiorewith the filing of the Annual Report of theofporation on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2008, including specifichlit without limiting the generality of the foreigg, the power and authority to sign-
name of the undersigned, in the capacities afatewain any other capacity, to such Form 10-K ArriReport filed or to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, and any ararehdments to the said Form 10-K Annual Repod,ay and all instruments and
documents filed as a part of or in connection whth said Form 10-K Annual Report or any amendmreieto; hereby ratifying and
confirming all that the said attorneys and agemtsny one of them, have done, shall do or caube tone by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has signedRbiser of Attorney this 9th day of February, 2009.

/sl Jean-Pierre Garnier
Jear-Pierre Garnie




UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION
Power of Attorney

The undersigned, as a member of the Board of Rirgcor as an officer of UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORP®RON, a Delaware
corporation (the “Corporation”), or as a membeaaommittee of said Board, or in all of said capesj hereby constitutes and appoints
CHARLES D. GILL, KATHLEEN M. HOPKO and GREGORY JAYES, or any one of them, his or her true and ldwftorneys and ager
to do any and all acts and things and execute adyk instruments which the said attorneys andvesgemay deem necessary or advisable to
enable the Corporation to comply with the Secwifigchange Act of 1934 and any rules and regulataod requirements of the Securities
and Exchange Commission in respect thereof in atiiorewith the filing of the Annual Report of theofporation on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2008, including specifichlit without limiting the generality of the foreigg, the power and authority to sign-
name of the undersigned, in the capacities afatewain any other capacity, to such Form 10-K ArriReport filed or to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, and any ararehdments to the said Form 10-K Annual Repod,ay and all instruments and
documents filed as a part of or in connection whth said Form 10-K Annual Report or any amendmreieto; hereby ratifying and
confirming all that the said attorneys and agemtsny one of them, have done, shall do or caube tone by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has signedRbiser of Attorney this 9th day of February, 2009.

/s/ Jamie S. Gorelick
Jamie S. Gorelic




UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION
Power of Attorney

The undersigned, as a member of the Board of Rirgcor as an officer of UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORP®RON, a Delaware
corporation (the “Corporation”), or as a membeaaommittee of said Board, or in all of said capesj hereby constitutes and appoints
CHARLES D. GILL, KATHLEEN M. HOPKO and GREGORY JAYES, or any one of them, his or her true and ldwftorneys and ager
to do any and all acts and things and execute adyk instruments which the said attorneys andvesgemay deem necessary or advisable to
enable the Corporation to comply with the Secwifigchange Act of 1934 and any rules and regulataod requirements of the Securities
and Exchange Commission in respect thereof in atiiorewith the filing of the Annual Report of theofporation on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2008, including specifichlit without limiting the generality of the foreigg, the power and authority to sign-
name of the undersigned, in the capacities afatewain any other capacity, to such Form 10-K ArriReport filed or to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, and any ararehdments to the said Form 10-K Annual Repod,ay and all instruments and
documents filed as a part of or in connection whth said Form 10-K Annual Report or any amendmreieto; hereby ratifying and
confirming all that the said attorneys and agemtsny one of them, have done, shall do or caube tone by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has signedRbiser of Attorney this 9th day of February, 2009.

/s/ Edward A. Kangas
Edward A. Kanga




UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION
Power of Attorney

The undersigned, as a member of the Board of Rirgcor as an officer of UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORP®RON, a Delaware
corporation (the “Corporation”), or as a membeaaommittee of said Board, or in all of said capesj hereby constitutes and appoints
CHARLES D. GILL, KATHLEEN M. HOPKO and GREGORY JAYES, or any one of them, his or her true and ldwftorneys and ager
to do any and all acts and things and execute adyk instruments which the said attorneys andvesgemay deem necessary or advisable to
enable the Corporation to comply with the Secwifigchange Act of 1934 and any rules and regulataod requirements of the Securities
and Exchange Commission in respect thereof in atiiorewith the filing of the Annual Report of theofporation on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2008, including specifichlit without limiting the generality of the foreigg, the power and authority to sign-
name of the undersigned, in the capacities afatewain any other capacity, to such Form 10-K ArriReport filed or to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, and any ararehdments to the said Form 10-K Annual Repod,ay and all instruments and
documents filed as a part of or in connection whth said Form 10-K Annual Report or any amendmreieto; hereby ratifying and
confirming all that the said attorneys and agemtsny one of them, have done, shall do or caube tone by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has signedRbiser of Attorney this 9th day of February, 2009.

/sl Charles R. Lee
Charles R. Le:i




UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION
Power of Attorney

The undersigned, as a member of the Board of Rirgcor as an officer of UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORP®RON, a Delaware
corporation (the “Corporation”), or as a membeaaommittee of said Board, or in all of said capesj hereby constitutes and appoints
CHARLES D. GILL, KATHLEEN M. HOPKO and GREGORY JAYES, or any one of them, his or her true and ldwftorneys and ager
to do any and all acts and things and execute adyk instruments which the said attorneys andvesgemay deem necessary or advisable to
enable the Corporation to comply with the Secwifigchange Act of 1934 and any rules and regulataod requirements of the Securities
and Exchange Commission in respect thereof in atiiorewith the filing of the Annual Report of theofporation on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2008, including specifichlit without limiting the generality of the foreigg, the power and authority to sign-
name of the undersigned, in the capacities afatewain any other capacity, to such Form 10-K ArriReport filed or to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, and any ararehdments to the said Form 10-K Annual Repod,ay and all instruments and
documents filed as a part of or in connection whth said Form 10-K Annual Report or any amendmreieto; hereby ratifying and
confirming all that the said attorneys and agemtsny one of them, have done, shall do or caube tone by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has signedRbiser of Attorney this 9th day of February, 2009.

/s/ Richard D. McCormick
Richard D. McCormic}




UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION
Power of Attorney

The undersigned, as a member of the Board of Rirgcor as an officer of UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORP®RON, a Delaware
corporation (the “Corporation”), or as a membeaaommittee of said Board, or in all of said capesj hereby constitutes and appoints
CHARLES D. GILL, KATHLEEN M. HOPKO and GREGORY JAYES, or any one of them, his or her true and ldwftorneys and ager
to do any and all acts and things and execute adyk instruments which the said attorneys andvesgemay deem necessary or advisable to
enable the Corporation to comply with the Secwifigchange Act of 1934 and any rules and regulataod requirements of the Securities
and Exchange Commission in respect thereof in atiiorewith the filing of the Annual Report of theofporation on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2008, including specifichlit without limiting the generality of the foreigg, the power and authority to sign-
name of the undersigned, in the capacities afatewain any other capacity, to such Form 10-K ArriReport filed or to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, and any ararehdments to the said Form 10-K Annual Repod,ay and all instruments and
documents filed as a part of or in connection whth said Form 10-K Annual Report or any amendmreieto; hereby ratifying and
confirming all that the said attorneys and agemtsny one of them, have done, shall do or caube tone by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has signedRbiser of Attorney this 9th day of February, 2009.

/s/ Harold McGraw Il
Harold McGraw Il




UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION
Power of Attorney

The undersigned, as a member of the Board of Rirgcor as an officer of UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORP®RON, a Delaware
corporation (the “Corporation”), or as a membeaaommittee of said Board, or in all of said capesj hereby constitutes and appoints
CHARLES D. GILL, KATHLEEN M. HOPKO and GREGORY JAYES, or any one of them, his or her true and ldwftorneys and ager
to do any and all acts and things and execute adyk instruments which the said attorneys andvesgemay deem necessary or advisable to
enable the Corporation to comply with the Secwifigchange Act of 1934 and any rules and regulataod requirements of the Securities
and Exchange Commission in respect thereof in atiiorewith the filing of the Annual Report of theofporation on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2008, including specifichlit without limiting the generality of the foreigg, the power and authority to sign-
name of the undersigned, in the capacities afatewain any other capacity, to such Form 10-K ArriReport filed or to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, and any ararehdments to the said Form 10-K Annual Repod,ay and all instruments and
documents filed as a part of or in connection whth said Form 10-K Annual Report or any amendmreieto; hereby ratifying and
confirming all that the said attorneys and agemtsny one of them, have done, shall do or caube tone by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has signedRbiser of Attorney this 9th day of February, 2009.

/s/ Richard B. Myers
Richard B. Myers




UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION
Power of Attorney

The undersigned, as a member of the Board of Rirgcor as an officer of UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORP®RON, a Delaware
corporation (the “Corporation”), or as a membeaaommittee of said Board, or in all of said capesj hereby constitutes and appoints
CHARLES D. GILL, KATHLEEN M. HOPKO and GREGORY JAYES, or any one of them, his or her true and ldwftorneys and ager
to do any and all acts and things and execute adyk instruments which the said attorneys andvesgemay deem necessary or advisable to
enable the Corporation to comply with the Secwifigchange Act of 1934 and any rules and regulataod requirements of the Securities
and Exchange Commission in respect thereof in atiiorewith the filing of the Annual Report of theofporation on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2008, including specifichlit without limiting the generality of the foreigg, the power and authority to sign-
name of the undersigned, in the capacities afatewain any other capacity, to such Form 10-K ArriReport filed or to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, and any ararehdments to the said Form 10-K Annual Repod,ay and all instruments and
documents filed as a part of or in connection whth said Form 10-K Annual Report or any amendmreieto; hereby ratifying and
confirming all that the said attorneys and agemtsny one of them, have done, shall do or caube tone by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has signedRbiser of Attorney this 9th day of February, 2009.

/s/ H. Patrick Swygert
H. Patrick Swyger




UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION
Power of Attorney

The undersigned, as a member of the Board of Rirgcor as an officer of UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORP®RON, a Delaware
corporation (the “Corporation”), or as a membeaaommittee of said Board, or in all of said capesj hereby constitutes and appoints
CHARLES D. GILL, KATHLEEN M. HOPKO and GREGORY JAYES, or any one of them, his or her true and ldwftorneys and ager
to do any and all acts and things and execute adyk instruments which the said attorneys andvesgemay deem necessary or advisable to
enable the Corporation to comply with the Secwifigchange Act of 1934 and any rules and regulataod requirements of the Securities
and Exchange Commission in respect thereof in atiiorewith the filing of the Annual Report of theofporation on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2008, including specifichlit without limiting the generality of the foreigg, the power and authority to sign-
name of the undersigned, in the capacities afatewain any other capacity, to such Form 10-K ArriReport filed or to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, and any ararehdments to the said Form 10-K Annual Repod,ay and all instruments and
documents filed as a part of or in connection whth said Form 10-K Annual Report or any amendmreieto; hereby ratifying and
confirming all that the said attorneys and agemtsny one of them, have done, shall do or caube tone by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has signedRbiser of Attorney this 9th day of February, 2009.

/s/ André Villeneuve
André Villeneuve

10



UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORPORATION
Power of Attorney

The undersigned, as a member of the Board of Rirgcor as an officer of UNITED TECHNOLOGIES CORP®RON, a Delaware
corporation (the “Corporation”), or as a membeaaommittee of said Board, or in all of said capesj hereby constitutes and appoints
CHARLES D. GILL, KATHLEEN M. HOPKO and GREGORY JAYES, or any one of them, his or her true and ldwftorneys and ager
to do any and all acts and things and execute adyk instruments which the said attorneys andvesgemay deem necessary or advisable to
enable the Corporation to comply with the Secwifigchange Act of 1934 and any rules and regulataod requirements of the Securities
and Exchange Commission in respect thereof in atiiorewith the filing of the Annual Report of theofporation on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended December 31, 2008, including specifichlit without limiting the generality of the foreigg, the power and authority to sign-
name of the undersigned, in the capacities afatewain any other capacity, to such Form 10-K ArriReport filed or to be filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, and any ararehdments to the said Form 10-K Annual Repod,ay and all instruments and
documents filed as a part of or in connection whth said Form 10-K Annual Report or any amendmreieto; hereby ratifying and
confirming all that the said attorneys and agemtsny one of them, have done, shall do or caube tone by virtue hereof.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned has signedRbiser of Attorney this 9th day of February, 2009.

/s/ Christine Todd Whitman
Christine Todd Whitma
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Louis R. Chénevert, certify that:

1.
2.

I have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of United Technologies Corporatic

Based on my knowledge, this report does notatoriny untrue statement of a material fact or donéttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo

Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anafre responsible for establishing and maintainiisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and hav

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgbsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh

b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finahaaorting to be designed uni
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuram@ading the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls adgatures, as of the end of the period coveredibydport based on such
evaluation; ant

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anldave disclosed, based on our most recent evaituat internal control over financial

reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent

functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpanhcial information; an

b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin

Date: February 11, 2009 /sl Louis R. Chénevert

Louis R. Chénevert
President and Chief Executive Offic



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Gregory J. Hayes, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of United Technologies Corporatic
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatoriny untrue statement of a material fact or donfttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo
3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep
4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimlisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and ha
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh
b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finah@gaorting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuram@ding the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyédport based on such
evaluation; ant
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportintgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpanhcial information; an
b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin
Date: February 11, 2009 /s/ Gregory J. Hayes

Gregory J. Hayes
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi



Exhibit 31.3

CERTIFICATION

I, Margaret M. Smyth, certify that:

1. | have reviewed this annual report on Forr-K of United Technologies Corporatic
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notatoriny untrue statement of a material fact or donfttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the
period covered by this repo
3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statemeamd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdtfe periods presented in this rep
4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintaimlisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)1%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and ha
a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedaoites designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to
us by others within those entities, particularlyidg the period in which this report is being pregzh
b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finah@gaorting to be designed un
our supervision, to provide reasonable assuram@ding the reliability of financial reporting attte preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting princip
c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentiisineport our conclusions about
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls andguiures, as of the end of the period coveredibyédport based on such
evaluation; ant
d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegig’s internal control over financial reportintgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tfas materially affected, or is
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; a
5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) andave disclosed, based on our most recent evatuaf internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):
a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regid’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpanhcial information; an
b)  Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a signifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reportin
Date: February 11, 2009 /s/ Margaret M. Smyth

Margaret M. Smyth
Vice President, Controlle



Exhibit 32

Section 1350 Certifications
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act 28002
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, ChapteB 6f Title 18, United States Code)

Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley A2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1358ptdr 63 of title 18, United States
Code), each of the undersigned officers of Unitedihologies Corporation, a Delaware corporatioe (tGorporatiori’), does hereby certify
that:

The Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year endeddnber 31, 2008 (the “ Form-KD") of the Corporation fully complies with the

requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the SéeasrExchange Act of 1934 and information contdiirethe Form 10-K fairly presents, in
all material respects, the financial condition aesllts of operations of the Corporation.

Date: February 11, 2009 /sl Louis R. Chénevert

Louis R. Chénevel
President and Chief Executive Offic

Date: February 11, 2009 s/ Gregory J. Hayes
Gregory J. Haye
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi

Date: February 11, 2009 /s/ Margaret M. Smyth
Margaret M. Smytt
Vice President, Controlle




